British Bangladeshi Muslim Women's In-Law Relationships: A Narrative Analysis

Norjahan Begum Karim

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the School of Psychology, University of East London for the degree of Doctor of Counselling Psychology

RESUBMISSION NOVEMBER 2023

STUDENT No: 1141390

ABSTRACT

Despite being a major feature of everyday life, research on in-law relationships has received relatively scant attention in comparison to other close relationships. In-law relationships have mostly been portrayed negatively in popular culture, influencing and reflecting the pervading negative attitudes held by wider society. This has provided a narrow and restrictive view of affinal relationships. In-law relationships are found across the globe, and literature suggests that culture and its underlying values play a major role in shaping the nature and dynamics of such relationships. However, the majority of research has been dominated by the mother-in-law/daughter-in-law dyad, with little attention to the wider context.

Using a post-colonial feminist framework and narrative analysis, the current research documents the stories of 10 British Bangladeshi Muslim women and their subjective experiences of in-law relationships. The research highlights the subtle and nuanced way they navigate in-law relationships and exercise their agency. It also demonstrates how intersecting markers of difference impact experiences of agency and the shaping of their identity.

The research highlights four major themes from the analysis: (1) "It's a family marriage" (2) Rising tensions (3) Tug of war – the role of husband and (4) Developing a survivor's identity. A description of these themes and related subthemes are discussed.

The findings of the present study challenge Eurocentric models of feminism and demonstrate the diversity of women's experiences and identities. They also reveal how gender intersects with other markers of identity that shape the participants' social realities. They also point to the urgency of highlighting the role of the wider family in the perpetration of abuse against women. The research discusses further implications of findings for academics, clinicians, policy, and the wider community, and recommends suggestions for future research.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS



In the name of Allah, the Most Gracious, the Most Merciful

This thesis is dedicated to my late grandparents, my *Nani*, *Mala Bibi*, and my *Nana*, *Jamshed Miah* who passed away during my doctoral journey. Your belief that I would become a "Brain Doctor" one day, kept me going in this journey.

I would like to thank all the women who expressed interest and shared their stories so honourably for the purpose of this research. I hope that your unique experiences open up opportunities in the future for more research to be conducted on this topic to benefit the wider community.

To all my teachers, past and present, who instilled my love and passion for learning, thank you. My sincere thanks to the many supervisors who supported me at the beginning of my research journey, and my heartfelt gratitude to Dr Claire Marshall and Dr Aura Lounasmaa for agreeing to take over and supervise my research and help me see it through to the end. I also wish to thank the examiners for gently helping me to challenge and develop my thinking to strengthen my work.

To my therapist, all my friends, and others who have been part of this journey, you know who you are. Your care, encouragement, and prayers were invaluable to keep me going in the most challenging of times. I will never forget the pillars of support you provided.

I am forever indebted to my family for their financial, emotional, and practical support. I could not have gone through this journey to fulfil this lifelong dream without your patience over the years. *Amma*, your unapologetic approach to women building a life for themselves has been a major strength for me. Azim, my husband, my best friend, by you just being you, and the love, praise, and laughter you continually give me, you are nothing less than a living legend. I will never forget your patience and support.

Finally, to my beautiful children, Aleynah and Zayden, who were both born during my research journey. You have been so patient whilst *Ammu* tries to complete the last phase of the course. I really am aware how much of the time we should have spent together has been compromised. I will make it up to you both. I just want to make you proud and show you that you can achieve all your dreams in life.

CONTENTS PAGE

ABSTRACT	i
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
CONTENTS PAGE	iii
LIST OF TABLES	vi
USE OF TERMINOLOGIES	1
REFLEXIVE PREFACE	2
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	8
1.1 The Bangladeshi Muslim Community in the UK	8
1.2 Barriers to Accessing Services	9
1.3 South Asian Culture and Izzat	11
1.4 Department of Health Initiatives and Culturally Sensitive Services	14
1.5 Researching Sensitive Topics and Including Hard-to-Reach Groups	16
1.6 Research Objectives and Aims	17
1.7 Relevance to Counselling Psychology	18
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	21
2.1 The In-Law Relationship Across Cultures – A Global Perspective	21
2.2 The Challenges of In-Law Relationships Across Cultures – In-Laws or Out-	21
Laws?	
2.3 Popular Culture and In-Law Stereotypes	23
2.4 Linchpin Theory	25
2.5 Conflict and Conflict Management	26
2.6 Ambiguity and Uncertainty	27
2.7 Conceptual Framework: A Post-colonial Feminist Framework	30
2.7.1 Overview	30
2.7.2 First and Second Waves of Feminism	34
2.7.3 Third Wave Feminism – Black Feminist Theory and Intersectionality	33
2.7.4 Fourth Waves and Emerging Fifth Wave	38
2.7.5 Feminism and Religion	35
2.7.6 Islamic Feminism	37
2.7.7 A Post-colonial Feminist Perspective	39
2.8 Patriarchy and Male Power	41
2.9 Bargaining with Patriarchy	43
2.10 Abuse Towards Daughters-in-Law	45

2.11 Industrialisation, Modernisation and the Changing Landscape of In-Law	54
Families	
2.12 Autobiographical Memory and Performing Identities	56
2.12.1 Autobiographical Memories	57
2.12.2 Performing Identities	58
2.13 Concluding Remarks	59
2.14 The Need to Examine Cultural Specificities	61
2.15 The Bangladeshi Family	62
2.15.1 Gender Ideologies, Izzat And Purdah	63
2.16 Research Question	64
CHAPTER: 3 METHODOLOGY	66
3.1 Introduction	66
3.2 Paradigms and Conceptual Frameworks	66
3.2.1 A Positivist View	66
3.2.2 A Post-Positivist View	67
3.2.3 A Constructivist-Interpretivist Paradigm	67
3.2.4 A Critical-Ideological View	68
3.3 Methodology: Rationale for a Qualitative Approach	69
3.4 Epistemological and Ontological Position	70
3.4.1 A Post-Colonial Feminist Lens	71
3.4.2 The Narrative approach, Heuristic Inquiry and Relevance to Counselling	72
Psychology	
3.5 Methods	74
3.5.1 Selection Criteria	74
3.5.2 Recruitment Strategy	74
3.5.3 Participants	76
3.5.4 Data Collection	77
3.5.5 Interview Schedule	78
3.6 Data Analysis – Analytical Steps	78
3.7 Positioning Theory	83
3.8 Ethical Considerations	85
3.8.1 Informed consent and self-determination	85
3.8.2 Confidentiality	85
3.8.3 Avoiding harm	86
3.8.4 Dual Role and over-involvement	87

3.8.5 Politics and power	87
3.9 Assessing for 'quality' in qualitative and narrative research	87
3.9.1 Commitment	88
3.9.2 Sensitivity to context	88
3.9.3 Transparency and coherence	88
3.9.4 Persuasiveness	89
3.9.5 Impact and importance	89
3.10 Methodological Reflexivity	89
CHAPTER 4: ANALYSIS OF DATA	92
4.1 Analysis of Global Impressions	93
4.2 Summary of main themes	105
4.2.1 It's a Family Marriage	105
4.2.1.1 Naivety and Shock	106
4.2.1.2 Adjusting to Changes	110
4.2.1.3 Pressure to be 'Perfect'	116
4.2.1.4 Support	124
4.2.2 Rising Tensions	127
4.2.2.1 Relationship Tensions	128
4.2.2.2 Control	135
4.2.2.3 Visiting Parents	141
4.2.2.4 Difficulties moving out	145
4.2.3 Tug of War – The Role of Husband	150
4.2.3.1 Keep the Family Happy	150
4.2.3.2 Suppressing Emotions	152
4.2.3.3 Support vs Lack of Support	154
4.2.3.4 Powerlessness	157
4.2.4 Development of Survivors Identity	159
Facing Abuse	160
Reactions and Coping Strategies	167
Perspectives and Identity Over Time	173
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	179
5.1 Discussion of Main Themes	180
5.1.1 Theme 1: It's a Family Marriage	180
5.1.2 Theme 2: Rising Tensions	183

5.1.3 Theme 3: Tug of War – The Role of Husband	185
5.1.4 Theme 4: Development of Survivors Identity	189
5.2 Agency	195
5.3 Identity	201
5.4 Intersectionality	203
5.5 Concluding Remarks	204
5.6 Implications of Findings and Recommendations for Policy and Practice	207
5.7 Strengths, Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research	212
5.8 Summary and Conclusions	214
CHAPTER 6: REFLEXIVITY	216
References	222
APPENDIX 1 – PHASES OF HEURISTIC INQUIRY	257
APPENDIX 2 - ETHICS APPLICATION FORM	260
APPENDIX 3– INTERVIEW SCHEDULE (PILOT)	286
APPENDIX 4 – INTERVIEW SCHEDULE (AFTER PILOT)	287
APPENDIX 5 – REQUEST FOR TITLE CHANGE TO AN ETHICS	288
APPLICATION	
APPENDIX 6 – AUDIT TRAIL	291

List of Tables:

Table 1. Participants marital status and length of stay with in-laws	77
Table 2. Main Themes and Sub Themes	93
Table 3. Subtheme: Naivety and Shock	105
Table 4. Subtheme: Adjusting to Changes	109
Table 5. Subtheme: Pressure to be perfect.	115
Table 6. Subtheme: Support.	123
Table 7. Subtheme: Relationship Tensions.	128
Table 8. Subtheme: Control	135
Table 9. Subtheme: Visiting Parents.	141
Table 10. Subtheme: Difficulties Moving Out	145
Table 11. Subtheme: Abuse	159
Table 12. Subtheme: Reactions and Coping Strategies	166

Use of Terminologies

South Asian

The term 'South Asian' can be problematic as a label and pose challenges for international readers when they are carrying out literature searches and generalising findings. For example, the term Asian in the United States refers to those of South-East Asian heritage, individuals originating (or descendants of those who originated) from countries such as Japan, Korea, China, Malaysia and the Philippines, whereas in the UK South Asians are identified as those having cultural origins in the Indian subcontinent, in countries such as India, Bangladesh, Pakistan, Sri Lanka and Nepal and Bhutan (Bhopal, 2007; Office for National Statistics, 2016). In addition, a collective term implies homogeneity and ignores the high demographic variability due to migration histories, languages and religions (Anand and Cochrane, 2005). The 'catch-all' term may, in fact, be used to perpetuate racial stereotyping and limit understanding of issues affecting the different communities. The current research will draw upon studies conducted on South Asians, whilst acknowledging that considerable heterogeneity exists among and within minority groups which include many distinct subgroups such as Pakistani-Mirpur, Indian-Gujrati, Indian-Punjabi, etc. (Anand & Cochrane, 2005). The term 'South Asian' will be utilised, with caution, as the preferred terminology for this thesis, with the exception of those studies where all participants belong to the same subgroup, at which point the sub-group will be named.

Western and Non-Western

It is recognised that the use of dichotomies (Western/non-Western, East/West, first world/third world, developed/developing, Global North/Global South) is arbitrary and that there are potential pitfalls in applying this terminology in research, such as the risk associated with essentialising different communities. However, in the absence of a lack of agreed terms, to mark different nations I utilise the terms 'Western' and 'non-Western' to remain consistent with the conceptual frameworks to which I refer in the current research. The term 'Western' will be used to refer to privileged members of affluent nations in Western Europe and North America, and the term 'non-Western' will be used to reference people who are located in, have migratory roots in, or are descendants of those who have migrated from Africa, South Asia, Southeast Asia, Eastern Europe, and Central Asia.

REFLEXIVE PREFACE

'The scientist does not randomly choose a specific discipline or specialty but is drawn to a particular field by a complex of subjective experiences and encounters, many of which unfold far from the laboratory and rarefied atmosphere' (Abram, 1996, p.30).

The current research adopts a qualitative, social constructionist and phenomenologically aligned approach (Moustakas, 1990, p.9). Heuristic inquiry, derived from the Greek word, *heuriskein*, meaning 'to discover or to find', seeks to illuminate the personal experience and insights of the researcher through investigating a particular phenomenon and the experience of others who also experience the same phenomenon.

Although later developed as a method of research, Douglass and Moustakas (1985) initially suggested that heuristic inquiry offers an attitude to approaching the research but does not prescribe a methodology, and it is this attitude that underpins the tone of the research, preserving narrative as the main method of investigating the topic in question. Hiles (2002) saw that both heuristic and narrative inquiry were particularly relevant in researching authentic accounts of human experience, and summarised the research phases within a heuristic inquiry framework (Hiles, 2001). This study will adopt this model and outline how the heuristic approach was used to inform the research (see Appendix 1, p257).

The guiding assumptions of the heuristic inquiry framework are that:

- the researcher is present throughout the process to gain an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon, growing in self-awareness and self-knowledge;
- the researcher has personal experience and intense interest in the phenomenon under study;
- understanding of the phenomenon is a result of the combination of experiences; this includes the use of self of the researcher, and participants are like co-researchers;
- what emerges from the inquiry is a process of discovery of an 'inner knowing' (Moustakas, 1990) and what Polanyi (1966, 1983) called 'tacit knowing', tapping into those aspects of knowledge, like intuition, gut instinct and hunches that are difficult to convey in language.

One of the first tasks of heuristic inquiry is to make transparent the researcher's position in relation to the research process. Reflexivity is also considered a hallmark of feminist research

and requires reflection of a researcher's positioning and perspectives that inform their study (Clarke & Braun, 2019). In setting the scene for the current research, I would like to declare my own situatedness. I am motivated by my professional and personal experiences, and it is here that I disclose my personal interests, values and goals for the research topic under investigation, as these inevitably shape the research. I recognise that the research may have been conducted differently by a different researcher. A feature of good research practice is for researchers to consider their own positioning within the research process through regular structured and critical reflection (Fahie, 2014). I aim to adopt this stance by providing a reflexive commentary throughout the thesis.

I grew up in East London with a hybrid cultural identity; I was born and raised in Britain, in a Bangladeshi family. I have a vested interest in the Bangladeshi community. A major feature of my career roles as a mental health practitioner and community development worker has involved raising awareness of mental health difficulties and trying to improve access to psychological therapies for the Bangladeshi community. Building trust in relationships in therapeutic settings and encouraging and engaging in dialogue around mental health with the Bangladeshi community are an integral part of my being, both in the personal and professional domain.

My personal interest in the Bangladeshi family structure pre-dates my role as a trainee counselling psychologist. I have previously conducted research on Bangladeshi families as part of my undergraduate psychology degree. For some time I thought this was the moment when my interest in families, and the Bangladeshi culture, in particular, was born. I remember being asked, as a young child in primary school, to draw a picture of my family. My drawing was notable because, whilst my peers' drawings consisted of their parents and siblings, my drawing consisted of family members with whom I didn't necessarily live but with whom I grew up; it included my grandparents, uncles, aunts, and their spouses.

My earliest memory of being exposed to in-law relations and dynamics was witnessing the marriage of a relative as a young child. I remember the tears and loss experienced by her, my family and me on her wedding day as she left our family to move into another. I didn't question this move; it was part of the experience I was exposed to when I attended Bangladeshi weddings. What I didn't understand was how the relationship changed and how she changed. I was both confused and curious about her new identity, the cultural customs surrounding her duties within her new family, and her calling her new parents-in-law 'amma' (mum) and 'abba'

(dad), just as she called her biological parents. I remember finding it difficult hearing from others about some of her difficult experiences with her in-laws and, looking back, I find it interesting that she was unable to articulate these experiences herself.

While there were moments when I felt rebellious and angered by some of the customs, I felt there was little point in interrogating or challenging these norms. I accepted them as part of a Bangladeshi woman's life. A common Sylheti (the most commonly spoken dialect of Bengali in London) phrase I used to hear amongst groups of women following the ending of a marriage or a woman having to move out of her in-laws' house was 'Beti khaito farse na', loosely translated as 'she was not able to handle it' (i.e., living with her in-laws). For a long time, I came to believe that a Bangladeshi woman's worth was measured by her ability to maintain and survive living with in-laws, and in not doing so, she became the target of blame, regardless of her personal circumstances.

As I grew up, questions and comments about Bangladeshi culture came from my white British colleagues and peers – 'why do the women look down and so sad on their wedding day?', 'why do women in your culture cry so much on their wedding day, as though it's someone's funeral?' I felt inadequate to answer them, especially as I felt I could not move beyond saying, 'it's just part of my culture'. Over time, I felt a compelling need to answer these questions explicitly, and curiosity grew in me with regard to a Bangladeshi woman's identity. I was challenged when talking about my research topic with my white British colleagues. Their questions implied that the focus of my inquiry was not even worthy of further exploration – 'but doesn't everyone have problems with in-laws?' and 'if people have problems they can always move out'. Their responses suggested that in-law relations are generally problematic, and that this was a universal issue. But the idea of moving out sat uncomfortably with me. The initial defensive feelings only impelled me further to deconstruct what I felt was taken-for-granted-knowledge, and it was these very conversations that informed my research interests. I felt both stuck and also determined to explore these cultural differences in ideas, beliefs and attitudes to common relationships. The main demarcation, I noticed, between White British and Bangladeshi culture in the current zeitgeist was that it was culturally normal to live away from in-laws for the former, whereas for the latter, it was customary and expected for women to move into their husband's family home after marriage.

My interest relating to in-law relationships extended to my professional work settings too. Since 2008, I have worked in several psychological services, including two Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) sites, namely, Tower Hamlets and Camden, the two boroughs with the largest Bangladeshi communities. Part of my role was to 'improve access' for these communities to psychological services through outreach work and promotion. It was thought that language barriers, stigma and taboo around mental health and lack of awareness of services contributed as barriers to the uptake of psychological therapy. By running mental health awareness sessions in Sylheti, the intention was that access could be improved for the Bangladeshi community to mental health services. In addition, I was trained to offer evidence-based interventions in line with current NHS expectations, namely a CBT approach for people experiencing mild to moderate common mental health problems such as depression and anxiety.

The challenges and dilemmas I faced in the therapeutic setting with my Bangladeshi clients were how to help them within the evidence-based framework in which I was trained. Reflecting on one particular incident in my early experience in a clinical setting, I remember a newly wed and newly arrived Bangladeshi female client who presented with low mood symptoms and feeling isolated. She explained that she did not have any friends or relatives and was unable to use public transport or go to the shops, as she did not speak any English. Following guidance from my personal supervisor and in line with the evidence-based treatment protocol, it was suggested that I support my client through a behavioural activation intervention to engage in activities to elevate her mood. I signposted her to English classes and a local women's group for a few hours a week. My client seemed open to the suggestion and wanted me to share this information with her husband to help her locate the classes and groups. In a subsequent session, I met with her husband, who expressed anger in response to my suggestions. He felt I was not mindful of the fact that there would be no one to look after his mum if his wife 'goes off gallivanting for her personal leisure'. He asked me, 'what are you teaching my wife? And who will look after my mum?' It was clear that my intervention had repercussions, and from his perspective, I had not accommodated his needs, i.e., his expectations of his wife. I sensed that I was perceived as someone negatively influencing his wife and impeding his efforts to manage his family. I also sensed his anger with me personally, that he expected me to be more understanding since we shared the same cultural background, and that perhaps I should have known better. It was not surprising, then, that the client dropped out of treatment.

My efforts to make therapy accessible to a hard-to-reach group were more challenging than I had originally envisaged, and this continued to be a dilemma throughout my clinical experience as a trainee. Difficulties with in-law relations were a common presenting problem among

clients from the Bangladeshi community. I found it difficult to apply Western-informed evidence-based interventions to help these clients manage their distress. I recognised the tension of the 'Procrustean dilemma' (Kuyken et al., 2009), adhering to protocol-defined therapy which cut off or distorted clients' experience in order to fit the theory. A further difficulty I experienced was an over-emphasis on rigidly following treatment protocols; it assumes that because the client has the problem, if clients don't complete the protocol, the problem is with the client rather than with the protocol. Even if the patient's view is important, can they change the protocols that have been established with the backing of strong evidence? In contrast with my early experiences of working in IAPT before the doctoral training, I noticed how power relationships come into play, and I became uncomfortable with taking an 'expert position'.

As Western models are based on research using Western participants, the Eurocentric perspective encompassing individualistic sentiments makes it difficult to deal with cultural issues in a therapy setting when working with multicultural communities. I was left uncomfortable with the lack of engagement and high drop-out rates whilst working with the Bangladeshi community, where the take-up of psychological services was particularly low. Looking back, I can see how a lack of cultural sensitivity has therapeutical implications. Lack of understanding of cultural factors and the absence of exploration in supervision can lead to a rupture in the therapeutic encounter. I came to understand that if psychological therapies are to be truly accessible, a holistic understanding of the client's story, with an appreciation of the client's cultural and social context, is paramount for any effective therapeutic work.

In my clinical work, I spoke Sylheti which was advantageous for those with limited English-speaking skills or those who preferred speaking in their mother tongue. However, despite our shared culture and language, there was an air of mistrust between my clients and me, and I became increasingly aware of several other key issues that presented a barrier for clients to access and engage in therapy. Clients often enquired about my background and where I lived; I assumed that this was a way of checking whether I was connected to someone they knew. There were fears and worries about whether their personal information would be shared with others in the Bangladeshi community. With respect to in-law relationships, I noticed that there were differences among the women who accessed and engaged in therapy. Women who lived away from their in-laws were more likely to engage in therapy when referred by a GP, and more likely to self-refer to therapy, than women who resided with their in-laws. I found that it was harder to engage the latter group of women, who very occasionally attended the initial

assessment session following a GP referral. Often, they were accompanied by their husbands or a member of their in-law family, and it was common for them to drop out after the initial session. It became apparent how stigmatising it was to talk about in-law relationships. From my perspective, however, I wished that the clients knew that they were not the only ones in isolation with these relationship difficulties, as my clinical experience only highlighted what a common and growing theme it was. The profile of my sample who volunteered to participate in the current research seems to resemble the type of clients who engaged in therapy. Although not intentional, only two of the 10 participants in the current study were living with their in-laws at the time of the interview.

My interest in in-law relations grew as I watched my friends and relatives get married and live with in-laws, and it further intensified when I got married in 2012. The point of interest here is that there were so many elements of my experience that were obvious to me, but they were not easy to articulate and not easily grasped by those around me. What was apparent was that some of our knowledge and experience may seem so obvious to us that it is taken for granted, and thus averts any further dialogue or inquiry. The sum of my experiences highlighted that culture was a key defining feature that shaped my understanding of people and my outlook on the world. It was an integral factor that made my experiences unique and distinct from those of the White British colleagues and friends with whom I grew up. Consequently, this motivated me to explore Bangladeshi women's experiences and their relationships with their in-laws in order to understand the nuances of such relationships.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Bangladeshi Muslim Community in the UK

In comparison to other major ethnic groups in the UK, the Bangladeshi diaspora is one of the fastest-growing immigrant populations (Sunder & Uddin, 2007). The report of the analysis of data from the 2011 census revealed that almost half a million Bangladeshis reside in England and Wales, accounting for 0.7% of the total population (ONS, 2015). 95% of this Bangladeshi population originate from one particular region in north-eastern Bangladesh, namely Sylhet, and identify with the Muslim faith (Kershen, 2005).

Abbas (2000) Haque, (2000), and Garbin, (2005) argued that despite the growing numbers in the Bangladeshi community has tended to underachieve academically, have disproportionately high rates of unemployment and poorer socio-economic conditions, and consequently have often been victims of gendered, racial, religious and cultural discrimination. Li (2018) found that 5% of Bangladeshis have higher degrees in comparison to 9% of the white majority group. Li (2018) argues that Bangladeshis would be more likely to have higher education if they had similar parental class backgrounds to their white counterparts. One study found that some Bangladeshi men are also less likely to have access to advanced occupational positions in comparison to white men (Heath & McMahon, 2005); even those with degrees face marked disadvantages and are less likely to have salaried jobs (Li, 2018).

In contrast, some studies found that many Bangladeshi women are increasingly well-represented in higher education in the UK (Ghaffar & Stevenson, 2018; Malik, 2018; Muslim Council of Britain, 2015; Cheung, 2014). However, despite considerable improvement in qualification and educational attainment amongst Bangladeshi women, rates of economic participation for many women remain low (Ali, 2015; Social Mobility Commission, 2017), and Bangladeshi women have been identified as one of the ethnic minority groups to face the most disadvantage, largely attributed to personal and family circumstances (Li, 2018). Whilst the author does not make explicit the specific constraints faced unique to the Bangladeshi community, long-term illness, heavy household duties including caring responsibilities have been cited as factors that place ethnic minority women at a disadvantage. Similar findings have also been reported by the Muslim Council of Britain, (2015) who found that 18% of Muslim women in the UK aged 16-74 years reported household obligations as a factor in being economically inactive, compared to 6% of the overall population. Low academic and

workforce participation amongst many older Bangladeshi women (Li, 2018) have been attributed by one author as owing to a lack of English language skills (Dale, 2002). Although the government has acknowledged tackling disengagement as a key priority, there is little evidence of significant improvement (Murray, 2017).

Factors that drive persistent disengagement among Bangladeshi women are diverse (Davidson-Knight et al., 2017) and include a complex interplay of cultural conservatism, structural factors, and persistent discrimination (Griffith & Malik, 2018). Griffiths and Malik (2018) reported that expectations of family members, such as husbands and mothers-in-law, can act as barriers to engaging in work, as well as discrimination against Muslim women by employers. One of the participants in the study, for example, reported that employers did not make an effort to learn about their beliefs. This may suggest that a better understanding of cultural background and structural factors may encourage employers to develop sensitivity towards Muslim women which in turn, may aid in making reasonable adjustments at work to help them better engage in work. Additionally, Griffith and Malik (2018) found that Bangladeshi women were also being let down by mainstream services, including mental health support. This suggests that tackling factors that persistently affect women's engagement in education, employment and health care services is critical to reducing ethnic disparities. Service providers need to be aware of the complex and reinforcing barriers faced by a particular community so that services can be designed and delivered in ways that tackle these barriers to engaging with services. The lack of personalisation has been shown to increasingly hamper engagement in mainstream services for the Bangladeshi community (Griffith & Malik, 2018), suggesting that understanding these cultural needs and barriers could help to promote greater engagement. They cite, for example, that understanding culturally conservative attitudes such as a preference for women-only English classes may help to better engage Bangladeshi women.

1.2 Barriers to Accessing Services

Ethnic inequalities are prevalent in health outcomes, experiences of healthcare and employment in the NHS (Chouhan & Nazroo, 2020; Memon et al., 2016). Epidemiological studies in the UK have shown that within South Asian communities, treatment of depression is low, and rates of suicide are high (Burr, 2002); Hussain et al. (2006) found that South Asian women were at a higher risk of self-harm and attempting and committing suicide. Various factors have an impact on accessing services, such as a lack of awareness and language barriers,

and there is a relatively low uptake of mental health services within the South Asian community (Bhardwaj, 2001; Gilbert et al., 2004). The low uptake reflects the stigma commonly associated with mental health problems and it being a subject of taboo and considered a sign of weakness (Chaudhury, 2016). People from South Asian backgrounds fear being judged by their family and the wider community for having mental health problems (Uddin, 2017).

In contrast to the Western perspective that emphasises the medical model and biological explanations for mental health difficulties, some communities may attribute psychological difficulties to supernatural causes (Amri & Bemak, 2013; Callan, 2012; Dein et al., 2008; McClelland et al., 2014). Moreover, the perception of someone with mental health problems as 'crazy', or that they have lost their faith in God (Amri & Bemak, 2013), compounded by the cultural mistrust of the conventional Western mental health system, results in many living with untreated mental health problems (Amri & Bemak, 2013). British Muslims are less likely to experience improvement in their mental health following treatment with psychological therapy (Baker, 2018). Most of these factors were echoed by the Bangladeshi community in Camden, UK (Bisby et al., 2003).

As well as previously mentioned barriers, the low uptake of mental health services by Muslims may be due to the lack of consideration of religious and spiritual dimensions in the conceptualisation and treatment of mental health problems (Aloud & Rathur, 2009; Sarfraz & Castle, 2002). Muslims have been reported to approach imams (Muslim faith leaders) as their first point of contact when dealing with mental health concerns (Gill, 2019). However, imams may feel ill-equipped to provide such support (Inspirited Minds, 2017). This suggests that it may be beneficial for mental health service providers and faith leaders to liaise with each other to develop accessible and culturally appropriate mental health service provisions.

A quantitative study by McClelland et al. (2014) compared beliefs about depression among 374 British Bangladeshi and White British participants and found that older Bangladeshis had a negative attitude towards depression and felt that it brought a sense of shame and loss of dignity to the individual and their family. Gilbert et al. (2004) also found that fear of shame and, additionally, fear of professional failure to maintain confidentiality were obstacles to accessing services. This suggests that a lack of awareness of a client's cultural background may prevent them from accessing therapy and hinder the potential positive outcomes they could receive (Shariff, 2009). In particular, understanding how shame is conceptualised in different cultures may aid in reducing the barriers to accessing services.

1.3 South Asian Culture and Izzat

Whilst stigma associated with mental health difficulties is not unique to any one community, it is one of the main barriers faced by South Asian communities when accessing services (Gilbert et al., 2004). Research has shown that cultural and social context is important to consider in the onset of mental health problems (Bhugra et al., 1999). Qualitative studies have found a myriad of factors that contribute to psychological problems (Anand & Cochrane, 2005) including rigid gender roles, intergenerational conflict and upholding of family honour (Bhardwaj, 2001; Bhugra et al., 1999; Hussain & Cochrane, 2004).

Gilbert et al.'s (2004) focus group study on South Asian women found that shame, subordination and entrapment played a powerful role in psychopathology. They found that *izzat*, meaning honour, self-respect and prestige (Takhar, 2016), and perceived failure to uphold family honour was linked to personal shame, leading people to be trapped in difficult relationships. Beliefs around family honour and shame may prevent individuals from accessing psychological therapies in order to minimise judgment from the wider community and preserve family reputation (Time to change, 2010; Ahmad et al., 2009).

The notion of *izzat* provides South-Asian communities with the framework of cultural laws and behavioural codes of conduct that is perceived to preserve family honour (Chhina, 2017). Departing from these cultural ideals may bring disrepute to the wider family and community (Chhina, 2017). South Asian women are particularly impacted by the concept of *izzat* (Chew-Graham et al., 2002; Gilbert et al., 2004); Gunasinghe et al. (2018) defined *izzat* as 'perceived (personal and familial) honour, dignity, and respect within the self and as judged by others'. *Izzat* and its antonym, 'sharam', or shame, are cited as forces of control that perpetuate sexism, discrimination and oppression within South Asian culture (Sangar & Howe, 2021).

Upholding *izzat* can be seen in various ways, such as in replicating cultural values and avoiding other values (Meetoo & Mirza, 2007). South Asian communities desire to hold firmly to their cultural tradition and values (Mafura & Charura, 2021). There is an insistence on preserving cultural and religious values by immigrant parents, who often feel anxious about children adopting the values of the host culture and becoming 'Westernised' (Dasgupta, 2000; Wakil et al., 1981; Mafura & Charura, 2021) which they perceive will bring shame on the family. Gill (2004) argues that victim-blaming and shame are intimately linked whereby perceived deviation from societal and cultural norms can shape an individual's experience of shame. This

can be understood though cognitive attributional theories which frame shame as a result of an individual's cognitive perception of a problem arising from their failure to meet their own standards or those of a particular group (Lewis, 1993). Victim-blaming and shaming is a method used by cultures to maintain social control (Kaufman, 1985) and Dillon (1997) argues that within the context of gender inequality and discrimination, particular groups can be devalued and become the targets of shame.

Gill (2008) found that South Asians are discouraged from adopting values, customs or behaviours that may be considered Western or British, due to fear that this may dilute their South Asian values (Meetoo & Mirza, 2007); this ensures that the concept of *izzat* is maintained (Brandon & Hafez, 2008).

Idealised notions of femininity within South Asian communities describe women who are chaste, controlled and obedient (Dutt, 2018; Tonsing & Tonsing, 2019). *Izzat* can be compromised without close monitoring of South Asian women's behaviour, particularly through controlling their attire (Dwyer, 2000). A woman's behaviour and appearance are intimately tied to the idea of *izzat* (Hamilton, 2018; Ragavan et al., 2018; Sabri et al., 2018). Dwyer (1999/2000), for example, found that South Asian women wearing 'Western' garments instead of South Asian attire, particularly in the public sphere where others could easily observe them, were perceived to be unchaste. Behaviours such as going against family to marry a partner of one's choice and challenging authority (Mafura & Charura, 2021) are also considered to violate codes of *izzat*. As such, it has been argued that enforcement of such cultural expectations limits women's freedom (Hamilton, 2018; Lu et al., 2020), and has been deemed to cause stress (Gunasinghe, 2015; Hamilton, 2018).

In India, appropriate conduct in public is considered a demonstration of a family's *izzat* (Dutt, 2018). Accordingly, when women do not subscribe to social expectations and socially determined gender roles, or are perceived to have acted shamefully, the dishonour is shared by the whole family, including the extended family (Aujla & Gill, 2014). In the Indian context, Singh (2021) uses the concept of 'Sati Savitri', embodying values of modesty, marriageability and silence, as a symbol of the ideal Indian woman. Through mythological stories, family and popular culture, women are socialised into and expected to adopt these virtues. In her interview with 10 middle-class Indian female journalists exploring the concept of the ideal Indian woman, their responses illustrated these ideas (Singh, 2021). Modesty is equated with 'covering up' to ward off unwanted male attention which could impact her family's *izzat*.

Women are perceived to embody the family and nation's honour, and so their sexuality is actively controlled to prevent bringing shame to men, the family and the entire nation. Marriage is also related to the idea of a good Indian woman and considered her ultimate destiny; thus she is expected to be domesticated, produce children and prioritise family over career. Additionally, a silent woman is considered respectable and desirable and indicates a 'woman's submission to patriarchal authority' (hooks, 1989, p.7); in contrast, talking implies that a woman is sexually available and hence considered immoral and immodest. Thus, women who do not conform to silence and talk too much are considered deviant and unsuitable for marriage. The research thus explains how women's subordination and subjugation are maintained through this symbol, where women are expected to conform to behaviours that meet idealised notions of Indian womanhood and preserve the *izzat* of the family and community.

Similarly, in her fieldwork in urban Nepal, Homan (2017) also found the adoption of silence in order to preserve honour. She uses the identity of 'daughter-in-law' and 'feminist' as an analytical binary to illustrate the tensions that women experience between tradition and modernity. In the Nepali context, being outspoken and 'talking back' is equated to being modern (feminist) and contrary to being a 'good woman' (daughter-in-law), and hence women fear losing *izzat* (locally known as '*ijjat*') and acceptance from family and society (Homan, 2017). 'Becoming modern' is perceived to jeopardise tradition, that is, longstanding norms associated with women prioritising family life. This can cause considerable stress for women, especially as, due to the traditional expectations of Nepalese customs, modern behaviours are deemed dishonourable; choosing to adopt roles or behaviours perceived as modern is interpreted as losing honour.

Multiple studies have demonstrated South Asian women's experiences of gender-role pressures to stay in marriages, and the fear of shaming from the community if they 'failed' to uphold cultural expectations (Aujla, 2013; Gilbert et al., 2004; Sabri et al., 2018; Tonsing, 2014; Tonsing & Barn, 2017). Values pertaining to *izzat* can become deeply internalised by women as they are socialised from a young age to be good daughters, wives and mothers (Ahmed-Ghosh, 2004; Homan, 2017). Great attention is paid to preserving *izzat* throughout their childhood to prepare them for marriage, and the onus lies on women to keep a marriage together and preserve family harmony (Bhandari, 2020). Sociocultural factors such as marriage, marital disputes and in-law conflict have been shown to generate high levels of distress in South Asian women. Gilbert et al. (2004) suggested that the hierarchical nature of South Asian families creates power dynamics between the husband, wife and in-laws, whereby the husband and his

family have more control over the wife/daughter-in-law. Gilbert et al. argue (2004) that these power differences often lead to mental health problems, including low self-esteem, self-harm and suicidal ideation. Furthermore, abuse by in-laws has also been identified in South Asian families, but the responsibility to preserve family harmony and honour prevents women from seeking help (Jordan & Bhandari, 2016). The notion of *izzat* influences what is considered appropriate conduct and the expectation of women to adopt particular social roles to preserve not only their own dignity but also that of their family members (Homan, 2017).

Values that promote traditional gender relations in South Asian cultures inherently privilege men (Ammar et al., 2013). The concept of *izzat* places a significant demand on women to maintain family honour and avoid shame (Gunasinghe, 2015). Consequently, they may have roles considered inferior to men, often making them susceptible to being shamed if *izzat* is not upheld (Takhar, 2016; Triandis, 1989). As such, *izzat* can be regarded as a form of patriarchal control which puts immense pressure on young girls and women to submit to inflexible gender roles and the stipulations of honourable conduct (Marshall & Yazdani, 1999).

To summarise, there are elements of South Asian culture that have an impact on South Asian women's psychological well-being. There appears to be significant demand placed on them to uphold the values of *izzat* to avoid scrutiny from family and the wider community. Dwyer (2000) argues that these expectations place significant pressure on South Asian women, suggesting that it is crucial to study this group further. Additionally, whilst the family domain has been recognised as having an impact on the psychological well-being of South Asian women, further research is needed on affinal relationships, which have also been identified as impacting their mental health.

1.4 Department of Health Initiatives and Culturally Sensitive Services

Stereotyping, racism and discrimination have plagued health care delivery across services (Chouhan & Nazroo, 2020). The *Delivering Race Equality* (DRE) five-year initiative was a national policy drawn up specifically to make mental health services non-discriminatory and appropriate to the needs of BME communities (Department of Health, 2005). However, it was criticised for failing to address the underlying factors relating to racism (Chouhan & Nazroo, 2020), despite minority communities continuing to be disproportionately affected by mental health problems (Department of Health and Social Care, 2017). Moreover, there are marked

inequalities in type and grade of employment, despite ethnic minorities being over-represented in the NHS workforce (Chouhan & Nazroo, 2020).

The murder of George Floyd and the Black Lives Matter Movement have reinvigorated antiracism (Chouhan & Nazroo, 2020; Younis, 2021). Various initiatives have been drawn up to
promote racial equality in mental health services. The *Equality Act* (2010) was intended to
protect against discrimination on the grounds of race, ethnic origin, faith and nationality. The *Five Year Forward View for Mental Health* and the *NHS Long-Term Plan* highlight the
importance of addressing and prioritising mental health inequalities (Advancing Mental Health
Equalities Strategy, 2020). The *Mental Health Review Act* (2018), for example, addresses the
need to improve services for ethnic minority groups. The recommendations include introducing
advocates who are skilled in responding to people's cultural needs and utilising a systematic
approach to improving how mental health services respond to their local population's ethnic
and cultural background.

Following the *Mental Health Review Act* (2018), the *Patient and Carer Race Equality Framework* (PCREF) was introduced to eliminate racial disparity in the access, experience, and outcomes (AEO) of ethnic minority communities. For example, at the South London and Maudsley Trust (SLAM) the PCREF has been applied to improve the experiences of Black communities in mental health services. The NHS in the northwest of England introduced the North-West Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic Strategy Advisory Group to tackle inequalities and dismantle structures that make it difficult for ethnic minority communities to access services, enter the NHS workforce and progress. Additionally, the BME Leadership Network was formed to strengthen the voice of NHS BME leaders and support the NHS to improve its understanding of equality, diversity and inclusion, in order to meet the needs of all communities. Similarly, the NHS Equality and Diversity Council was set up to improve services for all patients and communities and support the NHS in becoming a more inclusive employer.

As part of the implementation arm of the government mental health strategy, *No Health without Mental Health* (Department of Health, 2011), the Joint Commissioning Panel for Mental Health (JCP-MH) provided practical guidance in developing a framework for mental health commissioning. One of their key messages for commissioners is to ensure that *'Every mental health service should be culturally capable and able to address the diverse needs of a multicultural population through effective forms of assessment and interventions'* (JCP-MH,

2014). The aforementioned studies on South Asian women's mental health highlight the need for culturally competent services with an understanding of gender roles, and the social and cultural factors that affect mental health, to enable services to be more accessible.

1.5 Researching Sensitive Topics and Including Hard-to-Reach Groups

Including and engaging 'seldom heard groups' in health and social care research, such as those from ethnic minorities, are increasingly seen as important on scientific, policy and ethical grounds (Prinjha et al., 2020). In the UK, the South Asian community comprises those with migratory roots in India, Bangladesh and Pakistan (Office for National Statistics, 2016). Despite forming the largest non-white minority ethnic group, they are proportionately underrepresented in health and social research (Sheikh et al., 2009; Smart & Harrison, 2017, Prinjha et al., 2020). This is a historic issue and does not appear to have changed over time (Bruton et al., 2020). This may be due to unwillingness to participate in research, which may contribute to under-representation (Wendler et al., 2006).

However, it has been argued that the exclusion, or limited inclusion, of minority experiences, arise as a result of the foundations of the research process, a process predicated upon racialised and imperialistic frameworks (Jensen & Lauritsen, 2005; Tuhiwai-Smith, 1999). For example, minority and marginalised communities are problematised by the research process in which their experiences are often misrepresented, 'othered', sensationalised, or pathologised (McAreavey & Das, 2013; Agyeman, 2008; Tuhiwai-Smith, 1999). Moreover, the experiences of minority ethnic women are either absent or presented stereotypically (Mirza, 1997). Sanson et al. (2000) assert that research can be used to marginalise and negatively impact minority communities. For example, Burr (2002) found that mental health professionals in the UK perceived South Asian culture as inferior, more repressive and more patriarchal, and depicted the women from these communities as immobile and passive, implying that they lack agency. However, research has illustrated the complex and nuanced ways in which South Asian women exercise agency in their lives (Mirza, 2017; Pande, 2015), that are not commonly reported in the literature. This may lead to misunderstanding, stereotyping and misrepresentation of these women. Collectively, these factors may serve as barriers to participating in research, and the lack of inclusion of minority experiences has the potential to further reinforce stereotypes (Mitra, 1998).

The current research, therefore, enables Bangladeshi women to become subjects of research by articulating their own experiences, rather than objects of research (hooks, 1989). There is an increasing need for social researchers to provide evidence of informing policy and practice that is sensitive to the UK's diverse and multi-ethnic population (Salway et al., 2009). If services and interventions are to be impactful and meet the mental health needs of diverse populations, it is paramount to include, engage and conduct research with diverse populations (Prinjha et al., 2020).

Rugkåsa and Calvin (2011) argue that inequality in service provision and the power structures that lead to marginalisation will continue without the involvement of specific groups; therefore, inclusion is a matter of social justice. The lack of inclusion of BME communities, who are notoriously under-represented in research, compromises our understanding of health, well-being and issues pertaining to those communities, which in turn impedes the development of appropriate services (Gill et al., 2013). This calls for an accessible and flexible approach to researching groups such as Bangladeshi women to understand the barriers to participation in research on a topic that could be called 'sensitive'. Lee and Renzetti (1990) define sensitive research as that which 'potentially poses for those involved a substantial threat, the emergence of which renders problematic for the researcher and/or researched the collection, holding and/or the dissemination of research data' (p.512).

Qualitative approaches are particularly suited for research into sensitive topics (Connolly & Reilly, 2007; Dickson-Swift et al., 2009). This approach is particularly advantageous for groups who may be marginalised, 'hard to reach' or remain silenced, as the method is flexible and allows the researcher to better understand the meaning, interpretations, and subjective experiences of such groups (Hutchinson et al., 2000).

1.6 Research Objectives and Aims

The main objective of this research is to expand knowledge of in-law relationships and begin to address gaps in the literature, which has not addressed the experiences of British Bangladeshi women in the UK. The aim is to begin to explore and understand Bangladeshi women's experiences of in-laws. By exploring the unique, subjective worlds of Bangladeshi women, the aims of the research coincide with the values of counselling psychology and seek to contribute to the field by furthering knowledge about this particular community group and promoting better practice in working cross-culturally (Eleftheriadou, 2010a).

1.7 Relevance to Counselling Psychology

The result of globalisation is that populations are more diverse (Brooks & Manias, 2019; Leung et al., 2014). This can create more challenges for healthcare providers to ensure that services are adequate for the needs of diverse populations (Rathod & Kingdon, 2014). Lack of awareness and understanding of cultural diversity may lead to increased disparities in services for minority cultures, resulting in poor uptake of available services, poor adherence to treatment, poorer health outcomes, and increasing cost to society (Betancourt et al., 2014; Kirmayer, 2012; Paternotte et al., 2016).

It is assumed that clinicians are educationally prepared and have the skills and knowledge to work in culturally sensitive ways (Betancourt et al., 2014; Williamson & Harrison, 2010), yet research suggests that clinicians are not adept at adopting culturally sensitive practice and rarely receive training that equips them to work with diversity (Edge & Lemetyinen, 2019).

The absence of culturally sensitive practice may adversely impact patient and family satisfaction (Williamson & Harrison, 2010). Yasmin-Qureshi & Ledwith (2020) explored the experiences of 10 South Asian (Indian, Pakistani and Bangladeshi) women in accessing and receiving psychological therapy in primary care in the UK. Using thematic analysis, their qualitative study revealed that the women experienced a good therapeutic relationship with their therapist, who used Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) and CBT-based interventions to treat and reduce symptoms of mental distress. However, the lack of consideration of cultural and religious needs negatively impacted therapy, specifically for those whose cultural context or religion impacted their presenting difficulties. The researchers recommended that better integration of religion and culture within services for this group may help to keep clients engaged in therapy.

Multicultural competencies and sensitivity are also critical for effective supervisory practices, especially as this is one of the main ways in which psychologists transmit information to prepare trainees as part of their professional development (Bernard & Goodyear, 2009). Clinical supervision has been identified as one of the top five activities in which psychologists engage (Falendar et al., 2013). As students from diverse backgrounds are increasingly being accepted onto psychology training programmes (Eklund et al., 2014; Lee, 2018; McKinley, 2019) it is more likely that trainees will be supervised by practitioners who are of a culture other than their own (Nilsson & Duan, 2007). Whilst racial matching may not be necessary for

an effective supervisor-trainee relationship or trainee satisfaction with their supervisor (Gatmon et al., 2001; Chang et al., 2003), multicultural training deficiencies may inadvertently impact supervisees and clients of colour. Supervisees may feel ill-equipped to adequately address cultural issues in therapy if they are not provided with training in multicultural competencies or have culturally insensitive supervisors (Eklund et al., 2014; Burkard et al., 2006). Burkard et al. (2006) found that the cultural responsiveness of supervisors (i.e., the extent to which supervisors acknowledged the cultural differences between themselves and supervisees) can have a direct impact on how supervisees engage with clients; supervisees who had more culturally sensitive supervisors were more sensitive with clients who presented with difficulties relating to cultural issues. In contrast, supervisees who had unresponsive supervisors reported having difficulty in meeting the needs of their clients in therapy, as they reported feeling unable to validate their client's experiences of cultural and racial issues. This suggests that multicultural competency is critical for contemporary practice and supervision. Further information and knowledge of clients from diverse backgrounds may aid in helping to generate greater cultural awareness, enhance supervisor-trainee relationships and, in turn, improve client satisfaction in therapy (Eklund et al., 2014).

Research exploring ethnic inequalities in mental health services has been dominated by epidemiological studies with little understanding of the views and experiences of service users (Prajapathi & Leibling, 2021). Furthermore, an in-depth understanding of service users has been a neglected area in qualitative research (Prajapathi & Leibling, 2021). Pakes & Roy-Chowdhury (2007) argue that qualitative methods provide a way of improving culturally sensitive therapeutic practice, as it is primarily concerned with the subjective dimension of human experience, understanding people's experiences and the meaning they apply to their experiences (Willig, 2019). Culturally sensitive practice requires clinicians to not only be cognisant of their own beliefs and values, but also have awareness of how the client's cultural background may influence their presenting difficulties (Crawley et al., 2002). In-depth views generated by qualitative research can aid in helping clinicians increase their knowledge and understanding of diverse cultures, beliefs and attitudes which, in turn, may make them more likely to provide care that is culturally sensitive (Bellamy & Gott 2013). Moreover, adopting culturally sensitive practices increases the likelihood that clients will experience more positive therapeutic relationships with clinicians, which can lead to better health outcomes (Brooks & Manias, 2019).

There is increasing wide recognition of the need to improve the cultural competence of services so that all individuals can benefit from health care provisions (Memon et al., 2016; Rathod et al., 2018). A focal point in training, especially in applied psychology programmes such as Counselling Psychology, is multicultural competence (Koch et al., 2018). Eleftheradiou (2010b) has argued for further understanding of cultural factors by calling for more crosscultural research to be conducted in Counselling Psychology. Furthermore, listening to and engaging with diverse communities plays a central role in improving accessibility and making services appropriate (British Psychological Society, 2018).

The values of Counselling Psychology place the discipline in a unique position to understand the diversity of experiences that shape people's lives. Given the paucity of research on the Bangladeshi community, researching Bangladeshi women's experience of in-law relationships may provide a useful and original contribution to Counselling Psychology. It may also aid in helping other mental health professionals to develop more accessible and culturally appropriate services and promote better supervisory practices.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 The In-Law Relationship Across Cultures – A Global Perspective

Research on in-law relationships has been relatively scarce in the social sciences, including psychology (Lopata, 1999). Despite being a major feature of everyday life, affinal relations merit very little attention in journals (Walker, 2000) and research appears to be dominated by a focus on nuclear family relationships (Allendorf, 2017). In comparison to other close relationships, it remains a relatively understudied area of research (Baxter & Braithwaite, 2006; Goetting, 1990; Willson et al., 2003). Duvall's foundational research on mothers-in-law in the 1950s called for more research into in-law relationships; however, research remained scant until the 1980s. Books and journal articles that review and cite literature on in-law relationships also illustrate its limited scope and the wide gaps in the timing of published research. However, there is evidence that in-law relationships are receiving increased attention from researchers across the globe (Allendorf, 2017; Chan, 2017; Derdar, 2018; Kung, 2019; Mikucki-Enyart et al., 2015; Nganese & Basson, 2017; Olutola, 2012; Rabho, 2015; Shih & Pyke, 2015; Woolley & Greif, 2018; Young & Degroot, 2021; Zhang, 2016; Zhussipbek & Nagayeva, 2020). Given the paucity of literature available, the following review will include relevant research spanning the last six decades, including both contemporary and older research, which may provide useful insights into in-law relationships across cultures.

2.2 The Challenges of In-Law Relationships Across Cultures – In-Laws or Out-Laws?

The architecture of in-law relations is such that they are simultaneously both kin and strangers to one another (Allendorf, 2017; Merrill 2007) bound by a child marrying their spouse, yet unrelated biologically. One explanation offered for the challenges of interacting with in-laws has been attributed both to the triadic and the non-voluntary nature of the relationship (Morr Serewicz, 2006, 2008). The non-voluntary structure of in-law relationships may create ambiguity, as the members in the relationship usually do not choose each other from the outset but may be expected to treat each other like family members despite the lack of emotional bond and relational history (Fischer, 1986; Merrill, 2007). Additionally, these relationships may be difficult to ignore or avoid as they are inextricably linked via the linchpin, i.e., the son/daughter, who binds the relationship between spouse and parents. Ruptures in these relations, or choosing

to end them, may negatively impact and involve serious costs to everyone involved (Anderson, 2016; Morr, 2002; Morr Serewicz, 2008, 2013; Morr Serewicz & Canary, 2008). As a result, within the triadic relationship, the in-law dyad may carry higher stakes than most dyadic relationships as the in-laws try to form and negotiate relationships with one another, where they may compete for the linchpin who binds the triad together (Morr Serewicz & Hosmer, 2010 cited in Cupach and Spitzberg, 2011).

An alternative explanation offered by Merrill (2007) attributes the difficulties inherent within in-law relationships to the lack of clearly defined roles, giving rise to ambiguity and contradictions as they negotiate their association with one another. Jorgenson's 1994 study, for example, illustrated the ambiguity and competing loyalties experienced by 20 American couples in using address terms with their in-laws. The lack of a clear mandate for address terms for parents-in-law led some participants to feel anxious about addressing their in-laws as Mum or Dad, as this is an exclusive right that their spouse and his or her siblings have in relation to their parents, or because those terms are exclusively for use with their own parents. Whilst Jorgenson (1994) reported that the sample used was diverse, no further information is provided about the participants' ethnic backgrounds. More contemporary research also has found that children-in-law felt uncertain about whether they should address their parents-in-law as Mum or Dad (Mikucki et al., 2015).

Whilst the studies thus far present cultural views and experiences from American and European studies, research conducted in other parts of the globe has demonstrated the role of culture and how it shapes distinctly different family structures, in-law relationships and interactions (Morr Serewicz & Hosmer, 2011). Consistent with findings in Western in-law relationships, Allendorf (2017) also says that daughters-in-law and mothers-in-law are both strangers and family members to one another. However, rather than ambiguity, Allendorf (2017) argues that it is a contradiction that characterises Indian families. In Western affinal relations, the concept of ambiguity describes the confusion over whether in-laws are considered family to one another, but the joint family system sees no ambiguity; they are part of the same family. But Allendorf (2017) argues that contradiction is a more accurate concept, as mothers-in-law-and daughters-in-law occupy positions in which they are considered both an insider and an outsider simultaneously.

Joint and extended living arrangements are the norm for many cultures (Doss et al., 2022; Gupta et al., 2020; Khanum, 2001). Whilst in many cultures individuals may marry the partner

of their choice (see, for example, Pande, 2015), in-law alliances are not necessarily non-voluntary as proposed in Morr-Serewicz's (2008) triadic model. This is the case in arranged marriage customs in which parents select spouses for their children, and may include endogamous marriages within a kinship system (Ismailbekova, 2019; Al-Ghanim, 2020; Fatima & Leghari, 2020). Furthermore, patrilocal marriages may also influence in-law family dynamics. In Chinese society, for example, daughters are considered *shibun* (goods of lost value) (Ikels, 1985). Daughters traditionally leave their natal home after marriage, with the requisite transfer of obligation and allegiance to their spouses and families (Sun & Lin, 2015). A similar concept exists in India where women are considered *paraya dhan* (property belonging to someone else) (Jeffery et al., 1989), indicating that women are temporary members of their parents' home, and their permanent abode is the home she resides in after marriage with her husband and his family (Jejeebhoy & Sathar, 2001). There is thus no expectation as such for a daughter to care for her parents in their old age (Hareven, 2000), as that is the responsibility of the daughter-in-law.

Western research on in-law relationships implies that it is ambiguity around in-law relationships that leads to conflict. However, clear roles and expectations do not necessarily result in conflict-free relationships. Thukral's 2013 research interviews of Indian daughters-in-law found that the expectation of their role to adhere to family rules and complete house chores were clear. The women reported not having much flexibility in these expectations and lacking fulfilment in their relationship with their mother-in-law. Similar results have also been reported in South Korea (Lee, 2002; Kim, 2001), where the clear mandate to care for parents-in-law negatively impacted on daughters-in-law's life satisfaction (Lee, 2002) and physical and emotional health (Kim, 2001). This suggests that in situations where role expectations are clear, they can still be the site of struggle for family members. It also suggests not having clear roles and expectations may allow family members to exercise choice in how they want to navigate their relationships. Importantly, it highlights the need to consider the role of culture and how it shapes affinal kinship.

2.3 Popular Culture and In-Law Stereotypes

Popular culture has often presented a pessimistic view of in-law relationships (Morr Serewicz & Hosmer, 2010 as cited in Cupach & Spitzberg, 2011), with their tempestuous nature drawing the attention of researchers (Duvall, 1954; Fischer, 1983; Merrill, 2007). These issues are not

confined to one particular culture (Cong & Silverstein, 2008; Gangoli & Rew, 2011). The relationship between mothers-in-law and daughters-in-law has often been vilified in books, (*Toxic In-Laws: Loving Strategies for Protecting your Relationships*, Forward 2002), articles (Rodrigues, 2015, Tied in knots: The problem with mothers-in-law in India, *Hindustan Times*), movies (*Monster-in-law*), Indian Soaps (e.g., *Kyun ki Saas kabhi bahu ti* ('because a mother-in-law was once a daughter-in-law')) and internet blogs (Crazy Mother-In-Law Stories to Put your Life in Perspective, 2021, Crazy Mother-In-Law Stories To Put Your Life In Perspective – Mabel + Moxie (mabelandmoxie.com)). Given the highly stereotyped nature of in-law relationships, Rittenour and Kellas (2015) highlight the possibility of confirmation bias; that is, people may enter the in-law relationship expecting discord, and the negative perceptions may then perpetuate negative interactions, which in turn confirm the original beliefs.

However, research across various cultural contexts has provided counter-narratives to these stereotypical images. Shared values and respect within the relationship may mitigate ill feelings (Duvall, 1954; Marotz-Baden & Cowan, 1987). Goodwin's research (2003) on 247 African American and European American women and Jackson & Bergcross's 1988 study on 75 Black American women illustrated that where togetherness and strong ties can be established in the affinal relationship they promoted increased marital satisfaction based on positive exchanges, which also contributed to stronger support for the family as a whole.

The presence of a shared identity within the affinal relationship has also been shown to be an important factor, related to feelings of being accepted, and affects the degree of satisfaction felt by the child-in-law in the relationship (Golish, 2000; Morr Serewicz et al., 2008; Rittenour & Soliz, 2009; Shelton, 2019). Research in other cultural contexts also counters the argument that in-law relations are inherently problematic. Sun and Lin (2015) utilised a 20-item *Mother-in-law Relationship* (RML) scale survey to compare the mother-/daughter-in-law relationship of 509 Taiwanese daughters-in-law and 266 Vietnamese daughters-in-law. The results indicated that Vietnamese daughters-in-law evaluated their experiences as positive. They attributed this to the support and companionship they received from their mothers-in-law. Additionally, Allendorf (2012) found that an appreciation that the mother-in-law and daughter-in-law come from different backgrounds was also a way of developing sympathetic tolerance and helping them to adjust and adapt to each other. Furthermore, Bhopal's (1998) fieldwork in East London examined the influence of extended family and the effect it had on South Asian women's experience of motherhood. They found that paternal grandmothers and other female paternal kin, such as sisters-in-law, provided significant childcare support. The study makes no

reference to fathers or other men, reflecting perhaps the expected gender roles in South Asian culture. However, the absence of men appears to be common in in-law relationships research; the role of men and male in-law relationships is scant, and emerging research on in-law relationships continues to be predominantly focused on women (Greif & Woolley, 2018; Lewis Lemmons & Woolley, 2021). Consequently, there is a restricted view of the overall dynamics of in-law relationships.

2.4 Linchpin Theory

The presentation of in-law relationships in literature may not be too dissimilar to the portrayal of negative stereotypes found in popular culture. Duvall's 1954 seminal study on in-laws and Landis and Landis's 1963 study revealed that husbands and wives perceived the mother-in-law to be the most problematic, and since then, the conflicting nature of this dyad has been cited frequently in the literature (Limary, 2002; Marotz-Baden & Cowan, 1987; Merrill, 2007; Turner et al., 2006). Schramm et al. (2005) looked at adjustments and stressors by surveying 1,001 newlyweds in the first few months of marriage and found in-laws to rank among the top five stressors for couples. Some 60% of women reported feeling unhappy and stressed in the long term because of the relationship with female in-laws, suggesting that difficulties among in-law relations can have a lasting impact on marital quality and satisfaction well beyond the early years of marriage (Apter, 2010). Researchers have argued that one of the reasons for the tumultuous nature of in-law relationships could be that they have internalised negative in-law stereotypes from popular culture (Woolley & Greif, 2018).

One of the ways in which in-law relationships have been conceptualised is in the Linchpin Theory (Morr Serewicz, 2008). The triad comprises the linchpin, his or her spouse and the relative. The triangular theory rests on four basic assumptions. Firstly, in-law relationships are characterised by their triadic (linchpin, spouse, and relative) and non-voluntary nature (little choice about the formation of relationships with each other). This means that the relationship with the linchpin is considered more important than that between spouse and relative. Secondly, the marital and familial sides of the triad are stronger than the in-law relationship side. Thirdly, major lifespan transitions, as well as short-term fluctuations in interactions, mean that the inlaw relationships are continually changing. Finally, the nature of the relationship and communication between members on one side of the triangle is likely to have implications for everyone involved. Morr Serewicz (2008) utilised the linchpin theory to examine the nature of

98 in-law relationship triads (husband, wife, and one of the parents) and found that the in-law relationship is the weakest bond in the triad due to the non-voluntary nature of the relationship, whereas the other dyads in the triangle were much stronger.

The triadic nature of the relationship means that difficulties in the in-law dyad could affect the interaction and quality of the parental or marital dyad (Bryant et al., 2001; Morr Serewicz, 2008) in the triangle. Over time, there is the possibility that the son/husband's role as linchpin will reduce, especially if the mother-in-law and daughter-in-law establish a bond that exists apart from the marriage. The studies that follow highlight how the linchpin theory can be used to understand the difficulties which affect parental, marital, and in-law relations; however, the strength of one of the dyads can favourably, as well as unfavourably, affect another dyad.

2.5 Conflict and Conflict Management.

There appears to be some empirical evidence for the negative and conflicting nature of in-law relationships that are portrayed in popular culture (Fischer, 1983; Lopata, 1999). Duvall's 1954 study observed that participants found parents-in-law to be interfering and domineering and were perceived as old-fashioned and resistant to change. She asserted that young couples require autonomy to develop an independent family unit and found that the marriage was more cohesive when married adult children were given greater autonomy. Marotz-Baden and Cowan (1987), however, found that in-law conflict and proximity were unrelated to stress and marital satisfaction. Rather, their research showed differences in goals and values, and a lack of communication skills were the basis of frequent problems. Fischer (1986) found that the cause of tension and conflict in in-law relationships is due to people coming from different family cultures.

Research on in-laws has highlighted a variety of ways in which conflict is managed. Interference from family members can threaten the autonomy of the marital relationship, and failure to address intrusions and establish boundaries with in-laws may negatively impact the couple's marriage (Silverstein, 1990). One way of dealing with strained relationships is to put boundary management techniques in place. Management strategies employed in conflicts often involve avoidance, and Young and Degroot (2021) found that topic avoidance (choosing not to discuss an issue) served as a way of controlling privacy boundaries with mothers-in-law. They argue that, rather than viewing topic avoidance as uniformly negative, it can serve as a protective boundary to balance self-disclosure and relationship quality in the daughter-in-

law/mother-in-law relationship and allow for daughters-in-law to maintain independence and privacy from their mothers-in-law. Other research has found that, often, the spouse is recruited as a conduit to mediate conflict (Anderson, 2016; Merrill, 2007). Norwood and Webb (2006) suggested that the more intrusive the mother is, the more likely their son is to establish appropriate boundaries between the mother and the married couple. Goldstein's 2015 study explored this by surveying 241 married women and their perceptions of their mother-in-law's behaviours and boundary setting by their husbands. The results showed that the boundaries set by husbands for their mothers mitigate the effect that interference can have on marital satisfaction. Goldstein concluded that, whilst conflict between mother-in-law and daughter-inlaws is important in determining the experience of marital satisfaction, boundary-setting by the husband rather than interference from the mother-in-law was a better predictor of marital satisfaction. A limitation of this study is that it only explored the views of daughters-in-law and the boundaries set by their husbands and did not explore the role of mothers-in-law and whether they placed any boundaries. This would illuminate whether boundaries set by the husband's mother affect the marital dyad. Also, the majority of the participants in the study were white and it is unclear whether participants from other cultures would have shaped the outcomes of the study differently.

Another way that conflict has been managed is through avoiding self-disclosure or avoiding certain topics, which can serve several functions, including protecting one's identity or relationships (Afifi & Guerrero, 1998; Caughlin & Afifi, 2004) or avoiding conflict and protecting oneself in certain situations (Golish & Caughlin, 2002). Strategically navigating conversations may be particularly useful and necessary in complex relationships such as in inlaw relations, so that individuals can protect themselves from judgement and criticism, prevent conflicts in their relationships, and 'keep the peace' (Afifi & Guerrero, 2000; Guerrero & Afifi, 1995a, 1995b). Whilst the reasons for topic avoidance or avoiding self-disclosure may be benevolent, in other cases, those in particularly fraught in-law relationships may utilise this strategy to maintain relational distance (Mikucki-Enyart & Caughlin, 2018), especially if they feel that they have no choice but to maintain the status quo of the relationship with the in-law.

2.6 Ambiguity and Uncertainty

Ambiguity and uncertainty can affect the perceptions in-laws have of one another within the triadic relationship. As mentioned previously, the complex nature of in-law relationships may

also lie in the fact that the relationship is a non-voluntary one, as individuals do not choose this relationship but, rather, are linked via the linchpin (Morr Serewicz, 2008; Santos & Levitt, 2007). Without the linchpin, individuals would not need to interact or maintain the relationship (Woolley & Greif, 2018). The non-voluntary nature of the relationship means that it is surrounded by ambiguity about what to expect, as there is little guidance as to how these relationships should be and how to communicate with one another (Prentice, 2008; Turner et al., 2006). Ambiguity and uncertainty can obfuscate the communication between in-laws (Fischer, 1983; Mikucki-Enyart, 2011; Mikucki-Enyart et al., 2015; Turner et al., 2006) and they may feel confused about how to think, feel, and behave towards each other (Mikucki-Enyart (2011) and how to communicate with each other. This can have a significant impact on the quality of in-law relationships.

Mikucki-Enyart (2011) explored relational uncertainty in in-law relationships and found that 49 of the mothers-in-law were uncertain about how they felt about their daughters-in-law and their position in the family. They also reported feeling unclear on how to communicate or the number of contacts and visits the daughters-in-law wanted from them. This ambiguity challenges the stereotype that mothers-in-law are inherently intrusive and suggests that mothers-in-law also consider the perception that their daughters-in-law have of them, which influences their behaviour. Although not specified, it may also suggest that some mothers-in-law may not want to live up to the stereotype that is often portrayed in popular culture.

Disclosure may increase the sense of being included in a family, reduce relational uncertainty in in-law relationships and increase closeness amongst in-laws (Mikucki-Enyart, 2011). The effect of disclosure appears to produce mixed results in its implications for relational satisfaction. Disclosure of acceptance from parents-in-law may promote a positive relational quality in in-law relationships (Morr Serewicz, 2008), whereas low levels of disclosure in family-relevant topics may lead to low satisfaction for some participants. Being trusted with family secrets may indicate acceptance and accommodation of children-in-law by parents-in-law; however, hearing slanderous comments from in-laws in relation to other family members can backfire and reduce satisfaction among new sons and daughters-in-law, even though they were expressed on the basis that the children-in-law were liked (Morr Serewicz & Canary, 2008). This example also shows that parents-in-law's satisfaction with their child-in-law is weakly related to the satisfaction levels felt by a child-in-law.

Whilst the research thus far has illuminated some ideas about the conflicting and ambiguous nature of affinal relationships, there are several limitations in these studies. Much of the research has relied on survey data. Mikucki et al. (2015) designed their measures and conceptualised constructs based on participants' responses. The first segment of their two-part study involved participants responding to an open-ended questionnaire, listing and describing issues related to uncertainty with regard to their in-laws. This was then used to construct scales of children-in-law's uncertainty for the second part of their study. However, cross-sectional studies have several limitations; their construct of uncertainty may only be applied to their study, and caution will need to be taken if compared to other research on uncertainty. This is mainly due to the lack of consensus about definitions of constructs. For example, in family and marriage research, researchers often disagree on constructs such as marital quality, dyadic adjustment, and marital satisfaction. These terms are sometimes used interchangeably without specifying their unique definitions and conceptualisations (Goldstein, 2015).

Arguably, constructs do not capture the complex nature of in-law relationships. People do not simply accommodate or not accommodate; nor is it accurate to define relationships as either satisfactory or not satisfactory. The use of these binaries fails to recognise the nuanced and complex features of in-law relationships. Furthermore, conclusions about the causality and direction of causality cannot be made. For example, in Mikucki et al.'s 2015 study on childrenin-laws' relational uncertainty with in-laws, it is difficult to ascertain whether uncertainty causes satisfaction/dissatisfaction or whether the perceived level of satisfaction causes uncertainty. Secondly, cross-sectional studies are further limited in that they present the findings at a particular point in time and fail to provide a longitudinal perspective. This is a narrow view of in-law relationships and does not consider their complexity and how they may change or evolve. Widmer (2013) utilised a relational dialectic perspective to illustrate that inlaw relationships are not static and may fluctuate through their lives, at times integrating more, and drifting apart at others. Some of these changes may be due to various turning points in the relationship (Anderson, 2016). This suggests that more research is needed, using methods that can capture more nuanced features of affinal relationships which may help to illuminate their complexities.

The literature thus far has illustrated how the linchpin theory and triadic research can be useful in understanding the nature and structure of in-law relationships (Morr Serewicz and Hosmer, 2010). In-law research is dominated by studies carried out in American and European settings, mainly interpreted from a Western perspective. However, in-law relationships are not unique

to Western society. Non-Western contexts feature diverse family structures and living arrangements. In-law relationships and interactions in these contexts can highlight different ways in which cultural factors, patriarchal norms, and beliefs influence family structure and the various roles in which family members are positioned or undertake.

There is little understanding about the son's/husband's role, even though it has a crucial impact on the in-law dyad. In fact, men do not feature as frequently as women in the literature on in-law relationships. Most research on in-law relationships has demonstrated that they are fraught with tension and can be conflictual, particularly between the mother-in-law and daughter-in-law, highlighting the power struggle within this dyad. Feminists would argue that research on in-law relationships has provided an avenue to give voice to women (e.g., Cotterill, 1994; Pini, 2007) who have formerly been marginalised and treated peripherally in scholarly literature. Further examination of in-law relationships and the role of power in different cultural contexts can make a useful contribution to furthering the understanding of the dynamics of these relationships.

Despite the notable tension and difficulties between women in affinal relationships, this area has thus far received little attention from feminist research (Ward & Linn, 2020) Cotterill (1994) suggests that there is a dearth of research on many features of family relationships due to the idea that family relationships are natural. Early studies by Pini (2007) and Cotterill (1994) study which applied a feminist lens on female affinal kinship, argue that discourses about mothers-in-law and daughters-in-law have operated in gendered ways to shape women's position and actions within the family. Pini (2007) adds these discourses are not passively accepted and women do contest these discourses, thereby emphasising their agency. This suggests that a feminist perspective can provide a useful framework to better understand the roles and positions of affinal kin members.

2.7 Conceptual Framework: A Post-colonial Feminist Framework

2.7.1 Overview

The central feature of feminist theory lies in recognising the general power imbalance between men and women and promoting gender equality in both the domestic and public spheres. Porter & Judd (1999) note that the practice of feminism was developed and refined even before the term was first coined by French philosopher, Charles Fourier, in 1837. It operates on the

premise that an understanding of gender is essential to deal with the issues underlying the consistent and persistent oppression of women by men. Broadly speaking, feminism is a movement concerned with achieving equal political and social rights for women and working towards the elimination of discrimination and sexism.

Feminism, as a concept or a practice, can take different forms. Therefore, definitions of feminism depend on the political, cultural and philosophical standpoint of the person defining the term. Various strands of feminism have developed over time with decidedly different political aims, models for gender identities and outlooks on how to change society and challenge existing power relations (Bartels et al., 2019). Some of the main feminist philosophical standpoints include radical feminism, cultural feminism, liberal feminism and Marxist feminism. Radical feminism was born out of the civil rights movements in the 1960s. It focuses on the male oppression of females and claims that the central issue is the subordination of women by men. It rejects the patriarchal ideal of women that focuses on childrearing, marriage, and the maintenance of the household (Doude & Tapp, 2014). Cultural feminism, on the other hand, emphasises essential differences between men and women. Whilst there are different views within cultural feminism about whether these differences are biological or cultural, women's qualities are valued as superior to those of men. They aim to revalidate undervalued female attributes socially, politically and legally (Alcoff, 1988). As one of the earliest forms of feminism, liberal feminism emerges from the idea that women are viewed as secondary in status to men in society. This is based on unequal opportunities and segregation from men, so they aim to create change in people's attitudes and views towards women whilst working within existing social structures (Wolff, 2007). Finally, Marxist feminists believe that empowerment and equality for women cannot be achieved within the framework of capitalism (Stefano, 2014). Marxist feminism differentiates itself from other modes of feminist thought by not affording women a separate and special status without regard to class, and by its commitment to the defeat of capitalism by supporting working-class and impoverished women.

The different notions of feminism have evolved over time and in different locations, to reflect the emerging and dominant issues affecting women in a given period. Narratives of feminism employ the concept of 'waves', as they have provided a useful framework to chronicle the evolution of the feminism movement (Baumgardner, 2011). The metaphor was initially used to refer to the emerging Western women's liberation movements that followed the early organised suffrage movements (Gamble, 2006). However, critics of the use of this concept have argued

that the history of feminism is not as linear as the word 'waves' suggests. Notions of feminism have evolved variously, but the concept may serve to create a false illusion that each wave is completely distinct from the next and that organised feminist movements did not exist before the first wave (Springer, 2002).

Evans and Chamberlain (2015) suggest that, rather than rejecting the use of the metaphor altogether, it is important instead to incorporate into it more reflexivity and fluidity. They argue that discussions should consider the underlying continuity of the feminist movement between waves, question those which are included and excluded from the discourse and recognise that multiple waves of feminism coexist. As such, a summary of the main waves is offered with further discussion of continuity, inclusivity and multiplicity. Whilst there is a lack of consensus on the number of different movements, and the boundaries and characteristics of each wave, feminist literature broadly distinguishes four waves (Shiva & Karazmi, 2019; Wrye, 2009) and an emerging fifth wave (Hijab, 2019).

2.7.2 First and Second waves of Feminism

The first wave of feminism occurred in the 19th and early 20th centuries, highlighting the struggle over women's basic legal and political rights in society. It focused particularly on suffrage and was concerned with equal social and constitutional rights for women. This included the right to vote, divorce, education and property (Sharlach, 2009). A notable criticism of first-wave feminism, in the US, at least, was its focus on the rights of white women, rather than of all women. For example, white women were given the right to vote in the US in 1920. Women (and men) of colour, did not have the same right until 45 years later, following the Voting Rights Act of 1965.

The second wave of feminism in the 1960s and 1970s sought to promote gender equality in the workplace and reduce other social barriers. Both waves were concerned with eliminating inequality stemming from capitalism and patriarchy (Hunnicutt, 2009) and giving voice to women to assert their rights in various domains of life such as equal pay, reproductive rights and female sexuality.

Early waves of feminism, however, were criticised for assuming that the voices of white, middle-class women spoke for *all* women. By prioritising a particular race and class, early

waves of feminism were criticised for being too homogenous and Anglocentric (Brah & Phoenix, 2004; hooks, 1989), leading Black feminists to ask, 'whose feminism' is being written about and 'whose voices' are included within this collective 'sisterhood'?

2.7.3 Third Wave Feminism – Black Feminist Theory and Intersectionality

Dissatisfied with the silence of Black women's voices and their multi-layered experience of oppression, Black Feminist theory challenged the notion that the subjugation of women can be understood from a view through a single-faceted lens that privileges gender as the sole cause of women's experiences (hooks, 1989). A defining feature of the Black Feminist perspective is the idea of intersectionality, which is used to challenge the exclusive, hegemonic, and hierarchical features of early feminist thought (Nash, 2008). Coined by legal scholar and critical race theorist, Kimberlé Crenshaw (1989), the term is defined as 'the multi-dimensionality of marginalised subjects' lived experiences'. Intersectionality has been viewed as the 'most important contribution to women's studies' (McCall, 2005) and is thought to have brought 'the most significant transformation in feminist theory over the last three decades' (Singh, 2015).

Black Feminists draw on narratives and reflexivity as important features of their work (Skinner et al., 2005). Through narratives of oppression, hooks (1989) demonstrates Black women's agency through psychological strength and survival abilities, particularly significant in considering how 'oppressed' women are perceived and written about. Moreover, the oppression signifies a crucial marker of identity formation, which may be more empowering than the way 'third-world women' are presented. Craib's (1998) research on identity exemplifies this well: '...loss, frustration, pain, and conflict are necessary for growth and development... We do not grow through having our needs satisfied; we grow, develop and change through having them frustrated, denied, or redirected...' (p.216). There has been some resistance to the use of the term within the field of psychology, due to the challenges it creates with dominant psychological norms about scientific progress, which is aligned with positivist epistemology and generalisable, universal, and quantitative study designs (Settles et al., 2020). However, psychologists have become increasingly concerned with the effects of different categories of identity on outcomes such as health and well-being (Cole, 2009), and it has been most readily endorsed by psychologists from marginalised groups (Settles et al., 2020).

Black Feminist scholarship is to be commended for addressing the theoretical shortcomings of Western feminism and challenging the hegemonic and Eurocentric discourses in women's studies (Brah, 1996; Mirza, 1997). However, Ahmed (2003) has criticised Black Feminist theory for failing to acknowledge the voices of Muslim women, by allowing them to remain silent or reinforcing stereotypical constructions, so that the voices of Muslim women are ignored and situated outside of normative discourses; or the theory contributes to the 'othering' process by locating them within pathologised, oppressed, and victimised discourses (Ahmed, 2003). Consequently, this may result in an ideological hegemony of researchers conducting studies on particular groups, reinforcing stereotypical representations of those groups and perpetuating these ideologies in their writings (Becker & Richards, 1986). The influence of Western hegemonic discourse is not limited to white and Black Feminist theory but extends to and influences third-world women when they write about their communities and also represent women within fixed and essentialised constructions (Lazreg, 1988; Mohanty, 1988).

In-law research has also illustrated how some communities may have internalised Western 'orientalist' tendencies to evaluate their families in totalising ways. Shih and Pyke (2015) examined ideological assumptions of women's mothers-in-law and compared the responses of 36 Taiwanese, Taiwanese Americans, and Mexican-American daughters-in-law. They found that Taiwanese and Taiwanese American participants engaged in racialised assumptions about their mothers-in-law. These were indicated by references to mothers-in-law as 'typical' or 'traditional'. Furthermore, open, affectionate, and loving attributes were perceived as being characteristic of Western mothers-in-law. In doing this, the respondents projected polarised views of Asian cultures as being rigid and old-fashioned, positioning the West as progressive and modern (Said, 1978).

2.7.4 Fourth Wave and Emerging Fifth Wave

The fourth wave has been defined as newly emerging, over the last decade, and therefore has been difficult to define. It continues in the present day and, in terms of activism, has been characterised by the role of the internet and social media. It focuses on empowering women and has seen the emergence of the #MeToo movement, where accountability has been sought for acts of sexual violence against women. The internet and social media helped women to speak up and share experiences of abuse. Internet activism is a key feature of the fourth wave

(Shiva & Kharazmi, 2019). The role of power in abuse continues to be at the forefront of understanding violence against women. It also emphasises intersectionality and advocates for marginalised groups, including trans women. It aims to continue to deconstruct gender norms and systems of power. Feminists are beginning to confront the systems which allow inequality, abuse and discrimination to occur.

There are some who argue that whilst the fourth wave movement continues, there is also an emerging fifth wave. The fifth wave encompasses learning from previous waves about women's rights issues relating to politics, economics, culture and media and is described as multi-dimensional. Whilst the previous four waves have sought to work within current structures and systems to bring about change, the emerging fifth wave seeks to dismantle and destroy existing systems and build new systems prioritising the needs of all marginalised people (Ahmed, 2017).

2.7.5 Feminism and Religion

Feminism and religion are unsettled categories and whilst there is an abundance of personal interpretations of spirituality, institutional religions maintain significant power within contemporary societies (Zwissler, 2012). Braidotti (2008) observes that the most dominant streams of European feminism are mostly secular. According to radical feminist Simone de Beauvoir, religion oppresses women and is used by men to oppress women (Beauvoir, 1953). The implicit assumption of feminism is that religion participates in the subordination and subjugation of women and is therefore incompatible with the philosophy of the women's movement. A large body of research demonstrates associations between religious beliefs and patriarchal attitudes which maintain power imbalances between men and women (Walby, 1990). The differences in traits/functions assigned to men and women in society can be found to be deeply ingrained in the practices of many religions (Perales & Bouma, 2019). For example, many major world religions refer to God as male (including the use of masculine pronouns) and have an overwhelmingly disproportionate presence of men in high-ranking religious leadership roles (Storkey, 2015). Woodhead (2007) argued that the exclusion of women from the Catholic priesthood is an example of patriarchy and highlights the church's lack of ease with women's freedom.

Liberal feminism focuses on legal equality and justice for all in both the familial and global arenas. Justice is defined as an agreement in which coercively enforced gender hierarchy or traditionally gendered roles are absent (Baehr, 2017), both within the basic structures of society as well as within the family, which is seen as the inner workings of society. Therefore, justice within the family, according to liberal feminists, would be expressed through equal distribution of domestic labour, care and income (Baehr, 2017). Liberal feminists argue that religions such as Christianity, Islam and Judaism are oppressive, as they not only endorse gendered roles for women, but emphasise core values in the preservation of marriage and the family in a coercive manner (Fortune & Enger, 2005). It has been argued that such religious texts and their applications maintain male control and dominance within a patriarchal system. As such, it is said religion is viewed as serving patriarchy rather than serving to challenge dominant social norms that have perpetuated inequality and abuse against women (Fortune & Enger, 2005).

Whilst male violence against women had been documented in US and UK history for centuries, notable movements to end violence against women started to emerge during the second wave. Domestic violence was no longer considered something for which a woman was responsible, and women were no longer to be partly blamed for rape/sexual assault crimes (Amir, 1971). It was acknowledged that male violence against women could take multiple forms apart from physical violence, including psychological, sexual and/or financial. Feminists aimed to redefine violence as an issue of power, caused or perpetuated by gender inequalities (McMillan, 2007). Radical feminists contributed the greatest share of work on violence against women and promoted the idea that patriarchy could explain male violence against women (Brownmiller, 1975). Similar to the first wave, many of these goals were achieved through a focus on legislative change. Although the second wave started to address racial inequalities, both class and race (if considered at all) remained secondary to gender. Inequalities between women of colour and white women and men remained largely the same.

Liberal feminism has however been criticised for its failure to address issues relating to diversity and acknowledge the various cultural perceptions of what equality and justice necessitate (Enslin & Tjiattas, 2004). Westerners associate secularism with being modern and consequently can regard religion and religious values, along with societies that uphold them, as old-fashioned and backward (Hawthorne, 2014). It has been argued that liberal feminists must first separate modernity from secularism, and deconstruct colonial perceptions of religion, in order to work towards trans-national feminism (Hawthorne, 2014).

The topic of feminism and religion has been a contentious one and it has been argued that North American discourse often scapegoats religion for justifying misogyny and violence against women (Hitchins, 2007). Many scholars contend that religions were not patriarchal in the early stages of their organisation and argue that it is not the religions themselves that are patriarchal, but the application of them within a patriarchal society (Mahmood, 2016). Texts and scriptures can be misinterpreted and used as a tool of control and abuse in opposition to the values of religion (Alkhateeb, 1999). As Mernissi (1991) suggested, "Depending on how it is used, the sacred text can be a threshold of escape or an insurmountable barrier" (p. 62).

2.7.6 Islamic Feminism

Islamic feminists, as a movement, resist oppressive ideologies by identifying the way the *Qur'an* (Islamic Holy Book), *Hadith* and *Sunnah* (sayings, practices and traditions of Prophet Muhammad (Peace Be Upon Him)), *fiqh* (Islamic jurisprudence) and *madhabs* (Islamic schools of law/thought) provide answers to women's issues and affirm their rights (Abdugafurova et al., 2017).

Islamic feminism gained popularity in the 1990s (Mir-Hosseini, 2011), and since the events of 9/11 in America and 7/7 in the UK, Islam and Muslim women have received even more attention. Debates on the veil and media portrayals of Islam as a 'backward' religion instrumental in the oppression of women have led to further marginalisation of female Muslims (Zempi, 2016). This misrepresentation is a reflection of hegemonic discourses which help to maintain the dominant position of the West (Said, 1978), and has become a rhetoric to discredit Islam and prove its inferiority. Despite the negative attention, especially regarding Muslim women's identity and their position in the family, research has shown that women view their faith as a key to their empowerment and a source of agency that increases their confidence and access to rights (Bolognani & Mellor, 2012) and offers stability and security (Rozario, 2012).

Islamic feminism recognises that the relationship between religion and feminism can be complex (Mir-Hosseini, 2011), especially since the implicit assumption of feminism is that religion participates in the subordination and subjugation of women and is therefore incompatible with the philosophy of the women's movement. Muslims struggle to identify with feminists' emphasis on equal rights, as it is at odds with Islam's notion of complementarity between the sexes, and they argue that the Qur'an has already provided significant rights for

women, which are far more wide-reaching than the rights of women in secular legal systems (Ahmed, 2003; Hashim 1999; Tucker, 2008).

Islamic feminism utilises Islamic texts and jurisprudence to challenge cultural practices that are not supported by Islamic law, practices such as preventing women from acquiring education or obliging them to look after their husband's parents (Abdugafurova et al., 2017). This highlights a significant and poignant argument that is pertinent to understanding the experience of Muslim women, who may have to negotiate culture and religion within their communities and families, and who may have different beliefs and ideas about culture and faith.

The idea of invisible labour is shared by Western and Islamic feminism. Western feminism introduced the concept of invisible labour to illustrate how a woman's role at home and at work often goes unacknowledged. Women's care work is unpaid and considered obligatory. Similarly, Islamic feminism also highlights how religious elites distort religious law in favour of cultural norms that favour patriarchy (Abdugafurova et al., 2017). The gendered nature of power, embedded in religious and cultural practices, favours male translations of holy texts, which benefit men and regulate women to adopt a particular culture of thinking (Purewal, 2003; Thomas & Brah, 2011). Abdugafurova et al. (2017) found that although Islamic law advocates female autonomy and argues against a daughter-in-law's religious obligation to care for her husband's parents, Muslim jurists justify a wife's elder care by her husband's duty to care for his parents. By directing attention to the importance of pleasing the husband, jurists fail to protect women from the cultural obligation to serve in-laws and demote the role of elder care to volunteer work to please her husband, making her servitude invisible. Hussain, (2012) argues that one way of tackling this is to develop women's religious knowledge to help them distinguish between Islamic law and cultural discourse. This suggests that the interplay of culture and religion may significantly influence the shaping of experiences.

Culture is defined as a 'system of signs, rules, symbols and practices that, on the one hand, structure the human realm of action; structures that are, on the other hand, constantly being (re)constructed and transformed by human action and praxis' (Belzen, 2010, p.37). This definition, endorsed by Belzen (2010), is particularly useful to the current study, as it recognises that culture is fluid, constantly changing, dynamic, and hybrid in nature. I draw upon a general definition of religion as a 'personal set or institutionalised system of religious attitudes, beliefs, and practices' (Merriam-Webster, n.d.). Pertinent to this study is understanding participants' own subjective experiences of religion and culture rather than assuming that these constructs

are universally the same (Dueck et al., 2017). Individuals may have to negotiate culture and religion within their communities and families, who may have different beliefs and ideas about culture and faith.

2.7.7 A Post-colonial Feminist Perspective

The post-colonial feminist perspective offers a critical approach to addressing inequalities associated with hegemonic power relationships (Al-wazedi, 2020). As well as considering patriarchy as the basis for oppression, it also considers the political, historical and cultural context shaping social inequalities (Quayson, 2000). In particular, it interrogates how women in the non-Western world are represented, and calls on Western feminists to speak on their behalf (Al-wazedi, 2020). Furthermore, it challenges ideas about women's liberation and agency. A crucial litmus test of feminist agency in North America and Europe is their ability to speak out in public, orally and in writing (Parpart & Parashar, 2019, Madhok & Rai, 2012). In contrast, women's silence is associated with disempowerment (Jackson, 2012) and may be evaluated as lacking agency. Western scholarship's perspective of this binary limits the understanding of voice and agency. Therefore, a more nuanced and grounded approach, may provide important insights into women's agency (Parpart & Parashar, 2019).

Classic feminism implies that the emancipation of women lies in denying structures that position them in subordinate positions and reinforce unequal power imbalances. This framework would suggest that one would have to turn one's back on extant cultural and religious norms to achieve empowerment. From this perspective, feminists are often criticised for propagating anti-marriage, anti-men, and zero-sum ideologies to achieve female empowerment. This is particularly problematic for women whose values are centred around family and kinships where they feel a sense of connectedness and belonging.

However, this is not to say that women passively submit to cultural expectations. The process is far more complex, and their notions of empowerment may not be reflective of normative assumptions of freedom and choice as proposed by the diktats of liberal, Marxist, and radical feminism. Instead, women may modify cultural norms and negotiate power relations in ways that are 'fit for purpose' (Pande, 2015). In this regard, a post-colonial feminist framework recognises that the experiences of women are better understood by addressing how they navigate within their cultural parameters, within a largely patriarchal setting, which shapes

their worldviews and goals in relationships. Phillips (2010) recognises that, whilst women may face various pressures in their lives, they should still be respected for the choices they make without assuming that they have been imposed on them by oppressive and patriarchal cultures.

A classic feminist framework tends to adopt a view of agency as outward expressions and actions of resistance. However, this provides a very restrictive view of women's agency and fails to acknowledge everyday enactments of negotiation whereby women use alternative tactics and strategies to manage their daily struggles (Das & Di Fruscia, 2010). Women may communicate resistance in less perceptible ways, not easily observable by spectators. Active agency, then, may present itself in less obvious ways, where women negotiate dialectic tensions quietly in the private spheres of their minds, to inform the course of action they wish to take to contest the forces of patriarchy. These contestations may inform choices to negotiate, creatively and subtly, with others to meet their needs, or they may choose not to take action outwardly in some situations.

Deciding not to take action is not to be confused with a lack of agency or having no agency. On the contrary, not taking action may be part of women's active agency to manoeuvre around challenges in a way that maximises the potential for them to meet their goals. This is echoed by Phillips (2010), in that the choices women make should not be ignored, and their agency should be recognised even under oppressive conditions. A patriarchal family setting and intersectional differences may compound and restrict women's ability to exercise agency, but there may be instances where it motivates individuals to exercise agency in the limited spaces available between wider familial, cultural, and social forces. However, Phillips (2010) also adds a cautionary note that, although everyone has agency, some may have more options than others. Focusing solely on cultural influences overlooks possible structural inequalities. Women may not be aware, or may take for granted the way in which structural factors and cultural processes are deeply ingrained in shaping their thinking and regulating their behaviours. Consequently, Phillips (2010) argues that overemphasis on choice may lead to women perceiving that they have more choice than they do in reality.

Bhabha's (1990, 1996) concept of third space is particularly useful, as it helps to explore agency in a nuanced way, paying attention to the spaces in-between the parts of cultures they preserve and the parts they negotiate to create a new 'third space'. Mirza (2015) distinguishes 'compliant' and 'resistant' agency and suggests that there is a continuum between these two spaces, demonstrating the diverse ways in which women deal with in-law relationships. She

refers to compliant agency as strategies used to ameliorate challenging situations and manage and minimise abuse. She frames 'resistant' agency as a strategy that features a lower profile than more outward forms of resistance. Therefore, women's agency can be recognised as lying somewhere on the continuum. This is also aligned well with post-colonial feminism as it recognises the diversity of people's experiences.

2.8 Patriarchy and Male Power

Within a patriarchal society, the concept of hegemonic masculinity may be particularly useful for understanding gender relations. Early understanding of hegemonic masculinity illustrated the culturally idealised form of manhood (Donaldson, 1993). This is characterised by stereotypical notions of masculinity that shape the socialisation of young men. These include adopting and internalising behaviours characterised by competitiveness, aggression and emotional restraint. Later understandings of hegemonic masculinity were reformulated to acknowledge the hierarchical nature and varieties of masculinity. Connell (2005) for example argues that rather than a fixed view of masculinity, multiple masculinities vary across time and culture. Furthermore, hegemonic masculinity not only legitimises men's domination over women but justifies the subordination of other marginalised ways of being a "man." That is men who deviate from normative notions of masculinity run the risk of being marginalised, thus demonstrating how men can also be victims of patriarchy.

Patriarchal societies can also influence relationships between women and position them as victims of patriarchy. Within feminist psychology, some would understand the conflict between women being born in a male-dominated society, internalising the male perspectives, and adopting them as their own to undermine other women (Shpancer, 2014). Some subscribe to the idea that the problems produced by patriarchy that put women in subordinate positions, may be shared experiences among women. However, women may fail to recognise their shared experiences and instead work against each other. This "false consciousness", as Marxist feminists would posit, skews their perception in thinking the real threat to their identity is other women, when maybe it is the male establishment that sets them to work against each other (Shpancer, 2014). Through sharing common experiences in consciousness-raising, they may be able to see how the patriarchal structure produces such problems, and their personal problems therefore become political (Snyder, 2008). Some radical and Marxist feminists would

argue that marriage is an arena that perpetuates patriarchy and therefore needs to be overturned for the emancipation of women.

Some participants in Merrill's (2007) research found that the women in her study believed that men in the family often did not want to get involved in the women's relationships. Silence may reflect the patriarchal nature of relationships, putting women in difficult positions as kin keepers and putting the onus on them to maintain relations. From this, it may be assumed that, in avoiding the role of kin-keeping, men benefit from not being as absorbed in conflicts and from women taking the pressure to ensure familial relational ties are kept intact. Failure and the breakdown of the relationship are then directed at women. However, women in Western contexts tend to have more power. Western literature on in-law relationships has shown that the involuntary nature of in-law relations makes relationships between affinal kin ambiguous, resulting in unclear roles and expectations in these relationships. There is no mandate from the in-laws to live together or serve each other. From this perspective, it can be difficult to conceptualise within a feminist framework, for Western research at least, how women are subordinated, and how men benefit within the affinal relations.

A contrasting view is provided by Collier (cited in Rosaldo, Lamphere & Bamberger, 1974), who criticises the assumption that discord between mother-in-law and daughter-in-law is caused by passively acting out scripts set by patriarchal structures, but rather views the confrontations as deliberate tactics that serve a purpose. Vlahoutsiokous (1997) believes that her observations of conflict between the mother-in-law and daughter-in-law have empowering aspects, where they are active participants in negotiations of the cultural order. As the women battle between the preservation of tradition and forces of change and modernity, she argues that these conflicts position women in a positive light as agentic beings, expressing their discord with rationality and intent. This is also exemplified in research that argues that the daughter-in-law holds the most power (Cotterill, 1994; Limary; 2002; Rittenour, 2012). As the daughter-in-law is the perceived gatekeeper, Nuner (2004) argues that she holds the ultimate power over the contact between the mother-in-law and her biological son and any grandchildren.

Foucault (1980) argues that power is never fixed or stable but something that is negotiated. He also emphasises the relational elements of power rather than reducing the term to being simply imposed and repressive. Yakali-Çamoğlu's (2007) study on the relationship between mothers-in-law and daughters-in-law in Turkey found that although the interviewees (as daughters-in-law) felt that their freedom was restricted because of their dominating mothers-in-law, they

were unaware of their own "power". These manifested themselves on the micro-level in ordinary activities of everyday life where in-laws experienced feelings of competitiveness and jealousy towards interviewees.

2.9 Bargaining with Patriarchy

Women are largely expected to conform to gender norms, such as being responsible for looking after the home, in-laws, and children. However, in the review of the literature that follows, there may be tensions around the role of daughters-in-law and the power dynamics within the in-law family. For women, in exchange for being a subservient daughter-in-law to her parents-in-law in her youth, they may have the opportunity to gain power over the labour of her daughter-in-law when she becomes a mother-in-law herself. This ideology was termed as "patriarchal bargain" and involves a woman internalising patriarchal values thoroughly whilst she anticipates inheriting the authority as a senior woman in later life and will reap the coinciding benefits (Kandiyoti, 1988). Das Gupta's (1991) commentary on popular Indian cinema proclaims that the last high status of position as a mother-in-law means she can avenge society for the loss of her youth by displacing her resentment on her daughter-in-law by alienating her son from his newly acquired wife.

The "patriarchal bargain" is dependent upon the loyalty of the sons to ensure they reside in their family home and guarantee their spouses do not attempt to break the family system at any cost. As a result, older women may have a vested interest in suppressing the romantic love between youngsters (Jeffrey, Jeffery & Lyon, 1989) to ensure the conjugal bond is secondary and therefore claim the son's primary allegiance.

The hope of having a subservient daughter-in-law may be a motivator to endure the oppressive situation they may find themselves in. However, should there be a breakdown of the patriarchal bargain, this may have serious consequences for women; it may be perceived as a genuine tragedy for women who invested in the system of an earlier patriarchal bargain and are not able to benefit from having a daughter-in-law under her authority. Furthermore, women who escape the control of their mother-in-law and head their own households at a young age may also lose the opportunity to look forward to a future surrounded by subservient daughters-in-law (Kandiyoti, 1988). In a system where women find themselves under the control of men, women may feel that subservience from a future daughter-in-law is the only opportunity to acquire some authority and control, through the position of an elevated status of a mother-in-law.

Whilst women may be enticed by inhabiting a senior position in the hierarchy, it is questionable how much of a benefit this may be for women. From the outset, women's subordinated status itself is what forces them to engage in the bargain in the first place. Their participation in the bargaining process pits mothers-in-law and daughters-in-law against one another and reinforces patriarchy (Kandiyoti, 1988). From this perspective, the breakdown of the patriarchal bargain or a renegotiation of the process may provide an avenue for women to escape their subordinated status. In Gram et al.,'s (2018) study they found Nepalese couples being subjected to exploitation and financial insecurity whilst living under the authority of seniors. Nepalese daughters-in-law, women expressed emancipation and empowerment as they moved from the position of a daughter-in-law in the joint household to being a wife in a nuclear household. However, the researchers argue that household separation may not fundamentally change patriarchal norms. It doesn't appear to alter the expectations of daughters-in-law being subservient to their mothers-in-law and neither does it alter their subordination to men in the household hierarchy (Gram et al. 2018). Moreover, whilst daughters-in-law may feel empowered by leaving the joint household, this may be at the expense of the mother-in-law losing her son and in turn their access to financial protection (Vera-Sanso, 2005). Simultaneously, the daughter-in-law's subordinate position in the nuclear household may find that their husband potentially abuses financial privileges (Chowbey, 2017; Singh & Bandhari, 2012)

Kandiyoti (1988) notes that within the bargaining process, women may contest, redefine, and renegotiate their positionings, which means that women in non-Western contexts should not be evaluated using a reductionist approach to whether they exercise agency or not. Madhok, Phillips and Wilson (2013) argued that it is unhelpful to view women's agency in binary or oppositional terms, but rather agency can be conceptualised when forces of agency and oppression are brought together upon a "common conceptual canvas" (Madhok, 2013). Instead of assuming lack of agency, focus should be directed to recognising agentive acts in the context of women's subordination and oppression that create conditions for its enactments (Mahmood, 2001). Kandiyoti (1988) also suggested that the bargaining strategies involve women contesting, redefining, and negotiating their positionings, as women are generally found to be the gender responsible for cultivating and maintaining kin relationships. The bargain of patriarchy comes under threat given that a daughter-in-law's position as kin keeper allows her to exert power and control as she can choose to facilitate or obstruct her husband's relations with his family. For example, some women may adopt more resistant techniques as part of their

agency if they observe that their compliant agency strategies serve them no long-term benefits; what Chaudhuri et al. (2014) identified as "breaking with patriarchy."

Kabeer (2001) conceptualised agency as women's ability to exercise power by making choices and gaining agency over time. This may be more helpful than terms such as "autonomy", which is sometimes used interchangeably with agency. However, autonomy does not take into account the temporal nature of agency, which can change over time (Malhotra & Schuler, 2005). Furthermore, autonomy implies the notion of acting alone, which does not explain situations where women's agency is based on the context of their interdependence on family and their personal preference to make choices with others (Kabeer, 2001; White, 1992).

2.10 Abuse Towards Daughters-in-Law

Interpersonal violence, domestic violence (DV) and intimate partner violence (IPV) are terms used interchangeably by scholars studying violence. It is a prevalent global public health issue and of significant public health concern in the UK (Chandan et al., 2020). Whilst both men and women are victims of abuse, women are disproportionately so (Office for National Statistics, 2020a). The Crime Survey for England and Wales found that 1.6 million of the victims were women, and 757,000 were men (Office for National Statistics, 2020b). The consequences of abuse are wide-ranging and have a long-lasting physical and psychological impact on the individual (Rodriguez et al., 2009). National guidance mandates clinicians to identify clients experiencing abuse and guide them to access support (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2016).

In the UK, the *Domestic Abuse Act* defines domestic abuse as abusive behaviour by one individual to another to whom they are personally connected. Behaviours defined as abusive include physical, sexual, psychological, emotional, and economic, and include both violent and threatening behaviour, and controlling and coercive behaviour (Domestic Abuse Act, 2021). Intimate partners or people who are personally connected include those in an intimate personal relationship and those who are or have previously been married or in a civil partnership. But personally connected individuals can also be those who share regular contact and who are familiar with and have knowledge of each other's lives.

Fernandez (1997) has argued that feminist research on domestic violence in the West predominantly focuses on men's violence against women in nuclear family arrangements. This

stands in contrast to research in non-Western contexts, which acknowledges the role of the wider family in the perpetration of abuse. Abuse towards daughters-in-law from affinal kin has garnered a significant amount of attention in research in non-Western contexts (Chan et al., 2009; Chaudhuri et al., 2014; Choi et al., 2010; Clark et al., 2010; Fernandez, 1997; Gangoli & Rew, 2011; Naved & Persson, 2005; Olutola, 2012; Pollen, 2002; Raj et al., 2006; Rew et al., 2013; Rianon & Shelton, 2003; Roomani et al., 2016; Wasim, 2014) and has continued to proliferate in in-law research in recent years (Ali et al., 2021; Berkland & Jain, as cited in Dunn & Manning, 2018; Jordan & Bhandari, 2016; Childress, 2017; Derdar, 2018; Jewkes et al., 2019; Jeyaseelan et al., 2015; Mirza, 2017; Park, 2018; Pun et al., 2016; Rabho, 2015; Ragavan & Iyengar, 2017; Tonsing & Tonsing, 2019; Zhussipbek & Nagayeva, 2020). Much of this research also highlights a strong association between difficult in-law relationships and intimate partner violence (IPV).

Gender-based frameworks emphasise inequality of power distribution between men and women, stressing in particular that women do not possess as much power in relation to their partner and within the family as a whole. Resistance from women to challenging male authority can be interpreted as a significant offence against men, whereby their core identity is threatened (Di Napoli et al., 2019).

Social perspectives of violence against women suggest that it is largely influenced by norms, stereotypes and traditional gender roles (McCauley et al., 2013; Reyes et al., 2016; Shen et al; 2012). Women's adoption of traditional gender roles may make them vulnerable to tolerating abuse (Esmailzadeh et al., 2005), while men are socialised into ideas of masculinity expressed in power, strength and control. Men may experience a threat to their identity if their internalised gender ideals are threatened. Di Napoli et al., (2019) suggest that recognising how patriarchal culture shapes the disparity between men's and women's rights and raising awareness of this, can be used to deconstruct gender-stereotypical models and reframe their roles.

Feminist perspectives see violence against women as a result of a patriarchal culture. This viewpoint assumes that men are automatically entitled to a position of power and domination (Misso et al., 2019; Campbell et al., 2002; Dutton & Goodman, 2005) and their superior position is culturally and socially acquired through their childhood experiences, their family's upbringing practices and social attitudes (Bell & Naugle, 2008). In the context of abuse, men perpetrate violence against women in order to maintain control over them (Troisi, 2018; Felson & Messner, 2000; Umberson et al., 1998); this control may be used as a mechanism or

motivation for violence (Castro et al., 2017). Some feminists have explained violence against women from a social-psychological perspective, ascribing the behaviour to a controlling motive (Dobash & Dobash, 1977; Fagan & Brown, 1994; Koss et al., 1994), using violence as a tool to influence women's present and/or future behaviour (Johnson, 1995). It is used to control women to produce general compliance in an interpersonal relationship or to prevent the victim from repeating a specific behaviour (Felson and Messner, 2000). Having been socialised into believing that men occupy a superior position to women in the family, men justify their abuse to establish and maintain dominance in the relationship. Additionally, women's compliance in adhering to gender norms may explain their high tolerance of the abuse perpetrated against them (Esmailzadeh et al., 2005). Dillon's (2007) theory of inequality and discrimination, demonstrates that women are particularly vulnerable to being made to feel inferior, degraded and abused.

Cognitive behavioural approaches to abuse would view abusive behaviours as emanating from gender stereotypes, misogyny and sexist attitudes. These components are typical of patriarchal culture and have particular implications for an individual's thoughts and behaviour. From this perspective, men are socialised to uphold specific and rigid beliefs and behaviours, which results in a deficit in managing conflicts and in their ability to control anger (Stuart et al., 2007). Imbued with gender stigma, perpetrators develop hostile attitudes and beliefs and a distorted understanding of relationships (Gould et al., 2012). Cognitive behavioural interventions would focus on challenging long-held and rigid core beliefs about gender norms and roles and reeducate them to increase their awareness of abuse (Hilder et al., 2016).

A family systems framework sheds light on how power dynamics influence relationships and individuals in a family (Schmidt, 2008). Two fundamental dimensions of the family systems theory are cohesion and power (Minuchin, 1985). This framework argues that problems relating to the hierarchy, boundary or alignment of the family structure result in impairing the resources for coping with and adapting effectively to stressful situations (van As & Janssens, 2002). Consequently, family problems are conceptualised by understanding how power is distributed amongst family members, how boundaries are managed, and how conflicts are resolved (Minuchin, 1974).

In their description of the hollow *bahu* (Indian daughter-in-law), Berkland and Jain (as cited in Dunn & Manning, 2018) found that their participants' experiences of conflict with in-laws went beyond the traditional mother-in-law/daughter-in-law conflict and described how there is a web

of influence on the disempowerment and subordination of women. Participants in their study discussed that their parents-in-law, husband, other family members, their own parents, and to some extent themselves, were predominant actors who held levels of power and had extensive influence over their freedom and interactions. Gangoli and Rew (2011) argue how the Indian legal system dilutes the nature of in-law abuse. By conceptualising it as "intra-relational conflict" rather than gender-based violence, the cultural dimension of mothers-in-law, acting as "proxy" men (Kandiyoti, 1988), gets largely ignored while perpetuating violence and control over their daughters-in-law.

Mirza's (2017) research highlights how domestic abuse is influenced largely by culturally informed kinship structures and relationships. Her research comprised 11 in-depth interviews with UK-born Pakistani and Pakistani-born Muslim women, highlighting South Asian women's experiences of family abuse instigated and perpetrated by mothers-in-law. Results revealed that daughters-in-law faced both indirect (domestic despotism, limiting time spent with a husband, constant ear-filling whereby mothers-in-law make complaints to their son about daughters-in-law) and direct forms of abuse (physical abuse, verbal abuse characterised by belittling daughters-in-law's appearance and enduring regular taunts about their natal family, isolation) from their mothers-in-law. Similarly, Raj et al.'s (2006) research on South Asian women in America found that women were not able to call their native family or go out without their husbands, or do anything by themselves. One participant reported that, despite not living with her in-laws, she would need to seek permission from her husband who would, in turn, ask permission from his parents to seek their approval. Some women were denied or delayed access to food. They described not being able to join family meals or waiting until the family had completed their meal before being allowed to eat.

Derdar's (2018) study showed how daughters-in-law are put in vulnerable positions, which perpetuates the domination and authority mothers-in-law have over daughters-in-law. A considerable amount of control over the daughter-in-law was evident, such as disapproval of employment and visiting natal family. Daughters-in-law reported their mothers-in-law lying to their husbands about their not doing house chores, purposely adding salt to food made for guests, and generally talking ill about daughters-in-law to their sons, which would instigate violence from husbands to wives. If wives complained about their mothers-in-law, this would also lead to husbands beating them. Experiences of psychological and verbal abuse using degradation and name-calling have also been reported by other studies, (Gill, 2004; Hyman & Mason, 2006; Mason et al., 2008). Gill's (2004) study demonstrated how financial control can

be used as a means to maintain participants' dependence on perpetrators. Perpetrators of abuse have been shown to adopt strategies that deflect the perpetrator's responsibility for abuse (Cavanagh, 2003). Punitive treatment is justified by placing blame on women for their 'inadequacies' or 'failures' in domestic tasks or failing to meet expectations (Pence & Paymar, 1993).

In some cultures, patriarchal ideologies promote rigid hierarchy, female submission and servitude to the husband and family (Raj et al., 2006) and an emphasis to prioritise the family's interests above their own (Gill & Harvey, 2017). Daughter-in-laws may be subjected to abuse as they are perceived to occupy the lowest rank in the hierarchy of the household (Husain, 2019; Gill, 2004). Gill's (2004) study found that mothers-in-law usually provoked violence and were frequently referenced as the main perpetrators of abuse. This may be due to the female hierarchy whereby the mother-in-law occupies a senior position based on generation and being the mother of a son, thus providing her with more power and entitlement over the daughter-in-law (Raj et al., 2006). Consequently, daughters-in-law may accept the abuse as they are expected to preserve the harmony of the household (Husain, 2019).

Furthermore, women may experience shame in abusive situations. The conceptualisation of shame from a biopsychosocial perspective suggests that it can be both external (fear of judgement from others) and internal (negative self-evaluation) (Gilbert, 2002b). Additionally, whilst this view sees shame as a universal human emotion, it also acknowledges that people's experiences of shame will vary according to cultural and historical contexts (Gilbert, 2002b). The type of shame the participants have experienced may reflect values that prioritise the group and group harmony over the individual.

The biopsychosocial perspective suggests that shame provides evolutionary advantages and is beneficial to group cohesion and coincides with theories that view shame as a factor that enhances group cohesion and avoids collective exclusion (Keltner & Buswell, 1996; Keltner & Harker, 1998).

Cross-cultural literature, particularly in South Asian cultures, has suggested that negative self-evaluation associated with shame is not universally harmful to psychological well-being (Menon & Shweder, 1994; Wong & Tsai, 2007). Instead, it may be positively valued and perceived as an appropriate response to failure in some situations (Bhawuk, 2017; Lindquist, 2004). It may also lead to constructive behaviours such as building relationships with others

(Bagozzi et al., 2003; Wong & Tsai, 2007) and enhance one's ability to perform one's duties (Wong & Tsai, 2007).

Shame can be framed as a social emotion that involves the protection of the self from others Gruenwald et al. (2004). This is connected to an external experience of shame which involves the fear of being judged by others. In the context of preserving izzat, women may fear women may engage in behaviours to deflect any scrutiny from others which would result in bringing dishonour to the family. However, shame could also be framed within an internal experience of shame. These experiences could be understood through cognitive theories that describe shame as a self-conscious emotion that threatens positive self-image (M. Lewis, 1993; Tangey, 1999; Tangney & Fischer, 1995). From this perspective, internal feelings of shame may trigger a fear of negative judgement and the threat of being exposed to others, leading them to engage in strategies to preserve a positive self-image (de Hooge et al., 2010, 2011, 2018).

Shame features frequently in literature as a barrier to seeking help for those experiencing abuse (Thaggard & Montayre, 2019). Women may hide abuse due to a fear that exposing it could bring shame upon themselves (Anitha et al., 2009). From a feminist perspective, this may be explained by power related to patriarchal beliefs, preserved by men, and victim-blaming (Wilson, 2006). Alternatively, women may want to avoid the stigma of being a victim. This, in turn, influences their decision to conceal abuse. Towns and Adams (2000) discuss internalised beliefs about a woman's carer role that may influence their decision to stay in a difficult relationship. They found that women remained in relationships out of love and care for their husbands and wanting to help them. Women may feel the pressure to preserve relationships and deny abuse if they perceive this as a personal 'failure' of not adequately fulfilling the carer role.

The fear of shame and pressure to preserve family honour may deter women from disclosing abuse (Aujla, 2013; Gill; Sabri et al., 2018; Tonsing & Barn, 2017). (Aujla, 2013; Gill; Sabri et al., 2018; Tonsing & Barn, 2017). For example, Sabri et al.'s (2018) study found that in some South Asian communities, abuse is perceived as a private matter. Women may be penalised for sharing information with others as this would be considered as dishonouring the family. Consequently, concealing abuse prevents the risk of bringing shame on themselves and bringing the family and community into disrepute.

Tonsing and Barn (2017) explored the role of shame in IPV within the South Asian community and argued that "to understand shame is to understand denial, silence and secrecy (p.632). They found that the concept of shame in the South Asian culture, is not tied to just the individual,

but is intimately connected to the to the wider familial, social and communal context. Hence, shame may play a role in hindering the disclosure of abuse as women risk not just shaming themselves but their families and communities as well. Similarly, a study in Tanzania identified shame as a significant socio-cultural factor in preventing women from seeking help for abuse (Mcleary-Sills et al., 2016). This study also highlighted the social imperative to keep family matters private which limited women's agency in seeking help for abuse.

The fear of bringing shame is not confined to the affinal kin but also extends to the natal family. Previous research has also indicated that South Asian women resisted divorce or separation because of the pressure to avoid disgracing their families (Hyman & Mason, 2006; Tonsing, 2014). This indicates that women may experience pressure to remain married, even under abusive conditions, to maintain family honour.

In cultures where women are expected to adopt an unobtrusive disposition, outward resistance may lead to women being blamed for the abuse inflicted on them (Hyman et al., 2011). From this perspective, women may feel unable to display overt resistance especially if they consider this to be incongruent with gender-appropriate behaviour prescribed by cultural norms. Collectively, these studies illustrate the pressure to preserve honour may serve as a barrier to disclose abuse; that is victims of abuse may experience difficulties in sharing their experiences due to a fear of personal shame and bringing dishonour to their family (McLeary-Sill et al.; 2016),

In another study, Thaggard and Montayre (2019) conducted semi-structured interviews and explored shame in the narratives of 15 Maori women who were affected by IPV. Their findings revealed key points of why women may choose to keep their experiences of abuse hidden. Women in their study held the belief that they were primarily responsible for maintaining domestic harmony and making family relationships work; ideals which gave them a positive sense of self and identity. When relationships did not meet these ideals, women attributed the abusive situations as an indication of their personal failure. The power of the women's own internalised sense of shame and worthlessness prevented women from seeking help; keeping the abuse hidden meant that they prevented the risk of their perceived deficiencies from being exposed. This study demonstrates that oppressive experiences may impact women's agency and confidence. The participants in the study experienced a loss of agency and powerlessness which negatively impacted their sense of self-worth.

The sensitive nature of discussing abuse and shame means that it is a topic that is also avoided in therapy (Dearing & Tangney, 2011; Gilbert, 2011; Teyber et al., 2011). Gilbert (1998) argues that it is crucial in clinical practice to raise awareness of shame and find strategies to enable clients to discuss sensitive matters. Singh and Hays (2008) found that Feminist Group Counselling was helpful for South Asian victims of abuse. These group interventions also considered the role of culture in shaping experiences and intersectional feminism. The groups allowed space for women to understand systemic factors that lead to shame, thus allowing them to externalise feelings of guilt and shame.

Control over daughters-in-law and isolating them may also serve as a barrier to seeking help. In Rabho's (2015) study, 200 Palestinian daughters-in-law reported extreme forms of control by their mothers-in-law, such as not being able to go out or visit parents or choose who they speak to, and wearing modest clothing. They too reported abuse from their partners as a result of their mother-in-law's interference and claimed that the breakdown of their marriage was as a result of co-residing with their jealous and meddling mother-in-law. Daughters-in-law in Rabho's (2015) study felt that this stemmed from mothers-in-law being unable to accept that their son could love another woman, and attempts would be made to suppress this bond from strengthening. Palestinian daughters-in-law also reported being verbally, emotionally, and physically abused by their mothers-in-law. Control of women can be understood from a feminist perspective of abuse (Straka & Montminy, 2006). Patriarchal beliefs about the position and role of women, and the pressure to preserve family honour may be used to justify the control of women (Raj & Silverman, 2002) and underscore their unequal and inferior position in the social hierarchy (Dillon, 1997).

Zhussipbek and Nagayeva (2020) argue that local traditions and unauthentic religious interpretations not only discriminate against women and obstruct the advancement of women's rights but dehumanise men who also participate in the oppression. This is based on ideologies around complete reverence for mothers over wives and positions men to subjugate their wives to oppression. Derdar's (2018) study found that religious and cultural beliefs shaped the behaviour and actions of the sons/husbands, where men are expected to prioritise and venerate mothers and conform to societal expectations of being *mashkhut mu* (mother obedient) even when the mother may be wrong; a quality that is revered and positively acclaimed in the community. In doing so, men can prevent the stigma of being labelled as *mardi mu* (mother disobedient), a label that implies that men prioritised wives over mothers – considered a sin within the culture. Derdar's (2018) research stands in contrast to Norwood and Webb's (2006)

research. Whilst the latter study suggests that son's are able to establish boundaries with their mother, Derdar's (2018) suggests that pressure mothers are placed in a position of power to set boundaries, resulting in men possibly finding it difficult to challenge such boundaries.

Women may not always remain silent and may deflect the blame on to partners for abusing them (Hyman et al., 2011). However, women in severely subordinated contexts may find it difficult to challenge cultural norms of gender inequality. They accept their low status in society and may not be aware of their rights or have any alternative recourse (Childress, 2017; Mirza, 2017; Rabho, 2015; Zhussipbek & Nagayeva, 2020). Furthermore, they may have been socialised to conform to role adherence and engage in specific "impression management" to avoid being labelled as "incompetent" or "bad" (Goel, 2005; Rivas, Kelly & Feder, 2013). Women's strength may be measured by their ability to endure and tolerate distress (Childress, 2017; Haarr, 2007). Men and women may tolerate hardship if they believe challenging subordination is considered a sinful practice from a religious perspective (Rabho, 2015; Zhussipbek & Nagayeva, 2020), or they may want to protect their abusers, as exposing problems would mean this would negatively impact on their natal family, relatives, and children (Childress, 2017). Consequently, this may reinforce the normalisation of violence, and women, in particular, may work against being blamed for the failure of the marriage.

Although research may suggest that women remain passive in the face of abuse, Abraham (2002) found that South Asian women used varying strategies to deal with abuse, including silence, avoidance, answering back, and seeking support. Women may look to religion as their coping mechanism (Chaudhuri et al., 2014; Rabho, 2015; Zhussipbek & Nagayeva, 2020). Being aware of their rights can also help women to exercise agency. For example, learning about contemporary perspectives of Islam that argue against the subjugation of women helped Muslim women leave abusive in-law relationships and marriages (Rabho, 2015; Zhussipbek & Nagayeva, 2020).

The relative absence of men in the literature has also been highlighted across the literature, even though it has shown that husbands and sons play a major role in mediating the experiences of mothers-in-law and daughters-in-law. Whilst the feminist literature has discussed women's inferior position and unequal status as a symptom of patriarchy, it does not adequately explain the often-conflicting relationship between mothers-in-law and daughters-in-law and is yet to offer concrete and enduring explanations of the woman's role in the perpetuation of oppression of other women (Olutola, 2012). Furthermore, research in non-Western contexts has shown

that, despite patriarchal ideologies, mothers-in-law have appeared to have more power than their sons and act as "proxy" men. Furthermore, in some contexts, men also appear to be powerless; for example, research in Central Asia, the Middle East, and Africa has shown how men are expected to revere their mothers according to their religious understanding of Islam and by not doing, they may have to face considerable backlash from the community around them as they are violating religious values that consider it a sin to disobey mothers (Derdar, 2018; Rabho; 2015; Zhussipbek & Nagayeva, 2020).

2.11 Industrialisation, Modernisation and the Changing Landscape of In-Law Families

One of the most prevalent themes in research regarding in-law relationships across cultures is how industrialisation, modernisation and social movement are changing the dynamics of affinal relations. Rashid (2013) explored the experiences of women in rural locations in Bangladesh whose husbands emigrated for work purposes. In the absence of men, senior members of the family may assume authority, or wives may have some authority, temporarily until the son/husband returns. Findings show that whilst decision-making in household matters may be viewed as a reflection of empowerment, many women in her study did not appear to appreciate this responsibility. Rashid (2013) argues that concepts of 'freedom' and autonomy must take into account the cultural context of rural Bangladesh. For many women in her study, power in their lives persists in everyday practices of being a 'good' wife/daughter-in-law/working woman. These idealised notions of femininity create aspirations for women that may not denote 'autonomy' from the perspective of Western feminists, but nonetheless functions as socioeconomic security, which is paramount for rural women. This suggests that it is important to explore and understand what empowerment may mean for women in their individual contexts.

Longitudinal research is particularly useful in looking at the impact of modernisation and industrialisation on changes in family structure and values. Two studies explored relationship quality and marital satisfaction in China and Korea. Cao et al. (2019) examined 265 Chinese couples' experiences of the early years of marriage. Using three annual waves of data, they explored adult children's perception of parental attitude towards their adult children's marriage, in-law relationship quality, and the impact this had on adult children's marital satisfaction. They found there was a positive association between perceived relationship quality with in-laws and children's marital satisfaction. Choi et al. (2019) also explored marital satisfaction in Korea.

They examined the relationship contact with parents and parents-in-law and how these contact patterns were associated with marital satisfaction. These factors were measured at two points, 10 years apart. They found that modernity has had a significant role in shaping contemporary Korean families. Rather than the emphasis on sons and daughters-in-law having the most contact with the husband's family, consistent with the patrilineal Confucian principles, results showed that there was increasing contact with one's parents as well as with parents-in-law. Additionally, their results suggested that men and women who were, overall, most satisfied with their marriages sought to satisfy equally the parents on both sides. Their studies conclude that Korean society is transitioning towards more egalitarian and bilateral kinship relations, and the happiest married men and women are those who find a way to adapt to changing kinship norms and attend to the needs of inter-generational solidarity for both parents and parents-in-law.

However, Choi et al.'s 2019 study focused on non-co-residing parents and in-laws and did not look at those who may still be living within traditional family settings. Gu's 2018 life history interviews with 16 Taiwanese women in middle-class families explored their experiences with co-residing in-laws. They found that prevalent cultural beliefs, consistent with Confucian ethics of filial piety, in-law hierarchy, and age-based seniority placed considerable stress on women's experiences. In-law inequality also existed for those couples in egalitarian marriages. Most of the women in the study spoke of feeling aware of being stressed and powerless, and they felt helpless as they were expected to conform to norms as filial daughters-in-law. An emphasis on relational harmony meant that women would resort to suppressing their anger and other negative emotions (conduct surface acting) and would show obedience, filial affection, and appreciation (deep acting). For the women in this study, it may appear futile to challenge the status quo given that the women's husbands, mothers, and other immigrant women encouraged tolerating distress and not disagreeing with in-laws. By silencing their private feelings and converting them to gratitude, Confucian in-law patriarchy is reinforced even with modernity. This study shows that, despite modernisation, canonical cultural and patriarchal ideologies may be hard for some women to challenge, especially immigrant women.

Similarly, Kung (2019) found that, despite the daughters-in-law having more education and income, there is resistance to egalitarian relationships between Taiwanese mothers-in-law and daughters-in-law, and mothers-in-law maintained their superior position. Kung showed that, despite changes brought by industrialisation and post-industrialisation in Taiwan, filial piety continues to be a dominant mechanism in maintaining the Confucian principle. Consistent with

Choi et al.'s 2019 study, the husband's filial duty (*xiao*) to his mother and the daughter-in-law's concern for her own mother's reputation maintain patriarchal guidelines and intergenerational relations. In both cases, the daughter-in-law's cultural capital (education and employment) is nullified, and this secures the mother-in-law's superior status.

Filial obligation also continues to play a significant role in contemporary China (Zhang, 2016). In a narrative study with 34 young mothers, Zhang explored family practices and 'displaying family' in northern China. Although the display of filial obligation is self-determined, it is relational and controlled by others. Central to this is that failing to display filial duty may mean losing face (*mianzi*). This meant being present, so that their display of duty could be seen. When the women could not be present, they had to find a way to substitute for their absence through money or getting someone to step in as a provider for in-laws. Shih and Pyke's 2010 study also found that American Chinese daughters-in-law complied with filial obligations to present themselves as 'good'. However, Chinese daughters-in-law also engaged in covert resistance in the mother-in-law's absence. In this way, they avoided open conflict and were able to fulfil norms of filial piety without giving up power over their households.

2.12 Autobiographical Memory and Performing Identities

"How individuals recount their histories – what they emphasise and omit, their stance as protagonists or victims, the relationship the story establishes between teller and audience – all shape what individuals can claim of their own lives. Personal stories are not merely a way of telling someone (or oneself) about one's life; they are the means by which identities may be fashioned."

(Rosenwald & Ochberg, 1992, p. 1)

Post-colonial feminists have emphasised the need to embrace the diversity of women's experiences and identities (Mohanty et al., 1991; Spivak, 1988), as this directly challenges the Eurocentric models of feminism and female homogeneity. Social experiences and expressing one's identity, however, is not a straightforward endeavour, as women grapple with selecting what to share and what not to share. Expressing who we are and who we are not is part of everyday discourse, and these questions of identity are linked to the narratives of experience and memory (Craib, 1998). People are what they remember (Conway & Pleydell-Pearce, 2000), and the stories we tell ourselves represent who we are (Bruner, 1990; McAdams, 2001). This also involves a careful curation of how people position themselves in the story and how

they position others to support their storyline (van Langenhove & Harré, 1999); a point that is elaborated further in the methodology chapter. The role of autobiographical memory is particularly useful in understanding how identity is narrated and constructed in the process of storytelling. A related point that will be considered is how communicating identity is a performance of social roles (Goffman, 1959).

2.12.1 Autobiographical Memories

Autobiographical memory is a particular type of memory that is characterised as specific and long-lasting and usually bears significance for one's sense of self (Nelson, 1993). Fivush (2011) defines autobiographical memories as a uniquely human memory form where individuals include the memory of the self as the 'experiencer' of past events. Autobiographical memory serves several functions; past experiences can be used to problem-solve and guide future behaviour, create a continuous sense of self and maintain a coherent self-identity over time, and can help to cope with negative emotions, experiences and build resilience (Bluck and Alea, 2002; Fivush, 2011; Williams, Conway & Cohen, 2008). A life narrative is built as individuals relate to self through the past, present, and future, and form a personal history with these links (McAdams, 2001). Through this process, individuals integrate different perspectives and make interpretations and evaluations across self, other, and time.

Embedded in this is the interplay of memory, self, and culture, so when stories are shared, the narratives are culturally shaped, which in turn shapes the remembering of events culturally. Autobiographical memories are therefore developed within specific social and cultural contexts (Fivush, 2011; Nelson & Fivush, 2004), which are related to the multiple layers of one's identity (Fivush, Habermas, Waters & Zaman, 2011). Of particular relevance here is Fivush's (2010) ideas on autobiographical memory from a feminist perspective. She draws particular attention to power, place, voice, and silence, and argues that one's place in the world partially determines the type of experience one might have. Dominant or culturally canonical narratives define what is culturally appropriate and have the power to validate or silence certain narratives over others. This means that being an individual of a particular, race, gender, class, or religion may influence experiences they share or do not share, and some may be afforded the right to speak or to be heard more than others. Marginalised groups, who may have been silenced for deviating from the status quo, may challenge parts, the whole, or specific interpretations of

dominant narratives (Fivush, 2004) and develop resistant narratives. When silence is imposed, it can signify loss of voice, loss of power leading to a loss of memory, and loss of identity or sense of self. This can occur when certain experiences deviate from canonical cultural narratives. Sometimes, individuals may participate in silencing themselves if they believe their experiences may be too difficult for others to hear or if they believe others will not understand or care. Importantly, Fivush (2010) highlights that talk does not necessarily imply voice, but being given the opportunity to speak and to be heard promotes psychological well-being (Pennebaker, 1997).

Self-defining memories of specific events may differ from the original experience as they get retold, processed, reinterpreted multiple times, and integrated into the life story (Singer & Blagov, 2004). Wilson and Ross (2003) argue that there is a bidirectional link between memory and identity, and people's constructions of themselves through time function to create and preserve a favourable view of their present selves. In the current study, Bangladeshi women's view of their current selves may be influenced by beliefs, goals, recollections, and appraisals of their former selves. As a result, identity construction can be perceived as a performative act, as individuals attempt to try and provide a coherent, consistent, and particular presentation of themselves.

2.12.2 Performing Identities

Goffman's (1959, 1963) ideas of "stigma", "impression management" and theatrical metaphor of "frontstage" and "backstage" performance have a particular significance to the current study. When stories are shared, actors inevitably tailor their story for a particular audience. This means that storytelling is a relational act and is conveyed with the audience in mind. I recognise that participants too will also tailor their stories to convey particular impressions (Goffman, 1959; Riessman, 1993). Their narrative performance may reveal aspects of themselves and is likely to reflect how they are most likely to behave in accordance with their religious and cultural norms, codes, and practices in order to be validated and accepted and to avoid stigma by deviating from social and cultural practices. This may involve silencing certain experiences as part of impression management (frontstage performance). Alternatively, their narratives may also reveal backstage performances where the actor has the freedom to "violate expected behaviours" (Goffman, 1959, pp. 112–113). The concept of performance or role of an actor is

not used to suggest that the participants are "faking" or are "inauthentic" but that the interview context is a particular social context, and their stories may be edited for another context and another listener. Narrative storytelling and narrating identity may involve sharing of experiences that may often be contradictory, as participants try and make sense of their experiences. With this in mind, I will evaluate the storytelling "performance" as authentic, and that it may also reveal contradictory beliefs, ideas, and experiences.

Brah (1996) analyses the relationship between ethnicity and culture and argues that maintaining culture is a process that can be achieved through "reiterative performance". In this light, women actively negotiate, contest, and perform cultural and ethnic traditions as part of their expression of individual agency. In subscribing to the perspective that performing identities is a relational act, power can then be viewed as operating and shifting in different ways by all actors involved within a given situation. Allen (2011) argues that power can be accessed by both men and women and is available for them to use and exercise at their disposal. This may be manifested in everyday interactions that involve acts such as domination, coercion, negation, manipulation, and persuasion.

The relational element of power, and the wider social and cultural process, is integral to understanding how women perform identities and exercise agency in their relationship with inlaws. It is within this framework that I explore the ways in which the participants' gender intersects with other multiple markers of their identity that produce their social realities (Butler, 1990).

2.13 Concluding Remarks

Empirical research has demonstrated that the typically fraught relationship between mother and daughter-in-law is not just a pop-cultural cliché; however, it has also illustrated that the nature of in-law relations is far more complex than the evil mother-in-law and victim-daughter-in-law representations in popular culture. The literature review on in-law relations suggests that the dynamics of these relationships are complex and sharing many themes where they are similar also highlights nuances within different contexts. For example, the conflicting nature of mother-in-law and daughter-in-law can be seen across societies, but the nature and power dynamics of such relations may differ. Whilst daughters-in-law and mothers-in-law may be conflicted over the loyalty of their husband/son, in non-Western contexts these power dynamics may stem from mothers-in-law claiming the only chance of power they may get in their lifetime

in exchange for their subordinated position as daughters-in-law themselves. Furthermore, research has reported that mothers-in-law in non-Western contexts actively suppress the bonding of husbands and wives. This may also be the reason why most research on marital quality and satisfaction is conducted in Western families, as marital quality may be a less salient concept in non-Western contexts where a daughter-in-law's primary role is to be at the servitude of the wider family.

Perhaps one of the most striking features of in-law relationship research is how agency and empowerment are rarely the focus of Western research, yet are proliferate in non-Western research. The assumption here, of course, may be that Western women have agency and need not prove or justify their position, whereas non-Western women do. This may be because daughters-in-law in the Western context have considerably more power than their mothers-in-law as they are the gatekeeper in accessing their husbands and children. In contrast to non-Western contexts, there is also no obligation for daughters-in-law to be at the servitude of her husband's family. Daughters-in-law in non-Western contexts, on the other hand, are expected to prioritise affinal kin over their natal family and have to navigate and negotiate relationships.

The literature thus far, has illustrated that in non-Western contexts, a woman's primary allegiance after marriage is towards her husband's family to her husband. This stands in contrast to the Western contexts in which there is less emphasis on women prioritising their husband's parents (Komarovsky, 1962; Young & Willmott, 2013). The differences in in-law relationships in non-Western and Western contexts may be due to the different value systems, with the former group being shaped by more collective values and the latter being shaped by individualist values. This may explain the nature of Western families mainly being characterised by nuclear families and non-Western families being characterised by joint/extended living. Wong et al. (2018) have cautioned the use of collectivism and individualism in research as there is a lack of consensus in meanings, which may result in greater stereotyping of culturally diverse groups. They argue that labelling societies and groups with these terminologies should be discontinued, and researchers and practitioners should endorse more narrow constructs in their descriptions, such as "independence from others" or "preference for group harmony", for example. However, recent research still implies that endorsing a collectivist-individualist paradigm may be a relevant useful framework for understanding the in-law relationship (e.g. Cao et al., 2019), whilst also recognising that there may be within-culture variations. Research on in-law relations has shown that culture and

religion are internally contested, hybrid, characterised by shifting porous borders, and with identities ever-changing (Zhussipbek & Nagayeva, 2020). This means that even making claims about "Indian characteristics" or "Islamic values" lacks the complex texture of these identities, which may differ across contexts. Being Muslim in the West and being Muslim in Central Asia may differ considerably; therefore, it is necessary to recognise the fluidity of cultures and address values in the context of each cultural tradition across different contexts.

2.14 The Need to Examine Cultural Specificities

Evaluating findings from in-law research can be problematic due to the nature of samples and how they are categorised and named. For example, some Western research on in-laws that have utilised online surveys, have attracted mostly Caucasian participants but also include "Asians" in their study. Due to the design of the study, researchers do not probe further analysis of individual differences that may account for their findings. Furthermore, the "term" Asian is also problematic, as it implies that individuals from Asia are a homogenous category. It becomes further complicated, as the term is used differently in different contexts; for example, in the US, the term Asian commonly refers to those from China, Korea, the Philippines, and Japan, whereas in the UK it is used to describe individuals from the Indian subcontinent such as India, Bangladesh, and Pakistan (Bhopal, 2007).

Research that also pools together "South Asian Women" is also critiqued by post-colonial feminists, as homogeneity of women ignores differences, variety, and diversity of women's experiences. South Asian women are differentiated by language, caste, class, and cultural and religious beliefs. Such groupings in research become problematic for readers to effectively evaluate findings and may lead to generalising all Asian women as having the same experience. This points to two things: the need to use clear and specific terminologies for subgroups and to recognise the diversity, not just between group and subgroup experiences, but within-group experiences also. This points to the need to examine the cultural specificities of a group for a more nuanced understanding of experiences of in-law relationships. The women in the current study are all British, Bangladeshi and Muslim. The next segment will focus on the structure and features of Bangladeshi families and some coinciding values that are central to the socialisation of Bangladeshi women.

2.15 The Bangladeshi Family

In contrast to the nuclear family arrangements, Bangladeshi families are characterised by the extended/joint family system. This living arrangement reflects the cultural norms of Bangladeshi society underpinned by values that reflect the priority of group harmony over the individual (Edlund & Rahman, 2005). The Bangladeshi family structure is based on patrilineal kinship systems (*gusthi*) where a network of people is descended from a common male ancestor. Bangladeshi households undergo a typical "domestic cycle" (Bonamy, 1973). In Bangladesh, the *ghar* (household) consists of a male head of the family, his wife, and their children. When the sons marry, they bring their wives to live in the same *ghar* as their fathers and form their own families. At this stage, these families may decide to live with their parents or form their own households, in which case they become heads of their own households (Edlund & Rahman, 2005). Daughters, once married, are no longer the responsibility of their parents but of their affinal kin (Pollen, 2002).

A typical woman's life in Bangladesh is characterised by a succession of dependencies: first from her father, then her husband after marriage, and then her son (Dil, 1985). Within the Bangladeshi domestic cycle, if the male head dies before his wife, the wife can become household head, although she may not possess as much power, as some decisions are taken by adult sons (Gardener, 2002). In Bangladesh, later stages of life are usually associated with increased power and status. There is a preference to produce sons, as they provide insurance for security in old age, and have a direct influence on women gaining recognition and status (Dil, 1985).

Pollen's (2002) ethnographic research on the Bangladeshi Family in Bethnal Green, UK, suggested that the break-up of a joint household may arise after the marriage of the eldest son, and at this stage, there may be an overbearing expression of hierarchy and pressure on sons to remain under their purview. Pollen notes, however, that there is no typical development cycle of the Bengali domestic group in the UK among the three generations of Bengali people she observed. With respect to in-law relations, she reported that relationships with mothers-in-law and daughters-in-law are not always as difficult as traditionally expected.

2.15.1 Gender Ideologies, Izzat And Purdah

Within the Bangladeshi community, gender ideologies are strongly influenced by religion, which is generally Islamic in nature, and patriarchal cultural norms (Baluja, 2003). These ideologies form the basis of gender roles, where women are predominantly confined to the domestic sphere while men control the public domain (Mandelbaum, 1988).

Unmarried daughters are kept within the limits of cultural orthodoxy by parents until they marry (Pollen, 2002). The notion of *izzat* (honour), and *purdah* (veiling/seclusion) are pertinent in understanding how Bangladeshi gender ideologies guide the behaviour of men and women and explain the rigid gender segregation and linkages between the importance of family honour and female chastity (Baluja, 2003; Mandelbaum, 1988). *Izzat* and *purdah* are major themes of Bangladeshi culture and according to Kabeer (1988), "the honour of the family is believed to lie in the virtue of women, and men are charged with the role of the guardian". Prestige and honour are dominant forces in men's behaviour which is guarded by how a woman conducts herself. By implication, the social roles and behaviour of women are partly shaped by a consideration of men's status.

Purdah represents the seclusion of women and is considered a sign of female modesty and preservation of chastity, as sexual behaviour before marriage is a threat to family honour (Loshak, 2003). Women are encouraged to physically cover themselves in front of men who are not their husbands, fathers, or brothers. Purdah also includes spatial enclosure where movements outside the household are restricted as a sign of the respectful demeanour at home (Mandelbaum, 1988). Consistent with prevailing gender stereotypes, caring for the family, cooking and cleaning are intimately tied to the role of "good wives and mothers" (Robinson & Milkie, 1988).

Ellickson's (1972) documentation of perception and practice in a village in Bangladesh notes how rural women are rarely seen without *purdah* and do not do their own shopping, even if for themselves. Feldman and McCarthy's (1983) research showed that, contrary to popular belief that *purdah* epitomises the social exclusion and oppression of women, the *burqa* increases the mobility and social participation in society, as families struggle to depend on the wage of male breadwinners and demand for female wage labour increases.

Pollen's (2002) description of Bangladeshi women in the UK, however, implied diversity within the culture with respect to dress code; whilst mothers wore mainly *saris*, daughters adopted an Islamic dress code or Western fashion sense. One participant's case in her research

expressed growing displeasure of a young woman's experience of her change in dresswear from trousers and denim to *sari* and *burqa* after marriage, which she found uncomfortable. Additionally, the participant did not warm to the expected duties of a daughter-in-law, which was in relative contrast to the autonomy she experienced in her fatherless household before marriage. This implies gender role expectations, and the way women conduct themselves in dresswear, may be undergoing significant changes due to the impact of Westernisation. Rather than conforming to religious and cultural norms, women in the UK may be exercising agency over their behaviour and appearance.

Despite these changes, however, Bangladeshi women, like women from other patriarchal societies, are continuously encouraged to conform to normal structures of hierarchical patrilineal solidarity. Upholding a marriage, even under difficult circumstances, preserves *izzat*, and initiating divorce proceedings goes against a family's *izzat*. Even if a marriage fails through no fault of her own, nothing much can be done to remedy her from the social opprobrium that inevitably follows (Pollen, 2002).

2.16 Research Question

The main objective of this research is to begin to expand knowledge of in-law relationships and begin to fill gaps in the literature that have not addressed the experiences of British Bangladeshi women in the UK. Narrative approaches are considered a valuable means to understand experiences and meaning-making, and examine how identities are constructed in a person's individual context. Narrative approaches also value temporal perspectives and acknowledge that experiences are ephemeral; therefore, storytelling is influenced by how people make sense of their experiences over time.

To my knowledge, there have been no studies to date that have specifically examined in-law relationships in the Bangladeshi community in the UK; thus, the aim is to begin to make an original contribution to research and to attempt to expand on the limited literature available on in-law relationships. Due to the exploratory nature of the study, the research question is broad: What are the experiences of in-law relationships of British Bangladeshi Muslim Women living in the UK? I seek to understand the participants' subjective experiences in their individual contexts and consider the impact of these meanings on their behaviours and identity over time. Furthermore, intersectionality will be considered, as it provides a useful heuristic tool to

understand how interlocking markers of difference impact experiences of agency and the shaping of identity. It is important to note that two of the ten participants were living with their in-laws at the time of conducting the research, and this was taken into consideration in the writing-up of the research.

CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY

3.1 Introduction

In line with the research aims and questions, this chapter will provide the methodological landscape of the research and specify the processes involved in generating the data. It will provide an overview of the common research paradigms used in Counselling Psychology research, and a rationale for choosing the qualitative research design that informed the study. The epistemological and ontological position, and the philosophical assumptions that underpin this position, are explained. Details of the post-colonial feminist lens that shapes the study are presented, along with Positioning Theory which is also relevant to the research. After an overview of using the narrative approach to inform the research, the methods used to collect and analyse the data are explained, and relevant ethical considerations of the study highlighted.

3.2 Paradigms and Conceptual Frameworks

Mertens (2010) defines the term paradigm as a 'way of looking at the world' comprising 'certain philosophical assumptions that guide and direct thinking' (p.7). The complexity of organising these assumptions into neat categories is illustrated by different authors and texts incorporating different paradigmatic schemas. For the purposes of this thesis, I will be referring to Ponteretto's (2005) adaptation of Guba and Lincoln's (1994) paradigmatic categories which comprise four frameworks: positivism, post-positivism, constructivism-interpretivism and critical ideological. History has seen different philosophical epochs, with each period being dominated by a particular worldview. The Modernist and Enlightenment period challenged premodern thought. The undisputed word of God was increasingly replaced by a positivist worldview, where rationality and logic were to inform thinking.

3.2.1 A Positivist View

Those who adopt the positivist perspective in the social sciences hold a naive-realist ontological position, that there is a single, objective external reality that exists and can be accessed through a scientific approach. That is, the perception we have of the world is a direct and accurate representation of the world (Sullivan, 2010). Positivists are inspired by experimental methods

and fundamentally believe that social science research should be conducted in the same way as in the natural sciences. The aim is to produce objective knowledge and confirm pre-existing theories through testing hypotheses and verification (Willig, 2008). Controlling of variables allows for cause-and-effect relationships to be established, and the prediction of phenomena.

3.2.2 A Post-Positivist view

Post-positivism developed as a reaction to the positivist induction method and, as a consequence, challenged naive-realist ontology. Its foundations are very similar to those of the positivists, but the demarcation criterion offered by Karl Popper (1968) was that of falsification; that is, there is no certainty that what has been observed to date will not be disconfirmed by a future observation. This paradigm takes a critical-realist perspective which agrees with positivists, that there is an objective reality, but that this can be only imperfectly known (Lincoln & Guba, 2000). In essence, from Popper's perspective, we cannot make universal generalisations and fully confirm a theory with certainty, but we can be certain that some generalisations can be proven false. Popper (1959) dissociated himself from the positivist orthodoxy by arguing that science is an 'extension of the trial-and-error mode of learning' (Hughes & Sharrock, 1997).

3.2.3 A Constructivist-Interpretivist Paradigm

The constructivist-interpretivist paradigm is in stark contrast to the two aforementioned paradigms. It situates itself within a social constructionist epistemology and relativist ontology, in which grand theories of the world are rejected in favour of understanding the subjective experiences of individuals in their social and historical context. In doing so, it rejects the notion of an objective, single reality that is there to be discovered. By suspending claims and beliefs about the truthfulness and applicability of any theory, it firmly advocates the idea of multiple equally valid realities; one cannot extract an objective reality, as people are constructing their realities whilst simultaneously experiencing and processing that very reality. The goal of the paradigm is, then, to explicate these constructions. It challenges the reductionist view of the world which aims to categorise phenomena and takes a critical stance towards taken-forgranted knowledge (Burr, 2015). Some social constructionists rely heavily on the use of language as providing a window to reality; discourses may represent macro-social

constructions which focus discourses at a societal level, mirroring dominant/grand/master narratives, or represent micro-social constructions (discursive psychology).

3.2.4 A Critical-Ideological View

The critical-ideological perspective is constructed within a social and historical context like constructionism but adopts a critical-realist ontology. This posits that real structures exist independently of people and the actual patterns of events (Bhaskar, 1975). It argues that reality is shaped by ethnic, culture, gender and social and political views, and the goal of the paradigm is to emancipate oppressed groups. Some authors have labelled this paradigm as 'transformative', given its objective to challenge the status quo.

The axiology and rhetorical structure of each paradigm described above share both similarities and differences (Ponteretto, 2005). Positivist and post-positivist axiology hold a detached, objective, neutral and value-free stance, where the production of data is uncontaminated and is nomothetic, i.e., universal laws and generalisations are drawn from the data. In contrast, the axiology of social constructionist and critical ideological paradigms is value-laden, where the dynamic interaction of the researcher and the participant is transactional and subjective, and where meaning is jointly created and co-constructed. Data produced from this type of research is idiographic, i.e., each individual's experience is subjective and unique.

Borrowing Kenneth Pike's (1954) etic and emic distinction, the positivist/post-positivist paradigm falls broadly in the etic category (scientist-oriented). In this category, an 'outsider perspective' is generated and the data produced is objective, scientific and free of any value biases. Polanyi (1966) believed, however, that at the root of all claims to objective scientific knowledge, there is always a reliance on personal knowledge. Quantitative research methodologies are often based on these values. The scientist's voice and interpretation dominate in this type of research, as it asserts that research participants are often too involved in their experience to offer impartial interpretations. In contrast, the social constructionist and critical ideological paradigm is emic in nature, offering an 'insider perspective'. From this perspective, the data that are produced are subjective and value-laden and often fall within the bracket of qualitative research designs.

3.3 Methodology: Rationale for a Qualitative Approach

The scientific method has often been viewed as the dominant paradigm in the social sciences (Burr, 2015), and the majority of Counselling Psychology research falls within the positivist/post-positivist paradigm (Pontoretto, 2005). In a culture where quantitative research is dominant, in 2005 the American Psychological Association (APA) stated that this approach should no longer be the 'gold standard', and qualitative methods should be used in addition. The British Association for Counselling and Psychotherapy (BACP) also argues that traditional evidence-based research only provides a narrow view of scientific evidence, and the British Psychological Society (BPS) acknowledges the wide recognition of qualitative research as an important aspect of scientific work (BPS, 2018).

Konstantinou (2014) asserts that Counselling Psychology has the benefit of the freedom to engage in diverse research designs in line with the discipline's postmodern and pluralistic philosophical underpinnings, where no particular school of thought dominates. Increasingly, counselling psychologists have paved the way to increase the credibility of qualitative research methods (Morrow, 2007), by recognising their relevance to the values and philosophy that characterise the field, such as subjectivity, intersubjectivity, pluralism and the practice of reflexivity (Kasket, 2012), in exploring the depth and complexity of human experience. Strawbridge (2006) adds that the pluralistic philosophy of Counselling Psychology allows engagement in various methodologies and a focus on research that validates subjective experiences.

As the research is concerned with the narratives of Bangladeshi women's experience of living with in-laws, a qualitative methodological approach has been chosen to gain in-depth, rich and detailed accounts of these experiences. Given the exploratory nature of the research, my aim is to elicit narratives of Bangladeshi women's experiences, to generate a 'thick description' (Geertz, 1973, p.310). A quantitative approach would not be able to capture the complex and unique accounts of the richness that qualitative methods can offer. The traditional positivist paradigm also suffers from not having a basis to evaluate cultural practices, as they believe there is no basis for value judgements in a science embedded in the value of objectivity. Furthermore, the focus of the research is not generalisability or a mission to find some kind of objective truth. The emphasis lies more on the idiographic nature of the experiences that a qualitative method can capture. Given the paucity of research available on in-law relations, a qualitative method seemed suitable as it is also useful for exploring under-researched topics.

3.4 Epistemological and Ontological Position

Carter and Little (2007) emphasise the importance of epistemology as the foundation of research, since individual methodologies are linked to specific epistemic positions. By implication, the epistemic position, methodology and method are intricately linked.

Under the constructivism-interpretivism paradigm, I have aligned myself with a social constructionist epistemic position. In line with the framework, social constructionism is not concerned with the search for an objective truth, nor does it view knowledge as a fixed entity; rather, it recognises that knowledge is constructed through interaction with others and is continually evolving (Burr, 2015). It considers that knowledge constructions are historically grounded, culturally distinct, socially negotiated and individually applied (Carbaugh, 1990). As a result, multiple perspectives can, potentially, be generated given that the way in which people understand their experiences and the world is dependent upon the available meanings within a given social context and the relationships they engage in. However, I depart from the idea of total relativism that treats narratives as works of fiction, but do not accept the position that narratives can be taken at face value and are an accurate representation of reality. Lieblich et al. (1998) argue that taking a middle course acknowledges the constructed nature of storytelling around a core of facts or life events, where individuals creatively select, add, and interpret their narrations around these remembered facts. This perspective acknowledges that the stories shared by the participants carry their narrative truth. For the current research, I too adopt a middle position, a critical-realist ontological position.

Critical realism is a branch of philosophy which argues that real structures exist and operate independently of our awareness, knowledge, and the actual patterns of events (Bhaskar, 1975). It is concerned with the nature of causation, agency, structure and relationships with which we operate explicitly or implicitly in the social world. It situates itself as an alternative to both positivism and its quest for law-like forms, and to postmodernism and strong interpretivism, rejecting explanation in favour of interpretation, and emphasising hermeneutics and descriptions at the cost of causation. This approach does not set out to wholly reject the values of positivism and interpretivism, but rather combines interpretation with explanation to enquire into what affects human action and interaction. When making claims about reality, it takes a critical approach to causation and views the social world and our experiences in it as complex and layered; critical realists maintain that events and experiences are relatively justified, whilst still being historical, contingent and changing. It argues that knowledge is historically, socially

and culturally situated which results in it being articulated from various perspectives, mediated by various influences and transformed by human activity. As a result, our knowledge of the world and our experiences are more or less historically transient descriptions.

3.4.1 A Post-Colonial Feminist Lens

Adopting a post-colonial feminism perspective in the current study provides an opportunity to represent British Bangladeshi Muslim women's experiences in a way that challenges essentialised and stereotypical ideologies and portrayals of passive and oppressed third-world women. It also helps me to approach literature and analysis from a more global perspective to avoid potential stereotyping of different communities across the world with regard to in-law relations. Furthermore, this perspective expands and interrogates debates in feminism in relation to patriarchy and notions of power, agency, and empowerment.

The term 'post-colonial' is also used here to refer to Black, Asian, and Islamic perspectives that consider the intersections and multiple markers of differences in ethnicity, race, class, and religion. These perspectives also discourage stereotypical, essentialised, and racialised discourses, and provide me with a framework to approach the research and understand British Bangladeshi Muslim women's experiences through a fluid and flexible lens, honouring the hybridity of their multifaceted identity (Bhabha, 1990, 1996; Rose, 1995). In particular, I adopt the notion of third spaces (Bhabha, 1990), where women synthesise their personal values as British women, as Bangladeshi women, and as Muslims. With these intersecting parts of their identities, I recognise that women may draw upon values they have learned from their parents, culture, religion, and their life in Britain to create a third space. In particular, I am drawn to the in-between spaces of cultures and their hybrid identity. Bhabha's (1990, 1996) concept of third space is particularly useful, as it helps to explore agency in a nuanced way, paying attention to the spaces between the parts of cultures they preserve and the parts they negotiate to create a new third space.

I am also drawn towards a post-colonial perspective for the way that Black feminism shares some sentiments with Islamic feminism, where men are not viewed simply as opponents of women's equality but rather it makes room for them, as they have a major role to play in the feminist movement (hooks et al., 1993). Post-colonial feminism recognises that both men and women can be victims of their cultures and can equally work together to challenge and change powerful structures of patriarchy that may adversely affect both genders. Finally, pertinent to

this study is understanding participants' own subjective experiences of religion and culture, rather than assuming that these constructs are universally the same (Dueck et al., 2017).

3.4.2 The Narrative Approach, Heuristic Inquiry and Relevance to Counselling Psychology

Human beings are natural storytellers (Bamberg, 2011) and narratives are a means by which individuals make sense of themselves and the world around them (Squire, 2008). Freeman and Brockmeier (2001) emphasise that it is difficult to speak of life and what it means in the absence of narratives.

The narrative approach was chosen as a suitable method to investigate Bangladeshi women's experiences of life with in-laws as it is commonly used to explore significant life events (Riessmann, 1993). The narrative approach is also considered the most appropriate way to explore meaning and experience (Clandanin & Connelly, 2000; Smiths & Sparks, 2009).

The flexibility of narrative analysis means that both the linguistic and discursive structures of human experience can be taken into account whilst acknowledging the subjective experience of the individual (Crossley 2000). With the research questions in mind, the narrative approach offers the versatility to explore storytelling as central to making sense of experiences (Murray, 2003; Polkinghorne 1988) and provides an avenue for linking experiences over time and a sense of order and coherence (Bruner, 1990; Ricoeur, 1984; Sarbin, 1986). Freeman and Brockmeier (2001) have argued that narrative and identity construction are synonymous, and that it is in the very act of storytelling, to ourselves and others, that our identity is shaped (Ricouer, 1988).

The narrative approach also acknowledges that stories are formed by local social conventions (Bruner, 1990; Polkinghorne, 1999) and the wider cultural sphere. Since the role of culture is also pertinent to understanding the narratives in the current research, this method is useful as it considers how the cultural context has shaped the participant's story.

The narrative method is also well aligned with my epistemological stance and ontological position. Bruner (1986, 1990, 1991) proposed two types of knowledge that are important in making sense of the world – paradigmatic and narrative knowing. The former is more aligned with the positivist stance, based on logical principles and verifiable procedures to arrive at some sort of empirical truth. The latter rests on the idea that human experiences are organised in a storied form, and Bruner (1991) asserts that an individual's knowledge of themselves and

their social and cultural world relies on narrative knowing, especially as these facets cannot be organised by logical principles.

The constructed element of knowledge acquisition is well recognised by the narrative approach, acknowledging that it is recipient-designed; that is, stories are not factual representations of events (Riessman, 1993) but are 'constructed, creatively authored...' (p.5). This was echoed by Bartlett's (1932) early work on memory research and his theory of reconstructive memory, which argued that our memories do not faithfully play back our experiences like a tape recorder, but, instead, we reconstruct them imaginatively. Whilst Bartlett's ideas did not receive much attention in his time, these ideas are very relevant today; narrative theories recognise that 'narrators interpret the past in stories, rather than reproduce the past as it was' (Riessman, 2008 p.341). This reformation also extends to our identity and sense of self which shifts over time. Riessman (2003) suggested that 'individuals construct past events and actions in personal narratives to claim identities and construct lives' (p.2). The meanings we ascribe to events and ourselves cannot be neatly organised into categories or typologies. 'Narrative identity is not a stable and seamless identity' (Ricoeur, 1988 p.241) but is shaped by social context and is both constructed and performed (Wells, 2011). Our sense of self is constructed through 'selective remembering to adjust the past to the demands of the present and the anticipated future' (Bruner, 2003 p.213).

The narrative approach encompasses a diverse set of methods where the focus can be on spoken, written or visual texts (Riessman, 2008). The current thesis will focus specifically on first-person, oral accounts of the participant's experiences. The research is exploratory and hopes to not only contribute to the knowledge base of Counselling Psychology literature, but also inform clinical practice and supervisory practices and enable better ways of working cross-culturally with the Bangladeshi community. The research approach (heuristic inquiry) and chosen methodology (narrative) are interwoven with the core philosophy of Counselling Psychology. Hiles (2001) argues that heuristic inquiry resonates with the practices of counselling and psychotherapy. Sultan (2015) provides characterisations of heuristic inquiry that complement the narrative method that I employ in the research, as well as some of the ethos and values of Counselling Psychology. Firstly, it assumes that reality is relative, constructed and subjective based on the individual's context, and adopts a first-person, personalised approach to presenting the findings, whilst acknowledging the researcher's personal positioning in the research. This is consistent with the Counselling Psychology values of the uniqueness of individuals, subjectivity and intersubjectivity (Cooper, 2009) as well as

engaging with personal meaning, interpretation and co-construction to help better understand clients (Woolfe et al., 2003). Secondly, heuristic inquiry is grounded in humanistic values, and underscores how people come to know and make sense of their world, instilling culturally embedded and emancipatory values with consideration. The methodology mirrors the humanistic and empowering approach of Counselling Psychology, whilst recognising the individual as a socially embedded being (Cooper, 2009; Kasket, 2012).

Finally, the methodological approach is relational and values the dynamic interaction between the researcher and researched, which is non-linear, fluid and flexible. This relational stance is also adopted by Counselling Psychology and fits well with the research aims, as it hopes to highlight the relational dimensions of Bangladeshi women's experiences.

3.5 Methods

3.5.1 Selection Criteria

As in-law relations have been a relatively understudied topic, as is the Bangladeshi community in general, the inclusion criteria for the research broadly focused on recruiting female participants of Bangladeshi origin aged 18 or over who had at least two years' experience of living with in-laws. There was no theoretical basis on which to specify the duration that the participant had to have lived with in-laws, but it was thought that at least two years' experience would yield significant material for the research. The criteria were also broad, as I was interested in the topic of women's experience in general and avoided making assumptions about their experiences of in-law relationships in any particular way. As I am able to speak both English and Sylheti fluently, I interviewed women in whichever language they feel most comfortable. As this is considered a hard-to-reach group, the criterion was also flexible, including participants with a history of living with in-laws, now or in the past. For this reason, the research was open to single, married, separated, divorced or widowed participants who had had some experience of physically living with in-laws.

3.5.2 Recruitment Strategy

I adopted a purposive sampling strategy for the research and recruited the participants in various ways. Bengali women who were known to me and who met the inclusion criteria were

approached. 'Snowballing' was also used as a strategy, asking interested participants if they knew of anyone else who would be interested in participating. People I knew forwarded my research topic by word of mouth, text messages and Facebook, asking interested parties to contact me via email.

Researchers have identified gatekeepers as important mediators to sensitively recruit participants from ethnic minority groups for research (Eide & Allen, 2005). I was introduced to a woman's group in a community centre where I spoke about my research as part of the recruitment drive. The leader of the group, who appeared to have a longstanding, trusting relationship with the members, helped to generate interest in the research.

Given previous clinical and community experience and the nature of the topic being researched, I anticipated that there may be difficulty in recruiting for this study. Bangladeshis are a minority ethnic group in the UK, and reducing the focus to women only and then finding women who have had the experience of living with in-laws meant that access and recruitment for this particular group were going to be a challenge from the outset. Often, speaking about personal experiences is stigmatised and even discouraged in the Bangladeshi community. Talking openly and comfortably may also be made difficult by our shared ethnicity and fear of confidentiality being compromised, or their perceived fear of bringing shame onto themselves and their family. For this reason, it was important to keep the inclusion criteria flexible. In this way, recruiting participants was perhaps relatively easier than if the criteria were restricted to only those currently living with in-laws.

The Bangladeshi women needed to self-identify as having had some experience of living with in-laws. I spoke by phone to all the participants who expressed an interest in the research. Whilst all those with whom I spoke were interested in the research topic, on the whole, I was surprised that around nineteen women registered an interest to participate.

In the early stages of the recruitment phase, arranging time for interviews with interested parties was also one of the biggest obstacles. I realised that we were all leading similar lifestyles, with multiple duties and responsibilities. Many of the women found it hard to spare time for the interview. Leading similar parallel lives generated empathy around juggling multiple priorities.

Despite multiple attempts to arrange an interview, I had not heard back from five participants who had originally shown interest. Interviews were booked with three other participants but cancelled on multiple occasions due to various obstacles – time, illness, unforeseen circumstances and other demanding priorities on both sides. Unable to find a mutually agreed

time for the interviews after multiple attempts, we jointly decided it may be difficult to pursue further. I thanked the participants for their interest and time.

In total, I interviewed 11 participants. One participant later withdrew from the research.

3.5.3 Participants

My intention was to recruit around 10 participants, a typical number for narrative research (Riessman, 2008). In total, 11 Bangladeshi women were recruited for the study, all of whom were from the UK. One participant dropped out after sharing the transcript and provisional analysis (pilot interview). The participant felt that she was too identifiable from the analysis and did not want information about her family revealed.

Preserving anonymity was a central concern for the participants, who did not want to be identified in any way. For this reason, limited demographic details of their background and where they reside in the UK are provided. Pseudonyms were used, with some chosen by the participants themselves to replace their actual names. The ages of the participants ranged from the early 30s to mid-40s. The participants' living arrangements also varied. Although not intentional, the study attracted the attention mainly of those not currently living with in-laws. Perhaps, having some physical distance from in-laws meant that it was easier to talk about these experiences, and accounted for why the majority of the participants were not actually living with their husband's family at the time. Of the 10 participants interviewed, only two were still living with their in-laws and one participant, at the time of the interview, was in the process of moving out of her in-laws' house. This is perhaps one of the weaknesses in the study which would benefit from further exploration in the future and may bring to light more personal nuanced experiences and the nature of family dynamics and personal relationships.

The two participants who were still living with their in-laws (Asma and Tina, see Table 1) had been living with them considerably longer than the rest of the participants. In their stories, they shared the triumph of overcoming their difficulties with living with their in-laws. I wondered whether the length of time in processing experiences and their narratives may have made it easier to talk about their experiences. So, whether the participants were living with their in-laws or not, it appears that either the separate physical spaces or length of time, paved the way to reflect on their experiences, allowing them to share their narratives perhaps more easily.

The table below summarises information about the participants; the length of marriage, how long they stayed with their in-laws, and how long ago they moved out of the in-laws' house.

Table 1. Participants marital status and length of stay with in-laws

Pseudonym	Age	Length of Marriage	Length of stay at in-laws	How long ago participant moved out of in-laws
Asma	30s	11 years	Participant living with in-laws at the time of interview	
Halima	40s	23 years	7 months	23 years
Hamida	30s	7 years (divorced)	occasionally stayed visited. Her motheron some occasions when she came to brother-in-law also	Bangladesh and with in-laws when she in-law stayed with her s (for a few months) o visit the UK. Her stayed with her for a duration.
Hasina	30s	6 years	6/7 months	Approximately 5.5 years
Khadija	30s	9 years	2 years	7 years
Nasima	30s	Participant mentioned that she was separated from her ex-partner (unclear when marriage dissolved)	Approximately 8 years	11 years
Rina	30s	7 years	Participant was in the process of moving out of her in-laws' house at the time of the interview	
Selina	30s	8 years	4 years	4 years
Shuma	30s	6	5 years	1 year
Tina	40s	10	Participant living with in-laws at time of the interview	

3.5.4 Data collection

Semi-structured interviews were utilised to generate rich and in-depth accounts of the participants' experiences. With the literature review in mind, and with the help of a supervisor, an interview schedule was developed to elicit the narratives. The interview consisted of open-

ended questions to guide the narrative and allowed flexibility to include prompts and probes to enable the participant to clarify and elaborate on their story where necessary.

3.5.5 Interview schedule

Following a discussion with my supervisor about the sensitive nature of the research, a peer was asked to conduct the interview with the interviewer to evaluate the interview schedule. This allowed me to consider how the participants may feel when being asked the question and also consider the tone used to ask such questions. This process also helped to establish whether the questions were clear. Through this experience, it was apparent that there were too many questions on the schedule and the flow of questions could have been better. After the exercise and through discussion with my supervisor, adjustments were made to the interview schedule (see Appendix 3 p.286).

Once the first participant was recruited, a pilot study was carried out to further test the coherence and flow of the interview schedule to refine it, if required. When the participant was asked the introductory question, ('Could you tell me a little bit about yourself?') she struggled to answer. I had found it rather easy to answer this question when conducting the exercise with my peer and had assumed that others would find it easy. It was clear that I found it easier to answer this question as my peer and I knew each other and I was more comfortable, whereas I was a stranger to the participant in the pilot interview. I received the impression that she was unsure about what to share about herself. For this reason, the introductory question was edited (see Appendix 4 p.287); it was much easier for the participant to open her narrative and answer about how her marriage was arranged and organised, thus providing a context to describe herself as a person before and after her marriage took place. The FAST board was also not needed as the interview schedule was enough to generate narratives.

3.6 Data Analysis – Analytical Steps

Unlike other qualitative methodologies, narrative research offers no specific detail or clarity on how to carry it out or how to analyse data as that found in interpretative phenomenological analysis and frounded theory (Squire, 2008). In an attempt to provide some structure to effectively read, analyse and interpret stories, Lieblich et al. (1998) proposed four models for dealing with narrative data. In exploring narratives, Lieblich et al. (1998) propose two

intersecting dimensions of approaches to narrative analysis; the first dimension is concerned with the unit of analysis and the second is concerned with the focus of analysis. In deciding upon the unit of analysis, researchers can take a categorical approach or a holistic approach. The categorical approach dissects the original narrative in the same manner as traditional content analysis and collects sections or single words belonging to a defined category. The holistic approach on the other hand takes the narrative as a whole and sections of the text are analysed and interpreted in relation to the other parts of the narrative. When deciding upon the focus of analysis, researchers have the choice of analysing the content (including the surface and latent content) or focusing on the way the narrative is structured (i.e., its form). The two intersecting dimensions then produce four possible combinations in which to analyse and interpret narrative material, either more quantitively or more qualitatively: holistic content, holistic form, categorical content, and categorical form.

A unique feature of content analysis is that it can utilise both a quantitative methodology (Krippendorf, 2018) and a qualitative methodology (Lune & Berg, 2001). Quantitative content analysis usually involves reporting the frequency of key categories and summarising details from a data set and seeks to answer questions about *how many* (Krippendorf, 2018). In contrast, qualitative content analysis is concerned with words and themes and their relative salience to the overall data, making it possible to interpret the results. Like quantitative analysis, it allows the opportunity to describe what the participants say by analysing the manifest content, and additionally, it allows researchers to analyse latent content, extending the analysis to an interpretive level, making inferences about the underlying meaning of the data (Lune & Berg, 2001).

Since categorical approaches to analysis are quantitative, this was not suitable for the current research. Analysing the form or structure of narratives also did not seem fitting to adequately answer the research question. It was personally important for me that the data was analysed in such a way that the participant's story is honoured and remains intact, whilst also organising the information in a meaningful way for readers. Holistic content analysis was thus deemed most suitable to analyse and interpret the narratives, given that it takes a qualitative approach. The holistic element allows for a focus on the person as a whole concerning a phenomenon in the context of her own life, and the content element allows for a focus on the implicit and explicit content of the narrative to explore what happened, who was involved, the meaning behind the story for the narrator and her motives and intentions. This approach also seemed appropriate to explore how identity is constructed in the telling of narratives.

Holistic content analysis (Lieblich et al., 1998) was thus used to read and analyse the content of the stories and analyse the meaning that emerged from the narratives within the context in which they were told. As the focus of the investigation was not only *what* was told but also *how* and *why* it was told, the analysis had two main strands. Lieblich et al.'s (1998) analytical steps were adapted to explore the individual narratives. The first four steps are similar to those proposed by the authors. The final step (e) was included to report the commonality of themes across all the stories as a point of discussion to answer the research questions. The focus on the global impressions of the participants meant that there was room to honour each individual story. I also considered Riessman's (2003) questions to explore the performative aspects of the stories.

The following broad analytical steps were taken to explore the research questions:

1. Holistic Content Analysis

- a) The data was actively listened to and read several times until a pattern emerged.
- b) The initial and global impression of each participant was put into writing. This included noting exceptions to the general impression as well as unusual features of the story such as contradictions or unfinished descriptions.
- c) Using different colours, the various themes in the narrative were highlighted, reading separately and repeatedly for each one.
- d) The context in which a theme appears and its relative salience in the text was noted.
- e) Similar themes across all stories were combined and categories were formed.

2. Performative analysis

- Why was the tale told in that way?
- In what kinds of stories did the narrator place herself?
- How does the participant locate herself in relation to the audience, and vice versa?
- How does the participant strategically make identity claims through her narrative performance?
 What other identities are performed or suggested?
- What was the response of the audience and how did they influence the development of the narrative and interpretation of it?

After transcribing the interviews, it was useful to read and re-read the transcript to acquire familiarity with the text. Annotations were also made on the transcripts. The holistic content

allowed the study of the participant's narrative as a whole whilst observing how she developed her story in relation to her current position, focusing on the explicit (what happened, the characters involved) and implicit (the meaning of the narrations, the intentions, motives, traits).

By drawing on Lieblich et al. and Riessman's analytic steps, it was possible to analyse the interrelated and interpenetrating features of the participants' stories (Hiles & Cermak, 2008) by looking closely into 'what' was being told and 'how' it was being told. Considerable overlap was found between the two analyses as they were carried out simultaneously.

During analysis, I adopted an approach where I intuitively used my analytical skills, relying on my wisdom and integrity, as recommended by Lieblich et al. (1998). As trustworthiness is usually a criterion for evaluation in qualitative approaches and narrative research generally, I continually referred back to the transcripts and audio interviews to justify my thoughts, observations and intuitions. Utilising a reflexive journal, I was able to take a more critical approach to analysing the data, questioning what meanings it held for the participants, what emotions it evoked in them and myself and what it was telling me about my own world. Although narrative research recognises that a story is co-constructed between the narrator and listener, I kept the importance of representation in mind and represented the participant's world. Furthermore, the themes were discussed with my peers and supervisors.

Using the two frameworks, general impressions and broad observations were noted beside salient sections of the transcript. After repeated reading, I focused on the thematic content of each narrative, on what was said, who was involved in the story, exploring any reoccurring themes, identifying contradictions and turning points. Particular attention was also paid to the tone of how the story was being told, which can also reflect significant aspects of a participant's world (Langdridge, 2007).

The process of identifying themes was similar to the content analysis as proposed by Riessman (1993). After becoming familiar with each narrative, I highlighted poignant themes and meaningful phrases with different colours and created a table of these quotations. I noted the page number and line number of the selected quotes for ease of referring back to the text. Whilst keeping my research question in mind, I made notes in the margins. I did this for each participant and then created categories that illustrated the shared themes across all the participants' narratives. As I went back and forth, reading the transcripts and the corresponding notes, I refined the organisation of the data by overlapping some themes to form them into distinct categories and divided some into subthemes.

Whilst reading transcripts I took a critical approach to analysing the narratives. Since identities are constructed through the stories we tell, I attended to the social and psychological functions of the narratives. Whilst considering the questions in performance analysis, I was able to tune in to the preferred identities in which the narrator placed herself. Tuning in to the tone and function of the narrative allowed me to observe how the participant positioned herself and others in the story, the differing power dynamics, motives and intentions of the participant, and the extent to which she and others in the story had agency. I remained curious and sensitive to the rhetorical functions of the narratives, seeking to explore how and why the participants related their stories in the way that they did. This involved observing whether they delivered their story in an optimistic or pessimistic way, analysing their possible intention and motivation, aspects of what they expressed, changes in their tone and any contradictions.

Narratives are told in context, and in the analysis, it was important for me to understand the meaning of narratives in relation to the wider context of other discourses (Langdridge, 2007). For this reason, I paid attention to the broad social and cultural influences that may have shaped the stories in a particular way. I tried to attend to the meanings of what was being said, since we use and relay narratives that are readily available in our culture in social interaction (Murray, 1999).

As I analysed the data, I found myself making notes on the structural aspects of the story, noting how coherent each narrative was and the direction the story took in the telling. Although I was interested in the holistic content approach, I found myself tuning in to the holistic form whilst engaging in the analysis. Lieblich et al. (1998) argued that content and form are not easily separated as they influence each other and are embedded in the text. The audit trail (Appendix 6 p. 291) illustrates the process of the narrative analysis and how the themes arose.

The data was discussed with my supervisor. Whilst Lieblich et al. (1998) suggest that discussions could be highly productive, obtaining inter-judge reliability should not be expected, as the nature of the analysis is interpretive. Unlike quantitative approaches, narrative approaches, generally, do not require replicability as a criterion for evaluation (Lieblich et. al., 1998). When considering validity in qualitative research, it is important to consider whose reality is being represented in the research. By continuously referring to the text and audio interview, I ensured that the interpretations were grounded in the data. I also considered the role of power in research. As researchers hold power over how participants' narratives are analysed and interpreted, the power imbalance may result in the respondents having little or no

voice. One way of resolving this is by reporting back the findings to the participants (Bhopal, 2010). By viewing participants rather than the researchers as holding authority over their lives (Morrow, 2005), fairness or plausibility can be achieved to enhance the validity of qualitative research. For this reason, I shared the global impressions with the participants and the provisional analysis. From a feminist perspective, participant validation not only adds strength to the findings of qualitative research but can also be empowering for participants to physically see their contribution to research (Caretta, 2016). It also promotes inclusivity, and provides opportunities for discussion and shared learning leading to collective reflexivity (Caretta, 2016). Two of the 10 participants did not provide feedback on the data and provisional analysis, but the remaining eight participants expressed gratitude that we shared the information with them. The lack of detailed feedback from the participants and the lack of contesting what was written may be attributed to several factors. Time constraints due to the demands of work and family commitment may not have allowed them to make time to reflect and give more feedback. My identity as a doctoral researcher may also have hindered their ability to contest the written content if they perceived my position as one of authority.

3.7 Positioning Theory

Following on from the idea that narratives also have a performative dimension and help to construct identity, incorporating Positioning Theory appears particularly relevant here. In contrast to the static concept of Role Theory, Positioning Theory offers a dynamic alternative to understanding a person's position. It is also in line with the epistemic position of the research, as it is a social constructionist approach (Slocum & Van Langenhove, 2003).

Harrè and van Langenhove (1999) suggested that all conversations involve some sort of positioning, and these dialogues allow people to dynamically produce and explain their behaviour. These positions are further shaped by the social context of everyday life and will be influenced by the history of the interaction and the dynamics of that interaction. There is room for negotiation in how this is received; it offers the opportunity to accept the position, contest it, or subvert it. There is recognition that the positioning will be tacit in nature, as the people involved may not be positioning themselves or others intentionally or consciously.

The positions people occupy cannot be seen in isolation from their culture. Positioning practices are culturally embedded and cultural differences may reveal the local or 'emic'

features of positioning styles within a culture (Moghaddam et al., 1993). The narrator can position themselves and others by incorporating and conforming to a cultural stereotype.

In sharing their stories, participants may position themselves, their partner and their in-laws in particular ways. The participants may present themselves and others differently depending on the position they adopt. As Mishler (1999) noted, as we continually re-story our past in our narratives, we are 'repositioning ourselves and others in our network of relationships'.

Positioning theory can be particularly useful in understanding identity. It recognises that a person has a personal and a social/public identity, with the former residing behind the latter, which is recognisable by one's community. As a result, one person owns many personas, with one being more dominant than others in a particular context. This suggests that positions are ephemeral rather than fixed. In storytelling, people tend to perform their 'preferred identities' (Langellier, 2001) and the performance of a desirable self is enacted to preserve 'face' in situations of difficulty where their identity could be 'spoiled' (Goffman, 1963). Experiencing contradictory positions can feel problematic, resulting in feeling the need to reconcile, remedy, transcend or ignore the situation. With the multiple and fluid nature of positions that people inhabit, people may use different aspects of their personas to cope with situations in which they find themselves. Narrators may oscillate between positioning themselves as agentic beings, feeling in control of events and actions, to feeling passive in others. These differing positions within a personal narrative signify the creation of identity (Riessman, 2008).

This theory feels particularly useful in understanding the experiences of the Bangladeshi women in the research and how they position themselves and others in their narrative, particularly in relation to how culture plays a role in their various positionings, the relational dynamics that come to play with their in-laws and how they deal or cope with different situations in which they find themselves.

The research interview context is also a unique situation in which the participants are positioning themselves against me and consequently, the context becomes a part of their identity construction as they justify their position to make identity claims about themselves and others. For example, they may position themselves as powerless and lacking agency whilst positioning others in their narrative as powerful and domineering.

3.8 Ethical Considerations

Clandanin and Connelly (2000) assert that ethical matters are not something to be considered only before embarking on the research but need to be reviewed throughout the entire research process. In line with the BPS Code of Ethics and Conduct (2009), I took a number of steps to ensure the well-being of the participants and my role as a researcher. To ensure that I met ethical requirements, I obtained ethical approval from the School of Psychology (see Appendix 2 p. 260). As a guide, I referred to Thompson and Chamber's guide (as cited in Harper & Thompson, 2012) as a framework for meeting ethical requirements and being mindful of my moral responsibility as a researcher.

3.8.1 Informed consent and self-determination

I had an initial telephone conversation with all participants during the recruitment stage to introduce myself and give them a general overview of my research interests. Once participants showed some interest, I provided an information sheet (see Appendix B, p 279) that outlined the aims of the research as well as what their involvement would entail. I reminded participants that they have the right to withdraw their participation at any time and emphasised this point if they became particularly distressed. I adhered to the importance of obtaining processual/ongoing consent (see Appendix C p.282) to keep in focus the participant's well-being, reminding them that they were under no obligation to continue at any point of the study and did not have to provide me with a reason if they wished to withdraw.

3.8.2 Confidentiality

Andre and Thompson (as cited in Harper & Thompson, 2012) distinguished confidentiality (protection of private information) and privacy (the wish to keep private some areas). In order to reassure participants of confidentiality, I informed them that the information they provide will remain confidential and all recordings and transcripts will be saved in a password-protected laptop to which only I have access. In line with the Data Protection Act (1998) I also said that any transcripts or hardcopy notes would be kept in a locked cabinet. To assure them of anonymity, I explained that pseudonyms would be used to protect their identity. Since identity can be revealed through stories due to specific details that are provided, even with pseudonyms, I asked participants to inform me if they wished to retract any information they

shared. I also explained my responsibility as a researcher and the limitations of confidentiality that I detail below.

3.8.3 Avoiding Harm

I anticipated that in the sharing of the stories, participants could well experience distress. Lieblich (1996, as cited in Elliot, 2005) documented how her research, collecting life stories in the kibbutz, was like opening Pandora's box, leaving the participants with the pain. Holloway and Jefferson (cited in Elliot, 2005) assert that experiencing distress may not necessarily be harmful to participants, but it may, in fact, be therapeutic and reassuring to have a space to talk about and share their experiences. Due to the potential distress that could arise, I explained to the participants that I am duty-bound to prioritise their well-being by discussing any risk they disclose with the research supervisor. I was mindful that my skills in therapeutic settings may help to facilitate sensitive situations with empathy and active listening. At the same time, I remained boundaried so as not to treat the interview as a therapy session. In my role as a researcher, I was aware that the debrief would include details of counselling and therapy services for further support if participants required it.

3.8.4 Dual Role and Over-Involvement

I was mindful that my personal and professional background could affect the research process in various ways. For the participants, our shared ethnic backgrounds could likely make them curious about my own life and experiences. They may have felt that in exchange for the information they share that I would do the same. I ensured that boundaries and the aims of the research were made clear from the outset to manage their expectations, and it was put politely to the participants that the objective was to listen to other people's stories. I also explained that whilst I am a counselling psychologist in training, the research interview is not about providing therapy, but that there would be space to ask questions with regard to the study at the end of the interview.

3.8.5 Politics and power

As a researcher, I am aware that there are obvious imbalances in power within the researcher-researched relationship, especially since I am in control of the questions and receiving information, knowing that this is not entirely reciprocated. Andre and Thompson advise that, particularly in narrative research, rapport building helps to reduce these power imbalances and I paid particular attention to this.

Similar to my role in therapy, I was aware that I may come into contact with the participants in other settings; I shared that I intend to maintain confidentiality and that I am open to negotiation about how these situations are handled, whilst assuring them that the onus remains on them as to whether they wish to share with others or disclose their participation in the research.

Clandanin and Connelly (2000) ask us to consider these themes of politics and power during and beyond the active research interview with regard to who owns the data. What is public and what is private in different parts of the research process? I saw it as an ongoing reflection to consider how the research might be used in the future and the implications for the wider community.

3.9 Assessing for 'quality' in qualitative and narrative research

The guiding principles that seek to find objective truth through objective measures of reliability and validity (Polkinghorne, 2007; Willig; 2008) are at odds with the evaluation of qualitative studies which hold a different notion of truth. This is because the former rests on a positivist epistemology that seeks facts or truth. With the exception of some narrative scholars who hold a realist position, (e.g., Bertaux, 1995) they argue that objectivity can be achieved through the verification of a large array of factual data in a given life story. Riessmann (2008) argues that narrative research is not concerned with objectivity or 'the truth', but rather it favours positionality, subjectivity and 'truths'. For this reason, credibility checks through triangulation and sharing data for independent reviews were not undertaken, as this would be more in line with positivist traditions for verifying data in pursuit of an objective truth. For narrative research in particular, what is constructed as 'truth' can only be 'true' for a particular time, place and perhaps individual (Burr, 2015). From a narrative perspective, what is important is that the experience holds personally true for the participant (Hiles, 2001). For Riessman (2008),

'trustworthiness' of data in qualitative research is far more important. Utilising Riessman's (1993, 2008) and Yardley's (2000) criteria for ensuring good measures in qualitative and narrative research, I illustrate how I ensured the 'validity' of the research.

3.9.1 Commitment

Yardley (2000) proposes that displaying commitment to research by being attentive to participants and engaging reflexively demonstrates a commitment to research. This is also a feature of heuristic inquiry that requires the researcher to remain intensely committed to the research (Moustakas, 1990).

3.9.2 Sensitivity to Context

Sensitivity to context refers to the extent to which the research is rooted in sound and relevant empirical literature, whilst also respecting the participants' narratives in the context in which they were told. Whilst there was a paucity of research with regard to in-law relations found while carrying out the literature review, I did my best to develop theoretical knowledge in the subject area. Given my background in therapy and the relational dimension of the doctoral training programme, I was able to utilise my skills to demonstrate empathy, sensitivity, curiosity and genuine interest in what the participants shared. This proved to be particularly useful in instances when participants felt emotional when conveying a particular experience, while ensuring I maintained boundaries in my role as a researcher, and not a therapist, in the interview context. Keeping the participant's well-being at the forefront (see the section on 'Ethical considerations'), I was able to redress a potential power imbalance.

3.9.3 Transparency and Coherence

Yardley (2000) pointed out that transparency in the research context is the extent to which the data collection and analytical steps are clear, as well as their influence on the data produced. Within this thesis, I have attempted to be clear about how I carried out the research and generated the data. Sultan (2015) argues that the primary task of a heuristic researcher is to be transparent about their role as a researcher and disclose personal interests, biases, values and goals. I have dedicated a significant portion of the thesis, both at the beginning and at the end, to declaring why the topic of research is of interest to me, and I have also provided a 'reflexivity

chapter', detailing how my positioning may have impacted the research process. I kept a reflexive journal throughout the research process (Willig, 2008; Langdridge, 2007) and have also presented the findings at my placements, sharing them with peers, which provided a useful way to revise and refine the interpretation of the data. Coherence was ensured by ensuring there was consistency between the research question, epistemic position and methodology.

3.9.4 Persuasiveness

This criterion refers to the extent to which the analysis of the data and the interpretation can be deemed 'reasonable and plausible' (Riessman, 1993) and 'well-grounded and supportable' (Polkinghorne, 1988), thus making it credible. I have attempted to be faithful to this by ensuring that the interpretations are grounded firmly in the interview data, and by substantiating the interpretations with relevant quotations from the participants' narratives (Willig, 2008) to give the data 'rigour'. As heuristic inquiry is the basis of the current research, this rigour comes from systematic observation and dialogues with self and others, including in-depth interviewing of participants. Simultaneously, I acknowledge that this is only one of many possible interpretations and is open to a different interpretation from readers.

3.9.5 Impact and importance

The quality of the research can also be determined by whether the research becomes a basis for others' work (Riessmann, 2008), thereby having a pragmatic use (Yardley, 2000). I would hope that the current thesis will open up new dialogues in the academic and public domains. It would be interesting to open the dialogue and generate feedback from the community with these questions as a useful way of validating the findings.

3.10 Methodological Reflexivity

The recruitment phase of the research was very interesting, especially in how I interpreted people's interests and how women interpreted my research topic. Many women expressed interest, which encouraged my hopes that they were considering participating, but it did not necessarily mean that they wanted to participate. Like most people who have come to know about the research, their interest in it appears to relate to finding out what my research revealed. Some people displayed hesitancy and reluctance. This may be due to the shame and stigma

associated with talking about the topic, as suggested by some of the participants in the research. I remember one potential participant telling me that she would have considered participating, but that she did not think that she would be suitable for the research, because she did not identify with having 'problems' with her in-laws. Her response then and some years later revealed two things for me – one is that my mentioning the research may have led people to assume that I was looking for stories of 'problems'; and some years later she revealed to me that it was more her siblings-in-law that she found problematic than her parents-in-law, indicating that perhaps other people may have also defined my research in the same way. It became apparent that participants may have interpreted my research as focusing only on their relationship with their husbands' parents, when my intention was to include the whole in-law family. This led me to make changes in how I presented the research when talking to potentially interested parties and clarifying the misconceptions the research title might hold.

As part of the recruitment drive, I visited a community centre attended by a large number of Muslim women, who took part in classes related to religion, spirituality and the application of these in their personal lives. The interviews with individuals from the group were interesting; I met them in a context where religion was important, and I wondered whether in the interview it was important to hold on to a religious identity that was personally important for them, clouding perhaps other parts of their identity that may not seem congruent with their religious persona. At times I felt a participant was preaching at me during the interview, and with one, I remember asking about the relevance of her talking about a religious story and to 'get to the point', instead of continuing with her lengthy account.

On one occasion, while interviewing a participant in her home, we were interrupted by a family member who was suspicious about my presence in their home and questioned my purpose. The participant looked nervous and anxious. This instance was an ethical and moral dilemma. I explained to the family member that I was researching Bangladeshi culture. Though not satisfied with my response, the family member eventually left, and the participant later told me that she had not told her family about my intention for the visit and interview. Keeping in mind ethical considerations for research (BPS 2018), I prioritised the participant's well-being. I asked if she was comfortable continuing and reassured her about confidentiality. This situation highlighted the fact that ethical decisions and practices may not always be covered by universal rules (Flyvbjerg, 2001; Shaw, 2008), such as standardised procedures of ethics applications that the researcher completes before conducting studies. At times, ethics application procedures may not prepare researchers for an unexpected ethical dilemma, and they may have to exercise

phronesis (critical judgement and practical wisdom) as a tool to resolve issues. For minority groups, in particular, ethical concerns and dilemmas may differ from those in the majority population. Being aware of the mistrust of research and mental health professions by ethnic minorities, I was conscious that I did not want to contribute to this further.

For some of the participants, the research interview was a useful opportunity to share their stories. In some instances, it felt like it was the first time she had spoken about her experience and had been heard. Reinharz and Chase (2003) shared how the interview moment can give rise to an epiphany where a woman may 'discover her thoughts, learn who she is and find her voice', creating a relatively new social situation upon being asked about her experiences. They argue that this is particularly apparent for women whose culture, religion, community, family, etc., requires their silence in one way or another. This highlights the empowering dimension of research in which they feel valued for being allowed to speak for themselves (Vernon, 1997).

Confidentiality appeared to be a very important theme for most of the participants in the research, and one to which I could relate. The relatives to whom they referred were still living, and even if their names and exact ages were not revealed, details of the story could reveal their identity. This has often been my experience when working with the Bangladeshi Community in Camden and Tower Hamlets – the worry and stigma related to the rest of the Bangladeshi community finding out about their story, and the possible malicious spreading of their personal accounts.

It was also interesting that many of the women had more to say after the audio record function was stopped, as though there was something they felt would be too exposing if recorded. It also further highlighted that the data is only reflective of accounts generated from within a particular context, the interview context. If I had conducted several interviews with the same participants, perhaps that would have enabled them to feel that they could be more expressive than in a one-off interview.

One of the criticisms levelled against qualitative methods is the small sample sizes that characterise this type of research. Riessman (2008) openly argues that the narrative approach is not suitable for large studies. As highlighted in the current thesis, the aims were not aligned to the strength of numbers but rather the attention to nuances and subtleties of speech, the relationship between the researcher and the researched, and a consideration of the social and historical contexts (Riessman, 2008).

CHAPTER 4: ANALYSIS OF DATA

This chapter aims to provide a detailed narrative account of 10 British Bangladeshi Muslim women's experiences of their in-law relationships. The data are presented using an adapted version of narrative analysis known as 'holistic content analysis', as described by Lieblich, Tuval-Mashiach and Zilber (1998), providing an overview of the global impressions of each individual, represented in the main themes within this chapter. These themes are drawn from verbatim accounts by the 10 participants detailing their experiences within their social and cultural context. Although narrative analysis can be solely descriptive (Riessman, 2008), this analysis also provides an interpretive layer to understand how participants construct their story and narrative from their own subjective experiences.

Due to the large volume of data generated, the data were edited for relevance and clarity. These edits are denoted using dotted lines (...), representing gaps in the narrative and the removal of minor hesitations by the participants.

The data are presented in two parts. The first segment comprises the 'global impression' of each participant, honouring her unique story. This involved reading her transcript several times and documenting initial thoughts and any patterns or themes from her story, including any contradictions. The second segment documents the common major themes from the narratives.

The main objective of this research was to expand knowledge of in-law relationships, and fill a gap in the literature which has not addressed the experiences of British Bangladeshi Muslim women in the UK. Thus, this research aims to answer the following question: What are the experiences of in-law relationships of British Bangladeshi Muslim women living in the UK? The research aim is to understand the participants' subjective experiences in their individual contexts and consider the impact of these meanings on their behaviours and identity over time.

Within this chapter, the participants' narratives did not reflect a chronological sequence, with the clear sequential order usually expected in narrative-based research (Elliot, 2005; Riessman, 1993). This may be due to the interview schedule not necessarily asking about experiences in chronological order. The chosen arrangement of the themes and subthemes is intended to reflect participants' experiences over time.

Whilst trying to generate categorical and distinctive themes, one of the challenges in analysing the data was solidifying and grouping the accounts, especially as the themes often overlapped and interlinked in various ways. It is recognised that alternative themes may have been generated if another researcher had examined the data. Nevertheless, every effort was made to explicate themes to reflect the participants' subjective experiences, given the complexity and dynamic nature of interpreting narratives.

The table below illustrates the four main themes and related subthemes that were generated:

THEMES	SUBTHEMES
'It's a Family Marriage'	- Naivety and Shock
	- Adjusting to Changes
	- Pressure to be 'Perfect'
	- Support
Rising Tensions	- Relationship Tensions
	- Control
	- Visiting Parents
	- Difficulties moving out
'Tug of War' - The Role of the	- Keep the Family Happy
Husband	- Suppressing Emotions
	- Support vs Lack of Support
	- Powerlessness
Development of a Survivor's Identity	- Facing Abuse
	- Reactions and Coping Strategies
	- Perspectives and Identity Over Time

Table 2. Main Themes and Sub Themes

4.1 Part 1: Analysis of Global Impressions

Asma

Asma is in her 30s and had an arranged marriage 11 years ago. At the time of the interview, Asma was living with her mother-in-law, her husband and their two young children, and was a full-time housewife. She expressed that she did not think about life with in-laws before

marriage, and had thought, 'if he's (her spouse) OK, everything will be OK'. The interview was conducted in her home. Her son came in occasionally and her mother-in-law was in a different room in the house. Asma appeared comfortable being interviewed at home.

Global Impression

Asma's narrative account was dominated by her journey to become more 'domesticated' and 'responsible' after marriage, an attribute she felt was expected post-marriage. Asma's experiences changed from being the youngest in her birth family, and having no obligation or responsibility in her parental home, to being 'thrown in at the deep end' in servitude to her husband's family and relatives. She created an image portraying the role of 'carer'.

Asma delivered her story in a stable, calm and reflective tone and volume. She adopted the position of a 'good Samaritan' with a need to see the positive as a means of finding resolve and overcoming difficulties. Whilst Asma's storytelling was strictly non-chronological, the way in which she presented her story changed during the interview. The initial segment of Asma's narrative positively portrayed her in-laws as supportive and helpful. This then gravitated towards the subtle challenges she experienced from passing comments and 'Bengali banter' that made her feel sad and depressed at times. Asma's desire to remain positive was mirrored in her overall storytelling; her initial painting of the idealised supportive in-laws was eventually diluted by the difficulty in her journey to remain positive in challenging times. She ended her narrative with a clear message, advocating for women to have a positive attitude to manage in-law relations.

Asma's positioning and strategy of coping also seemed to be strongly influenced by her religious belief in future reward and gratification in the afterlife (*akhirah*) following struggles. Her narrative related that her initial struggle to adjust was overcome, recognising the positive impact that her in-law relatives had on her, and over time, how her presence also had an impact on her in-law relatives and how she was treated by them.

Halima

Halima is currently in her 40s. She had been married for 23 years at the time of the interview and had lived with her in-laws for about seven months before moving out. Halima's marriage was arranged by family members when she was 18 years old. She shared that she did not have

an opportunity to get to know her husband very well and felt she was marrying a 'stranger'. She moved in with her husband's family, which comprised her sister-in-law (her husband's older sister whom she felt was more like a mother-in-law due to the age gap), her sister-in-law's husband and their children. At the time of the interview, Halima was living with her husband, two of their children, and a daughter-in-law. Halima explained that her son had recently married, and her daughter-in-law had moved in with them. The interview took place in her family home. Whilst no one was present where the interview was taking place, the interview was briefly interrupted a few times by other family members coming in and out of the room.

Global Impression

Halima's narrative illustrated living the life of a 'princess' prior to marriage and becoming a 'slave' after. Although Halima's narrative was not told chronologically, she shared significant experiences post-marriage and compared them with her life before marriage. Her story highlighted her struggle to live up to the demands and expectations of her in-laws, which was in contrast to her experiences before marriage with her own family. She described feeling protected, 'cocooned', living in a 'bubble' and not being expected to cook or to dress in any particular way.

Halima's narrative positioned her as a 'slave' whilst married, where she felt it was difficult to exercise agency to challenge the demands imposed upon her. She described living with her inlaws as 'traumatic', and both Halima and her husband experienced a strong sense of powerlessness. Halima's account leaves readers to consider how implicit cultural rules and a sense of obligation towards in-laws limit the extent to which one can assert agency.

Halima told her story in an excited and reflective tone, which at times became cautious, and reduced in volume. She demonstrated a reflective stance on aspects of the story that she had not shared before, suggesting an active process of meaning-making within the interview; she expressed gratitude for the space. Having had some distance from her in-laws over time, her narrative reflected some freedom and peace from her earlier struggles with her in-laws, with whom she still has contact. Halima explained that the intense anxiety she experienced in the past with her in-laws had subsided over time. Having become a mother-in-law herself, she expressed her determination to not repeat history by imposing expectations and demands on

her daughter-in-law. She expressed her desire for a cultural shift to take place in the Bangladeshi community with respect to relationships with in-laws.

Hamida

Hamida is in her 30s and had an arranged marriage when she was around 18 years of age. At the time of the interview, Hamida was living in her own accommodation, and she explained that she had been married for seven years before getting a divorce. During the course of the interview, it transpired that Hamida had little contact with her in-laws; she had only occasionally stayed with them during occasional visits to Bangladesh, and some in-law relatives stayed with her during their visits to the UK.

Whilst talking about how her marriage was arranged, she explained that during her travels in Bangladesh, a distant relative persisted in asking for her hand in marriage. Hamida later made sense of this urgency in her story, communicating that her now ex-husband and his family wanted the marriage to take place so that he could eventually get an indefinite stay to remain in the UK. She alluded to her husband's changed behaviour after receiving his visa to stay, and the domestic violence she experienced. Hamida reported that though she envisaged living with her in-laws permanently after her marriage, she was disappointed at the way she was treated by them. The interview took place in Hamida's home where she lived with her son.

Global Impression

Hamida delivered her story in an anxious and angry tone, often expressing resentment for the ordeal she experienced with domestic violence and lack of support from her in-laws. Growing up, Hamida had expressed acceptance of her circumstances, as she was told by her parents that she would be married young. The need for her to marry increased when her mother died when she was 16 years of age and her father started worrying about who would care for his daughters when he passed on.

In the relatively little exposure she had to her in-laws, Hamida said she felt used by her exhusband and in-laws despite her efforts to accommodate them. Her negative experiences with her in-laws were in stark contrast to the positive relationships she witnessed between her own mother, sister and their in-laws.

After the interview ended, it was apparent that Hamida's story was fuelled by the injustice she had experienced. It was unclear whether Hamida understood the aims of the research, and further questioning during the interview was offered to explore her in-law experiences. As Hamida was aware of my background in therapy, she asked if I would be able to help someone she knew who was going through a 'difficult time'. I wondered if her participation in the interview meant, in her mind, that she would be able to receive some help in return, but I was unsure. On reflection, I wonder whether I interrupted the natural storytelling process, over which, ultimately, I do not have full control with regard to its course and direction, shape, and content.

Hasina

Hasina is in her 30s and had experience living with in-laws through two marriages. She was married to the partner of her choice on both occasions. Her family was not happy with her choosing her own spouse, so she left her parental home. She had a daughter from her first marriage, and this was a challenge that she and her second partner had to address with his family before they agreed to their marriage. After getting married, she moved in with her mother-in-law, father-in-law and brother-in-law. She also had sisters-in-law, but they lived elsewhere. Whilst she had been married to her husband for six years at the time of the interview, she only lived with her in-laws for approximately six to seven months.

Global Impression

Hasina had viewed marriage as a 'fairy tale' in which 'your Prince Charming will come and take you away'. She was also influenced by Indian films, which shaped her ideas of being the 'best daughter-in-law'. Hasina embraced the traditional daughter-in-law duties, but her in-law family criticised her as she did not wear the Islamic headscarf or pray. Her in-laws were not happy that she was independent and had 'a mind of her own'. Hasina said that despite trying to fulfil her duties to cook, clean and serve the family, they were not happy with her dress, her not praying, and her daughter from the first marriage living with them and going out whenever she liked. Hasina began to feel that she was attacked over trivial matters. Relationships became strained over time and Hasina stopped doing her duties as she felt 'there was no appreciation'.

She felt her character was being tainted by her in-laws, with their verbal abuse and gossip. Hasina also felt that her 'good' qualities became an object of insecurity for her in-laws.

Hasina's life took a turn following the death of the family member of a friend. She changed her life, becoming more devout by committing to prayer and wearing the headscarf. She explained that embracing Islamic values pushed her to mend issues with her in-law family and seek forgiveness. She found that her in-laws were more accepting of her once she embraced these changes.

Hasina's telling of the story gave the impression that she was very opinionated, and her tone changed as the theme of the story changed, from having an angry and defensive tone to a more reflective tone, with a renewed understanding that marriage is a 'process' that requires members of the family to give each other time to adjust. At times her narrative was strongly influenced by her religious beliefs, which mirrors her passion for finding her faith. This appears to be the lens that she uses to review all aspects of her life.

Khadija

Khadija is in her 30s and was married in her early 20s. She met her husband online and the marriage ceremony was soon arranged. After marriage, she moved in with her mother- and father-in-law. Her sister-in-law also moved in later. Khadija explained that much of the content of her story happened recently, and she struggled to offer a chronological order of events. Her narrative illustrated the loving and supportive relationship she had with her in-laws in the initial stages; they eroded over time and ended up having no contact at all with them. At the time of the interview, she was living with her husband and their two young boys, separate from his family. The interview took place in a café in a busy shopping centre, with her baby son present.

Global Impressions

Khadija suggested that her narrative was unique from many perspectives. Her husband gave her the option of moving in with him and his parents, while his personal preference was that they live separately. Khadija felt that, culturally, it made sense for her husband, the only son, to stay with his parents and fulfil his duties towards them, which informed her decision to move in and live with them. Khadija's initial impression of her in-laws was different to her

expectations. They spoke English and she was not expected to perform many of the traditional duties, such as cooking and cleaning, unlike the other participants in the study. Whilst her inlaws gave the impression that they were non-traditional, Khadija's narrative was dominated by how much of her experience contradicted the open-minded image her in-laws initially gave – they disowned their son because he stayed at his mother-in-law's residence during a trip to Bangladesh, which was against cultural norms. She also felt that her sister-in-law's presence played a major role in affecting her relationship with her in-laws. Ultimately, she felt that her husband and children had been rejected by his family, and that she was grieving the 'death of a relationship'. She presented some of her narrative with anger and at times she seemed perplexed, which seems to mirror her experiences with her in-laws.

Nasima

Nasima is in her 30s. She married a partner of her choice in the mid-1990s when she was 18 years old. At the time of the interview, Nasima was separated from her husband but it was unclear when her marriage was dissolved. She moved out from her in-laws' home 11 years prior to the interview, and she said she had lived with them for eight years before moving out. Despite being an able student before marriage, education was not encouraged in her family. She gave up her paid job with the idea that her husband would help her find a better one after their marriage took place. Nasima moved into her husband's home to live with her mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother and sister-in-law. Other siblings-in-law lived locally and were regular visitors. She described her experience after moving in as the 'biggest shock of her life'. She reported experiencing domestic violence and her marriage eventually ended. The interview took place in Nasima's home where she lived with her children.

Global Impression

Nasima's narrative account is reminiscent of a 'Cinderella' who did not really have a 'happily ever after'. Nasima's narrative implied that she was naïve about marriage, not questioning the new traditions and rules around dress and the duties of her in-laws' household. She likened her experiences with her in-laws' as regressive, as though 'they're living in the village in Bangladesh', expecting a daughter-in-law to respond to their every need and desire with little flexibility. Nasima appeared to work tirelessly to meet these expectations at the expense of her

own self-care. She expressed that putting others first was paramount. An example was that Nasima was told when to eat, usually after everyone else had finished eating, and ate only what was given to her.

Nasima seemed to be happy to present her story in the hope that it may help others and demystify the idea that daughters-in-law are not open enough to adapt to living with in-laws. In the telling of her story, it was clear that Nasima did not want to be blamed by society or her husband for not doing enough for her in-laws. Nasima agreed with the idea that it is 'morally correct' to respect the head of the household, and she wanted to fit into the role of the daughter-in-law as presented in soap operas and films. Whilst Nasima seemed passionate about advocating for daughters-in-law to not be mistreated, her narrative was expressed ambiguously; a flat tone, reduced eye contact when recounting difficulties, and simultaneously maintaining a hesitant, painful smile. There appeared to be sadness and deep-seated anger at the 'bullying' she experienced, and her identity in the story seemed different from the 'passionate', 'strong-minded' person she described herself as before marriage. Despite her negative experiences, Nasima still felt that, as a daughter-in-law, one must preserve cultural values and persevere to make the relationships work.

Rina

Rina is in her 30s and was married in her early 20s to a partner of her choice. She described various hurdles that had had to be crossed to marry her husband. When married, she moved in with her husband's family, which comprised her mother-in-law, two sisters-in-law, and three brothers-in-law. The young child of one of her sisters-in-law was also in the home. At the time of the interview, Rina had been married for seven years and had just moved out of her in-laws' home into her own home to live with her husband and young son. The interview took place in the presence of her aunt, who had introduced me to Rina, and whom Rina was happy to have present as she was aware of her story.

Global Impression

Rina's narrative comprises her struggle to adapt to her husband's family and their relational dynamics, which she considered 'alien' in comparison to her own upbringing. The mission to become the ideal daughter-in-law was threefold – to remove the stigma of it being found out

that she and her husband had a romantic relationship before marriage; to win over her mother-in-law and family for the sake of her husband to compensate for the demands made by her father in order for the marriage to take place; and her intention to fulfil preconceived ideas of how a daughter-in-law should be, influenced by her own mother whom she perceived as the 'perfect' and 'doting' daughter-in-law. Her ideas and desired role were challenged by the unconventional roles and perceived power dynamics at her in-laws', which were contrary to Rina's expectations. She presented her mother-in-law as cautious not to upset Rina, due to fears that she may leave like the other daughters-in-law.

As the story developed, Rina expressed finding some resolution in her in-law relations over time. Rina presented her story as a 'mission accomplished', in that she won the respect of her in-laws, though not to everyone's liking. The narrative tone of Rina's story moved from one of mixed frustration and helplessness to one that was reflective, hopeful and positive. She reflected on adjusting her rigid expectations to resolve difficulties that she experienced and presented herself as being the mediating factor in taking her in-laws from a fragmented to a cohesive family structure.

Selina

Selina is in her 30s and was married approximately six years ago. She met her husband through two mutual friends. Selina found that her husband shared similarities with her previous partner (whom she lost to an accident) and saw qualities that she desired in a husband. Having come from a big family herself and watching her sister-in-law developing as a dutiful daughter-in-law in her parents' home, she did not feel overwhelmed at the idea of moving in with her in-laws, who were also a large family. Selina lived with her in-laws for three years before moving out to live in a separate home with her husband and two young children. The interview took place whilst she was alone at home.

Global Impression

Selina felt she was very naïve about her ability to manage life within a large in-law family unit, especially as she came from a large family herself. Often Selina felt the family was solely reliant on her to manage the domestic duties in the house, with her mother-in-law often resorting to complaining to Selina's husband and others when expectations were not met. Selina

recognised that she may have played a part in setting such high expectations, as she presented herself as invincible in managing multiple roles and being at the constant service of her inlaws. She recalled losing friends over time as she found it hard to keep up with daily chores and family needs.

She later found it exhausting to be a wife, daughter-in-law, daughter and sister, and juggle these roles and duties. Selina narrated that whilst she did her best in her multiple roles, she started to experience difficulties over time with her in-laws when she did not meet their expectations of being a subservient and dutiful daughter-in-law. Desperate for respite, her only haven appeared to be visiting or staying at her parents, which also proved to be problematic. Whilst her husband was aware of these difficulties, Selina talked about the pivotal role her mother-in-law played in complaining to her sons about the daughters-in-law in the house, which also at times compromised the relationship between her and her brother-in-law and husband.

Shuma

Shuma is in her 30s and married her husband six years ago. At the time of the interview, she was living in her own home with her husband and two children. She was in a previous relationship, but when that did not culminate in marriage, she married her husband whom she met through colleagues. Shuma moved in to live with her husband's older brother, his wife, and their four children, where she stayed for five years. Whilst this was meant to be a temporary arrangement, Shuma lived with her in-laws for five years and described her experience as being 'doomed from the bloody beginning'. The interview was conducted in her home, where she was alone at the time of the interview.

Global Impression

Much of Shuma's narrative at the beginning was dominated by her reflections on whether she made the right choice in marrying her husband, as she was in a relationship previously. She described her marriage as the best way to move on from the previous relationship, but she wondered whether a curse had been cast on her marriage and experience with her in-laws for the pain she had caused her ex-partner.

Shuma thought she was going to be a 'responsible female in the house', help where necessary and 'tend to everyone's needs'. She wanted to 'appear perfect' and avoid difficult situations through 'damage limitation'. She felt her desire to move was hindered by interference from various family members.

Shuma's narrative highlights how much of her experience was shaped by her husband, who she felt at times was not supportive towards her about the negative experiences she had with her controlling sister-in-law, who, in her mind, felt more like a mother-in-law. She felt that she had missed out on the quality time that newlyweds need at the beginning of a marriage due to the restrictions placed on her. Her resentment was further intensified when her husband's, married sisters would visit, communicating their compassion about the hardship she faced in having to tolerate the demands of residing with her in-laws. Shuma also shared her anxiety in seeking permission to visit her own family, recognising that she would have to assess her sister-in-law's mood before asking. Shuma went back and forth on where to place the blame; sometimes blaming her husband and sometimes recognising that he was probably helpless to support her.

Shuma became increasingly emotional and tearful during the course of the interview as she reflected on her past relationship. She recalled difficulties she had experienced and questioned her position in her marriage. She also questioned why the issues still seemed to bother her.

Tina

Tina is in her 40s and her narrative was in relation to her second marriage, where she moved in with her in-laws with her daughter from her first marriage. She described her marriage as being semi-arranged. She described herself as naïve for not questioning or thinking about what it would be like to live with in-laws, as she was deeply in love with her husband and was looking forward to living a life with him. After marriage, she moved in to live with her husband's family, which comprised his parents, two brothers and his sister, who also had a son. The interview took place at Tina's workplace, and at the time of the interview, she was still living with her in-laws.

Global Impression

Tina was living with her in-laws at the time of the interview. Her narrative covered 10 years of experience living with her in-laws. Being the only British-born Bangladeshi daughter-in-law, who spoke English and was in paid employment, she classed herself as the 'black sheep'. This was a challenge that Tina faced with her in-laws, as the other daughters-in-law were from Bangladesh and did not work outside the home. Tina also explained that the idea of her working was very new for her husband's family who would have preferred her to be a stay-at-home daughter-in-law. Tina expressed that she faced a lot of pressure to simultaneously serve her husband's family and manage work.

Tina presented her narrative in a very positive tone and positioned herself as an advocate for positive change. She presented examples of overcoming obstacles and challenges to building family relationships and breaking down any potential insecurities and perceived competition between herself and the other daughters-in-law. Tina saw her experience as a 'project' to manage and said this became her way of coping. She gave the impression that she wanted to be a good role model for the family. As she felt empowered, she also wanted to empower the rest of the family. Over time, Tina has managed to earn respect from the extended family.

This section has provided an overall introduction to the participants and their global impressions. The following section will summarise the main themes, using their narratives.

4.2 Part 2: Summary of Main Themes

4.2.1 Theme 1: 'It's a Family Marriage'

The term 'marriage', in the context of the participants' narratives, is not confined to the simple union of a bride and groom. The participant's life after marriage includes and extends to being in union with their husband's family. Every participant had some experience of living with their in-laws after marriage. Two participants were still living with their in-laws at the time of the interview, and the other eight varied in the amount of time they had lived with their in-laws. Post-marital experience not only involved adjusting to life with their husbands but also adjusting to extended family living arrangements and relationships. This theme highlights the participants' experiences within the context of being in a 'family marriage', the adjustments or changes they experienced, the expectations of their role after marriage and the support available to them. This is evidenced by the following subthemes:

- Naivety and Shock
- Adjusting to Changes
- Pressure to be 'Perfect'
- Support

NAIVETY AND SHOCK	"I was living by myself Then I made that big transition of moving in with in-laws. It was quite a big shock" Tina
	"I was a naïve, innocent person you know, I didn't have any life experience then" Halima
	"I was quite young, quite naïve I think; I didn't really question, like he had a big family" Asma
	"I didn't really think it will be hard I think that's where my naivety lied" Selina
	"It was the biggest shock of my life. It wasn't a shockIt was the biggest change" Nasima
	"I just thought another big family you go into, isn't it?" Shuma
	"I was very naïve. What could be difficult?" Khadija

Table 3. Subtheme: Naivety and Shock

4.2.1.1 Naivety and Shock

This subtheme captures a common reaction in the participants' in-law experiences. Seven of the 10 participants expressed feeling naïve about married life and shocked at their experiences following marriage. Their reactions reflected the changes as they transitioned from pre-married life to adapting to their husband's family, and not feeling prepared for the relatively novel set of experiences. This included trying to explore their place and role in the family and the associated expectations as a newcomer in the in-law family setting.

Three participants expressed that they did not give in-laws much thought before deciding to get married. Tina expressed her excitement about getting married and being with her husband. She also saw it as an opportunity to remove the stigma of being a divorcee, a status perceived as 'quite negative compared to someone who's married' in the Bangladeshi community. After finding a suitable partner, she explained how her mind was more attuned to being married to him, and described herself as 'naïve' in that she 'wasn't thinking about in-laws or anything'. Despite her friends calling her 'mad' to give up her own home to move in with a big family, this did not seem to impact Tina's decision; '...I think it's because I was so looking forward to being with him. That didn't matter'. Tina's narrative indicates that she may have viewed marriage as a union with her husband and in the excitement of marrying her husband, she did not consider what life after the marriage with the wider family would entail. Her friends' reaction suggests that they may have held negative views about living with in-laws and could not comprehend Tina sacrificing her independence to live with affinal kin. Her narrative indicated that the 'shock' may have stemmed from not reflecting on moving in with in-laws:

"I was living by myself, with my daughter in my own place. Then I made that big transition of moving in with in-laws. It was quite a big shock..." (Tina, 16-18)

Similarly, Asma and Halima implied that they did not give much thought to what life would be like living with in-laws, which may have shaped their experiences after marriage. Halima's marriage was arranged, and she did not have the opportunity to get to know her husband before marriage as Tina had. Like Tina, Halima was aware she would be moving in with her in-laws, but whilst Tina chose her partner and fantasised about married life with him, Halima talked about her general fantasy of married life. Her narrative implied that she knew of others who had lived with in-laws but assumed that this would not be relevant to her. After reflecting on

her story, Halima recognised that being 'naïve' and lacking 'experience' may have helped to make sense of her earlier ideas about married life. Even though Halima had been married for more than two decades, she struggled to build a coherent narrative when delivering her story. The pace, structure and tone of her storytelling suggest that she may not have spoken about her experiences before nor processed them. Describing her experience as confusing, she attributes this to the contrast between her expectations and fantasies about marriage and her reality:

"I don't think it made any sense to me at the time... it's just a big blur, like a confusion thing. (111-114) ... I thought I'd be like the queen of my palace, you know I'd marry somebody, it'd be lovely, we would have our own house, you know you have these silly girl dreams and things that, it's all gonna be like this, it's gonna be like a fairy tale it's gonna be brilliant. Not once did I think it was gonna be like that... (303-307) I didn't, I mean, I, er, obviously, I got sister-in-laws, cousin sister-in-laws and they live with them, but... it was nothing to do with me, you know that's not relevant to me... (427-429) I was a naïve, innocent person... you know, I didn't have any life experience then (Halima, 925-928)

Like Halima and Tina, Asma also shared not giving much thought to the wider in-law family. She implied that this may have been due to her age, describing herself as 'young' and 'naïve'. She suggested that this may not have allowed her to reflect adequately on post-married life; by assuming that everything would be 'OK' if her husband was 'OK', she did not question or enquire what it might be like to adjust to the rest of the family and the changes that would come from transitioning from a small family to her husband's bigger family. Her narrative indicates that she was unprepared for the transition; being 'thrown in at the deep end' suggests that maybe someone should have helped her prepare for married life:

"... I was quite young, quite naïve I think; I didn't really question, like he had a big family. It didn't even occur to me like, 'would I be able to adjust or ...', I was just like, 'ok, he needs to be like this, like that'...it didn't really occur to me like I need to find out what his family is like, what his mum is like, what his sisters are like; I just thought, 'if he's okay, everything will be okay'. (Asma, 50-55) "...at the

beginning, it was quite hard for me because I felt as though I was kind of thrown into the deep end and coming from such a small family..." (Asma 583-584)

Khadija, Shuma, and Selina also described themselves as naïve. Their reactions appear to imply that they did not expect to experience difficulties after marriage. Shuma and Selina drew upon their personal experiences of being raised in a big family, assuming this would help with their transition into married life. Selina spoke about living with her married sister-in-law in her own parental home. Her experiences of being in a big family and watching her sister-in-law manage things 'effortlessly' led her to not be worried about moving into a big family. She realised that, although she may have felt it was an advantage having grown up in a big family herself, she was only able to reflect on things from a particular position; having observed the way her sister-in-law conducted herself, she assumed this would prepare her for the transition to her in-laws. However, she later realised that she only had experience from the perspective of a sibling-in-law, and did not reflect on the position as a daughter-in-law/sister-in-law and how this may be different. Selina's narrative demonstrates how one's position changes with experience. She was confident rather than anxious about moving to her in-laws and didn't realise how a different family dynamic may impact her, which is what made her conclude that she may have been naïve.

"I think I was a little bit naïve. I remember (husband's name) telling me, you do know I have a very big family... I said yeah, yeah, yeah, I'm from a big family (107-110) ... I just saw being in a big family as from a sibling point of view and that was a challenge when I got in. It was very hard and quite difficult to adjust to... (119-121) I didn't really think it will be hard (154) ... I think that's where my naivety lied, because I think I should have been nervous, so when I went there, it was too much. (Selina, 170-171)

Nasima married her partner of choice. Her narrative implied that she was aware that there would be changes after marriage and recognised that there were differences between her own family and her husband's family. The description of shock she described suggests that knowing that things will be different was not sufficient to prepare her for her experiences after marriage;

it was only through direct lived experience that she was able to gauge 'the full extent' of how 'different' her in-laws are:

"(laughs) It was the biggest shock of my life. It wasn't a shock...It was the biggest change...(81-82) I knew his family was very opposite to my family, very orthodox were very strict in their own fashion... (83-84)... Opposite of my family, total opposite (89-90)... It was just totally different, although I knew it I didn't know the full extent (92-93) ... I was in a big shock. I couldn't sleep (115) I think on the second week I just burst into tears. It all hit me. I was like, "Oh my God what's happened to my life?" (128-129).

ADJUSTING TO CHANGES	"so many roles. I think that was very challenging." Selina
	"I wasn't really clued up about in-laws It all came to me after I got married" Asma
	"and that was expected that I would cook and clean and do this and work" Halima
	"the real traditional food even to this day I don't know some of them. But I kind of cheat my way" Tina
	"I didn't have no breathing space religiouslyI can't walk around without a headscarf" Shuma
	"But in their house, everyone had very separate lives. It was very different"Rina
	"they're trying to change me change certain habits that I have like the covering, the head covering" Hasina
	"It was so different to the way I grew up" Hamida
	"When I got married, I didn't hardly knew anythingmy mother-in-law taught me how to cook." Khadija

Table 4: Subtheme: Adjusting to Changes

4.2.1.2 Adjusting to Changes

In this subtheme, the narratives shared by nine of the participants suggested that adapting to their new relationships required a significant period of adjustment. This entailed participants navigating their way through working out expectations of roles and adjusting to different family dynamics, situations and routines.

Selina's narrative suggested that she did not anticipate having to adjust and balance different aspects of her identity. The excerpt below describes her personal challenge after marriage; she not only accommodated new parts of her identity but also assimilated these with aspects of her identity before marriage. She made a differentiation between these various roles, suggesting that they are independent of one another and required her to modify and adjust from one role to the next; it is perhaps the switching of identities and roles that took a toll on her mind and body, leading her to feel overwhelmed:

"I didn't know how difficult it was and how overwhelming it was and how physically challenging it was and mentally challenging. And you're almost like living two lives. Like you're doing the daughter-in-law stuff and in the bedroom you're the wife and on the phone you're the daughter to your mum and on the text you're the sister to your siblings so almost yeah, just so many roles. I think that was very challenging." (Selina, 157-161)

Selina added that the changes and demands of her multiple roles meant that she had perhaps to sacrifice and give up aspects of her identity as a friend. She implied that prioritising family meant losing a part of her identity and make changes to what was once considered 'social' in her life. Her use of the word 'dead' also implied that after marriage she did not experience much social pleasure with those around her:

One thing I recognise the most is I lost a lot of friends for a good few years... I could not have the time to keep in touch with them...I just couldn't get round to returning those text messages or voicemails to friends" (489-496) ... Socially I was like dead. My social life consisted of my in-laws and my family." (Selina 529-530)

Asma also shared her challenges of not being aware of what to expect from living with her inlaws. Her statement implied that moving into the in-law home came with changes in roles and responsibilities. It also suggests that understanding these roles and what they entail is a learning process after marriage:

"...so I wasn't really clued up about in-laws and the roles and what you have to do and what it will be like living with in-laws, having sister-in-laws. It all came to me after I got married..." (Asma, 73-75)

Five participants shared their difficulties in acquiring cooking skills after marriage. Asma, Khadija, and Hamida accounted for their difficulties by their not having been expected to cook before marriage. Tina and Halima also implied limited experience but talked more about the struggle to adjust to the duties of working and carrying out domestic chores after marriage. In particular, they shared their cooking knowledge and skills in 'western' cuisine before marriage, and the lack of experience in cooking traditional Bangladeshi dishes, a skill that appears to be crucial to meet the expectations of Bangladeshi affinal kin. Hamida expressed her familiarity with 'western cuisine' and her limited experience with Bengali cooking:

"...I was an expert on Shepherd's Pie, all the English foods ...Bengali cooking I helped my mum, I knew, I knew how to peel an onion like I could do all that kinda stuff ... But don't ask me about Bengali fish, I could eat it, but don't ask me to dissect one... and that was expected that I would cook and clean and do this and work..." (Hamida, 150-162)

Similarly, Tina added that the adjustment she made after marriage was in direct contrast to her pre-married life.

"...there was this expectation of me that, okay, although I work but you know the cooking and the cleaning and looking after the family also needs to take place..." (94-96)... So where I stayed in my penthouse life with having small dishes and beans on toast and I really enjoy my beans on toast, to massive handis (pans) and cooking for people..." (Tina, 137-139)

She explained that although she did not know how to cook Bangladeshi cuisine, she drew upon different aspects of her experience and identity in adjusting to her in-law family home. She showed her cultural awareness of the expectations to have knowledge of cooking traditional

Bangladeshi cuisine, but recognised she was limited in her experience. She found resolution in negotiating different aspects of cultural knowledge and produced her own unique dishes. This appears to be reflective of her own hybrid identity as British ('western') and Bangladeshi:

"I wanted to make it like this, like themes kind of the western influences that you'd get from work and all that I did take it home...(141-142)"...when we were growing up it was 50% Bangladeshi and 50% western culture... just thinking about being Bangladeshi because even cuisines, the real traditional food that you're expected to make, even to this day I don't know some of them. But I kind of cheat my way because I put other things on that's like...I put chicken in skewers and peppers and stuff and it looks pretty." (Tina, 157-164)

Two participants spoke about the adjustment difficulties and dilemmas of living with male affinal kin. Islamic principles dictate that women are required to observe the Islamic dress code in the presence of a male who is not their husband and with whom they do not share a close blood relationship. This can pose particular challenges when living with extended family members of affinal kin. Whilst Shuma was used to living with men, Asma did not grow up with them and then lived with her in-laws, which included her brother-in-law. She shared that it was a new experience for her as she 'didn't really know a lot about men'. Both Shuma and Asma alluded to not being able to feel relaxed in their affinal home due to having to observe modesty in line with Islamic codes in the presence of male affinal kin. Additionally, for Asma, her experience suggests that early transitions and adjusting to her in-laws' home can be stressful; learning cooking skills and adjusting to her brother-in-law meant she felt unable to relax:

"I didn't have no breathing space because it's like, religiously...I can't walk around without a headscarf, covering my bosoms. I couldn't even in the summer I have to be dressed in a respectful way." (Shuma, 275-278)

... what I found hard was, when I had to cook and stuff... That was quite difficult for me... and it used to be really hot and then you know... that freedom in the house just to walk around with your hair out. Before I came out of the room, I had to have my hijab (headscarf) on and my jilbab (loose long dress) on. The only time where I could relax was in my room. Because you know having him in the house, I felt like

it kind of restricted me a little bit, my freedom and when you move somewhere new, it takes time to adjust." (Asma, 105-113)

In contrast, Hasina did not observe the Islamic dress code. Her narrative implied that her inlaws were more religiously observant than she was. She shared her difficulties in adjusting to this and observing other Islamic duties after marriage. Hasina seemed resistant to her in-laws wanting to change her to be more Islamically inclined. She engaged in subtle resistance, with her outward actions appearing to show that she was conforming to their expectations but, covertly, she was not engaging in prayer. Part of her behaviour may have been due to having forgotten how to perform religious rituals. She recognised that, although she engaged in pretence, her in-laws were probably aware she was not praying. However, because her behaviour was covert, she was exempt from being challenged and was able to appear to conform to her in-laws' expectations. In this way, Hasina was able to ward off any judgement or shame for not fulfilling religious rituals.

"...they're trying to change me change certain habits that I have... like the covering, the head covering, I don't pray so I've got to pray... to tell you the truth I had forgotten because I was living on my own and I've been on my own for so long and I wasn't doing these practices. I'd be me going in the room locking myself up and just sitting... I did the pretend acting but I think deep down they still knew that maybe she's not doing or whatever..." (Hasina, 287-298)

Three participants spoke about finding it difficult to adjust to routines in their in-law households. Shuma, Selina, and Rina implied that a lack of structure was a contributing factor in making adjusting to the family home challenging. Shuma and Selina communicated how their in-laws would cook or eat late. Rina also shared her struggle with her in-laws' routine. She shared how her mother-in-law would cook throughout the night and wake up late, a routine that differed from what she was used to in her parental home:

"...in my house that's half the day gone... It was at a very different timetable and so I couldn't stop my habits into their household and their lifestyle..." (Rina, 173-175)

Rina added that she found it difficult to adjust to relational dynamics at her in-laws', which were different from her parental home. She suggested that her family were cohesive and drew a comparison with her in-laws who lived relatively separate lives. This seemed to challenge her personal notion of what it means to be a 'family' and she described her early experience as 'alien':

"No one ate together. When they did sit together, everything was just about watching tv. No one spoke to each other, except for when they were gossiping about each other. There was no togetherness. My husband spent a lot of time in his room and I wasn't used to that. In my mum and dad's house even though we lived in a flat, the living room was a living room, we lived in the living room. But in their house, everyone had very separate lives. It was very different (Rina, 153-158).

Asma's and Hamida's narratives suggest feeling 'different' from their in-law relatives. Differences in their upbringing may have impacted how they communicated which, in turn, may have made them feel like an 'outsider' amongst their in-law relatives. Despite the shared Bangladeshi ethnicity and language, they both expressed not understanding jokes. This appeared to not only be a barrier to communicating effectively with affinal kin, but may also have impacted the extent to which they felt included in the family:

"It was so different to the way I grew up (249) ... just stupid jokes. Dhulabhais (brother-in-laws) used to come around and say stupid jokes and everyone's laughing haa haa haa haa haa and I'm just looking at them thinking, is that really a joke? It's like they used to look at me thinking I'm shida (stupid) I don't know nothing. I'm not laughing with them (254-257)... But I can't be like them because I had a different up bringing to what they had (Hamida, 261)

Asma also shared this and added that her lack of Bengali language skills made it hard to understand and engage with in-law relatives:

"...certain jokes, you know, like the elder, the older sisters-in-laws, they have that Bengali joking, you know; at first I didn't used to get it. My bangla wasn't that good as well..." (Asma, 423-425)

PRESSURE TO BE "PERFECT"

"I thought if I'm going to get married, I'm going to be the best bow, the best wife, so I went in there with that mind" Nasima

"I really genuinely wanted to have the best experience my in-laws" Khadija

"I thought I'm going to go in and I'm going to be that best daughterin-law. I'm going to wear sari, I'm going to dress get up in the morning, tidy the house, do the cooking, the cleaning, to please everyone" Hasina

"I say village mentality...daughter-in-law should wake up, make tea, make breakfast for everybody...basically slave" Halima

"...often you'd hear comments from the mother-in-law... She is trying to say that there is a role, that you have in this house and this is how it's done. I did like this and you should do it like that too." Selina

"They expected me to do everything like the cooking, the cleaning. I did, I'm not going to say I didn't." Hamida

"I was brought up, you know with the kind of mentality Zibone knew khoitana maa hikaisoin na (no one should comment that the mother did not teach the daughter)" Rina

"...I wasn't that good at the housework and things like that, she used to think, 'oh, you should have learnt this', you know. She never said it but you could get that impression..." Asma

"I couldn't go into something and then for it to fail again...I wanted to make it work." Tina

Table 5. Subtheme: Pressure to be 'perfect'

4.2.1.3 Subtheme Pressure to be "Perfect"

This subtheme encapsulates the pressures the participants felt to meet perceived expectations about being the 'perfect' daughter-in-law. Nine of the 10 participants in the study described the pressure they placed on themselves or pressure they received from their in-laws to conform to the role of a good, dutiful and subservient daughter-in-law/wife/sister-in-law. Participants shared how these pressures are consistent with traditional cultural norms and practices. The narratives illustrate how expectations are rarely expressed explicitly or directly. Rather the assumption is that there is an implicit and shared understanding of what it means to present oneself as 'good' and 'perfect', and there is pressure to maintain this image.

Participants' desire or pressure to be 'good' daughters-in-law may have been influenced by cultural norms, traditions, and their upbringing. Hasina, Hamida, Rina, Nasima, Tina and Khadija all shared a desire to have good relationships with their in-laws. This may have placed some pressure on them to ensure that they worked towards and maintained good relationships by adhering to what is culturally expected in being 'perfect'. After the breakdown of her first marriage, Hasina was living alone with her daughter and desired to be part of a family unit. She viewed her second marriage as an opportunity to be a dutiful daughter-in-law again:

"...being alone isn't nice, I was quite happy and I thought yes I'll be like again like you know Allah (God) has given me that opportunity to be like a daughter-in-law could do fulfil my duties..." (Hasina, 167-168)

Nasima echoed similar intentions and desires:

"I always got married thinking that for me I'm one of those people whatever I do has to be in excellence. So, I thought if I'm going to get married, I'm going to be the best bow (daughter-in-law), the best wife, so I went in there with that mind" (Nasima, 94-96)

This desire appears to motivate Nasima and Hasina to fulfil expected gender roles and complete domestic duties at their in-laws' home. This may be a reflection of how they were socialised into their gender roles; that is, they may have learnt that to be accepted or to gain approval from

others meant fulfilling domestic duties to a high standard, thus presenting characteristics of the 'good' daughter-in-law.

Khadija was given the choice before marriage to live with her parents-in-law. From an Islamic perspective, although she recognised that she had no obligation to serve her in-laws, her narrative implied that she may have felt indirectly pressured and made to feel responsible for ensuring her husband, being the only son, still fulfilled his duties towards his parents. She felt that this may have influenced her decision to live with her in-laws. Her reasoning implies that to be dutiful means having to physically live with in-laws. Nonetheless, her wish to have a good relationship with her in-laws also seemed to be a desire shared with the other participants in the research:

"...he's the only son and he has a lot of responsibility on his parent as well and it's... in our religion. We're not obliged to live with parents and look after them in that sense, but, but we do have lot of responsibility towards our parents... That also, influenced my position to stay with my, my in-laws (172-177) I really genuinely wanted to have the best experience my in-laws" (Khadija, 198-199)

The notion of the 'good' or 'perfect' daughter-in-law was shaped by the participants' upbringing. Some participants drew upon their own experiences of watching family members. Nasima, Rina, and Selina stated that observing others shaped their knowledge. Rina shared that her mother was a motivating factor:

"A lot of my conceptions came from how my mum was... I always viewed my mum as someone who was very much the perfect daughter-in-law...Very doting. Running to everyone's needs... everyone used to come to our house when we were younger, mum used to do big boro handi di cooking (cooking in big pans) ... (226-234) And when I am seeing everyone praise my mum and then I've seen the way my mum is, that is how I set up myself to be" (Rina, 246-248)

Selina added that her sister-in-law shaped the way she conducted herself. Her observations also included being aware of what comprises the image of a 'good' daughter-in-law, such as not waking up at unreasonable times. Daughters-in-law may have to be extra vigilant about household rules and ensuring that they are not violated:

"I did see things like when you're in the household if someone's coming you gotta dress in a certain way ...It's a traditional type of daughter-in-law...erm she'd be up a certain time, she won't make breakfast for all of us but it wasn't an unreasonable time like she wouldn't stroll out of bed at 2, 3 o'clock. She just knew that wasn't right. I took a lot from her actually, erm when guests came, she was very lovely and giving, erm, so, yeah, she influenced me a lot actually in terms of how to carry yourself around the house after you're married. (Selina, 144-152)

Films were referenced by two participants as a source of influence for what it means to be a dutiful daughter-in-law. Hasina and Nasima shared the idea that fitting into the image of the subservient daughter-in-law came from films:

"I used to watch movies, Indian movies. You had the good movie and the bad movie and I always chose the daughter-in-law. That was the nice daughter-in-law... I thought I'm going to go in and I'm going to be that best daughter-in-law. I'm going to wear sari, I'm going to dress get up in the morning, tidy the house, do the cooking, the cleaning, to please everyone so they were happy and my husband's happy with me..." (858-864) "...even though it was my dream, but I wanted to make it a reality.... my thought was, I do my bit for my reality to happen (Hasina, 909-910)

The same image was evaluated as 'backward' and regressive by two participants. Halima, for example, described her mother-in-law's expectation of what it meant to be a traditional daughter-in-law:

"I think it was just she was more traditional than anything else... Like you know their idea of a daughter-in-law and how she should behave... I say village mentality...daughter-in-law should wake up, make tea, and make breakfast for everybody... basically slave... That was her expectation... I went above and beyond" (Hamida, 352-364)

Nasima appeared to be conflicted in her response. She described herself as a 'cultural girl' who believed in 'following the culture' and shared a desire to fit a particular image, feeling it was 'morally good' to be subservient. Yet she contradicted herself when evaluating her in-laws' expectations, depicting them as something from the 'black and white movies', suggesting that their ideologies were old-fashioned and not in keeping with current times:

"...they wanted a daughter-in-law who they see in the Indian movies, back in the black and white times and whatever they've heard of back home. But their mind was sort of like ...they're living in Bangladesh, in the village but they're in a real...they're not in that world though. You're in the modern times now, if you know what I mean? They wanted a bow who wakes up first thing in the morning wearing sari salaams(greets) the father-in-law, touches their feet, breakfast is ready before they even come down, cooks a meal..." (Nasima, 106-112)

The pressure to be dutiful, subservient, and perfect was often measured by a commitment to domestic servitude. In-laws may impose this pressure, especially if they were socialised into this belief themselves. This was communicated explicitly by Hamida and Selina. Selina shared how her mother-in-law's own experiences shaped what she expected from Selina:

"...often you'd hear comments from the mother-in-law about how she lived her life and how she'd get up at the crack of dawn to make the house up and have it ready. (231-233) ... She is trying to say that there is a role, that you have in this house and this is how it's done. I did like this and you should do it like that too. (Selina, 238-239)

Like Selina, Tina and Hamida also shared the pressure to perform domestic duties. In Hamida's experience, this pressure also required tolerance of distress to maintain the image of the perfect daughter-in-law:

"They expected me to do everything like the cooking, the cleaning. I did, I'm not going to say I didn't. For myself to go into a kitchen where it's not even like upto-dated and serve them. I still went in there. I still bit my tongue and I thought,

let me just do my bit for them and I used to go in and I used to cook...It was hot really hot and I remember just sweating and I used to just say well this is life. I have to get on with it..." (Hamida, 231-236)

There appeared to be an expectation of being seen to be dutiful. Selina spoke about performing domestic duties with 'all gut and mind'. She shared that she was not 'forced' or 'pressured' to do things but there was 'a very subtle expectation' that domestic chores were to be completed by her. Additionally, Selina shared how, even after moving out of her in-laws' home, her husband expected her to fulfil her duty to remain in contact with her parents-in-law. Selina also felt obligated to help with domestic duties on her visits. This may have been partially influenced by her mother-in-law's comments about the eldest daughter-in-law:

"...There would be comments, Oh, she's gone now, she doesn't even care about us anymore... she thinks she's got her own house so she could do what she pleases, doesn't care about the mother-in-law. She's got you know, responsibility, she's not fulfilling that (199-203)...

The participants' narratives indicate how gendered roles in the domestic sphere are maintained by women. Lack of experience in the domestic sphere before marriage made it difficult for three participants in the study to fulfil cooking duties; a skill that is almost always expected to be mastered in preparation for marriage. Not possessing these skills may invite frustration from in-laws for not fulfilling these expectations, resulting in pressure to learn and conform to the gendered norms. Four participants shared how a lack of domestic skills could reflect negatively on them and their family. Whilst Rina did possess domestic skills, Asma, Halima and Hamida talked about not having much experience in cooking. Asma described herself as 'spoilt' and like Hamida was not expected to cook before marriage in her parental home.

In Rina's case, her mother would often check if she was being dutiful towards her in-laws. Rina's own commitment and subservience to her in-laws may have been largely influenced by this idea of protecting herself and her mother from judgement and criticism: "I was brought up, you know with the kind of mentality Zibone khew khoitana maa hikaisoin na (no one should comment that the mother did not teach the daughter) Do you know what I mean? So in my head, I already had this preconceived idea of how I would be as a daughter-in-law. (Rina, 148-150)

Hamida's narrative suggests that her mother-in-law was initially sympathetic towards her, especially with their shared experience of losing their mother at a young age, but she later rebuked Hamida and told her that she should have learnt domestic skills from her mother as she had before becoming a daughter-in-law herself. It appeared that there was a lack of compassion and empathy for Hamida's loss, and Hamida may have expected her mother-in-law to be more considerate about the loss of her mother and the impact on her upbringing; that losing her mother meant she was unable to develop particular skills. Asma also experienced a similar pressure even though her mother tried to protect her from being called out by in-laws for not possessing cooking skills. Asma's mother informed Asma's mother-in-law that Asma did not know how to cook. This may have been an 'insurance policy' to thwart any potential criticism from in-laws towards Asma. Although her mother-in-law agreed to fulfil a request made by Asma's mother to teach her, Asma sensed her mother-in-law's discontentment:

"...I wasn't that good at the housework and things like that, she used to think, 'oh, you should have learnt this', you know. She never said it but you could get that impression.... (Asma, 408-410)

Preserving and protecting identity appeared to be particularly important for Tina and Rina. In the early stages of her marriage, Tina implied that she acquiesced to the expectations of her inlaws, largely because they accepted her, despite her being divorced and bringing in her daughter from her previous marriage. This acceptance may have influenced her to show gratitude and to do as was expected. The pressure to please her in-laws was also motivated by wanting to protect her husband's reputation, who had presented her in a positive light before the marriage. Her narrative suggests that he had been stigmatised as his previous marriage had also ended. However, Tina suggested that because she had a daughter from her previous marriage, she was perhaps more stigmatised. In a bid to protect her marriage from failing again and being further stigmatised, she expressed her determination to make it work:

"I think he had painted me in a very positive light... Because he's from a failed marriage as well, which didn't last long... she was very westernized which didn't match with how they think... I think I was westernised I'm kind of middle. But I think my biggest barrier to... or... because I had my daughter. I couldn't go into something and then for it to fail again...I wanted to make it work. And I enjoyed doing things because it would make him happy and it was just nice because you could see he was happy about it and everyone was happy... (Tina, 106-116)

Her narrative expresses that her husband's ex-wife's 'westernised' disposition was the cause of marriage failure; by describing herself as taking a 'middle' road, she implied that she was able to meet some of the cultural expectations to fit into the image her in-laws expected. The initial pressure to please, however, subsided overtime, especially with the expectation to cook Bangladeshi food. Realising that she could not do everything and meet all expectations, she provided solutions for her mother-in-law to manage the situation:

"I can't make the hutki (fermented dried fish) properly and the lota (traditional Bangladeshi vegetable dish) and that kind of stuff... I'm like, "Well that's okay, you have another three daughter-in-laws they can do it really nicely, let them make it for you..." (164-167) ... she didn't like it (mother-in-law) ... I said well they have a responsibility towards you... if this is their house then they can make stuff for you." (Tina, 174-176)

Rina's narrative also bears some resemblance to Tina's stigmatised identity story. Rina was caught dating her husband before marriage, an act that is discouraged culturally and is forbidden in Islam. Whilst Tina was trying to manage the stigma of being previously married, Rina talked about having the stigma of being the 'girlfriend'. This stigma also affected her husband. This seemed to be a driving factor in trying to be the perfect daughter-in-law and, like Tina, she also appeared to want to protect her husband. She narrated a situation where she felt embarrassed that her brother-in-law served guests instead of her, which goes against traditional gender norms. She shared her anxiety about how she may have been judged for that by relatives:

"...if she now goes and talks to another relative...there's nothing stopping her from saying bow e to boya gof khorsoin (the daughter-in-law just sat there talking). You

needed to understand that I've come into this family...I've got the stigma, I'm the girlfriend and all these stuff. I'm really trying my best to be... to get away from that whole stigma and label and everything (Rina, 411-415)

Over time, Rina talked about how aspects of the pressure to be 'perfect' led to some resentment towards one of her sisters-in-law. Like Tina, it appears that she did not want to be taken advantage of:

"Even with my sister-in-laws, I think I built up the resentment for myself...I didn't know how to say no to her because I wanted to impress them. I never wanted them to feel that I I'm not doing what they need, and not helping and not being supportive but it got to the point where she... I didn't know how to say no and she just took. She just took advantage but because I let her." (Rina, 615 623)

SUPPORT

"They did have another daughter-in-law... She'd come and do bits and pieces around the house which helped me immensely." Selina

"...if I had to go to a course or whatever, I'll be like, 'oh, can I leave my kids', and they are more than happy to have them." Asma

"I remember even throughout my entire pregnancy thinking, she's looking after me more than my mum..." Rina

"He'd (father-in-law) take me to university... transferred fees to my account... They were very supportive of education..." Khadija

"...they (nephews) did a lot of the mediating without things escalating...They'd make it their problem, so to try and get me out the picture" Shuma

"...my father-in-law was a nice man" Hamida

"...he (father-in-law) was fantastic because he worked. He knows how it is to come home and to cook. Sometimes he used to help me in the kitchen." Tina

Table 6. Subtheme: Support

4.2.1.4 Subtheme: Support

Within the context of the in-law family, seven participants shared positive and supportive aspects of their relationship with their in-laws. This subtheme captures aspects of in-law experiences where there was a reciprocation of support. Participants felt they were supported with domestic duties and childcare, with developing their skills and receiving financial and emotional support. In summary, this subtheme indicates that, within the context of family marriage, it is potentially a space where relationships can survive and thrive through support and acceptance; whilst it can be challenging to transition and adjust to in-law relationships, there are also opportunities for positive experiences.

Being the only living-in daughter-in-law, Selina expressed her appreciation for the support she received with domestic duties. It appears that both Selina and the eldest daughter-in-law occupied the same position in the family – the elder daughter-in-law did not appear to demonstrate power over and above Selina. Possessing the status of daughters-in-law implies a similar level of power; they had a shared experience of what was expected of them, and this shared identity allowed them to have empathy and support for one another:

They did have another daughter-in-law, the older brother's wife. She'd moved out so she paid her visits. I feel sorry for her actually. She did come every other day to cook the curries. Oh, just to show her, kind of to be approved. (192-194) She'd come and do bits and pieces around the house which helped me immensely. (Selina, 204)

Rina and Asma talked about the advantages of having supportive sisters-in-law, especially regarding childcare. Asma felt she was able to pursue her interests due to the support of her sisters-in-law:

"...if I had to go to a course or whatever, I'll be like, 'oh, can I leave my kids', and they are more than happy to have them." (Asma, 727-728)

Like Asma, Khadija received support to pursue her ambition of furthering her education:

"He'd (father-in-law) take me to university (233), transferred fees to my account (238) They were very supportive of education...(Khadija, 240)"

Khadija and Asma spoke about the support and benefit of learning domestic skills from their mother-in-law. Whilst women are expected to have acquired domestic skills before marriage, Khadija commented on her mother-in-law's patience with her lack of experience:

"She was very, very patient. I didn't know how to use a washing machine. I even put my father-in-law's trousers in a washing machine with £20 notes in. Not that they ever asked me to wash anything for them... She taught me a lot. Cooking, not cleaning, washing that kind of thing. (Khadija, 306-309)

Although Asma initially recounted her difficulties in transitioning from a small to a big family, over time her narrative indicated her appreciation for feeling part of a family unit. Her experiences signify positive elements of the relationship where care and appreciation are reciprocated; she talked about her siblings-in-law cooking for her and making her feel 'special', and of receiving praise for her cooking over time. Her experience contests the idea of negative in-law stereotypes, instead indicating that their support by helping with household tasks and duties made transitioning and adjusting to the family easier:

So, I think they've been really supportive. Especially, my sisters-in-law, you know when you hear about sister-in-law coming in and just sitting down and demanding things, my sisters-in-law are not like that... I think, if I hadn't had that support, then it would have been really hard for me. (Asma, 152-156)

Four participants in the research suggested reciprocal emotional support within the relationships. Selina spoke about her siblings-in-law approaching her for emotional support. Rina and Khadija talked about receiving emotional support when faced with losses in their lives. Khadija shared her memory of her in-laws' support after her father's passing:

"They really went out of their way to make sure that, they were there for my family and my mum similarly, never forgets that, they'll never forget what they did..." (Khadija, 228-229)

After experiencing a miscarriage, Rina indicated that this may have been a turning point in improving the relationship with her mother-in-law. She expressed surprise at her mother-in-law's disclosure of her own experiences of miscarriage, and her story suggests that this shared experience of loss may have helped to develop a trusting relationship:

"Oh my God what's she saying?" She's sharing stuff with me and I felt so privileged. I felt so privileged thinking, you know what, she doesn't say these things to people, you know what maybe she's starting to trust me a little bit. Okay, maybe she likes me... I remember even throughout my entire pregnancy thinking, she's looking after me more than my mum... (Rina, 502-508)

Shuma shared her experience of receiving support from her husband's nephews to manage conflict between her and her sister-in-law:

"...his nephews... they really did have a corner in a lot of the things.... They're go shops, anything, "Do you need anything sassi maa (auntie)?" and they made sure their mum didn't get to me as much. They did things in the background. Now, when I think about it, "Oh, my God, they did a lot of the mediating without things escalating... They'd make it their problem, so to try and get me out the picture (538-546)

Both Tina and Hamida shared having positive relationships with their fathers-in-law. Tina's narrative suggests that, unlike her experience with her mother-in-law, her father-in-law empathised with her working and managing domestic duties and supported her. Tina used this situation to avenge her mother-in-law; unable to directly retaliate, she used indirect and manipulative tactics to annoy her mother-in-law:

"...he was fantastic because he worked. He knows how it is to come home and to cook. Sometimes he used to help me in the kitchen. My mother-in-law hated it. I was like "Come on Abba amra ekhloge khori you know let's do this together." (550-552)... my mother-in-law used to hate it I think [laughs]. And I used to do it more!

And that was my devilish side because I thought I can't say anything to you. I can't do anything to you. I might as well make you feel crap so I can feel proud!" (Tina, 567-569)

Tina's narrative also shared a feeling of acceptance by her father-in-law and acceptance of her daughter:

"And the funny thing is he's got so many grandchildren and my daughter isn't his blood grandchild but out of all the children, the one toy that he bought in his whole life was for my daughter. So for me, that's really significant of acceptance and it stuck" (Tina, 571-575)

4.2.2 THEME 2: 'RISING TENSIONS'

RELATIONSHIP TENSIONS

"I did find it difficult because the other daughter-in-laws, they all lived quite locally, would come in as just guests...and just sit...I would have to see to them..." Tina

"They did very little erm, because from what I saw, they always had a sister-in-law in the house to do it, the housework, they never needed to do anything" Selina

"I wouldn't think leave that cup dirty there for my sister-in-law to pick it up after and go and wash it. That's petty, and I've seen all of that now with my in-laws and I think, "Oh my God, things like this actually happens." Shuma

"...there was this hint of jealousy, like, almost thought they were in competition with me for some reason" Halima

"...she'd (mother-in-law) cook specifically for me which is nice. This also created a lot of resentment with my zaals' (other daughters-in-law) and stuff because I was seen to get special treatment." Rina

"...She (sister-in-law) lived with us and that time was a bit difficult because, you know, having two women in the house and then I felt as though I was doing all the work." Asma

"She was allowed to wear trousers and go to work, she's allowed to wear kameez in the house but double standards...I saw everything was unfair." Nasima

"I think I've realized that when my sister-in-law moved in, things changed a lot. I think when there's a few women in the house... I think things can be very difficult" Khadija

Table 7. Subtheme: Relationship Tensions

4.2.2.1 Subtheme: Relationship Tensions

In this subtheme, eight participants shared the tensions they experienced with affinal kin. In particular, participants alluded to women living together as a cause of struggle and conflict within in-law relationships. Whilst Hasina, Khadija, Halima, and Asma expressed it explicitly, the experiences of other participants also allude to this. This subtheme captures the various

ways in which conflict can arise within in-law relationships, including making assumptions about others' intentions, lack of support, and different treatment among daughters-in-law. The tensions within relationships unveil the fact that there are rules, often unspoken, that are expected to be adhered to; these rules also create power differences among affinal kin, placing daughters-in-law in subordinate positions to their in-laws. In-laws are often in control of establishing the rules to uphold the boundaries within the household, but at times participants experienced unfairness and double standards. Whilst some participants shared the supportive aspects of relationships among affinal kin in the previous theme, five participants reported a lack of support from female affinal kin. For instance, Tina and Nasima spoke of having to serve their sisters-in-law and not experiencing reciprocal support. The expectation to serve others appears to create a power imbalance and a hierarchy whereby daughters-in-law have less power than the other family members. In both Tina and Nasima's cases, the subordinate position was further amplified as they were the live-in daughters-in-law; this means that they were mandated to serve others who visited, including other daughters-in-law and married siblings-in-law. Tina also mentioned that, despite other siblings-in-law living locally, the responsibility of looking after her mother-in-law was not shared. Tina communicated her struggle:

"I did find it difficult because the other daughter-in-laws, they all lived quite locally, would come in as just guests...and just sit...I would have to see to them..." (Tina 96-98)

Nasima also echoed this experience. Her quote is reflective of her subordinate position in the in-law family system. By emphasising that she was 'just a housewife' suggests that her position in the family did not hold much value:

"He has sisters and brothers all local, like the married ones. They used to come around every day more or less with their kids and them. I was just a housewife really." (Nasima 76-78)

Nasima shared how one of her sisters-in-law would imply that it was solely her role to perform domestic duties, without additional help or support. She narrated a particular experience where her sister-in-law commented to her mother-in-law:

"...sometimes even if her mum would let certain things she would make a negative comment. She'd instill that in her. Should would be like, tumi ekhon kita, tumi ekhon khene abaar gelai gi kitcheno? Tumi khatya dewa lage ni igu? (why have you gone to the kitchen?) Do you now have to help cut this? (374-376)... "They'll be like ohhh, tumar lakhan khew faiba ni horin, aso khali bowaintore araam dewaat" (Do you think they (daughters-in-law) can find any other mother-in-law like you who is constantly helping and making things easy for daughters-in-law?) and all that. Sometimes you know what if I used to show I don't understand if I didn't hear it's better..." (Nasima, 378-380)

Selina and Shuma also talked about the lack of support in managing domestic duties in the house. Their struggles seemed to stem from their experience of helping their own sisters-in-law in their parental home and treating them like a member of the family. Their own experiences after marriage implied that if they had been considered a member of the family, they would have received support too:

"We just saw one another like family members, you just do things without thinking. I wouldn't think of leaving that cup dirty there for my sister-in-law to pick it up after and go and wash it. That's petty, and I've seen all of that now with my in-laws and I think, "Oh my God, things like this actually happens." (Shuma, 116-119)

Similarly, Selina echoed Shuma's experiences and suggested that the lack of support was due to her in-laws always having a sister/daughter-in-law. Unlike Nasima, who felt unable to say anything in retaliation, Selina was able to be assertive with her in-laws:

"I did say, if you've eaten, go take it in the kitchen and wash it up and they took to it...But, I did refuse to take it and I'd say to my mother-in-law erm they are very grown, they're very capable (268-274)... A few months into it, I put my foot down, because I wasn't going to be a slave to nobody (282-283)...They did very little erm, because from what I saw, they always had a sister-in-law in the house to do it, the housework, they never needed to do anything" (Selina, 476-477)

Khadija's story also suggests that she expected to be treated like a family member and receive support from her mother-in-law following difficult births. Like Selina and Shuma, she was

disappointed by the lack of support. Her experience also suggests that she expected her mother-in-law to fulfil that role rather than her own mother:

"I had to go and stay at my mum's in (place in UK) for a couple of months to recover from an emergency C-section... I've had horrible births. I've never had that looking after your type of support from my mother-in-law. Never. Her thing was, "I know you'd feel a lot better getting that support from your mum... I hate myself for it, because I feel as though I expect too much. I expected her to be there for me, and my son and my new baby. I thought she was going to be there..." (Khadija, 530-539)

Four participants recounted issues of competition and jealousy within their experience of inlaw relationships. Halima struggled to articulate her experience of her relationships with her husband's nieces, who were of a similar age to her. Halima's experience suggests that living with in-laws fuels competition among women and thus creates tensions, jealousy and animosity between them. She recalled the 'horrible' feelings but found it difficult to cite details to elaborate on the issues of jealousy. She refers to the nieces being able to do 'whatever they want', suggesting that they were relatively free from judgement on their actions, and had the power to be critical of Halima:

"...the girls were the worst, they would be so critical, they'd do whatever they want, but, they, I just don't know they just, I don't know whether they were jealous of me or what it was ... just like everything that I did or just this, this kind of feeling that you'd get that you know, the catty comments... (238-243) there was this hint of jealousy, like, almost thought they were in competition with me for some reason, I don't know like... I think it's a really bad idea to live in a house with so many women all the same age, because that's a recipe for disaster (Halima, 511-514).

Hasina also implied that, although it was not verbalised, her sisters-in-law may have been jealous of her, though, in contrast to Halima, she was able to see that perhaps her independent nature, dress sense, fulfilling all her domestic chores, and being praised for this may have triggered jealousy amongst her female in-laws.

Rina shared her experience of the other daughters-in-law resenting her for being treated differently. Her narrative demonstrates that acceptance from mothers-in-law can enhance the affinal relationship. She spoke of working hard and persevering, which led to her earning 'special treatment' and rewards from her mother-in-law. She emphasises the need for daughters-in-law to put effort into the relationship, which can result in forming a good connection. Rina's narrative suggests that she would be rewarded for her hard work and perseverance and those who can endure the difficulties can reap the benefits of having better relationships with in-laws:

"...she'd cook specifically for me which is nice. This also created a lot of resentment with my zaals' (other daughters-in-law) and stuff because I was seen to get special treatment. My perspective is that I have worked hard to get this bloody special treatment. You lot gave up. You would have had another chance. You still have another chance, try with her. If you try, the circumstances are very different. You might get to that point in your relationship." (Rina, 984-990)

In contrast, Tina acknowledged that relationships between sisters-in-law can be competitive in nature and strove to prevent this from happening by supporting her sisters-in-law. Whilst she felt in control of ensuring she supported them equally, she felt that she was treated differently from the other daughters-in-law by her mother-in-law. She implied that this has largely to do with her position of having been married before and entering her second marriage with a daughter which is viewed negatively. It appears that she may have felt powerless due to having 'baggage', and resorted to compromising behaviour and building tolerance as a way of managing distress and difficulties with her mother-in-law:

"...she could be understanding because when it came to other daughter-in-laws she was. But I think for them it was like, "Okay she's come with a child, she's taken my best son... (199-201) I think those situations had it been my first marriage and I didn't have the baggage maybe it would have been a different way... maybe I'm being more tolerant because of that. I do think that now, at the time I didn't think that. (Tina, 205-210)

Similarly, Hasina also felt that she was treated differently because her in-laws 'didn't want to acknowledge that their son married a woman with a child' (273-274).

Three participants shared further experiences of being treated differently by their in-laws. For instance, Asma shared the difficulties she experienced after her brother-in-law married and a new daughter-in-law came in. Her narrative indicates her tension as she expected her new sister-in-law to take responsibility and share the workload. She appears to express her compassion for the need to adjust, but also her dissatisfaction with the other's excuses and being taken advantage of:

"...She lived with us and that time was a bit difficult because, you know, having two women in the house and then I felt as though I was doing all the work. She was kind of taking a back seat. Everybody in the family noticed as well. They were like, 'how come you're doing everything, she's not doing anything..." (217-226) ... she would just stay in her room. At first, we were like, 'okay, okay, she's new, so let her get used to it'. But then it was kind of like going on and on and on. Whenever there was cooking to do, she'd find excuses..." (Asma, 240-242)

Asma felt that she was more appreciated by her in-laws after this experience. Her in-laws' comments about the new daughter-in-law, as well as her own expectations, illustrate how these expectations can divide some relationships whilst strengthening others. Her narrative illustrates her early experiences of complying with her in-laws' expectations, meaning that she gained their respect over time, although it is hard to know whether this would have happened if they had not experienced the new daughter-in-law's resistance to performing domestic duties. Asma's tension appears to be connected to the imbalance in performing domestic duties, and how much to allow the new daughter-in-law to adjust to helping in the household. It is unclear why the new daughter-in-law stayed in her room, and it does not appear that anyone enquired about the reason for this and just expected her to participate in household tasks. Furthermore, Asma's early compliance led to her being unable to fully empathise with the new daughter-in-law, who struggled to adjust to her in-laws as Asma had. Asma's experience over time may have impacted her response, and she may have internalised her in-laws' expectations of daughters-in-law.

Similarly, Nasima's narrative illustrated the arrival of a daughter-in-law who did not want to conform to her in-laws, and she displayed more outwardly resistant behaviour. However, unlike Asma, Nasima was unable to reap the benefits of her early compliance with her in-laws, and instead witnessed them agreeing to compromise and allow flexibility to the new daughter-in-law. Nasima's narrative emphasises the unfairness and dissatisfaction she felt with the 'double standard' in the household:

"She was allowed to wear trousers and go to work, she's allowed to wear kameez in the house but double standards...I saw everything was unfair. I had two children by now. I used to drop them off to school. Come and then come in with my baby and I'm putting the cooking on and she's going to work... She's told to come back after work and eat what I cooked." (Nasima, 432-437)

Shuma also expressed her frustration at how her sister-in-law treated her daughter-in-law after her son was married. Whilst the new daughter in-law faced similar issues to Shuma, such as staying in her room for too long or going out with her husband, she seemed to suggest that her sister-in-law's behaviour may have become more lenient over time towards her own daughter-in-law, allowing her to visit her parents anytime and not restricting her like Shuma.

"I couldn't sit in my room for as long as I wanted to. "Go downstairs, because what is people going to think?" Now their daughter-in-law comes home whenever she flipping well wants (440-442). I couldn't go and stay at my parents' house like their daughter-in-law does (Shuma, 492).

CONTROL

"... they would expect me to wear shalwar kameez and go to work and then change (into uniform) and I felt sod it, I'm not doing that everyday..." Halima

"...I wanted to do something with my life as well, just didn't want to be cooking and cleaning...That failed sadly because she made him make me cut it off. I didn't do anything after..." Hamida

"...his family is very strict and I knew his dad wasn't going to take me and my dad was very old-fashioned they wouldn't have said, "Oh my daughter is still going to work." My parents wouldn't even allow me. They wouldn't expect a daughter-in-law to do that. It wasn't the norm then..." Nasima

"You couldn't eat comfortably. You always felt like someone is watching you..." Shuma

"She had a major problem saying, "You can't cook like that. That's not how you're supposed to cook it." Khadija

I respected that they had their own way, but... I'm a grown woman, I know how to cook... let me get on with it... Hasina

Table 8. Subtheme: Control

4.2.2.2 Subtheme: Control

Six participants recognised specific ways in which they felt controlled by their in-laws, including appearance, diet and behaviour.

Nasima, Halima, and Hasina expressed feeling controlled over their dress. As mentioned earlier, both Nasima and Halima were required to wear saris within the affinal home. Halima recalled her sister-in-law having 'traditional' expectations about how she carried herself outside of the home. Halima said she was also expected to wear Asian attire to work. The excerpt below

highlights how her sister-in-law may have been worried about how she would be perceived if they saw her in a uniform (i.e., western clothing) that was not consistent with the image of a new bride/daughter-in-law. Whilst she agreed to wear a sari in the house and for work, Halima refused to acquiesce to her in-laws' expectations:

"...they would make me wear shalwar kameez and go to work and then change and I felt sod it, I'm not doing that every day. So I'd wear my uniform to work, and my sister-in-law would say," but people... you can't go out" and I'm like "Why?" I'm dressed, you know..." (Halima, 171-174)

Nasima recounted that before marriage she dressed in a 'dignified' way and had no restrictions about clothes in her parental home. She also related a similar experience to that of Hamida about having to present herself in a manner that was consistent with her in-law's ideology of how a daughter-in-law should be:

"... like sari, for me I never wore sari and I wore sari 24/7. like if I went to bed, took my sari off and put my pyjama on, 'oh Nasima nise aaw tumar howr re dakhra' ('Oh Nasima,..,come down your father-in-law is calling for you) Again I had to put the whole garment back on and go down... Because my father-in-law and mother-in-law that's the image of a bow (daughter-in-law) and I got married to please them..." (Nasima, 200-206)

Nasima compared her own family and her in-law family as being 'totally opposite', with the latter being very 'orthodox', and the husband's sisters 'were not allowed to wear anything other than shalwar kameez' (typical South Asian dress comprising a long tunic/dress and trousers) and a headscarf. Additionally, they were not allowed to wear makeup, listen to music or watch television. She shared that when her sisters-in-law did not adhere to rules, her mother-in-law would recruit the sons to beat them. Her narrative demonstrates how women are controlled through physical abuse so that cultural rules are not violated. She felt that this was in stark contrast to her home life where, although she was restricted by not being allowed to go out, she

had her 'liberty days' where she was allowed to wear t-shirts and have her hair uncovered. She also could not relate to the 'formal relationship' her in-law family members had with one another: 'Ji, Ji-oy-ji-na khoilai na khene?' ('Why did not you say yes or no in a respectful manner?'). It is perhaps due to witnessing these abusive events that Nasima felt unable to challenge her in-laws.

"Like the daughters were not allowed to wear anything other than shalwar kameez. They had to wear the headscarf and salaam their dad first thing in the morning, they were not allowed to wear lipstick. The mum would get the brother to beat them up if she found them curling their hair, can't listen to music, can't watch TV. Opposite of my family, total opposite. I had my hair out, I use to wear t-shirt in front of my dad, hold his hand. Whereas with them it's a very formal relationship. Ji, Ji-oy-ji-na khoilai na khene? This, that. "Why is your chest showing? Why is the scarf here?" It was just totally different..." (Nasima, 86-92)

Two participants highlighted how controlling behaviour can be extended to pursuing employment and other goals. Hamida referred to wanting to pursue aspirations in the way that her husband's sister was able to. However, her mother-in-law obstructed these opportunities. Her experience also implies inequalities in relationships; while her mother-in-law may have prevented Hamida from pursuing her aspirations, it is not something that she would do to her own daughter. This preferential treatment may be reflective of a daughter-in-law's subordinate position in the family and the expectation on them to prioritise the family and home above personal needs. Additionally, Hamida's position as a daughter-in-law means the onus is on her to manage domestic duties. This may also contribute to daughters-in-law not feeling like a family member to their in-laws:

"...her daughter was doing level 2 level 3 and I wanted to do something with my life as well, just didn't want to be cooking and cleaning...That failed sadly because she made him make me cut it off. I didn't do anything after..." (Hamida 493-498)

Similarly, Nasima was also unable to work after marriage. Her narrative illustrates how cultural parameters, with regard to what is acceptable and what is not, can vary from family to family. Romantic relationships before marriage appear to be frowned upon in Bangladeshi culture. Hasina was disowned for choosing her first husband. However, Nasima's family happily agreed for her to marry the partner of her choice but did not encourage the idea of working after marriage, and neither did her in-laws. Her narrative suggested that what is deemed culturally acceptable can change with time, but also that what is acceptable may be dictated by senior members of the family and adjusted when they decide. Her narrative also suggests that both parental and affinal kin can be complicit in behaviour control:

"...his family is very strict and I knew his dad wasn't going to take me and my dad was very old-fashioned they wouldn't have said, "Oh my daughter is still going to work." My parents wouldn't even allow me. They wouldn't expect a daughter-in-law to do that. It wasn't the norm then..." (Nasima, 47-50)

Control of cooking and how to prepare food also appeared to be a source of tension for three of the participants, but their reactions to these tensions differed. Khadija discussed the 'strain' of cooking when her pregnant sister-in-law (husband's sister) moved in. She shared one occasion where her mother-in-law 'lashed out' at her for not preparing food in a particular way. Khadija assumed that things were prepared in a similar way to how her mother had done it, and responded to the argument by apologising to her mother-in-law for upsetting her:

"She had a major problem saying, "You can't cook like that. That's not how you're supposed to cook it. Why didn't you cut it? Why didn't you cut it?" I said, "I didn't realize. I thought you'd cut it and I didn't know you had to cut it. Sorry, I didn't realize". She went into a real strop and I was so upset, because she'd never argued like that and I'd never argued like that with her" (Khadija, 330-334)

Nasima also found that the way rice is cooked was different at her in-laws' compared to her parental home. She was instructed by her sister-in-law on how to manage the cooking. Nasima's response suggests that she was dissatisfied with being shown how her husband likes his bread, and whilst she had the option to retaliate, she avoided this. Her response may have

been influenced by her assumption that part of being a 'good' daughter-in-law is to stay quiet. She asserted her wish for her husband to accept the way she cooks but chose to avoid confrontation. She implied that being 18, she could have questioned or challenged her sister-in-law's way of life, but instead, she chose to accept their way of living:

"We cook our rice differently. My mum's house I was taught to cook rice in a way that we never chucked the water...we never drained the water. But when I got there I saw that's how they did it and I never ever told them that, "We don't cook rice like that." I had to be told how to...I was shown by his sister how he eats his bread, the day after I got married. I could have said I don't wanna know, he needs to eat how I make it, I never did that... I was only 18, I still accepted that, that's their way." (Nasima, 191-197)

In contrast, Hasina challenged control over cooking, and her reaction may have differed to Nasima's and Khadija's in having had substantial cooking experience herself prior to marriage. She suggested that there was a difference between a woman who went straight to her in-laws from their parental home compared to herself who moved into her in-laws' home having lived alone. She implied that by living alone she probably had more experience in cooking than other women who lived with their mothers before marriage. She argued that as long as food was served, the method of cooking should not matter.

"I think as a girl, you go from your mum's house, whereas I didn't clearly go from my mum's house. I had my own life and I went from my own life to the in-laws.... I respected that they had their own way, but... I'm a grown woman, I know how to cook... let me get on with it... In my way kind of thing. As long as at the end of the day you've got the curry and you've got the food served, and you're eating, that's the main thing. It doesn't matter whether I cooked it your way, or my way." (Hasina, 577-585)

Nasima clarified that she knew that there would be changes after marriage and that there would be things that her in-laws would have control over, having watched her older sister get married, but she felt that her experiences were unique. Again, her narrative implied that rules and expectations may differ from family to family, with some positioning women more subordinately than others:

"...my sister was married five years before I was married... she had in-laws yet and I knew that it's expected...she had to wear sari, she has to cook, she has to ask for permission before she comes (visits natal family). I knew all that and I thought, "Yes, that's normal." But my experience was slightly different. She still had flexibility that she can eat whenever she wants. She didn't have to wear sari anymore... certain things that I wasn't ready for. Like you can't eat until you've been told to eat and you have to eat what's given in your plate...(146-156) to be told what you eat, when you can eat it. Everybody's ate, the guests have ate, you have cooked for 15 hours but you are not going to eat because your father-in-law... he hasn't come from the mosque until he is and your mother-in-law hasn't come down and sat down you can't sit down. For me that is something that nobody goes through." (Nasima, 231-237)

Similarly, Shuma also experienced control of when she ate, which was usually after the men had eaten. She shared her experience of finding it difficult to eat late, in contrast to eating at set times in her parental home. Additionally, she describes monitoring by her sister-in-law of what she ate:

You couldn't eat comfortably. You always felt like someone is watching you...Sometimes if I'd eaten something, she would look when I'm going to get... a piece of meat. Or chicken or fish out...What piece I'm getting? It's so so petty. I never thought people actually took notice of things like that." (Shuma, 424-426)

VISITING PARENTS

If I went to my mum's house, even my mum would say "khoya aisoth ni?"; (Did you ask and come?) "tor hori zanoin ni aisoth.?" (Does your mother-in-law know you're here?) Rina

"so when I got married every now and then had to come and see like my mum just for a little while and I think the other sisters-inlaw...they probably didn't like the fact that I was very independent" Hasina

"...my mum would have to phone her up and ask for permission...And she'd have to send my brother over to come and get me... just put me in a bludee train or whatever and I'd be down" Halima

"...he got a lot of slack from his mum. So, every time I said I wanna go, he would say go and don't come back" Selina

"...if his sisters are coming, I make sure that when they come, I'm here for them as well, so if its two weeks holiday, they come the first week and I'll be like, okay, we'll go to my mum the second week." Asma

"I understood that... I would have to ask his mum permission if I want to go to my mum's" Nasima

"I couldn't go and stay at my parents' house like their daughter-inlaw does... When I did, I was restricted to how many days." Shuma

Table 9. Subtheme: Visiting Parents

4.2.2.3 Subtheme: Visiting Parents

This subtheme highlights some of the issues that seven of the participants experienced in visiting their parental family. The subthemes illustrate how visiting parents was not something participants could decide alone, requiring negotiation with, and permission from, their in-laws. It was expected that their in-laws' permission needed to be sought, as was the case for Nasima and Rina. The upholding of this cultural ruling was further reinforced by Rina's mother's probing to check if Rina was adhering to the rules:

"If I went to my mum's house, even my mum would say "khoya aisoth ni?"; (Did you ask and come?) "tor hori zanoin ni aisoth.?" (Does your mother-in-law know you're here?) Or she'd phone me and I'm like I'm here, "tor hori ye zanoin ni?" (Does your mother-in-law know?) (Rina, 294-295)

Not following these norms strained relationships as in Hasina's case; she said that she would visit her family when she wished, which her sisters-in-law 'probably didn't like...'. She seemed unaffected by their disapproval, possibly due to it being her second marriage, having raised a child, feeling more in control and having an established sense of self. She indicates that she is able to assert herself due to her life experiences; 'They wanted to mould me into something that they couldn't mould me into because I was already moulded' (Hasina, 250-251).

Halima spoke about her frustration with the process of also being expected to be collected by her brother and taken to her parents. Her statement suggests that her in-laws perhaps expected her parents to follow a particular protocol in order to allow Halima to visit them. This may have included ensuring that Halima does not travel alone and is always accompanied by a male relative, to preserve honour and avoid the shame of being judged by others for travelling alone:

"...my mum would have to phone her up and ask for permission...And she'd have to send my brother over to come and get me... just put me in a bludee train or whatever and I'd be down" (Halima, 196-200)

Both Shuma and Selina felt restricted as to when, how often and how long they were allowed to visit or stay at their parents' home. Selina spoke of how she would manage this issue with her sister-in-law: '...I remember we would have to take shifts like "I'm going this weekend, do you wanna go the following weekend?"...' She felt her mother-in-law and husband did not understand that she needed this 'purely for respite' and would engage in 'emotional blackmailing' for her being away. Being away at the parental home appeared to impact the family, particularly both sons in the home, which led to frustration and abuse towards Selina and her sisters-in-law:

"...he got a lot of slack from his mum. So, every time I said I wanna go, he would say go and don't come back" (Selina, 552-553)

"...you lot shouldn't be going to your mums so often...When you lot go, she keeps going on about how you lot go and she's gotta do everything on her own and mum shouldn't be. He kinda blew up and it became a bit nasty...I stood up to it, I said who the hell are you? Shut your mouth I've got no reason to answer to you just be quiet ok? (649-655) ... My father-in-law was very protective over this son..." (Selina, 659)

For both Shuma and Selina, being married meant that their priority primarily lay with their inlaws. Selina explained that the problem was: 'the maid was gone, is what it came down to' (558-559).

In contrast, Asma found her mother-in-law to be supportive of her visiting her family, as they lived far away, but she understood that this was to be balanced out by keeping in mind her duty towards her in-laws:

"...if his sisters are coming, I make sure that when they come, I'm here for them as well, so if its two weeks' holiday, they come the first week and I'll be like, okay, we'll go to my mum the second week." (Asma, 189-191)

Control of the rules also appears to be held by the in-laws who are often in a position of power to adjust them; at times, participants experience this as double standards. As can be seen in the experience of the interviewees, rules about visiting family appear to be directed at them, while siblings-in-law appear to freely visit their parental family home without being penalised (e.g., Nasima, Tina). Additionally, Khadija also felt that her parents-in-law appeared to have 'double standards' when they disowned her and her husband for staying with her parental family during a trip to Bangladesh. Her narrative illustrates the power in-laws hold to enforce their rules, induce guilt, and make direct threats:

"They were upset about the fact that we haven't given into their demands, going to Bangladesh and staying with my mum, that was the primary demand. I suppose, it all ends there... I think, a lot of it also has to do with finances... In fact, though my husband was earning and I was earning they would never say, "You need to give me this money, because I've sent you to a private school." I don't think... I can't see them saying that. They've never said that..." (684-690)... when it comes down to it, they're very, very backwards. Very backwards, and it's very double standards... They were fine to live with their son-in-law for four, five years. Their son, to stay, at my mums, at his mother-in-laws for two weeks, he goes... We will disown you from everything... (Khadija, 986-997)

Khadija's narrative is similar to those of Halima and Shuma, where senior in-law family members may make interviewees and their spouses feel indebted to them for the support they gave their spouses and their upbringing. It could be queried whether Khadija's in-laws' early generosity in paying for their son's education may have been a way for them to control her and her husband? In Halima's case, her husband was perhaps made to feel indebted to his older sister for housing him and giving him and Halima space. These quotations demonstrate how power imbalances are experienced not just by the daughters-in-law, but also by the sons.

DIFFICULTIES MOVING OUT

"I think the realization that we are going to be moving out and everything that was going on was just hitting her..." Khadija

"she (mother-in-law) saw the state I was living...no family... she saw what her daughter was doing...she said to my husband, "why don't you move...be near your mother-in-law?" Halima

"tumar kyal kita, beti re loya okhon o zaitaigi ni?" (What are your intentions, that you want to move out now with your wife?) Like that's something bad." Shuma

"Why are they getting their own their own house, "Are they going to leave you?" Nasima

"...it happened that they moved out and then we had to stay... it was made clear that they move out. We would have to stay here. We can't both leave her (mother-in-law)." Asma

"...culture does not let you move out, do you see. But Islam says you should... Everyone should have their independence. Everyone should have their privacy..." Hasina

"It's not the daughter-in-law's responsibility to erm look after the inlaws... It's the son's responsibility to look after his own mum and dad." Selina

Table 10. Subtheme: Difficulties Moving Out

4.2.2.4 Subtheme: Difficulties Moving Out

Typically, in a Bengali marriage, there is an expectation that the in-laws' home is a permanent abode for women, or at least until the family expands through having children. Moving out of the in-laws' home from personal choice is often frowned upon, usually resulting in strained relationships with affinal kin. Of the 10 participants, seven were living in their own homes either due to choosing to move out with their husband and children, or due to the ending of their marital relationship. Two participants were still living with in-laws, and one was in the process of moving out when arranging the interview, which eventually took place in her new home.

Rina gave no reasons for moving out, although she spoke of having a good relationship with her in-laws and seemed to have experienced a smooth and positive transition when moving. She felt that her experiences were informed by witnessing how her own brothers and their wives left her parents, which motivated her to leave her in-laws in a relatively amicable manner:

"...I don't want to be like them. I don't wanna be the one that bezaar khorya gesoin (caused upset (to in-laws) and left)." (Rina, 758)

Khadija shared how the 'non-traditional' and 'modern' persona that her mother-in-law initially presented herself to be 'was a lie'. She was initially given the impression that it was her and her husband's choice if they did not want to live with her in-laws, and they would not 'restrict' or 'think negatively' of them. After the first argument with her mother-in-law, Khadija sensed that things may have changed. She recalled this as one of the reasons why she once had a good relationship with her in-laws which was now strained:

"I think the realization that we are going to be moving out and everything that was going on was just hitting her..." (Khadija, 343-344)

Halima's difficult experiences with her in-laws led her to plead with her husband to move out. Due to her husband's financial difficulties and visa status, they were unable to move out straight away. Whilst her husband could not challenge his family over their mistreatment of him and Halima, he worked on trying to resolve the situation by finding a place for him and Halima. However, even after moving out, Halima said that her in-laws were still very much present in their lives. Her narrative highlights the tension of moving out; in the excerpt below, she demonstrates how it is the woman in a relationship who is judged and blamed for wishing to move out, suggesting why women may not be able to express openly their desire for their own place:

"...dekhrai ni beti zaitogi, you know why do they wanna go. One of my sisters' sister-in-law said... why do women want to go and live by themselves with their husbands, is it because they want to walk around naked. That's the only reason why they want to go and live by themselves" (Halima, 810-813)

Shuma recollected how, initially, her husband did not want to live with his family, but 'meddling from the elders' meant that they would start their married life living there, and she was reassured by her brother-in-law that it was only temporary as, apparently, living together helps build a loving bond between family members. As time progressed, and she fell pregnant with her second child, she felt that it would be a good opportunity to move out. However, her brother-in-law decided to offer her and her husband a bigger room in the house. Shuma tried to be diplomatic towards her brother-in-law and accepted the room. She could not directly tell her in-laws her desire to move and described the vast lengths to which her in-laws went to keep her and her husband there. Shuma felt 'trapped' and was arguing with her husband. When he told his brother that Shuma was unhappy, Shuma's husband was questioned by his older brother. Her story illustrates how moving out of the in-laws' home is discouraged:

"tumar kyal kita, beti re loya okhon o zaitaigi ni?" (What are your intentions, that you want to move out now with your wife?) Like that's something bad." (Shuma, 236-237)

Her brother-in-law tried to convince her to consider staying, as moving out brings its own challenges; for example, it would not be easy to do the chores when living alone with young children. Like Halima, Shuma also returned to stay with her parental family due to difficulties moving out.

Like Shuma, Nasima also felt that her in-laws interfered with her chance to move out. She recounted a conversation between her sister-in-law and parents-in-law:

"Why are they getting their own their own house, "Are they going to leave you?" (Nasima, 250-251)

Initially, she was not allowed to move out. After eight years of living with them, she eventually did move out but felt rejected by her in-laws:

"I used to visit but they didn't want to know me then because their point was you left now technically..." (Nasima, 413-414)

Her efforts to maintain relationships and continue helping with domestic chores were to no avail:

"Like if I salaamed (greeted) her and she pretended she didn't hear me and she'd go to my sons, Okhon aiso ni? (Oh have you just arrived?) Like she's trying to dodge greeting me. Then she used to ... and then they started treating me like I was a guest...she didn't want me to cook... (534-535) 'tumi ekhon aya dekhai tai ni manchore, tumi ze bala bow' (you now want to come and show the world you're such a good daughter-in-law) ... but I wanted to. I left because it's not convenient, it's time I moved on. But I still want to be ... I want to be part of your lives... (537-539) for them the point is if you're not gonna live under my control, what's this? ...point is you left, you left, why are you gonna come and cook." (Nasima, 540-545)

Nasima's mother-in-law expressed her anger and rejection towards her by ignoring her, denying her the role of cooking, and making her feel like an outsider. Her mother-in-law appears to want to control how much she can be involved in the household. Her treatment of Nasima appears to reflect anger and resentment for losing control of Nasima by her leaving.

Nasima recognised that she could not be 'moulded' and 'be happy'. Like Shuma, over time, she claimed her rights and challenged the negative attitudes of her in-laws with regard to moving out: 'I'm not going to justify it. Nothing wrong with me having my own space'.

Asma's narrative highlights the cultural expectation of not leaving parents alone and the fact that someone has to be physically present to look after them. She shared how she and her husband were intending to move out, but after her brother-in-law married, his wife communicated to Asma that she would be 'stuck' with the in-laws. Asma's tone suggested that there was resentment that her sister-in-law had the opportunity to move out, dashing her hopes of having her own home:

"...it happened that they moved out and then we had to stay... it was made clear that they move out. We would have to stay here. We can't both leave her(mother-in-law)." (Asma, 314-318)

Hasina decided to leave her in-laws six months into her marriage due to conflicts arising. She blamed the culture for the stigma associated with moving out, and acknowledged her rights to independence and privacy:

"culture does not let you move out, do you see. But Islam says you should...

Everyone should have their independence. Everyone should have their privacy..."

(Hasina, 1122-1123)

Halima and Selina echoed Hasina's ideas, emphasising the need to understand the difference between culture and religion and clarify misconceptions for the sake of better relationships:

"...I wished people realised that people need their own privacy, and that by moving out you would have a better relationship... in the Bengali culture it's expected that the daughter-in-law would look after the mother-in-law, that's a given. No, it's your son's responsibility, Islamically... don't put it in your daughter-in-law...they blame the daughter-in-laws for everything." (Halima 820-828)

"As the years have gone, I just think such shitty expectations shouldn't be like that... It's not the daughter-in-law's responsibility to erm look after the in-laws... It's the son's responsibility to look after his own mum and dad. And I think as I've got older, I've looked, Islam has told me that this is just a cultural thing. Islamically we have no responsibility over our husband's mum and dad, only out of care and love you can do these things if you wish to but there is no obligation for us to do those things." (Selina, 336-342)

These extracts show how angry Selina and Halima feel that blame and responsibility are directed at daughters-in-law. They indicate their growing awareness of how cultural and religious views are conflated. They learn that whilst society may have beliefs about daughters-in-law being responsible for their in-laws, there is no mandate from a religious perspective to fulfil such obligations.

4.2.3 THEME 3: 'TUG OF WAR' - ROLE OF THE HUSBAND

4.2.3.1 Subtheme: Keep the Family Happy

Four participants, Shuma, Selina, Tina, and Nasima shared that many of their experiences with their in-laws were shaped by their husband's expectations of keeping his family happy. Shuma felt that her husband was happy with her on condition that she kept his family happy.

"I just felt like my husband as well, he wants me to keep his family happy. I could just tell from his mannerisms then he's happy with me... he doesn't have to say it." (Shuma, 159-162)

As well as finding her in-laws' expectations difficult to live up to, she also felt that her husband was 'difficult as well' and felt 'he would never understand'. She recounts difficult experiences of coming back from hospital with stitches after giving birth, and having to continue to serve him and his family:

"Waking up every two hours he still expected me to give him his breakfast give him his curry, cook for his sister...the baby was six weeks old I had to cook for that 30-40 of their guests...he would never understand (Nasima, 338-346)

"I have never had, I was never allowed to say anything back... Because my exwouldn't want to hear it. He would just say, you're just a bitch... He wanted more even more... I don't know. He just wanted me to make his family happy and if they say things to me whatever, I shouldn't be coming in telling him or anybody... I won't

tell anybody but then obviously I'm human so if I'm always quiet because there's no one to talk to because nobody talks to me. (Nasima, 381-395)

Both Shuma and Tina felt they could have been warned by their husbands so that they could manage their expectations. Tina felt that she was left on her own to work out how to behave around her in-laws. She also felt that her husband imposed an excessive number of rules about how she should present herself around his family, for example, not taking calls in front of her in-laws. Tina felt that she had to work out these rules over the years, as expectations are not always directly communicated. Over time, she understood that adhering to the rules was a way of protecting her from any disapproval from the in-laws.

"...he wanted to protect me from that, he just said I don't want you to do that. But I think, I even speak to him now, like look if he had just said, "Look, if you do that, that's how they'd look at it." or, "If you do that, that's how they, it's negative for them, they don't like it." I would have understood. I just felt he always put too many do's and don'ts yes, too many rules. So he was trying to protect me but he could have done it quite easily by just saying it..." (Tina, 255-259)

"...he wanted to protect me from that, he just said I don't want you to do that. But I think, I even speak to him now, like look if he had just said, "Look, if you do that, that's how they'd look at it." or, "If you do that, that's how they, it's negative for them, they don't like it." I would have understood. I just felt he always put too many do's and don'ts yes, too many rules. So he was trying to protect me but he could have done it quite easily by just saying it..." (Tina, 255-259)

Both Nasima's and Shuma's narratives indicate that they were not expecting their husbands to choose between them and their in-laws, but rather that their husbands be aware of their responsibilities towards both. Nasima, for example, wanted her husband to '...maintain a marriage where a husband understood his wife and his family, mature enough to meet both needs and be just...' (Nasima 624-625).

Shuma also echoes this:

"...I wish he had some kind of help before he got married back and he really understood marriage, what it's gonna entail, his responsibilities towards his wife. How he feels responsible towards his family members, their value...values and how...I wish he would understand from a husband's point of view..." (Shuma, 616-620)

After moving out of her in-laws' home, Selina shares how her husband expected her to continue to be dutiful towards her in-laws. Her narrative suggests that she perhaps felt pressure to compensate for not living there, perhaps also reflecting her husband's feelings. Selina's experience indicates that moving out of the in-laws' home may not lead to relinquishing the duties expected of a daughter-in-law, but that there is some continuity to avoid blame, judgement and shame from both the in-laws and the husband:

"So, the expectation has now shifted from them to my husband now. He expects me to visit his parents, look after them to call them and to find out how they are and do those kinds of things... (401-403) ... When I go there, there is an expectation, not necessarily from them, more from... I feel obligated to help out with the kitchen, cook the curry if need be...I mean mainly I just go and talk to them and see how they are and things like that.... I felt I needed to do something like 'cause I'm not there I felt like I should help out a bit more in the kitchen maybe. (Selina, 409-414)

4.2.3.2 Subtheme: Suppressing Emotions

A related subtheme to keeping the family happy is connected to the participants' experience of how their husbands adopted certain personas towards them in the presence of the wider family. This usually entailed husbands suppressing their emotions and not showing affection, which affected the quality of their marital relationship. Two participants' experiences indicate that there is perhaps a need for men to ensure that their loyalty to their wives does not supersede loyalty to the family. The stories illustrate that outward affection is discouraged and may invite judgement and criticism.

Shuma saw her husband change immediately after marriage:

"First night and then I'm thinking, "What the heck, this is doomed from the bloody beginning." I saw him in a different light immediately, it didn't feel like he was my husband. He felt more like my husband before I married him because I wasn't living with the family... (72-75)..."...seeing him how he was moulded into this family mind... that very moment I walked into the house he got very distant towards me, that closeness, I might as well have not even shared a bed with him... (Shuma, 78-82)

Shuma adds that her experience was particularly difficult when she felt her husband exert his power over her in front of his family, yet he was unable to exert power and assert himself to his family to support Shuma and their marriage. The quote below indicates how much influence Shuma's in-laws have over his thoughts and actions:

"He would say, "I could take you out but you'd have to hear the shit from the kitchen from the women...He wanted to save me but then I feel, "You're a man when it suits you. You should have made that extra effort. You shouldn't use people as an excuse because you let them feed shit to you sometimes and it got to you." (Shuma, 366-371)

Halima's narratives were similar, with disapproval from the family of any outward display of affection by the husband to his wife. Halima shared an example of her husband helping her at home, demonstrating empathy and compassion for his wife:

"...it was pouring with rain, and I was cooking in the kitchen or trying to help, and my sister-in-law said go and get the clothes, my husband runs out and brought the clothes in, and so they were like, "Oh he goes and gets the clothes... help his wife...they didn't approve of that..." (Halima, 443-448)

Halima provides two further instances of how her husband 'really tried, but he was almost torn...' between her and his sister and nieces. Halima reflects on a situation where her husband displayed affection, and the 'outrage' this caused. The quotation indicates that outward displays of affection are not encouraged and could invite hostility from in-laws:

"... Valentine's Day he had a bunch of roses and some chocolates delivered... he really tried but he was almost torn, he didn't know what to say to me, he didn't know what to say to his sister.... (450-454) ... I always felt they were in comp, like, I remember my husband my husband brought me a lipstick and they were like "Huh" they were just... outraged... They'd say it straight away, "Oh my God mama (uncle) brought this for mami (aunty)" you know "can't believe it" and they were like oh they would, but I didn't care, that was my thing, I loved nice things, I was so into makeup and perfume and all of that, (Halima, 516-522)

Consequently, Halima and Shuma did not feel that they had the time to build their relationship as a husband and wife in the early stages of their marriage. Their responses illustrate the lack of privacy afforded to husbands and wives for their relationship to grow. This continued to be an issue for Halima even after moving out from her in-laws:

"...my husband worked at a restaurant at the time so, on his day off he'd be expected to take them out and go out with them, you know, it wasn't anything, we never had any privacy, we never could go anywhere." (Halima, 192-194)

4.2.3.3 Subtheme: Support vs Lack of Support

This subtheme looks at five participants' experiences of support or lack of support from their husbands and the impact of this on their experiences with their in-laws. The theme indicates that support from husbands can foster positive experiences, whereas lack of support can have adverse consequences for the participants.

Shuma made several references to feeling that if she had her husband's support a lot of things could be 'avoided emotionally' and that she '...could afford to make mistakes' and be reassured, '...in terms of, don't worry about it. They'll say these things, but they don't mean it'.

...you should have stood up for me as well when it was necessary and I didn't get that.... (372-373) ...when we do have our arguments, sometimes I do say, "You know what, living there wasn't the problem. It wasn't so much your sister-in-law and your brother, it was you as well. It was a triangle issue. There's a trio. You did add to it. You let them be like that towards me when maybe you could have broken that." And I don't want to blame him. It's not fair on him or me... (Shuma, 463-467)

Nasima gave the impression that she felt let down and not supported enough by her husband who promised that he would speak to his father and the rest of the family about her working and being able to wear salwar kameez at home instead of a sari, but it became 'something that was left'. She also felt that she could not turn to him for support during difficult encounters with her in-laws, especially when she realised that a new daughter-in-law was given the flexibility around clothing and work that she was not allowed to have:

"I was upset but I wasn't able to express that. Not even to my husband. He's the last person I was going to talk about it. That's because he doesn't want to know. He doesn't want to know me as a person... (Nasima, 471-473)

When it came to raising issues and discussing them within the family, Tina found it difficult to speak to her husband. She felt that one of the reasons for this was that it was the first time there was a daughter-in-law in the house who was in employment. She also found that she often hesitated to talk openly about issues because she felt her husband was helpless. On one occasion when Tina did complain about his mother, his reaction was unwelcome:

"...he was very negative about it and he was like going on all night about it. I thought that's it I have to change my approach... he was just like, "Oh how do you

think of my mum like this? The reason why I've married...you know, you could be here, you could be supportive and everything..."" (Tina, 237-241)

The quote above indicates the possible power that mothers-in-law have over a married couple. In this regard, the husband is also forced to navigate and manage tensions between his mother and his wife. In Tina's case, the responsibility is put on her to resolve the situation, as her husband may not have felt he could challenge his mother's senior status and authority.

Asma's case highlights the benefit of having a husband's support. She reported feeling depressed after giving birth to her baby and felt undermined by her in-laws in her decision to breastfeed her baby. 'He supported me. He said, No, that's fine, if you wanna do that, you do that'. This suggests that having her husband's support empowered her to stick to her decision.

Tina shared that her husband's position in the family meant that if she wanted to do certain things or make changes in the family then she would be able to do so. This indicates that the different members of the family hold different levels of power, and women can be more agentic by asserting their needs by proxy through their spouse:

"...my husband is actually one of the important brothers in the family. Although second, everyone came to him for things, he kind of supported everyone with everything, you know there's always one in the family that people go to, so I happen to be his wife, I don't know if it's good or bad. But in terms of making changes, it was good, because I would send the idea to him and he liked it... We both tried to change certain things and change it to which suits us and we're teaching them, everybody else and our kids to do things differently. (Tina, 149-156)

In contrast to Shuma, who did not feel supported by her husband, Halima felt more helpless for her husband and felt that she was fortunate that he was 'really understanding', '...I think anybody else, would have said forget it, you know, you know, you do as my sisters says, get in the kitchen...' (Halima, 440-441). She appeared to appreciate that he was aware of the mistreatment by her in-laws and did not want to experience further pressure.

Selina also expressed feeling 'thankful' to her husband for understanding her mother-in-law's intention to try to cause 'friction' between her and her husband.

4.2.3.4 Subtheme: Powerlessness

This theme illustrates the experience of three participants who spoke about their husbands feeling powerless which may, in turn, have added to their own experience of feeling the same. Shuma often expressed hurt, anger and frustration at not feeling supported by her husband. She acknowledges his position of perhaps feeling powerless under the authority of his older brother and sister-in-law. Consequently, he felt unable to show his support towards Shuma. She felt that her husband was being financially abused and made to feel that he is indebted to his brother and sister-in-law:

"... I know he couldn't because he couldn't even stand up for himself yet alone me... (373-374) I don't know what it was. It's just twisted. It's all control and they thought, "Well, you know, he's an easy target to keep" as long as they can. To make money out of him and he's not going to complain." (Shuma, 507-509)

Like Shuma, Halima and her husband also initially lived under the authority of a much older sibling whom he 'couldn't say anything to' because 'that would be like the height of disrespectfulness to say anything to them...' and because 'that's the culture that they've been brought up in...You know respect...your elders and whatever and they've done this for you, they've done that for you' (Halima, 255-260).

This means that speaking up to or against family is perceived as disrespect and, as a result, senior in-laws maintain their position of power and authority. She also felt that her husband was 'powerless' and treated like a 'dog' as he had to tend to his family's demands as a matter of priority. She explains:

"So it was almost... you're living in our house..., you're at our beck and call... (266-267) My husband was in such a bad position, that, he couldn't say anything to them, and he couldn't say anything to me, he couldn't...give me any reassurance...he didn't know what to do..." (Halima, 286-292)

Rina's story also resonates with the dilemmas of other narratives, with her husband not knowing what to do in a family conflict. She reflects that over time, it may have been in their favour that her husband did not get involved in family disputes, as this prevented Rina from being blamed; if he had done so, it may have affected her chances of having a good relationship with her in-laws that she has now:

"It was better off, for him not to be involved. I used to feel... like why doesn't he do something about it? But even myself I did not know what he was supposed to do..." (Rina, 749-751) "In hindsight, when I think that it is better that (husband) didn't react.... because then they would have thought that I was saying things..." (Rina, 775-777)

4.2.4 THEME 4: DEVELOPMENT OF A SURVIVOR'S IDENTITY

ABUSE

"I thought, maybe it's not important; maybe it's just, you know, just how it is and I'm just too sensitive. I just thought that maybe I'm just too sensitive." Asma

"...when I had my baby, I was expected after a couple of days just to go down to the kitchen They should have let me heal." Tina

"...emotional abuse, that's what it is more than anything...

"...they'd phone Bangladesh up and say to my mother-in-law, she can't cut fish, she can't do this she can't do that, so, they'd tell her, "she was fat." Halima

"I just felt that his family bullied me, he bullied me." Nasima

"Then my father-in-law said as well, "She's like you know when you pick someone up from the gutter they're never going to be purified, they'll always have that stench of gutter." Hasiina

"It was constant indirect taunts. When I was helping her, those times I got taken for granted. When I wasn't doing it, I'd get picked up on it" Shuma

"I think I just couldn't cope with the constant cooking, eugh, I couldn't deal with serving like serving...I just couldn't deal with that." Selina

"It's those little comments that used to make me feel scared because he made me so small mentally thinking if he leaves me, I won't be able to even change the light bulb. That's how small he made me." Hamida

"I really I didn't say nothing until I had a blow-up once... when I heard her back stab me to a relative in my in-laws' side." Shuma

Table 11. Subtheme: Abuse

4.2.4.1 Facing abuse

Nine of the ten participants' narratives indicated the different ways in which they were abused. Asma felt that her 'quiet' and 'timid' disposition may have led her in-laws to believe they 'could say things and get away with it' (570-71). During the early stages of her marriage, she described feeling 'worthless' due to being judged for not possessing domestic skills. Asma minimised the impact of what her in-laws said and questioned her own reactions to these experiences; she reflected on whether the issue lay with her being 'sensitive'. It seems that if she attributed the problem to being within her, she was able to remove the blame from her in-laws and take responsibility to manage her feelings:

I thought, maybe it's not important; maybe it's just, you know, just how it is and I'm just too sensitive. I just thought that maybe I'm just too sensitive." (Asma, 476-477)

She related an incident when her sister-in-law called her 'strange':

"I think my younger sister-in-law, she's the type that, even now, she's like that with everybody, it wasn't just me. She's do it even with her own siblings. She just says it, whatever comes, she says it and she might not realize what she has said was quite hurtful. Once, she said something about, she said I was quite strange, 'you're quite strange...'And I just thought, okay, that wasn't appropriate but I didn't say anything... If it was now, I would actually say, 'actually, that wasn't a nice thing to say... I didn't want a confrontation. I just left it" (Asma, 483-495)

This extract may indicate that, although Asma was aware that her sister-in-law had mistreated others, she was still affected by her behaviour. It may also be that her sister-in-law was able to make critical remarks as Asma was considered a member of the family, so she was treating Asma as she treated her own siblings. Over time, she made sense of some of her difficult experiences and suggested that people may hurt others because they are not personally affected, or the action was normalised if they had 'heard it from their in-laws' (Asma, 753). Crucially, her reflections indicate that although she would previously avoid confrontation, now she would not accept any mistreatment and would express herself.

Seven of the 10 participants experienced abuse in relation to domestic servitude. Selina, Tina, Nasima, Hamida, and Halima were all subjected to a continuous demand to serve their in-laws, with little regard for their own feelings. This expectation seemed to be driven by patriarchal rules, which require women to adopt normative gender roles. Tina cited her in-laws' lack of common sense and consideration of her health, both when she fell pregnant and after giving birth:

"It got to a stage when I was pregnant with my second child...I found them to be quite inconsiderate. I've come from work it's 6:30-7 o'clock... (116-117) I was working late and the expectation was that sometimes if guests came really late you would be expected to cook for them, nobody thought, "ok, she's pregnant, she needs to go to sleep, she's going to work the next day", you know those kinds of things. And I found it difficult speaking to him about that because I think he found it difficult relaying that message to them because no one had worked before...maybe they didn't know how to be, but surely, they should have used their common sense thinking that okay she's worked whole, she's really tired, she's pregnant as well, she's about to pop, she needs to rest, that kind of thing. (Tina, 122-129)

"...when I had my baby, I was expected after a couple of days just to go down to the kitchen and I managed it... I didn't do massive things but that's beside the point. That expectation shouldn't have been there. They should have let me heal." (Tina, 356-360)

Only two participants, Halima and Nasima, were able to recognise their experiences as abusive. Halima described the various ways in which she was criticised by her sister-in-law and her nieces:

"...emotional abuse, that's what it is more than anything... (316) "...they'd phone Bangladesh up and say to my mother-in-law, she can't cut fish, she can't do this she can't do that, so, they'd tell her, "she was fat." (499-501)

Not getting something 'right' would also invite 'the cold shoulder' or 'cutting comments' from her in-laws. Halima identified these experiences as traumatic, as she was unable to remember details but could remember the feeling of being criticised. Hamida talked about being too scared of her sister-in-law to respond and felt that this had a lasting effect. She shares her experience of being affected physically if she heard the news of her sister-in-law visiting:

"...after we moved to if he said to me, "Oh my sisters coming, I'd, I'd have a nervous, I, I, I honestly, no lie, I'd be on the toilet, 'cause I'd get diarrhoea straight away... Yeah, like, now I know what it is, and now I can deal with it, erm but at the time, even after years of being married, she'd have that impact on me that it would make that physical reaction, that I'd need to go to the toilet, just thinking about her coming over, never felt comfortable with it. (Halima, 371-379)

Nasima echoed that she found her experience abusive. She described her sisters-in-law as 'very conniving, bitching, bullying' (351), and added that the whole family was complicit in the abuse. Nasima described a scenario where she received passive-aggressive abuse from one of her sisters-in-law:

"...say I was so busy trying to finish the six curries by the time my father-in-law comes from the mosque and I was busy and I forgot to ask her whether she wanted tea. She'd come in and putting the kettle on and she'll be like, "Khaitai ni amma saa?" (mum would you like tea?) just to her mum "aar khew khaita ni?" (Does anyone else want tea?) (358-361)... The fact that she came and I didn't give her tea upstairs. She has to make her own tea. And now she feels obliged she has to ask to make one for me... but see the thing is not her role... (Nasima, 368-370)

In this extract, it is suggested that Nasima's role at her in-laws' was to be continuously mindful of her duties to the family, no matter how busy she was. Her narrative implies a lack of empathy and consideration from her sister-in-law about the pressure Nasima was managing in trying to please and fulfil her duties to her in-laws. Nasima received hostile and sarcastic treatment from her sister-in-law when she reminded her of her forgetfulness; it was implied that Nasima was to blame for her having to make her own tea when the tea should have been served by Nasima.

Like Halima, Nasima also implied that her experience of abuse had a lasting psychological impact on her, leading people to not understand her. As she narrated further, she realised the pressure to please was something she also felt prior to marriage:

"... psychologically, sometimes that's affected me in life because I think sometimes I've had my reactions in some way and people find it a bit abrupt. It's because it was always about pleasing other people. Sometimes I think of people as being unfair and expecting them. Again, I feel some of that I react in aggressive ways because they don't understand where that's stemming from. I'm quite fed up, I just I'm fed up of trying to make everybody happy now because they don't understand where I've come from ... (207-212) ... I've always had that, oh my goodness, from childhood. I was 18. I never got to be who I wanted to be. I was meaning to be somebody and then I tried to please everybody but I never made anybody happy. I just made myself more miserable." (Nasima, 219-221)

Halima, Shuma, Nasima, Hasina, and Hamida all experienced the indirect abuse of complaints being made about them to others. Hasina said that her 'independence' was disliked by her inlaws. They would report and give feedback to her sister about her conduct. It appears that whilst Hasina was able to fulfil all her household chores, her in-laws lacked full control over her. She described a gradual build-up of issues, which caused tension between her and her in-laws.

"slowly, slowly it would be, they are not happy with me going out. You hear the little comments and little remarks because I already got married with a child now she was an issue. If someone comes, she can't come out or they just call me. I thought and she can feel it, she can sense it, she would get quite upset." (Hasina, 271-276)

She shared an incident that took place after she visited one of her sisters-in-law, which triggered her father-in-law's verbal abuse towards her, as he was dissatisfied at being unable to control Hasina's movements. Hasina described direct verbal abuse from her father-in-law. This experience also places Hasina in a subordinate position within the affinal family The quotation

below indicates the stigma of bringing a child from her previous marriage and the ending of that marriage, which led to her being seen as someone who will never be 'purified'.

Oh this girl, she's just too much we can't live with her she's got mind of her own. She doesn't follow instructions. The way she was at the beginning she's not like that anymore." Then my father-in-law said as well, "She's like you know when you pick someone up from the gutter they're never going to be purified, they'll always have that stench of gutter. Then they said to my husband, "She left her husband for you then clearly, she's going to leave you and go." (Hasina, 334-339)

She clarifies what her in-laws' difficulties stemmed from:

"...I think with my case it was difficult because one thing is I had a child with me from another man. It was hard for them to accept that because day in day out they had to see the both of us. (Hasina, 366-368)

Indirect abuse was also experienced by Shuma and Khadija. Khadija would often hear her mother-in-law referring to her not having children. Shuma recalled how her sister-in-law would tell others about her not performing her domestic duties:

It was constant indirect taunts. If I'm doing something in the house like helping her do their domestic chores, cleaning, tidying cooking... When I was helping her, those times I got taken for granted. When I wasn't doing it, I'd get picked up on it and she'll be telling the next lady on the phone, "Oh khorse na, rice cooker on khorse naa" (she did not switch the rice cooker on) or "ufre boy takhse" (she's just sitting in her room) (Shuma, 261-266)

Shuma and Hamida shared similar narratives, in that their stories implied that their in-laws abused them financially. Hamida felt abused by her husband and in-laws and realised 'their

main intention was to send their son over to the UK, which they achieved' (70). She recalls emotional abuse perpetrated by her husband which impacted her self-esteem and made her feel worthless:

"It's those little comments that used to make me feel scared because he made me so small mentally thinking if he leaves me, I won't be able to even change the light bulb. That's how small he made me. (Hamida, 334-336)

After securing the visa, she was both psychologically and physically abused by him, and her mother-in-law stopped providing her with emotional support.

REACTIONS "I never really made a big deal out of it because I knew so it wasn't AND going to go anywhere.... It's just gonna cause problems" Nasima COPING STRATEGIES "Yeah, just bottling it up and not saying anything back to them and then afterwards, I was like, I was thinking to myself, you know actually I need to speak up." Asma "I thought to myself, "I want to be the better person, I'm going to mend things." I was the first one to call my in-laws and say, "Sorry, I'm sorry for what I did." Hasina "...betinthor khofaal that, that means like it's our destiny, it's our, it's our fate to put up with stuff." Halima "I can't actually come out of this because what is the community going to say, what is everyone going to say. Oh, she's a divorcee" Hamida "...I didn't go to my family for support. When I did, it was at breaking point." Shuma "Majorly, I feel also, people would look at me and be like, "How did you eventually cock up that?" Khadija "Come on get a grip of things manage this. I was looking at it like that, as a project because that was my way of coping..." Tina "At first, I was like wow, what era am I living in, shit. Erm, but I eventually got used to it and accustomed to it, it was kind of the norm. Things like the salt, he wouldn't get up to get it, you'd be expected to give it to him." Selina

Table 12. Subtheme: Reactions and Coping Strategies

4.2.4.2 Subtheme: Reactions and Coping Strategies

This subtheme highlights various reactions to challenging situations and the strategies that nine of the participants deployed to cope. The theme suggests that the reactions and coping strategies differed according to each participant's context. It appears that, during the early stages of marriage, they may have found it particularly hard to challenge difficult situations and relationships. Nonetheless, their reactions and coping strategies served particular functions. The theme also highlights how participants adopted different strategies at different points in the course of their marriage.

The participants often resorted to silence, both as a reaction and a coping strategy to manage challenging situations. Nasima felt that speaking out about her difficulties would be less beneficial in the long run, so not speaking limited further damage to herself and her experiences with her in-laws. For example, she felt she couldn't turn to her husband for help when experiencing problems with her siblings-in-law, as it would only lead to abuse from her husband. Additionally, she realised that it may have been futile to request flexibility around dresswear at home, as this would 'cause problems':

"I never really made a big deal out of it because I knew so it wasn't going to go anywhere. If we do with this we can't... His dad was a very strict man. It's just gonna cause problems" (Nasima, 283-285)

Asma recognised that she 'bottled-up' her feelings, as she did not know how to express herself. Over time, she demonstrated some self-compassion for her initial reactions and used that as a way to problem-solve and implement a more effective coping strategy. Asma shared that attending a marriage course and engaging in role-plays helped her to become more confident. She was able to understand that bottling up her feelings may have been an unhelpful strategy in the long run, as it contributed to feeling depressed. Consequently, over time, she was able to better defend herself:

"...if someone has said something hurtful to me, I'll just keep it inside and I'll be like, 'oh, that's really hurtful" (422-423) ... though that was a very difficult time for

me, looking back actually. At the time, I probably didn't even realize it... (520-521) Yeah, just bottling it up and not saying anything back to them and then afterwards, I was like, I was thinking to myself, you know actually I need to speak up. (525-526) ... It gave me a bit more confidence as well... attending class, gaining more knowledge (Asma, 604-607)

Asma also felt that focusing on the positive and seeing the good in others helped her to develop better relationships with her in-laws. Additionally, she implied that making excuses for others can also help to promote better relationships:

Everybody has a reason for how they are as well. If someone's really horrible and betinevil, maybe they went through something in the past that, you know, that's making them behave like that. So, I think, I always do try to find the positive" (56-562) She adds, "I think behavior breeds behavior; if you're nice to someone even if they're horrible, over time, they will see, you know, how..., it'll be hard for them to continue to be horrible to you. (Asma, 766-768)

Four participants used a religious perspective as a coping strategy to deal with their difficulties; Asma, Rina, and Hasina talked about forgiving others as a strategy. In Hasina's case, becoming more religiously inclined meant that she had a shared identity with her in-laws, who were more religiously observant than her when she was first married. After learning more about kinship ties through Islamic courses, she said that it helped to mend a fraught relationship with her inlaws:

I thought to myself, "I want to be the better person, I'm going to mend things." I was the first one to call my in-laws and say, "Sorry, I'm sorry for what I did. I was young, I was naive, I was quite ignorant, and please forgive me. I know you guys said a few things, which is fine, you're older, but as a young girl, and as a daughter, I shouldn't have been disrespectful." I said, "Please find in your heart to forgive me. Honestly I do mean it." (545-550) ... Obviously, clearly, they loved it, because

I was praying and I was practicing. And I'm seeking the deen (religion), and the fact that I apologized, I think that just melted their heart. (Hasina, 554-556)

Describing herself as 'young', Hasina implied that she did not reflect on her actions. Although she re-evaluated the situation, she made no mention of being mistreated by her in-laws but instead focused on their once-conflicted relationship. Her narrative indicated that her aims, goals and motivations in life changed after becoming more religiously observant, and that this also influenced her change in attitude towards dealing with conflicts:

"...But life has changed for me a lot and this stuff now I'm very quiet now. If you argue with me, I'm like, "You know what, it's fine. My fault my fault"...because I just want the reward from Allah (God) now. (713-715) ... now my aim is to reconcile the family... Because if they break the kinship, it's a major sin in Islam. It's a very major sin. If you break kinship and if... forget entering Jannah (paradise), you can't even smell the fragrance of Jannah." (809-812) Once upon a time I was innocent, ignorant, I didn't know nothing. I just went with the norm. How the society is living, how the general world is living. Speak your mind, argue until you're proven right or proven guilty, that kind of mindset. But with Islam, there's so many reward. Even not for arguing, not even for proving your point. (Hasina, 816-819)

Strategies deployed by the participants did not always involve direct contact with in-laws, although they still displayed their resistance by seeking support from their husband. Shuma and Hamida, for example, used avoidant coping strategies; they both asked their husbands if they could move out of their in-laws' home. In Halima's case, her in-laws may have abused their power by mistreating her and her husband, as they were aware of the financial constraints they faced and of Halima's husband's visa status.

Eight participants appeared to tolerate distress as a part of their coping strategy. For example, Halima talked about her upbringing and hearing her mother referring to 'betinthor khofaal':

"...that, that means like it's our destiny, it's our, it's our fate to put up with stuff. (Halima, 708-709)

She added that this belief may have made it difficult for her to assert herself. It was further complicated by Halima also referring to the influences of being raised in Britain, and how the two ideologies are conflicted:

"...I wasn't used to that, I wasn't used to holding my tongue or whatever, I was free I was happy, I was bubbly... and it was like enough constantly watching what you're saying constantly (Halima, 673-676)

For Nasima, the reason for tolerating distress seemed to be motivated by her unrelenting need to prove that daughters-in-law can 'adapt'. Despite her sisters-in-law in her parental home being aware of Nasima being abused by her in-laws and encouraging her to leave, she resisted. Her narrative implied her determination to challenge society's assumptions that daughters-in-law are responsible for the breakdown of in-law relationships. Her narrative also implied that she felt that tolerating distress is part of preserving the image of the 'good' daughter-in-law.

I always had it, "No, I'm going to make it work" because one of the reasons why I do want to actually share my stories because I know some people think, "But if daughter-in-laws are not open or they don't sacrifice or they don't adapt or they don't welcome and embrace their in-laws, how is it going to work?" It's always the daughter-in-laws but actually I feel very passionate that that's not because I can tell you 100% my experience. I went in there, ready adapted, I embraced it. There were certain things that were so painful but I never shared it with anybody. I just kept going, kept going. (Nasima, 176-182).

Similarly, Hamida suggested that she was informed by cultural and societal pressure to tolerate distress. The pressure for women to stay in a marriage may have influenced her decision to tolerate abuse from her husband and in-laws:

"...in our culture it does say that if your married, you have to stick to this guy and blah blah. That's how I've been brought up culturally. At that time, I didn't have no Islam in me, I didn't know nothing about the way of life or anything and I thought "Okay, I've got to stand with him. I can't actually come out of this because what is the community going to say, what is everyone going to say. Oh, she's a divorcee" blah blah blah. That was a big thing for me back in the days." (Hamida, 55-61)

The narrative above suggests that not being religiously inclined ('no Islam in me') may have skewed her perception to make better decisions in her life. However, when her father and sister provided Islamic evidence, this did not sway her decision:

"...they begged me. My sister even begged me, "Come out of this marriage. This marriage isn't for you. It's not working. It does say in the Quran and hadiths if a husband does beat you or is abusive, in any way you're allowed to come out and I used to think na na na... (Hamida, 429-432)

Like Nasima, Khadija and Halima's narratives also suggest an implicit awareness that they may be subject to blame for a conflicted relationship with in-laws. Their narratives suggested shame associated with speaking to others about their difficulties. Again, tolerating distress and not expressing oneself may function to thwart any potential experience of blame and shame:

"It is a shame but it is also embarrassing. It is embarrassing, because it wasn't meant to be like this, but he is the only son. Majorly, I feel also, people would look at me and be like, "How did you eventually cock up that?" (Khadija, 857-860)

Halima echoed:

"I have never sat down and, I mean at the time with friends and things with Bengali friends you talk about in-laws... husbands and things... But...er I didn't want to talk

too much about it because I didn't want to think that, they, like it was, I don't know, it almost felt like a failure on my part... Like, I didn't want to criticise them too much, like in criticising them it was, I was doing, myself a disservice or it was my fault" (Halima, 883-895)

Being unable to share experiences or seek support from others may also have been influenced by how their marriages were organised. Shuma, Selina, and Rina all spoke about the difficulty of convincing their family to let them marry the partner of their choice and following through with their decision despite reservations from their parents. This may act as a barrier for them to seek help from their parental family if they experience difficulties in their marriages and inlaw relationships. As Shuma highlighted:

"...I didn't go to my family for support. When I did, it was at breaking point. When they saw how stressed physically...Because I thought they were going... I thought, "It's going to be an I told you so, scenario", isn't it? But it wasn't like that..." (317-322)

Nasima did receive her family's support to marry the partner of her choice, but she did not feel supported by them when she encountered problems. Her narrative implies that her family minimised and normalised the idea of in-laws being problematic and indicated how the parental family may also be complicit in the experience of abuse. Interestingly, difficulties with her in-laws were not taken seriously, but her husband's infidelity did lead them to take Nasima more seriously. This suggests that had her family asked her to leave based on having problems with her in-laws, she and her family may have been subject to blame or ostracised by the community. However, by citing Nasima's husband's infidelity, they were protected from blame from the wider community:

"...my family first, didn't want to support me first few years because they thought I was just being again I want to do what I want to do in life. So, I wanted to get married to whoever I wanted to... so just like again, I'm not persevering more or

I'm just being too selfish. So, they weren't very supportive. And they just thought inlaws are just in-laws but until later years went by and they what my ex was doing and they used to see him out with a girl. They used to try to make me understand to leave him" (Nasima, 476-481)

4.2.4.3 Subtheme: Shifting Perspectives and Identity Over Time

All 10 narratives in the current study indicate that the participants' experiences of in-law relationships were based on how they have made sense of their experiences over time and the impact this has had on their identity. Their narratives illustrate the various challenges they have faced and how they negotiate their relationships and circumstances. The women appeared to be victims of abusive experiences. However, all the participants demonstrate heroic qualities that qualify them for the role of experienced survivor, as they navigated their relationships, often under very difficult circumstances.

Tina, for example, recognised that her identity of having been divorced and having a child posed significant challenges for her, but by drawing on her personal strengths, she was able to overcome some of the challenges she originally faced. Having been told that she would not be able to cope in her second marriage, she demonstrated how she managed to survive 10 years; she communicates her sense of achievement in that she was able to establish value and respect from her in-laws. Although Tina recognised that she did not have support to adjust to her in-laws, she applied her experience to encourage the other daughters-in-law in the family. While she acknowledged that the other daughters-in-law had considerably more opportunities to exercise freedom in their own lives, Tina's desire to be accepted in the family appeared to overcome this. In particular, she recognised the benefit of her children being part of a family unit:

"...my children have...they have their grandparents. That's a blessing. My children can see that you look after your elders. That's something that will happen to us in the future so without teaching them it's being ingrained in them. That you care for people. Right from an early age, they see that you have to be responsible. You have to be nice and respectful to your elders.... Or they know that when a special event happens that we all come together. My children know this... They know when this

comes together it's nice because living by yourself isn't so nice. You have the freedom and independence to do what you like but you don't feel complete..." (Tina, 687-695)

Asma's narrative also highlights a triumph in her experience over time. Viewing herself as her mother-in-law's assistant at the beginning suggests that there was a power imbalance. Over time, mastering domestic skills not only provided her with confidence, but power differentiations also appear to have levelled. Her early compliance gained value with her inlaws and she was more appreciated, especially after the new daughter-in-law left:

"At the beginning, I was just kind of being like assistant, learning things from her, just like cooking and things like that because I didn't know anything. I was like, okay, just learn how she does things and I can do like her.... one of my sister-in-law... she's very clean. She's very good at making different dishes, so I'll just kind of watch her, I watch how she works round the house, I watch how she cleans and things like that. And I've picked up a lot of tips from her. So then I will come back and I'll be like, mother, let me cook like this; She'll be like, 'are you sure'. I'm like, 'yeah, let me do it'. ...And then when people came over, they'll taste it, they'll be like, 'oh, that's really nice'. And I used to get a lot of compliments. That made my confidence grow... You know my in-laws, they noticed how I've changed from how I was at the beginning; now how I've developed as well, especially in terms of cooking and housework and things like that. (Asma, 358-376)

Asma was the only other participant in the study to still be living with her in-laws at the time of the interview. She found that, although her desire to have her own home did not materialise, the situation gave her considerable strength to make her in-laws' family home her home. It could be suggested that she may have felt freer at her in-laws' home after her brother-in-law left, as she wasn't required to observe the Islamic dress code as much. His moving out also made her feel in control, able to take charge, and gained her the respect from her in-laws that she needed. Her mother-in-law did not appear to obstruct Asma from taking the lead:

"...my plan was kind of turned upside down and then I had to adjust to not moving out and staying... I just kind of had to deal with it... you can either just sit back and feel sorry for yourself or kind of move forward.... when I realized this is gonna be my home, I thought, 'I'll make it my home...' my brother-in-law... when he moved out, I was like, 'you've moved out now, it's my house so I can decorate'. it felt more homely after I had put in my input; And now I just consider this as my home." (Asma, 338-345)

Additionally, over time, Asma also found that she may have had an impact and influence on her in-law relatives. For example, having previously shared her struggle over the lack of support for breastfeeding, over time her mother-in-law came to advocate for this with others. She also talked about her in-laws becoming more Islamically observant. Again, this suggests power imbalances levelling, especially as she saw changes in her sister-in-law, whose comments she previously felt hurt by:

"...even my younger sister-in-law, the one who made those comments, as I said, quite blunt, she wasn't that practicing. She didn't really know about the deen much and then, you know, recently, quite a few years back, she started going to circle and I can see an improvement in her. Even now, she is more careful with what she says to everyone, I think. She is more careful about what she says..." (Asma, 534-538)

Whilst Rina desired to be the 'perfect' daughter-in-law, she reflected that she set her own expectations and observed herself through a rigid lens, which wasn't always helpful:

"I had this impression that their family is different but I don't see them as being different, really. I took my own conventions about what family is and I went into the family and I expected them to fit into that mould and when they didn't I didn't like it and that's why I had a lot of problems." (Rina 1058-1061)

Having relaxed her approach and come to understand her in-law relatives over time, she saw a marked improvement in the quality of her relationships. She previously had power struggles with her eldest sister-in-law but came to understand that in the absence of a male figure, her eldest sister-in-law adopted the position of the breadwinner. She enjoyed the dependence and reliance her mother-in-law had on her and gave a further example of feeling included as one of the family when her sisters-in-law renamed a group chat 'sisters', confirming acceptance of Rina as a family member.

What is apparent from Tina, Asma and Rina's stories is that their goals were very much aligned with having a positive relationship with their in-laws and feeling accepted within these relationships. Their stories suggested that their initial struggles and challenges were overcome through a consistent effort to maintain their relationships with their in-laws.

Applying faith also helped participants in gaining strength from understanding their experiences and finding a resolution. Hamida, Selina, and Hasina talked about how Islamic rulings protect women. After leaving an abusive relationship, Hamida found going on pilgrimage integral to the healing process. Whilst Hasina explained how Islam encourages women to have separate accommodation from their in-laws, both Hamida and Selina learned over time that the onus was not on women to look after their in-laws but was the son's duty.

Selina reflected further on her brother's wife whom she called 'superwoman' and who had everything in order. She wondered whether her sister-in-law was unhappy. After living with her in-laws, she rhetorically answered her wandering thoughts:

"... wouldn't you be a bit peed off, annoyed.... They should be shared like everybody in the household, not ...it's not...it's not something that's should be imposed on." (Selina, 303-305).

Selina also shared how her own restrictions on visiting her parents may have shifted her parents' perspective on how they treat their daughter-in-law. This may suggest that sharing experiences with the parental family also had a benefit, as they could use their new insight to empathise and improve relationships.

The narratives of Khadija, Hasina, Nasima, Hamida and Halima suggest that it may be difficult to not take feedback personally when experiencing difficulties with in-laws, and that those problems may be inherent within them. However, through the passage of time and changes in situations, they can have more informed evaluations of their experiences. Khadija was able to make sense of her experience by suggesting that her in-laws had 'double standards', and the rule they imposed on her husband to not stay at her family's home in Bangladesh is a rule that can be challenged and broken. Nasima was able to see that her experience was unique to the particular family she moved in with. She recognised that her experiences may have been different if she were in another family. She also found out that her husband was forced into marriage; whilst this may partly explain why he was not committed to the relationship, being forced to marry at a young age indicates that he had no choice and was powerless also.

Whilst Hamida described herself as 'thick-skinned', she recognised that within the context of marriage she may have experienced a loss of her former identity. She also recognised that she was young, and lack of experience may have contributed to her difficulties. Halima also referred to a loss of her identity, being raised in Britain and not being used to holding her tongue. She recognised that, like Hamida, she too was young and lacked experience:

"Now I can see, I feel like I can see, how, what a damaged a person she was and how malicious and vindictive and I was scared to say that 'cause people might say, "well you must have done something for her to be like that..." (917-919) my story was that I was a naïve, innocent person you know, I didn't have any life experience..." (Halima, 925-928)

Hasina also recognised that she too may have made assumptions that relational difficulties with her in-laws stemmed from the stigma of her having been previously married and having a child, implying that her in-laws saw her as the problem. After finding that another daughter-in-law was also having problems with her in-laws, she was able to see that perhaps the relational difficulties were largely attributable to her in-laws' beliefs and expectations of daughters-in-law. She added that perhaps her mother-in-law had not given her enough of a chance to get to know her. She stated that her mother-in-law cried every time she left:

"She cries thinking she didn't understand me. You see, it was a lack of understanding. If she gave me time and she understood, she would be happy with me, because I'm quite a chilled person. I'm quite understanding person. I am quite traditional as well. Even though I had a very westernized mind, I'm very cultural and I'm very traditional as well. I know everything about my culture and my tradition as well, because that's my origin" (Hasina, 952-956)

For participants like Shuma, Nasima and Hamida, it appears that moving away from challenging in-law relationships was particularly beneficial and provided them with the opportunity to make sense of their experiences, reengage with themselves and develop their own sense of identity. Shuma said that she discovered her 'need to go back and find herself'. She found returning to work allowed her 'emotions to be channelled' and felt more in control by being financially independent.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

The current research examined narratives by British Bangladeshi Muslim women relating their experiences of in-law relationships. All ten narratives are unique subjective presentations of the Bangladeshi women's experiences. There were similarities as well as differences in content, and the 'global impression' of each participant revealed diversity in the presentation of their narratives. Stories varied in their structure, pace, and tone, often reflecting the various intentions and emotions of conveying particular experiences.

The main objective of this research is to begin to expand knowledge of in-law relationships and fill gaps in the literature that have not addressed the experiences of British Bangladeshi women in the UK. Narrative approaches are considered a valuable means to understand experiences and meaning-making and examine how identities are constructed in a person's individual context. Narrative approaches also value temporal perspectives and acknowledge that experiences are ephemeral; therefore, storytelling is largely influenced by how people make sense of their experiences over time.

To my knowledge, there have been no studies to date that have specifically examined in-law relationships in the Bangladeshi community in the UK; thus, the aim is to make an original contribution to research and to attempt to expand on the limited literature available on in-law relationships. Due to the exploratory nature of the study, my research question is broad: What are the experiences of in-law relationships of British Bangladeshi Muslim women living in the UK? I seek to understand the participants' subjective experiences in their individual contexts and consider the impact of these meanings on their behaviours and identity over time. Furthermore, intersectionality will be considered, as it provides a useful heuristic tool to understand how interlocking markers of difference impact experiences of agency and the shaping of identity. It is important to note that two of the ten participants were living with their in-laws at the time of the research, and this was taken into consideration in the writing-up.

Analysis of the data revealed four main themes. The current chapter will discuss the findings against the background of previous theory and research in the available literature. Implications, as well as recommendations for policy and practice, will also be discussed here. To conclude the chapter, the limitations of the research will be discussed alongside ideas and suggestions for future research.

5.1 DISCUSSION OF THE MAIN THEMES

5.1.1 THEME 1: 'It's a Family Marriage'

The first theme set the context for the subsequent themes. Specifically, it illustrated how the meaning and experience of marriage goes beyond the simple union of wife and husband and is largely contextualised and influenced by relationships with the husband's family. The narratives highlight the various experiences women have in transitioning and adjusting to inlaw relationships. Participants presented their initial feelings and reactions post-marriage and the pressures they felt in seeking to meet expectations set by themselves and affinal kin. It also revealed supportive features of in-law experiences.

Consistent with the literature, the findings highlight how Bangladeshi in-law family roles and dynamics are shaped by patriarchal ideologies and values (Bonamy, 1975; Edlund & Rahman, 2005; Pollen, 2002). The term marriage, in the context of the participants' narratives, is not confined to the simple union of a bride and groom but is the union of two families. Consequently, this meant that as well as adjusting to life with a husband, participants were also expected to adjust and adapt to life with in-laws.

Some research that has examined the impact of modernisation and industrialisation in societies governed by traditional patriarchal family structures has found that there is a positive correlation between the quality of relationships with in-laws and marital satisfaction (Cao et al., 2019). Additionally, Choi et al. (2019) found that there is a transition towards more egalitarian and bilateral kinship relations, where men and women adapt kinship norms to attend to the needs of both parents and parents-in-law. However, findings from the current research emphasise the priority of in-laws over and above the wife's own parents. This finding is consistent with studies that illustrate that despite modernisation, it may be hard to navigate and challenge canonical cultural and patriarchal ideologies that influence family structures (Gu, 2018; Kung, 2019)

The early stages of marriage are shown to be a particularly difficult time for some of the participants in the current study as they try to adjust to affinal kin; this is consistent with findings by Schramm et al. (2005), who find in-laws to rank among the top five stressors for newlyweds in the first few months of marriage. This is illustrated by some of the 'shock' that was expressed by the participants.

The participants' early experiences of their in-laws imply that they may feel a great deal of ambiguity and uncertainty in their relationships. This is also apparent even when women appear to be acutely aware of their roles and what is expected of them. The feelings of shock expressed by participants in the study and the impact this has on their experiences are reflective of previous research which has demonstrated how ambiguity and uncertainty can obfuscate communication with in-laws (Fischer, 1983; Mikucki-Enyart, 2011; Mikucki-Enyart et al., 2015; Turner et al., 2006). Many of the participants spoke about their struggles in adjusting to in-law relationships which impacted their thinking and behaviour, a finding consistent with previous research which illustrates feeling confused about how to think, feel, and behave toward in-laws (Mikucki-Enyart, 2011).

Research has suggested that difficult interaction in the in-law relationship may be due to confirmation bias; that is, people may be influenced by negative portrayals of in-law relationships in popular culture which then negatively influence their expectations of in-law relationships (Rittenour and Kellas, 2015; Woolley & Greif, 2018). However, the responses from the current study do not indicate that participants entered in-law relationships with negative perceptions or expectations. Nasima, Hasina, Rina, Khadija and Hamida, for example, talk about wanting to have a good relationship with in-laws. Selina and Shuma also appear not to envisage any difficulties. Although Asma, Halima and Tina were aware of others having difficult relationships with in-laws, their narratives suggest that they did not appear to give much thought about what life would be like with their in-laws.

Consistent with Rashid's (2013) study, some of the participants desired to be a 'good' wife/daughter-in-law by engaging in domestic chores (e.g., Asma). These idealised notions of femininity enabled them to exercise power in their day-to-day lives. Whilst this may challenge the notions of empowerment of liberal feminists, it asks us to reconsider the meaning of empowerment for women and respect their goals for relationships.

The pressure to be perfect may be part of 'impression management' (Goffman, 1959), to present a favourable view of themselves (Wilson & Ross, 2003). This may also have influenced the telling of the participant's story. The desire and pressure to be a 'good' wife and daughter-in-law may stem from being socialised to role adherence and engaging in specific 'impression management' to avoid being labelled 'incompetent' or 'bad' (Goel, 2005; Rivas et al., 2013). Additionally, women's strength may be measured by their ability to endure and tolerate distress (Childress, 2017; Haarr, 2007).

As stories are a relational act, conveyed with the audience in mind, participants may have also felt the pressure to engage in impression management (Goffman, 1959; Riessman, 1990), omitting some experiences to present a particular view of themselves in the interview context. For example, my identity as a British Bangladeshi Muslim woman may lead them to worry that I may judge them for not being a 'good' or 'perfect' daughter-in-law, thus shaping how they shared their story.

Some of the participants in the research described their in-laws as 'traditional'. This mirrors the findings of Shih and Pyke's (2015) study where participants engaged in racialised assumptions about their mothers-in-law and positioned them as rigid and old-fashioned. The research suggests that the participants may have internalised western 'orientalist' tendencies which position the West as superior, progressive and modern (Said, 1978). Their experiences could indicate generational differences and the various influences on which they draw to evaluate their experiences. For example, Tina and Hasina make references to being influenced by both western and traditional values.

Some of the findings of the current study provide a counternarrative to the stereotypical portrayals of in-law relationships in popular culture. Research has shown that support from in-laws can foster positive relationships (Sun & Lin, 2015). Khadija and Asma received much support from their in-laws in domestic duties in the household. Additionally, Khadija reported receiving financial support from her parents-in-law towards her wish to study. Other findings are also consistent with previous research which highlights shared identity and acceptance into the in-law family, influencing the satisfaction felt by children-in-law (Golish, 2000; Morr et al., 2008; Rittenour & Soliz, 2009; Shelton, 2019). Rina, for example, talks about feeling accepted by her sisters-in-law over time when they referred to each other as 'sisters'. Tina also shares feeling accepted by her father-in-law; despite her daughter not being a biological grandchild, she was the only grandchild in the family to receive a gift from Tina's father-in-law. Additionally, Asma and Rina appreciated the childcare support they received from their female in-laws, which is consistent with the findings of Bhopal's (1998) study that also demonstrated the positive effects of having social support from female affinal kin.

One of the turning points in Rina's relationship with her mother-in-law was when she experienced a miscarriage. She shared her surprise at her mother-in-law's disclosure of having had the same experience, which Rina appeared to value. This is an example of how disclosure

may increase the sense of being accepted and included in a family and increase closeness amongst in-laws (Mikucki-Enyart, 2011; Morr Serewicz, 2008).

5.1.2 THEME 2: Rising Tensions

This theme revealed the tensions that women experienced with affinal kin members, particularly female in-laws. It illustrated women's experiences of control by in-laws and issues relating to visiting parents and moving out of the affinal kin's home.

The findings of this study demonstrate the various ways in which Bangladeshi women were controlled by their in-laws, which sits with the feminist perspective of abuse (Straka & Montminy, 2006).

Patriarchal beliefs about the position and role of women may have influenced participants' experience of control by their in-laws. Raj and Silverman (2002) suggest that control of women in South Asian cultures is used to preserve family honour and defer any reflected shame. In the context of sexist societies that devalue women, abuse may be used as a tool to control women, underscoring their unequal and inferior position in the social hierarchy (Dillon, 1997). Two participants hinted at financial control by in-laws. This is consistent with Gill's (2004) suggestion that financial control can be used as a means to maintain participants' dependence on perpetrators.

Some participants alluded to affinal kin being competitive or jealous of them (Hasina and Halima). Whilst their experiences suggested that they may have felt restricted by their in-laws, this may not necessarily be indicative of their in-laws' power over them. As Foucault (1980) suggested, power is relational, and the participants may be unaware of their own power that may have triggered the jealous or competitive reactions from in-laws; a finding that is consistent with Yakali-Çamoğlu's (2007) study.

The findings of the current study support existing literature that suggests that conflict or ruptures within in-law relationships can impact everyone involved (Anderson, 2016; Morr, 2002; Morr Serewicz, 2008, 2013; Morr Serewicz & Canary, 2008). For example, in Selina's case, her mother-in-law communicated her discontent to Selina's husband and brothers-in-law about Selina visiting her family. This situation negatively impacted Selina's marital relationship and also led to conflict and verbal abuse towards Selina from her brother-in-law. These results are also consistent with previous research which suggests that conflicts between

in-laws may be due to differences in family cultures. This suggests that an appreciation and acknowledgement of different backgrounds may be a beneficial way to help in-laws to adjust and adapt to one another (Allendorf, 2012).

In exploring in-law relationships, it becomes clear that moving out of the in-law home can be difficult for British Bangladeshi Muslim women. In Asma's case, staying with her mother-in-law may not have been in line with her goals, but her decision to stay can be understood against the backdrop of a culture where elder in-laws are not left to live without children at home. Therefore, women's decisions should not be indicative of a lack of agency but understood against the backdrop of factors by which they may feel constrained.

The difficulties related to moving may lead to using indirect strategies to manage the issue. Avoidance appeared to be a strategy adopted by the participants' spouses as a way to protect them. It appeared that Shuma's husband was unable to directly ask his brother to move out of the in-law home. Whilst Shuma was angry with her husband for not initiating this, she speaks of her husband doing things in his own way to protect her from being blamed. Challenging senior members of the family may not fit well with cultural scripts that require respect and subservience to elders. Hence these indirect strategies to manage difficult situations, albeit ones that may entail a lengthy process to find a resolution.

Whilst women may desire autonomy by moving out of in-laws, this is not to be seen as a desire to cut or end ties with affinal kin. Consistent with findings from Galam's study (2017) women desired autonomy by having their own living space but also wanted to maintain relations. Nasima's decision to move out of her in-laws' home was not well received by her in-laws, who may have interpreted her actions as breaking patriarchal rules.

Control over visiting parents has also been cited by previous studies (Derdar, 2018; Mirza, 2017; Rabho, 2015; Raj et al., 2005). Findings from this study have shown that visiting parents is not something they could decide alone. This is consistent with the findings of Raj et al.'s study (2005) that South Asian women had to seek permission from in-laws before doing anything. Hasina's narrative demonstrates the impact of not seeking permission; her decision to go out and visit family members triggered conflict between her and her in-laws. Mirza (2017) would argue that control over visiting parents is abuse, intended to isolate daughters-in-law.

Many of the participants' narratives report the expectation to demonstrate constant servitude towards in-laws and having to be present to show that they are fulfilling duties. In Selina's narrative, for example, she talks about problems associated with her visiting her parents. She

talks about her in-laws having issues with this because 'the maid was gone'. Not showing servitude invited punitive remarks and shaming by her mother-in-law, shown in her complaint to Selina about the older daughter-in-law if she was not present to serve. When Selina moved out of the home, she was expected by her husband and felt obligated to go and demonstrate servitude to her in-laws. She shares the need also to compensate for not being there and to protect herself from being criticised or shamed. Shuma also talked about not being able to sit in her room without causing problems, and Nasima spoke of having to always be present in her in-law's home despite having her own separate home nearby. Narratives such as these are similar to the findings of Zhang's (2016) study that emphasised the importance of 'displaying family' i.e., being present so that their display of duty could be seen, substituting for their absence to prevent losing face (*mianzi*).

Nasima's and Shuma's experiences also reflect findings of previous research which show women being controlled by in-laws over how and when to eat (Raj et al., 2005; Schlesinger, 1961).

The current study also shows how the issue of moving out can be a source of conflict and risks breaking the rules of patriarchy (Kandiyoti, 1988), consistent with contemporary research which challenges the classic patriarchy theory, and highlights how some Bangladeshi women negotiate their side of the bargain; rather than passively acquiescing to in-laws' demands, they exercised their agency to challenge authority over their life decisions (Chaudhuri et al., 2014; Lin, 2005; Sandel, 2004). Like participants in Rabho's (2015) research, some Bangladeshi women in the current study recognised their Islamic right to separate living, implying that religion supersedes the cultural norms of the mandate to co-reside with in-laws. However, like participants in Galam's research, moving out of the in-laws' residence did not necessarily mean that the women wanted to cut ties with their in-laws. On the contrary, consistent with Rabho's (2015) findings, some of the women in the current study desired relational autonomy, as they wanted to maintain contact with their in-laws. This is well demonstrated by Nasima's narrative; she wanted to be part of her in-laws' lives but was rejected.

5.1.3 THEME 3: Tug of War – The Role of the Husband

This theme highlighted the role of the husband and how they mediated women's experiences with in-laws. It illustrates how the spouse's relative position in the wider family and their behaviour affected both the participant's experiences of in-laws and their marital relationship.

There is some evidence from the current research that is in line with previous research which suggests that togetherness and strong ties between affinal kin promote marital satisfaction (Goodwin, 2003; Jackson & Berg-Cross, 1988). The current study has additionally found that discord between affinal relatives can negatively impact the marital relationship. Tina, for example, talks about not feeling supported by her husband when having difficulties with her mother-in-law, and describes this as having a toll on her relationship with her husband. Similarly, Halima, Shuma and Nasima also talk about how discord with in-laws affected their marital relationships.

The findings of the current study illustrate how couples are prevented from bonding. The suppression of couples' bonding has been shown by Jeffrey et al.'s 1989 study and Rabho's 2015 study, which demonstrated how older women use this tactic to prevent the conjugal bond from strengthening and claiming the son's primary allegiance.

Consistent with previous studies, participants often relied on and recruited their spouse to manage conflicts (Anderson, 2016; Merrill, 2007). The current study highlights the role of husbands as a central means of adjusting to living with in-laws. It appears that without support, the transition and living with in-laws can prove to be difficult and affect marital relations. For some participants, their husbands being pleased with them was dependent upon their ability to keep the in-laws happy, although for some, despite the strenuous effort, their husbands were not pleased. Whilst some found a way of overcoming these difficulties, for others, relationships continued to feel strained. An important contribution of the research is that, generally, participants were sympathetic to husbands who felt powerless and torn between themselves and their families. Others were frustrated and felt that they wanted their husband to be more assertive and not have a greater sense of obligation towards their family than to their wellbeing. Outward support or affection from husbands was often penalised. The findings of this study are consistent with literature suggesting that intimate ties between husband and wife are discouraged, and the importance of husbands retaining an aloof stance in the presence of others (Mandelbaum, 1970). Studies have demonstrated the role of husbands in establishing appropriate boundaries between the mother and the married couple and mediating the effects that interference can have on the couple (Goldstein, 2015; Norwood & Webb, 2006). The findings of the current study indicate that in some situations, participants felt that their husbands held a lower position of authority than elder in-laws and were relatively powerless to establish boundaries (Shuma, Nasima and Halima).

Interestingly, in this study, husbands who had some level of power and authority in the family also appeared to not get directly involved to mediate conflict and put boundary management measures in place, a finding that is consistent with Merrill's (2007) research where women stated that men did not want to get involved in women's conflicts. However, there may be various reasons behind the lack of involvement. The narratives in the current research suggest that cultural scripts shape the beliefs and behaviour of sons/husbands, leading them to conduct themselves in such a way that they are not stigmatised for prioritising their wives over their own family, even when their family may have instigated conflicts (Derdar, 2018). For example, Tina implied not feeling supported by her husband when she complained to him about difficulties with her mother-in-law, despite her husband being considered to have some authority in his position in the family. The lack of support led to her changing the way she deals with conflicts and difficulties.

Tina's narrative exemplifies the pressure on women as daughters-in-law to uphold ties of kinship and avoid being blamed for conflicts. This is in stark contrast to research conducted in the West which indicates that women may not interact or feel the need to maintain relationships with in-laws (Woolley & Greif, 2018). Pressure to uphold ties may place women in a lower position of power, as affinal kin appear not to be made to feel responsible for conflicts or breakdown of relationships or feel pressure to resolve conflict. In contrast, western research suggests that daughters-in-law hold the most power within in-law relationships (Cotterill, 1994; Limary, 2002; Nuner, 2004; Rittenour, 2012). However, this is not to suggest that power levels cannot be changed; in Tina's situation, by changing her strategy to manage difficulties with affinal kin, she appeared to have garnered significant power over time, generating respect from in-laws and marked improvements in her relationship with them.

In contrast, Halima's husband did not challenge his family's negative treatment of him and Halima. His immigration status and lack of financial stability, coupled with cultural expectations of not challenging elders, placed him in a relatively powerless position. However, he also strove to find separate accommodation for himself and Halima. These findings show how husbands may also navigate between compliant and resistant strategies; they appear to side with their family as part of their 'frontstage performance' by not challenging abusive behaviour, but also engage in 'backstage performance' by converting resistance to manage challenges and conflicts. The research indicates that husbands play a major role in mediating the experiences of in-law relationships for the participants in the study. The study challenges ideas of patriarchy which assume male authority and power over women and illustrates how

men can also be placed in subordinate and powerless positions due to systemic injustice and structural oppression created and legitimised by traditional norms and practices (Zhussipbek & Nagayeva, 2020). Men may feel unable to show explicit support to wives if cultural norms stigmatise them from prioritising their wives over and above their families.

The linchpin theory may not be directly applicable to some of the experiences shared by participants in the current study. For example, one of the assumptions it makes is that the marital and familial sides of the triangle are stronger than the in-law relatives' side (Morr Serewicz, 2008). It places an emphasis on the role of son/husband as the linchpin and suggests that this role may reduce over time if the in-law dyad establishes a bond that exists apart from the marriage. The assumption here is that the role of the son/husband is more involved at the beginning of the marriage. However, this does not quite capture the relationship experiences described by some of the participants in this study. For example, Shuma and Nasima's narratives do not indicate that their marital relationship was strong from the outset. Shuma describes her husband as being distant from the beginning of their marriage. Nasima relied on her husband to facilitate changes. She had hoped that the support of her husband would help improve her situation. Realising that her father-in-law is strict and that her husband does not have much influence over his parents led Nasima to accept that she may not be able to work or wear salwar kameez in the affinal home as she would have preferred. Nasima's narrative also suggests that her husband is more concerned that Nasima keeps his family happy.

Previous research has shown that difficulties in the in-law dyad could have an impact on the interaction and quality of the parental dyad in the triangle (Bryant et al., 2001; Morr Serewicz, 2008). With the exception of Khadija, the majority of the narratives did not seem to indicate that the interaction and quality of the parental dyad were affected by difficulties in the in-law dyad. This may be due to the cultural expectation of men to prioritise their parents over their marital relationship.

Some participants in the study shared experiences of in-laws being interfering and domineering, a finding also of Duvall's 1954 study. Duvall (1954) suggested that young couples require autonomy to develop an independent family, and meddling from family members can threaten this autonomy (Silverstein, 1990). Shuma's narrative highlights how her in-laws meddled with the opportunity for her and her husband to establish their separate home to spend time alone to develop their relationship as a couple. Similarly, Halima spoke about the lack of privacy at her in-laws. Her narrative suggests that her in-laws expected Halima's

husband to prioritise them over the marriage. However, in Halima's case, moving out of the inlaw home did not reduce interference from her in-laws. So, although there was an opportunity to develop autonomy after moving out, it was difficult to establish due to her in-laws' interference; this finding is in contrast with those of Marotz-Baden and Cowan (1987), who found that in-law conflict and proximity were unrelated to stress and marital satisfaction.

5.1.4 THEME 4: Development of a Survivor Identity

The final theme looks at the various abusive experiences that some of the participants endured with their in-laws. In highlighting some of the difficult experiences, this theme illustrates how women may not have recognised or named these experiences as 'abusive'. The theme also presents the various reactions and coping strategies the participants employed in dealing with these difficult experiences. Additionally, it documented how they made sense of their in-law experiences over time and how they shaped their identity.

The findings of the current study demonstrate that Bangladeshi women's experiences of abuse include criticism and emotional abuse. Additionally, their experiences also demonstrate the role of in-laws in influencing abuse by husbands.

In some cases, participants displayed a reduction of agency, where there is control by husbands and in-laws. This study expands on the current literature on IPV by demonstrating the role of in-laws in the experience of abuse by Bangladeshi daughters-in-law.

This study found that some participants experienced criticism from their in-laws as a form of abuse to humiliate and shame them. The findings of the current study support other studies that have also demonstrated experience of abuse by in-laws (Hyman et al., 2011). Experiences of degradation and name-calling have also been reported by other studies, (Gill, 2004; Hyman & Mason, 2006; Mason et al., 2008).

Punitive treatment for a woman's perceived 'failings' is a common strategy adopted by perpetrators of abuse (Pence & Paymar, 1993). Blaming women for their 'inadequacies', their 'failures' in domestic tasks, their 'bad' habits, and for failing to meet expectations, deflects the perpetrator's responsibility for the abuse (Cavanagh, 2003).

Some participants' experiences suggested an internalisation of psychological abuse from inlaws as self-blame; a finding that is also supported by Gill's (2004) study. The self-blame experienced by Bangladeshi women may partly be explained by cognitive attributional theories, whereby people may experience shame when their cognitive perception of a problem arises from their failure to meet their own standards or those of a particular group (Lewis, 1992). Consequently, the perceived failure to be a 'good wife' or a 'good daughter-in-law' may arise from women experiencing shame about violating internalised patriarchal beliefs about women.

The findings of the current study showed that women may have experienced pressure to stay in a marriage and with in-laws, despite abuse, due to the fear of being judged or blamed by the wider community. This is supported by previous studies which have also demonstrated South Asian women's experiences of gender-role pressures to stay in marriages, and the fear of shaming from the community if they 'failed' to uphold cultural expectations (Aujla, 2013; Gilbert et al., 2004; Sabri et al., 2018; Tonsing, 2014; Tonsing & Barn, 2017).

Shame is used as a tool to uphold social control (Kaufman, 1985). When family members induce shame in women, they are suggesting that the victim has 'failed' to meet a particular set of standards and norms. From this perspective, victim-blaming and shaming are methods used by cultures to maintain social control (Kaufman, 1985). Bangladeshi women's experiences of abuse can also be explained by Dillon's (1997) theory, that within the context of gender inequality and discrimination, particular groups can be devalued and become the targets of shame.

Participants' experiences highlight how abuse is a tool of subordination, and their experiences cannot be separated from the intersectionality of context. Their negative experiences are shaped by their gender, class and race, that is, they are intimately linked to wider culture and society. However, it should be noted that 'culture' should not be understood to be the sole factor in abusive experiences.

The findings of the current study are similar to the findings of a study in Australia, which highlighted the experience of a loss of agency and of powerlessness which negatively impacted their sense of self-worth (Thaggard & Montayre, 2019). Oppressive experiences may have negatively impacted their agency and confidence.

Preserving honour may have prevented women from disclosing abuse. This is similar to the findings of McLeary-Sill et al.'s study (2016), which found that South Asian victims of abuse found it difficult to disclose abuse due to fear both of personal shame and of shaming their family.

Hyman et al. (2011) found that where cultural norms expect women to adopt an unobtrusive disposition, outward resistance often leads to blaming women for the abuse inflicted on them. From this perspective, some participants in the current study may have felt unable to display outward resistance, as this may be considered gender-inappropriate behaviour and result in the blame being diverted to them for violating cultural norms.

Gruenwald et al. (2004) make reference to shame being considered a social emotion which involves the protection of the self from others. This makes sense in the context of protecting honour or *izzat*, which is related to an external experience of shame; that is, the fear of being judged by others and bringing dishonour to the family. However, preserving *izzat* could also be related to more internal experiences of shame; participants may actively try to hide personal experiences to preserve a positive self-image. These experiences could be understood through cognitive theories that describe shame as a self-conscious emotion that threatens positive self-image (Lewis, 1993; Tangey, 1999; Tangney & Fischer, 1995). Participants' internal feelings of shame may trigger a fear of negative judgement and the threat of being exposed to others, leading them to engage in strategies to preserve a positive self-image (de Hooge et al., 2010, 2011, 2018). Thus, attempting to conceal abuse could be seen as an impression management technique to restore a positive self-image (Goffman).

Participants may also hide abuse from family and the wider community to uphold family honour. This finding is consistent with previous literature that has illustrated how fear of shame can silence women and prevent disclosure of abuse (Aujla, 2013; Gill; Sabri et al., 2018; Tonsing & Barn, 2017). Sabri et al.'s (2018) study found that in some South Asian communities, abuse is perceived as a private matter. Consequently, women may be penalised for sharing information with others, as this would be interpreted as dishonouring the family. Collectively, the pressure to preserve *izzat* not only obliges women to conceal abuse but functions to avoid stigmatisation. By hiding abuse, women avoid the risk of bringing shame on themselves and bringing the family and community into disrepute.

The fear of bringing shame is not confined to the affinal kin but also extends to the natal family. The findings of the current study showed that women also hide separation from the natal family. Previous research has also indicated that South Asian women resisted divorce or separation because of the pressure to avoid disgracing their families (Hyman & Mason, 2006; Tonsing, 2014). This coincides with Gilbert et al.'s (2004) understanding of how violating sociocultural rules brings shame on the family. Remaining married is integral to maintaining family honour.

Two women talked about abuse by their husbands and explicitly blamed their husbands for it. This is similar to Hyman et al.'s (2011) study, where participants also blamed their husbands for abusing them. However some women blamed themselves for being abused and condoned abusive situations.

Women may also conceal abuse because exposing it could bring shame to themselves (Anitha et al., 2009). From a feminist understanding, this may be explained by power related to patriarchal beliefs, preserved by men, and victim-blaming (Wilson, 2006). Alternatively, women may want to avoid the stigma of being a victim; this then shapes their decision to conceal abuse. Towns and Adams (2000) discuss internalised beliefs about a woman's carer role that may influence their decision to stay in a difficult relationship. They found that women remained in relationships out of love and care for their husbands and wanting to help them. The findings of the current study may also align with this explanation. Additionally, women may have felt pressure to preserve relationships and deny abuse from in-laws due to fear of the perceived 'failure' of not adequately fulfilling the carer role.

Through the narratives, participants often positioned themselves in the archetypal role of 'survivor'. This is reflected in their efforts to negotiate and manage tensions in in-law relationships. In line with Berkland and Jain's research (as cited in Dunn & Manning, 2018) on the lived experience of Indian daughters-in-law, the current research also demonstrates how the wider in-law family is invested in the daughter-in-law meeting traditional expectations and maintaining the position of a subordinate women. However, in contradiction to this finding, some of the participants fully intended to take up domestic duties without them being imposed on them.

Individual experiences of abuse varied among participants. Only two of the participants identified aspects of their experiences as abusive. Their narrative shows the temporal and constructive nature of narratives where participants may not have identified experiences as abuse at the time, but later come to define it as such as they gain knowledge and make sense of their experiences. Difficulty in identifying abuse may be because the experience is evaluated as 'intra-relational conflict' (Gangoli & Rew, 2001), and its disguise as cultural dimensions of gendered behaviour may mean that the abuse is further masked. The lack of mention of male affinal kin and the frequent mention of difficult relationships with mothers-in-law and sisters-in-law may indicate how women operate as 'proxy' men (Kandiyoti, 1988), perpetuating the subordination of women.

By seeing themselves in the role of survivor, the participants were able to claim a place within the in-law family system where they can adopt the role of victim or the good person, and position others as 'villains', 'abusers' or 'bad people'. A few participants expressed shame and stigma at talking about their experiences due to fear of being judged or blamed. Sharing their narratives may be a way to save face, performing as their ideal or desirable self (Goffman, 1959; Langallier, 2001). These identities are created collectively as they interact with others, informed by their social and cultural context. As they perform their roles and what is expected of them, they have a stake in claiming their identity as a victim/survivor of their experiences. This is consistent with 'Positioning Theory' (Harrè & van Langenhove, 1999), which asserts that positions are relational and shaped by the social and cultural context (Moghaddam et al., 1993), and Mishler's (1999) observation of how we continually reposition ourselves and others in our personal narratives.

Stress experienced with in-laws in the early stages of marriage can have a lasting impact beyond the early years of marriage. Halima spoke about the anxiety she would feel if she heard that her sister-in-law was visiting, even after years of being married. Similarly, Nasima spoke about how people do not understand her 'abrupt' reactions when she speaks sometimes because they are not aware of how her difficult experiences with in-laws in the past have affected her.

However, findings of the current study also illustrate that in-law relationships are not static and may fluctuate, at times more integrated, drifting apart at others (Widmer, 2013). Anderson (2016) suggested that some of these changes may be due to turning points in the relationship. Hasina's narrative also illustrates the complexity of in-law relationships; her experience of abuse and being ostracised by her in-laws for being married previously and bringing in a child from the previous marriage is overturned when she starts becoming more religious. Hasina referenced how turning to faith motivated her to seek forgiveness and make amends with her in-laws. This, in turn, also improved her relationship with her mother-in-law. This stands in contrast to her early experiences with her in-laws where she faced conflict for not being as religiously inclined as her in-laws. It may also be that her turning towards faith was congruent with her in-laws' family culture (Fischer, 1983) which helped to foster better relations.

The findings of the current research demonstrate how British Bangladeshi Muslim women draw upon a variety of strategies to cope with challenging and abusive experiences faced within in-law relationships. These agentive acts may not always be an outward expression of resistance but may range from compliant agency to overt resistant agency (Mirza, 2015). Some

of the resistant tactics ranged from talking back, and not completing domestic duties to leaving. The current study illustrates how the participants also used avoidance as a strategy to manage difficult situations and abuse, and to protect themselves and their identity (Afifi & Guerrero, 1998; Caughlin & Afifi, 2004; Golish & Caughlin, 2002). This strategy also functioned to protect them from judgement and criticism, prevent conflicts in their relationships and maintain peace (Afifi & Guerrero, 2000; Guerrero & Afifi, 1995a, 1995b). Whilst avoidance may not provide any long-term gains for women or alter the power imbalances in their relationship, it can be a useful protective strategy to maintain some relational distance, especially if they feel they have no choice but to maintain the status quo of their relationship with the in-law (Mikucki-Enyart & Caughlin, 2018). Nasima's experience reflects findings by Berkland and Jain (as cited in Dunn & Manning, 2018) which showed that there is a web of influence for the disempowerment and subordination of women. In Nasima's narrative, she highlights how her in-laws, her parental family and she, herself, shaped her experiences.

Some participants drew on religion to navigate in-law relationships. Coping mechanisms such as patience can be viewed as agentive (Mahmood, 2001). For the participants in the current study, enduring distress may be part of their strategy to preserve their image as a good daughter-in-law and to maximise the chances of maintaining a good relationship with their in-laws. Asma and Hasina speak about forgiveness as a way of forging a good relationship with in-laws. This was not an indication of them accepting mistreatment from their in-laws, but rather it facilitated their goal of maintaining good relationships with their in-law family members. Hasina's embracing of faith by wearing the headscarf and praying ameliorated some of the difficult experiences she had with her in-laws. Although her marriage ended, Hamida talks about how faith helped her to overcome her difficult experiences with her marriage and her in-laws.

Tina draws upon her previous struggles to overcome hardship as a source of strength to manage her situation. She talked about how being divorced and having her daughter strengthened her to overcome challenges. She further cites her employment experiences to indicate her ability to manage multiple situations, and how she is able to deal with her in-law relationships.

Some of the positive changes in in-law relationships expressed by the participants provide some support for the linchpin theory. For example, it acknowledges that the in-law relationship is subject to change with the effects of major lifespan transitions as well as short-term fluctuations in interactions.

The above themes have demonstrated that some experiences of in-law relationships expressed by the participants in the study appear to reflect the negative and pessimistic features of such relationships found in popular culture (Fischer, 1983; Lopata, 1999; Morr Serewicz & Hosmer, as cited in Cupach & Spitzberg, 2011). Whilst research and popular culture have often emphasised problematic and stressful relationships between mother-in-law and daughter-in-law (Duvall, 1954; Landis & Landis, 1963; Limary, 2002; Marotz-Baden & Cowan, 1987; Merrill, 2007; Turner et al., 2006), the current research showed how difficulties are not confined to this dyad but also extend to other members of the family, including difficulties between the participants and their father-in-law, siblings-in-law and other in-law relatives.

The narratives of in-law relationship experiences in the current study may partly be explained by the very nature and design of such relationships where they are, simultaneously, both kin and strangers (Allendorf, 2017; Fischer, 1986). This may create ambiguity in relationships as there may be an expectation and pressure to treat each other as family despite the lack of emotional and relational history (Merrill, 2007).

The linchpin theory (Morr Serewicz, 2008) suggests that in-law relationships are difficult to ignore as those involved are inextricably linked via the linchpin, i.e., the son/daughter, who binds the relationship between spouse and parents. Whilst this idea may be relevant for both western and non-western families, findings of the current study show that in some contexts, these relationships are perhaps more difficult to ignore or avoid, especially when affinal kin live together in one household. Furthermore, the theory is limited in that it does not take into consideration the role of the wider family. As illustrated in the current research, participants' narratives included experiences with several members of affinal kin.

5.2 Agency

As the themes have shown, women use a variety of strategies to exercise agency with their inlaws. Some women used religion as a way of demonstrating their agency. The participants' responses imply that a lack of religious understanding may account for the difficult experiences faced in in-law relationships. This view challenges classic liberal feminist discourse which views religion as impeding gender equality. On the contrary, the views expressed by the participants were consistent with Islamic feminism, demonstrating the role of religion in promoting women's rights. For example, some of the participants draw upon the Islamic faith as a way of showing that women are under no obligation to serve in-laws or live with them. Hamida and Selina, for example, assert this and argue that the duty is with the son to look after his own family. However, although religion can pave the way to promote the rights of women, women still feel bound to negotiate cultural and religious constraints. For example, Selina and Khadija both recognise that they have no duty towards their in-laws, yet they recognise they have a duty to keep their husbands happy. Hamida was aware that Islam forbids abuse yet was constrained by the community and its cultural constraints. This indicates that being aware of Islamic rights alone may not provide a straightforward way to deal with difficult in-law relationships, but women also have to consider the cultural and structural factors that also impact their experience.

In this light, agency can be understood as being socially, culturally and religiously mediated within each of the participant's individual contexts. That is, social structures such as the traditions of the in-law family kinship system effectively shape the choices available to women and limit their agency. Unlike the idea of free choice advocated by classic liberal feminists, individuals tied to certain social structures may not be able to make choices from the array of possibilities available (Phillips, 2010). In abusive contexts, open resistance may result in further abuse, as in the case of Nasima who felt unable to express her difficulties whilst she was married, as complaining to her husband may have invited verbal abuse. Women may engage in covert forms of resistance, including ignoring, avoidance or silence, to avoid abuse. This shows how women actively negotiate structural and cultural constraints to manage abuse. Far from passive acceptance, this may reflect a decision to evaluate their options and choose a survival strategy to prevent further abuse. Using the patriarchal bargaining framework, women actively ignore or remain silent in the face of abuse in exchange for not being further abused. Endurance of difficulties in these instances requires much agency; to sit with difficult emotions and hold back from expressing discontent is indicative of agency to ward off potential abuse.

It is also important to emphasise that women's actions may not fit into mainstream perspectives of agency which may expect a more overt, action-orientated strategy. This may be reflected by women's goals which may involve wanting to preserve in-law relationships rather than ending them. These goals, and strategies used to meet them, may be seen as reinforcing patriarchy and gender inequalities, but this may be part of the bargain they engage in to preserve harmonious marital and in-law relationships. Some of the choices and decisions they made about navigating their in-law relationships may not be what they wanted, but they have felt tied to the social structure they reside in. For Nasima, she may not have wanted to stay in an abusive relationship, but her response may have been shaped by the need to uphold *izzat* and ward off any judgement

or blame for the breakdown of her relationship with her in-laws. Similarly, Tina may not have wanted to deal with the pressures of her in-law relationships but maintaining her and her daughter's *izzat* influenced her to persevere so that she would not be stigmatised by the community for another 'failed marriage' and the status of divorcee.

The findings of this research have shown that despite the pressures, constraints and/or abuse women may face with in-laws, women deploy a myriad of strategies that demonstrate their agency. Importantly, it directly challenges the stereotypical representation of 'third world' women as passive with no agency. In the face of abuse, British Bangladeshi women may not opt for leaving as part of their agentive act. The diversity of these experiences is mediated by the relative perceived choice, and the perceived capacity to exercise agency that women feel they have in different situations. In order to understand the various strategies they use to manage difficult situations, it is important to appreciate that the process is rather complex and may differ from the way that agency has been conceptualised by feminists who utilise a western framework. As shown in the present study, participants did not always express agency through direct, outward resistance, or acting autonomously to challenge power relationships.

At face value, compliance in in-law relationships may suggest that the participants in the study are passive, submissive and obedient. However, this may be an indication of their agency, whereby women make bargains by deploying strategies to cope with patriarchal constraints. These agentive acts or bargaining may not be obvious or entail outward expressions of resistance. Whilst their goals in bargaining may reproduce and perpetuate restrictive gender roles and inequality, tolerating stress in in-law relationships may improve their situation. The research has also shown that choosing either to stay in an abusive relationship or leave it may not be a reflection of women's goals but may be reflective of the constraints that shape their agency in particular situations at a particular point in time.

The current research highlights the importance of understanding the sociocultural context and factors that shape British Bangladeshi women's experiences. Crucially, it asks us to reconsider what constitutes agentive behaviour. Some of the participants' reactions and responses may appear passive when taken at face value, but upon close inspection, they may be more indicative of agency. For example, when Hasina found that her in-laws were more religiously inclined, she knew that not praying would invite ostracism. In her situation, it may have been futile to argue against the family rules by which her in-laws abide. By engaging in backstage performance and pretending to pray, she was able to ward off any further potential criticism

and conflict. Although her response may indicate passivity and compliance, her subtle resistance is her way of exercising agency to cope with patriarchal constraints. This is a clear example of how agentive acts with affinal kin may not be overtly expressed, but rather women carefully work out how to behave to keep the peace.

Furthermore, some of the women's responses may suggest that they are consenting to patriarchy by not challenging the status quo; however, their tolerance of the actions of in-laws may be part of the 'patriarchal bargain' (Kandiyoti, 1988) they make. For example, Asma tolerated the dissatisfaction of her in-laws about not being 'domesticated' enough and not having learned to cook before marriage. By observing and learning from her mother and sisters-in-law, over time, she was able to ameliorate her situation and improve relationships with her in-laws. She also appears to attain some power within the home, especially after the resistance of the new daughter-in-law to comply with the domestic duties in the house. It appears as though Asma's efforts to blend in with the expectations of her in-laws were appreciated more after affinal kin noticed the new daughter-in-law not being as compliant as Asma. Her sister-in-law's annoyance at Asma doing more than her causes division between them; the daughters-in-law supposedly share similar, albeit low, positions of power within the affinal home. The new daughter-in-law's resistance positions her as a 'difficult' and 'undutiful' daughter-in-law and raises Asma's status as the 'good' and 'dutiful' daughter/sister-in-law.

Asma appears to have internalised the traditional gender rules and expectations that her in-laws had of her when she moved into their home. Although she shared her difficulties in adjusting to the family home after marriage, Asma appears to only partially empathise with the new daughter-in-law and expected her to have adjusted as she did. It is open to question whether Asma's in-laws would have appreciated Asma as much had they not experienced another daughter-in-law's resistance. Over time, Asma garners much praise from her in-laws and power levels also appear to equalise. She transitions from being her 'mother-in-law's assistant' to a member of the family who is equally capable of showcasing her domestic skills. Asma also feels proud that she has been able to develop these skills. In comparison to the other daughter-in-law whose resistance ended in a breakdown of relationships and being rejected, Asma's early compliance affords her the status of being elevated in the family in the eyes of her affinal kin.

Other examples show participants challenging notions of passivity by engaging in more overt acts of resistance. Besides Asma's experience, Hamida's, Halima's and Tina's mothers-in-law also seem to have been unimpressed by their lack of skills in cooking traditional Bangladeshi

dishes. Whilst Asma, Halima and Hamida were determined to learn, Tina did resist openly and confronted her mother-in-law. Since other daughters-in-law can cook, Tina justifies her decision to not acquiesce to her mother-in-law's expectations and demands.

The range of strategies that women deploy varies according to their individual context and from situation to situation. These are carefully engineered, subjective and complex. Their compliance is not to be confused with passivity but rather may be part of a lengthy strategy to achieve their personal goals over time. When their responses are explored and considered against the backdrop of the constraints they face in their individual settings, their behaviour may be seen as more agentive. Whilst the strategies may work in their favour to achieve their goals, at other times they could be counterproductive.

It is questionable how much Asma was able to benefit from her early docility; her desire to move out of her in-laws' home and establish her own space came to an end after difficulties between the family and the new daughter-in-law. Her expression of resentment and the constraint that her mother-in-law cannot live alone begs the question of how much she was able to benefit from the situation. Whilst she may have been unable to achieve all her goals, Asma is able to be as domesticated as her in-laws, quieten the discontent she initially faced for lacking these skills and forge good relationships with them. Had she displayed resistance like the other daughter-in-law she may have had to endure more distress and risk losing relationships if she chose to move out. Whilst she can maintain good relationships with her in-laws, her narrative clearly indicates how patriarchal rules and gender inequality are perpetuated amongst women.

For some of the women, the lack of benefit from compliance may lead them to engage in more outward resistance. For example, Nasima's experience of the new daughter-in-law being afforded the right to work and flexibility in what she wore made Nasima question the fairness of the situation. In contrast to Asma's narrative, where the new daughter-in-law was ousted for her outward resistance by in-laws, the resistant agency from the new daughter-in-law in Nasima's narrative indicated that she was able to benefit from speaking out and negotiating rules and expectations with affinal kin. Furthermore, Nasima's experience of physical abuse and her husband's repeated infidelity led her to eventually leave the relationship. Unlike Asma, Nasima's narrative indicates that her compliant agency and striving to be the perfect daughter-in-law resulted in no long-term benefits. Shuma also found her compliant agency resulted in no long-term gain. After trying to be diplomatic with her brother-in-law, she engaged in resistant agency by arguing with her husband. Shuma left to go back to live with her family.

Cultural factors can induce shame and guilt, leading women to endure pressure from in-laws. For example, some of the participants' behaviour appears to be motivated by protecting themselves and the honour of their parental kin. Several references were made to the pressure of possessing cooking skills before marriage. As Rina stated, she socialised in such a way that no one can say 'her mother didn't teach her'. This may have partly influenced Halima's, Hamida's and Asma's compliant agency in pushing themselves to learn to cook.

The conceptualisation of shame from a biopsychosocial perspective suggests that it can be both external and internal (Gilbert, 2002b). Additionally, whilst this view sees shame as a universal human emotion, it also acknowledges that people's experiences of shame will vary according to cultural and historical contexts (Gilbert, 2002b). This coincides with the findings of the current study, where participants may have experienced shame both in the form of negative self-evaluation (internal) and of fearing the judgement of others (external). The type of shame the participants have experienced may reflect values that prioritise the group and group harmony over the individual.

The biopsychosocial perspective suggests that shame provides evolutionary advantages and is beneficial to group cohesion. The findings of the current study showed how women desired to have a good relationship with their in-laws, and the pressure to be perfect may have been influenced by their need to deflect any shame due to not being good enough. This coincides with theories that view shame as a factor that enhances group cohesion, avoiding collective exclusion (Keltner & Buswell, 1996; Keltner & Harker, 1998).

Cross-cultural literature, particularly in South Asian cultures, has suggested that negative self-evaluation associated with shame is not universally harmful to psychological well-being (Menon & Shweder, 1994; Wong & Tsai, 2007). Instead, it may be positively valued and perceived as an appropriate response to failure in some situations (Bhawuk, 2017; Lindquist, 2004). It may also lead to constructive behaviours such as building relationships with others (Bagozzi et al., 2003; Wong & Tsai, 2007) and enhance one's ability to perform one's duties (Wong & Tsai, 2007).

The findings of the current study concur with this perspective. Some participants placed importance on being a dutiful daughter-in-law and took pride in trying to meet their cultural and familial expectations. Some also reported positive experiences and building better relationships with their in-laws over time. However, participants in the current study demonstrate that the drive to be a 'dutiful' daughter-in-law can also be associated with

psychological distress, breakdown of relationships and social isolation. Therefore, although preserving honour and fulfilling one's perceived duties can be socially advantageous at an individual level, in some contexts it can become problematic, particularly in abusive situations. Shame within the context of abuse has negative implications for an individual's emotional well-being, regardless of the individual's culture.

The findings of the current study also align with Dillon's (2007) theory of inequality and discrimination, in that they demonstrate that women are particularly vulnerable to being made to feel inferior, degraded and abused.

When examining participants' experiences over time, their narratives indicate how women engage in evaluating situations and select different strategies to manage situations and relationships. Therefore, women do not commit themselves to either compliant or resistant strategies but engage in multiple strategies that may involve navigating back and forth between the two.

When working with British Bangladeshi Muslim women, it is important to understand their subjective experiences and goals for relationships. Leaving a relationship may lead to some women feeling ostracised and isolated in the community. For example, in Tina's case, working on her second marriage was pertinent to preventing further marginalisation. Examples such as these show how gender and other aspects of a British Bangladeshi Muslim woman's identity intersect with other forms of oppression.

5.3 Identity

The narratives shared by the participants include many features of struggle and oppression and how these served as an integral part of their identity formation and empowerment. Many of the participants demonstrated a narrative of how they survived challenges and developed psychological strength from their difficult experiences. These examples indicate how narratives of oppression, pain, and conflict can promote psychological growth and development (hooks, 1989). The narratives exemplify how their experiences may be more empowering than how Muslim women are typically presented, which contributes to the 'othering' process by locating them as pathologised, oppressed, and victimised (Ahmed, 2003).

In line with previous research, some of the participants also identified faith as a key to their empowerment and a source of agency that increased their confidence and access to rights (Bolognani & Mellor, 2012). They cited faith as providing answers to women's issues, affirming their rights (Abdugafurova et al., 2017). Mernissi (1991) suggested that 'depending on how it is used, the sacred text can be a threshold of escape or an insurmountable barrier' (p.62). The findings illustrate, however, that women negotiate between cultural practices and religion, especially with regard to living with in-laws and their duties towards them. Khadija and Selina appeared to be aware that they had no duties to their in-laws but recognised a son's duty to his parents, and their duty to their husbands. This indicates that simply being aware of Islamic rights may not be enough to challenge certain cultural practices. Women may feel that they need to accept some cultural practices to fulfil their religious obligations, highlighting the gendered nature of power embedded in religious and cultural practices that benefit men and oblige women to adopt a particular way of thinking (Purewal, 2003; Thomas & Brah, 2011). This is in line with the study by Abdugafurova et al. (2017) which found that, although Islamic law advocates female autonomy and argues against a daughter-in-law's religious obligation to care for her husband's parents, the Muslim jurists direct attention to the importance of pleasing the husband. As a result, jurists fail to protect women from the cultural obligation to serve inlaws. Hussain (2012) argues that one of the ways of tackling this dilemma is to develop women's religious knowledge to help them distinguish between Islamic law and cultural discourse.

The findings of the present study show how participants synthesise the different parts of their intersecting identities and values received from their parents, culture, and religion to guide their behaviour. Bhaba's (1990) concept of 'third space' illuminates how participants choose which parts of culture they preserve and which they negotiate. Rather than succumbing to binary notions of agency, it explores how participants create a 'third space' to exercise agency. In addition, viewing agency over time acknowledges everyday enactments of negotiation and resistance in which women use alternative tactics and strategies to manage their daily struggles (Das, 2010).

The narratives shared by the participants demonstrate that their autobiographical memories are developed within specific social and cultural contexts (Fivush, 2011; Nelson & Fivush, 2004) related to the multiple layers of their identity (Fivush et al., 2011). The narratives shared by participants demonstrate how dominant or culturally canonical narratives shape stories, and Fivush's (2010) ideas on autobiographical memories from a feminist perspective have been particularly useful in indicating how an individual's identity and position in the world determines the type of experience they may have. Many of the participants in the current study

drew upon their gender, culture and religion to share and describe their experiences. In their narratives, they shared occasions where they remained silent or felt silenced, as well as when they challenged dominant narratives and developed resistant narratives. Halima spoke about her former self before marriage compared to her experiences after marriage. Her story demonstrated how her experiences were influenced by culturally dominant narratives. Her inlaws' expectation that she conduct herself in a particular way led to her being unable to challenge the mistreatment she experienced, electing to endure the distress in silence. At times, Halima struggled to remember details of her experiences. She also discussed being unable to share her experiences with her friends for fear of being judged or blamed. This demonstrates that when silence is imposed or if individuals silence themselves, they may feel powerless, which can lead to a loss of memory and identity (Fivush, 2010).

5.4 Intersectionality

The diversity of the British Bangladeshi women's experiences noted in this research indicate that, whilst women may share common experiences based on gender, individual experiences are not shaped by, and cannot be understood by, focusing solely on one aspect of their identity. Rather, their experiences are best understood when taking a holistic approach and taking into account their complex and multidimensional identity. Whilst there are aspects of abuse that all abused women may share, the specificity of British Bangladeshi women's experience of abuse lies in intersecting factors such as kinship structures and culture which can compound their experiences. For Hamida and Tina, for example, leaving marriage may mean being further stigmatised in the community, being the target of blame and shame. Tina recognised that many of her actions in enduring difficult situations were influenced by the idea of having been accepted by her in-laws despite her divorce status and bringing a child from her previous marriage. This acceptance seems to override the difficulties she experienced with her mother-in-law. For Tina, another 'failed' marriage was not an option; she did not want to let her husband down or face further ostracism from the community, so striving to forge good relationships with her in-laws by trying to please them was a way of managing and improving her situation.

Feminist perspectives have provided a useful framework for understanding domestic abuse, arguing gender equality to be the source of violence against women, thereby serving as a valuable way of understanding the gendered perspective of violence against women. However, this perspective is limited. First, post-colonial feminists would argue against essentialising

women's experiences and challenge the view that gender alone means that all women have a shared, female experience. The intersectional approach has been particularly useful to understand British Bangladeshi Muslim women's experiences of abuse. In particular, it challenges mainstream perspectives of terms like 'domestic abuse' that place a strong emphasis on abuse based on gender alone. Additionally, feminist research on domestic abuse is confined to the context of men perpetrating abuse against women in nuclear family living arrangements (Fernandez, 1997). The focus on a single part of an identity provides a narrow view of domestic abuse for British Bangladeshi women who do not fit into mainstream descriptions. The current research demonstrates the role of the wider family in the perpetration of abuse and, at times, how this may also influence intimate partner violence. Some of the findings from the current study illustrate how multiple persons can be complicit in the perpetration of abuse against women. It indicates that the structural roots, i.e., the extended family kinship structure and power dynamics within these relationships, can make women vulnerable to abuse.

The current research has shown how an intersectional lens can provide a useful heuristic tool to explore the specificity of British Bangladeshi women's experience of abuse, whilst also acknowledging and appreciating their individual and unique experiences. It acknowledges how kinship structures, culture, socio-economic status, and structural factors such as race and previous marital status can also compound and shape women's experiences in a variety of ways. Importantly it highlights how culture cannot be viewed as a monolithic entity, and cautions against generalising and universalising women's experiences. As such, women need to be understood within their own individual contexts without assuming their support needs are similar. The diversity of experiences highlighted by the British Bangladeshi Muslim women in the current study demonstrates that they are not a homogenous group; it illuminates both similarities and distinctive experiences of in-law relationships.

5.5 Concluding Remarks

The ten women discussed in this study share the same ethnic, cultural, and religious background, and are united in the commonality of having experience of in-law relationships. However, they are not a homogenous sample and differed in the frequency, duration and intensity of exposure to in-law relations, living arrangements, and length of marriage. Their narratives also presented a variety of perspectives of themselves and others, and they varied in the interpretations of their experiences and level of religiosity. Within the narratives, the

Bangladeshi women express diverse views of how they contest, negotiate, and redefine (Kandiyoti, 1988) their identity and relationship with their in-laws. Their stories highlight their varying degrees of expectations, goals, and desires for married life, and the various ways in which they exercise agency and personal choice within these relationships. Whilst not always successful in meeting their goals, their stories highlight the diverse strategies women employ in their relationships; this challenges stereotypical notions of passive and oppressed Bangladeshi Muslim women.

In the current study, women's agency is evident, even before living with in-laws, with respect to how the majority of the marriages were organised. Rather than the Eurocentric assumption that women play a passive role in their life choices, the majority of the women in the research played an active role in their choice of life partner. The approval of family members was also significant for the women, although exercising personal choice did not always result in a favourable outcome (for example, for Hasina).

Women in the current research aspired to have good relationships with their in-laws and strove to be a good wife and daughter-in-law. It is apparent that women desired to be part of a joint family system and carefully worked within this framework to mould their identity. Despite their recognition of the problematic nature of in-law relationships and how it affects women, the idea of having good relationships with in-laws was a significant feature of the women's lives. This led me to reflect on one participant who dropped out after the sharing of the transcript and provisional analysis (pilot interview). The participant felt she was too identifiable from some of the experiences she described, and felt, in hindsight, that she was not comfortable reading what she said about her husband's family, who were still 'family'. I wondered if, on reflection, the participant felt that by withdrawing her participation, she could still claim the position of a 'good' wife and daughter-in-law.

Against the backdrop of gender and cultural expectations, the women in the study illustrate the various ways in which they negotiate and deploy strategies to deal with tensions and conflicts whilst finding their role and position in the family. What these narratives indicate is that the women did not just passively submit to expected gendered roles but, rather, they subtly negotiated their way around cultural expectations. Rather than outrightly rejecting canonical cultural narratives, the stories describe lives that fit with the multiple layers of their identity. Their experiences illustrate the diverse ways in which they manoeuvre and negotiate their cultural and religious identity within the British context. This entails a delicate negotiation of

what some of the women have labelled 'traditional' values with 'western' values, whereby values of individuality are negotiated within cultural parameters that assert the importance of upholding *izzat* and conforming to gender roles. Within these narratives, there are many instances where women have displayed agency that has defied cultural norms which, at times, work against them.

The experiences of the women in my study have shown how, at times, men can be equally powerless. In contrast to the unequal power status of the sexes purported by classical feminists, their stories have shown how female in-laws can have a considerable amount of power and influence over and above men. From this perspective, a zero-sum approach, which seeks to seize and reverse the power between genders, is particularly unhelpful. Rather than struggling for equal power with men in the family, some narratives have highlighted the struggle for power and negotiation among women. The findings of this research indicate how, in internalising misogyny, female in-laws can become complicit in the persistent oppression of women and men. Consistent with a post-colonial feminist framework, men can play an integral role in being part of the feminist movement (hooks et al., 1993), and both genders can work together to change the structures that adversely affect them.

Not all women displayed overt and resistant agency; rather, they rebelled against authority figures in the family through manipulation, tactical submission, and compromise. Contrary to the notion that Bangladeshi women are passive victims of their culture, whose lives are orchestrated by patriarchal values, the experiences of the women in the study provide a counternarrative to these stereotypical representations. The stories show how women can skilfully negotiate within cultural parameters to establish their desired identity and goals in life. This often involved working within cultural scripts that regulate gendered roles. This view is in keeping with a post-colonial feminist perspective that values the diversity of women's experience within the context of an individual's cultural, religious, family, and community context, rather than an outright rejection of these values. Rather than viewing the extended family system and living with in-laws as a symptom of patriarchy that needs to be overturned to improve the conditions of women's lives, the findings highlight how women's individual situations need to be considered. In not doing so, we may fail to generate a nuanced understanding of the social and cultural meanings that women apply to certain cultural practices, and how they negotiate and reflexively engage with such practices.

Canonical cultural narratives and power structures can certainly strain and marginalise women, and not all women may be afforded opportunities to exercise agency in severely subordinated contexts. However, as the current research has shown, stereotypical representations of women fail to acknowledge the diversity of women's experiences in their individual contexts. In the current research, a post-colonial perspective has provided a valuable framework to challenge essentialising and binary depictions of 'third-world women' as passive and oppressed. The findings highlight the diversity of British Bangladeshi women's subjective experiences of inlaws, highlighting the importance of a nuanced understanding of how cultural and social factors shape their world. The women in the current study demonstrated that the ability to exercise agency varied according to the perceived level of choice that the women felt they had in various situations. Rather than viewing agency as synonymous with autonomy, the women in the current study showed how the agency must be viewed from a temporal perspective, which emphasises the idea that the degree to which agency can be exercised can shift over time.

The strategies used to exercise agency reflect the diverse, dynamic, fluid, and hybrid nature of post-colonial feminist subjectivities. Though it may not be consistent with western sensibilities, especially when considering the oppressive contexts some women found themselves in, the findings illustrate the importance of considering agentive acts within oppressive and subordinate contexts; that is, instead of assuming a lack of agency, focus should be directed to understanding women's experiences and choices when forces of agency are brought together upon a 'common conceptual canvas' (Madhok, 2013). The current research has shown how women engage with family politics to exercise agency in their lives, even though in some instances some choices may not have been their preference. It challenges depictions of women as a homogenous category and illustrates how the intersectionality of gender, ethnicity, and religion (Crenshaw, 1991) influences how they exercise agency in a way that is 'fit for purpose' (Pande, 2015) in their lives, which considers the wider familial social and cultural context.

5.6 Implications of Findings and Recommendations for Policy And Practice

The current research aimed to explore Bangladeshi women's experience of their in-laws. The study hoped to educate academics, clinicians, social workers, law and policymakers, and the general public, to better understand the cultural context of Bangladeshi women's experience and their relationship with their affinal kin.

Positive reactions to sharing experiences in the interview suggest that talking about shame and honour in the therapeutic setting could be helpful.

The findings of the current study and existing literature suggest that shame-focused interventions could be beneficial for Bangladeshi women (Tonsing & Barn, 2017). These could be particularly beneficial for women who engage in self-blame for their experiences of abuse. Interventions such as compassion-focused therapy (Gilbert, 2011) and strengths-based empowerment projects (Lloyd et al., 2017) could be particularly helpful.

Anyone designing an intervention for British Bangladeshi women needs to be aware that this cultural group is not a homogeneous population, and therefore individuals will require a comprehensive, person-specific and culturally informed assessment before engaging in an intervention (Sue et al., 2009).

Training for women in understanding relationships, specifically inequality in relationships may be a helpful alternative to western medical models of distress. An awareness of the role of *izzat* and how that influences the experience of shame may be helpful to women and alleviate psychological distress. However, the sensitive nature of discussing abuse and shame means that it is a topic that is avoided in therapy (Dearing & Tangney, 2011; Gilbert, 2011; Teyber et al., 2011). Gilbert (1998) argues that it is crucial in clinical practice to raise awareness of shame and find strategies to enable clients to discuss sensitive matters. Less confrontational intervention may encourage discussions about izzat and abusive experiences. Group sessions allowing women to meet others in similar situations may enable them to express themselves and talk about their experiences. Additionally, online support may be helpful for women to have discussions, and may particularly benefit women with limited opportunities to leave their homes. Additionally, online sessions may also allow women the freedom to remain anonymous, particularly those who fear being shamed or ostracised by the wider community. Furthermore, survivors of difficult in-law relationships may be consulted and even lead support groups for others in similar situations. This may be particularly beneficial for those who have been isolated and unable to engage with others in the community, receive peer support and work collectively for social change.

A family systems framework sheds light on how power dynamics influence relationships and individuals in a family (Schmidt, 2008). Two fundamental dimensions of the family systems theory are cohesion and power (Minuchin, 1985). This framework argues that problems relating to the hierarchy, boundary or alignment of the family structure result in impairing the resources

for coping with and adapting effectively to stressful situations (van As & Janssens, 2002). Consequently, family problems are conceptualised by understanding how power is distributed amongst family members, how boundaries are managed and how conflicts are resolved (Minuchin, 1974). This could be a helpful group or community intervention to raise awareness of family dynamics.

Cognitive behavioural approaches to abuse may be useful for those who prefer one-to-one or couple therapy. This framework would view abusive behaviours as emanating from gender stereotypes, misogyny and sexist attitudes. These components are typical of patriarchal culture and have particular implications for an individual's thoughts and behaviour. From this perspective, men are socialised to uphold specific and rigid beliefs and behaviours, which results in a deficit in managing conflicts and in their ability to control anger (Stuart et al., 2007). Imbued with gender stigma, perpetrators develop hostile attitudes and beliefs and a distorted understanding of relationships (Gould et al., 2012). Cognitive behavioural interventions would focus on challenging long-held and rigid core beliefs about gender norms and roles and reeducate them to increase their awareness of abuse (Hilder et al., 2016).

Singh and Hays (2008) found that Feminist Group Counselling was helpful for South Asian victims of abuse. These group interventions also considered the role of culture in shaping experiences and intersectional feminism. The groups allowed space for women to understand systemic factors that lead to shame, thus allowing them to externalise feelings of guilt and shame. Similar groups could be set up; design and facilitation of such groups would require some consideration of factors that may help or hinder engagement. This would include designing culturally sensitive interventions, selecting a facilitator who can manage and reduce power imbalances, and carefully managing sessions to prevent clients from feeling 'othered' or further stigmatised.

Ethnic matching may be helpful, in order for facilitators to be viewed as someone who is aware of the culture. However, a facilitator will have to be aware that some clients may also be apprehensive about speaking to someone from the same community, and fear being judged. In that respect, non-Bangladeshi facilitators may be a helpful alternative; however, again, they will need to be aware of clients' fear of confidentiality being breached. Non-Bangladeshi facilitators may also have to engage in learning about the cultural and familial values of the Bangladeshi community and reflect on their own biases and assumptions. Whilst it is important to understand and respect a client's culture, the United Nations clarifies that practices that

involve violence against women cannot be condoned or overlooked on the grounds of culture (Coomarswamy, 1996). Meetoo and Mirza (2010) argue that it would be a misguided form of cultural relativism if abuse against women is accepted in the name of respecting a particular culture. Instead, James (2010) argues that practitioners can be both respectful of someone's culture and simultaneously challenge unjust ideologies and practices.

Rather than taking at face value the prevailing negative stereotypes of in-law relations, the current research illustrates the complexity of such relationships and how women make sense of their experiences. Their narratives illustrate subtle and nuanced experiences shaped by the participants' cultural context. For example, the tension of moving out of in-law settings may not be an issue in the western context but may be a complicating issue that compounds women's experiences with in-laws. Furthermore, the values held by the participants have important implications for women who may use psychological services. The research highlighted some of the participants' needs to consider other people's well-being at the expense of their own. Within a therapeutic setting, this may be important for clinicians to consider, as promoting self-care may not be a concept with which clients can easily resonate.

Crucially, there is a need for greater awareness among service providers and the wider community of the abusive aspects of in-law relationships. The current research revealed the risk of abuse from in-laws, which contrasts with the conventional western understanding of domestic violence as being within couples. It illustrates the ways in which wider familial and cultural factors need to be considered to understand how gender stereotypes are used to control and perpetuate the abuse of women. To fully appreciate Bangladeshi women's experience of abuse, the role of the wider family must be recognised in the perpetration of abuse by multiple perpetrators. Within therapeutic settings and risk assessments, questions about the wider family as a potential source of abuse need to be considered. Additionally, service providers must explore the role of the wider family in also influencing and instigating intimate partner violence against women. Furthermore, the current study highlighted how some participants persevered to maintain in-law relationships despite emotional abuse. This necessitates that service providers and clinicians be aware of the complexities that shape women's experience of abuse.

Training and education are vital for service providers, policymakers, faith leaders/imams, and the community at large. Awareness must be raised of the structural inequalities that exacerbate women's experience of abuse. Therefore, training and education that highlight the cultural

specificities of how family structures and relationships can become the place where women face abuse need to be considered.

Many of the women in the study spoke about relying on their faith as part of their coping mechanism and as a way of exercising agency in their lives. Some attended classes that helped them to apply a religious perspective to understand relationships and facilitate better communication. Previous research has shown that the Bangladeshi community turns to multiple sources of support for their health needs and, for many, religious support or a faith leader may be their first point of contact. This points to opening a dialogue between service providers, clinicians, and imams for sharing information on how best to support the Bangladeshi community. A multidisciplinary approach can make a substantial impact in protecting women against abuse.

In conclusion, raising awareness and educating the wider community on various forms of abuse, including those that can be experienced within an extended family, is paramount in helping to identify signs of abuse early on. Raising awareness of Bangladeshi women's experiences through training and education can be particularly beneficial for clinical practice, services provision, and the benefit of the wider community. However, as the post-colonial perspective has highlighted, it is crucial not to homogenise Bangladeshi women's experiences and assume they all face abuse or that all in-laws are abusive. Instead, Bangladeshi women's experiences need to be considered in their contexts.

5.7 Strengths, Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research

The main objective of this research was to expand knowledge of in-law relationships and address gaps in the literature which has not explored the experiences of British Bangladeshi women in the UK. The strength of the current research is that it has attempted to fill this gap and build on the limited research on affinal relationships. Previous research has mostly focused on the mother-in-law and daughter-in-law dyad. An additional strength of the current research is that it has also demonstrated the role of the wider family. Moreover, it includes how the role of the husband can mediate in-law relationship experiences and considers a temporal perspective to illustrate how these in-law relationships may change over time.

As with most narrative research, the findings generated from the small sample of women I interviewed mean there is room for further exploration in this topic area. Whilst my research has covered a handful of Bangladeshi women's experiences of living with in-laws, further research into this group, and other cultural groups from various backgrounds and ages, would help to illuminate and add depth to this topic area. For example, all the Bangladeshi women in the study were relatively young and spoke fluent English and were motivated to share their experiences. This may have led to bias in the research, reflecting the views of those willing to talk about their experiences. Most of the participants from my research were not living with inlaws at the time. This may have given them time to process their experiences and be able to verbalise them relatively more easily. It also means that the research does not account for women who are in particularly subordinate positions and who may have been able to provide valuable insight into this research area. It may be that participants who currently live with inlaws are less accessible and may not even have the opportunity to speak, especially if there are constraints around going out. Alternative research designs, such as anonymous web-based research, may have reached more women, particularly those who may face constraints around participating in research.

It is important to point out that even within the same demographic group, samples are not entirely homogenous. Several factors within the same cultural group could affect the results of a study. Whilst collecting more detailed demographic information from participants may have compromised confidentiality, perhaps additional information on education and employment history may have added some context for consideration during analysis.

Whilst it was initially thought that having broad inclusion criteria would encourage participation from a hard-to-reach group, this does have its disadvantages. The participants'

experiences were diverse and perhaps it may have been helpful to limit the inclusion criteria to a more specific group such as by age, ensuring they still live with in-laws or perhaps exploring experiences early experiences of in-law relationships for those who are newly married. Nonetheless, the current study the diversity of women's experiences.

The impact of in-laws on the marital dyad has been typically explored in western contexts; the assumption in non-western contexts may be that martial quality is a less salient concept in comparison to the relationship between in-law members. However, the current research illustrated how some participants (e.g., Halima, Hamida, Shuma and Selina) shared how relationships with their in-laws affected their marital relationship. Further research on this area would also make a valuable contribution to this topic.

An area to develop as part of future research would be to generate perspectives from different members of a family, which would certainly enrich understanding of in-law relationships and illuminate multiple perspectives and multiple realities. Not only would it be interesting to continue exploring experiences with similar backgrounds to those already interviewed, but also older women, those with limited English, men's experiences, and other participants within an extended family setting to explore alternative views and beliefs. It would also be interesting to explore gender, generational, and cultural differences and consider how their beliefs and meanings would further add more knowledge to the limited literature.

Another way of researching this topic would be to see how people would talk about in-laws in group settings, and it would be interesting to see the outcome of a focus group. There are also many blogs with people talking quite openly about their experiences with in-laws, which would make an interesting study in itself, with data already generated and ready to be analysed. The current research also points to further research to be conducted on the potential abuse that women experience among in-law relatives, to highlight further the cultural factors that influence abuse from in-laws.

It is important to note that the in-law family system is not exclusive to the Bangladeshi culture, and it would be interesting to explore this in other cultures.

5.8 Summary and Conclusion

The current thesis documents the subjective experiences of Bangladeshi women's experiences of in-law relationships. Prevailing beliefs about in-laws can easily be taken for granted and seem so obvious on the surface so as to not warrant further attention and inquiry. The research has highlighted that, even within the same cultural group, there are subtleties and nuances that bring to surface the depth and multifaceted nature of the experiences and highlight the complexity in supposedly shared experiences. The research highlighted the overarching role that culture and religion play in shaping women's experiences. It also illustrates that the simple notion of marriage being reduced to the union of husband and wife actually extends beyond this for this cultural group; that really, marriage is a "family marriage". Participants showed the various ways in which they perceived their sense of agency within the in-law family system and how they negotiated and claimed identity within this context. Fundamentally, the diversity of experiences expressed by the participants highlight that culture is a flexible construct subject to change.

I feel privileged to have been a participant and a contender in both camps in relation to this research topic. As I inquired about their experiences, I entered and witnessed their storied lives and as I listened to their stories, my own stories were shaped in different ways as some experiences resonated with me, and I felt challenged and moved by others. In all these ways, my own understanding and knowledge was being enriched, as is intended by the process of heuristic inquiry. Steier (1991) asserted that research enables the revealing of our own tacit world. A simple but poignant emphasis that was commonly shared by the participants and that helped bring to being some of my own tacit understanding, was their unrelenting efforts to make the in-law relationships "work", even under extreme circumstances and at the cost of their own well-being. The current research highlights how unwritten cultural rules are set invisibly in stone, internalised strongly within individuals, and exercised in ways that could be detrimental to the physical and emotional well-being of others. It points to taking seriously how in-law family dynamics can often lack awareness or hide behind cultural rules to substantiate and legitimise abuse. Education on how such dynamics are played out can be extremely fruitful for professionals and are in line with Berkland and Jain (as cited in Dunn & Manning, 2018); that the wider community may benefit from family-wide education on in-law relations and dynamics and the impact this has on individuals.

My hope for writing this research is that it will probe the curiosity of others, and I remain optimistic that the story I have presented here of other people's stories does not remain confined within the borders of academia but goes beyond in reaching out to people for whom these experiences resonate the most, to the wider community. I also hope it will influence and be a useful contribution to counselling psychology and help in shaping and executing the delivery of mental health services, the training of staff about different family systems as influenced by cultural beliefs, and the refining of supervisory practices to avoid falling prey to the "Procrustean dilemma" of fitting clients in with a theory.

CHAPTER 6: REFLEXIVITY

Having grown up within Bangladeshi culture, I have come to take for granted many aspects of its values and systems, including the tradition of Bangladeshi women marrying and moving in with their in-laws, and their experiences within the extended family system. My main objective was a qualitative exploration of Bangladeshi women's subjective experiences of in-law relationships.

Within this thesis, I have kept in mind Riessman's (1993, 2008) and Yardley's (2000) criteria for ensuring validity, to demonstrate the various ways in which I ensure commitment, sensitivity to context, transparency, coherence, persuasiveness, impact and importance.

The introspective and retrospective account that follows reflects awareness of the constructive nature of the research, which involved both a contemplative stance and active engagement (Berger & Luckmann, 1991; Ben-Ari & Enosh, 2011). It also illustrates the constant movement between being in the phenomenon and stepping out of it, where knowledge is created and co-constructed in liminal spaces, emanating from mutual reflection by myself and the participants, and within the interview process.

Discussing the research with others in the early stages produced some interesting responses. I noticed marked cultural and gender differences in reaction to talking about the topic. It generated much excitement among friends, relatives and potential participants. My conversations with other Bangladeshi women evoked excitement, as they felt that women's voices would finally be heard; some also expressed apprehension, however, especially those who felt that their parents had had a difficult relationship with their daughters-in-law.

This excitement was not shared by Bangladeshi men in general, perhaps because I was a Bangladeshi woman researching other women, leading them to feel that I would naturally have a bias toward the women's side of the story. I experienced distance and suspicion. I, myself, questioned and interpreted the potential impact of my research on many levels; did I appear to threaten and perhaps betray the cultural tradition of a family system that has been preserved for generations? Was I problematising relationships unnecessarily, and consequently creating potential conflict and tension through my enquiry that may not have arisen had I not invited women to share and reflect on their stories? Will my questioning and probing make the women question their own story and identity in ways that threaten the family system? And as a result, will this create conflict in their homes? Will I be opening up wounds and exposing the hidden

and dark dimension of in-law relations? And how will men be portrayed in their multiple familial roles as son, husband, brother, uncle, etc.? I felt that, from their perspective, I could potentially be responsible for damaging relationships, and this could lead to undesired outcomes. Ultimately, being part of Bangladeshi culture, was I inadvertently committing some kind of cultural treason? During my training, I was exposed to the challenge of the growing older adult population, to social and voluntary sector services becoming increasingly unsustainable as service provisions were being cut, and the difficulty of accessing psychological care in providing mental health support. I reflected on how the in-law family system provided in-house care for some families without the need to burden already oversubscribed services; I became concerned about whether my research would become overcritical of the very family system that may prevent issues such as loneliness and poor mental health in older adults. My moral and ethical compass remains unsettled.

It was clear from these thoughts, that I documented at various points of my research journey, that I was perhaps preparing myself to hear negative experiences; this realisation helped me to be more open-minded towards the stories, listening to them holistically. I found that my initial expectation of hearing negative stories mirrored the interpretation by some participants of my research topic — that it is seeking to identify people who have had negative experiences with in-laws, rather than seeking to understand their experiences as a whole.

Berger (2015) presents both the benefits and challenges of three possible research positions; (1) when the researcher shares experience with the participants, (2) when the researcher shifts from 'outsider' to 'insider' during the course of the research, and (3) when the researcher is unfamiliar with the experiences of the participants. I was able to relate to the first two points, and it was difficult to find unfamiliar aspects; some experiences were similar to both my personal experience and my professional experience through hearing others' stories. Quite notably, I was an 'insider' in the research in many respects; I am a Bangladeshi, Muslim woman who has lived with in-laws, studying other Bangladeshi women who have lived with or were living with in-laws. Other points at which some of us converged were that we were born, raised, educated and worked in the UK.

Vernon (1997) suggested that researching from the 'inside' and making experiences known can be empowering. The points at which we diverged are highlighted in the research. I oscillated between being an 'outsider' and being an 'insider'. Some of the experiences where I felt like an outsider were related to certain opinions shared by participants, especially with regard to

the extent that which hardship was tolerated at the expense of well-being. Also, at times, I felt that I was not on the same wavelength, from a religious perspective, as some of the participants, though was able to grasp what they were trying to communicate.

My position may have influenced how participants told their stories. Our shared ethnicity may have made them wonder about confidentiality. For example, one of the participants asked me which district my family is from in Bangladesh. She may have felt that she would not be able to be completely honest about her in-law experiences if I revealed I was from the same district. Some may also have feared that, being Bangladeshi, I may judge them for their actions or for what they had experienced with their in-laws, and they may not have revealed all the details. Therefore, the analysis may not reflect the participants' experience in its entirety. Nonetheless, the research has provided insights into some British Bangladeshi Muslim women's experiences of in-law relationships.

The shared ethnic and religious background may also have been a strength. Bhopal (2010) suggests that shared gender and identity allow for rapport and trust to be built to encourage respondents to openly discuss their personal experiences. Ethnic matching and insider status can produce more accurate details in research (Papadopoulous & Lees, 2002), but Bhopal (2010) suggests that it is actually ambiguous, complex and fraught with tensions. However, narrative studies are not concerned with seeking an objective 'truth'; what was more important in the current research was exploring the participants' subjective experiences. My insider status did not guarantee access to participants, but once I was able to obtain access, our shared identities may have helped to develop trust and encourage participants to share their experiences.

Gender matching can be important in a researcher/researched relationship. In Hossain and Khan's (2019) research on Bangladeshi carers, many participants refused to attend the interviews due to the gender difference between them and the researchers. It was also found that the shared ethnicity posed some problems in recruiting participants as they were suspicious that the researchers were secret government agents. Taking into consideration the tight-knit nature of the Bangladeshi community, one of the disadvantages of being an insider and researching a sensitive topic is the risk of threat and ridicule from the community (Skinner, Hester & Malos, 2013) and also by family and friends (Schwartz, 1997). Additionally, due to confidentiality, it may also mean that some aspects of the work cannot be openly talked or written about (Skinner et al., 2013).

Any research that draws attention to abuse within minoritised communities has the potential to fuel racism and stereotyping further (Burman & Chantler, 2004; Pratt et al., 2004). I experienced some anxiety about being an insider in the research and writing about participants with whom I share a culture. I was concerned that I may be doing the participants and the Bangladeshi community a disservice by unintentionally misrepresenting them in writing up the research. For example, I was aware of feeling uncomfortable about how to present negative views expressed by the participants about Bangladeshi culture and was also concerned that the research may stereotype this group further. Sharing the initial global impressions from provisional analysis provided an opportunity for participants to offer their feedback. Further discussions in research supervision in relation to the analysis also gave the opportunity to ensure that the written themes and interpretations were closely aligned with the raw data.

To remedy some anxiety about being an insider in the research, I endeavoured to embody the stance of a scientist-practitioner and reflective practitioner (Woolfe, 2012), and integrate these within my research (Hanley, 2017). Hanley argues that integrating the two models can enhance the ongoing practice of Counselling Psychologists. Counselling Psychologists often negotiate and manage 'two different underpinning philosophies', the technical features of the scientist-practitioner role and the subjective and relational features of the reflective practitioner role (Kasket & Gil Rodriguez, 2011, p.21). For example, reflective practice denotes a 'way of being' which aids other key functions of the identity of Counselling Psychologists (Donati, 2016). As well as attuning to the values of reflexivity, intersubjectivity and the social construction of meaning-making, it also supports the scientist-practitioner model and the need for critical awareness of how different features influence the research process and outcomes (Donati, 2016)

Carrying out high-quality research is a requirement in Counselling Psychology doctoral programmes (Kasket, 2016). The scientist-practitioner model advocates for practitioners in training to allow their applied clinical work to be influenced by research, as well as for their clinical work to inform the areas they go on to research. Adopting this evidenced-based approach to both clinical practice and research means that when conducting research with careful attention, representing as much integrity as possible, the narratives of participants. My commitment to attempting to capture the narratives of the people who participated in this study is also a reflection on my acknowledgement of the need to aim to produce good-quality research.

As an insider, I was also aware of the risk of reaching premature conclusions based on preconceived ideas about the outcomes. Being an insider also meant that my familiarity with my own culture would lead to me taking for granted the tacit information present in the data. Mercer (2007) referred to this as the challenge of an insider's inability to 'make the familiar strange' (p.7). To allay the risk of premature conclusions, I stayed close to the raw data, following the analytical steps for each participant carefully to ensure that the data is rigorously interpreted and thus credible and trustworthy. Sharing the data with my research supervisor, with whom I did not share the same culture, also helped to delineate tacit patterns and regularities in the data.

There were some definite advantages in the shared identity of being Bengali, Sylheti-speaking women. For one thing, it allowed the participants to communicate in what I have termed 'Banglish', i.e., speaking in both English and Bengali-Sylheti, as I understood both. Our shared culture meant that I was an insider for some experiences. My identity meant that they did not need to elaborate on some terms and matters, as I had 'cultural intuition' and 'the ability to understand implied content...in a nuanced and multi-level way' (Berger, 2015). However, the similarities can be both a blessing and a curse. Whilst Bhopal (2010) found it useful in her research to maintain a 'distance' and encourage participants to explain details of their lives of which they both had knowledge, I felt I was not genuine in asking participants to elaborate on Bengali phrases which I fully understood, such as asking Halima to explain what 'betinthor khofaal' means, for the purpose of explaining it in the interview context. At other times I succumbed to my own cultural blind spots, as I did not ask them to elaborate on some terms, because I took the similarities for granted and overlooked certain aspects of their experience (Daly, 1992).

The pluralistic philosophy of Counselling Psychology means that there are many ways in which in-law relationships could be explored. I have only presented one of the ways in which narrative research could be carried out, analysed and interpreted. As Riessman (2008) stated, narrative research is not a panacea and there are also various other ways in which to research and document a topic. Having had some time out of research and returning to it, I too noticed the different ways in which I now look at my data. As Finlay (2002) points out, any 'reflexive analysis can only be partial, tentative, provisional' (p.542). I extend this idea to the reflexivity

of the entire research process as, when I look back on it in the future, I am sure I shall find other points for reflection.

REFERENCES

Abbas, T. (2000). How South Asians achieve education: a comparative study of Bangladeshis, Indians and Pakistanis in Birmingham schools and colleges [Doctoral dissertation, University of Warwick]. http://webcat.warwick.ac.uk/record=b1667286~S15

Abdugafurova, D., Abdugafurov, R., & Moran, B. (2017). Islamic feminism and invisible work: The case of the disappearing daughter-in-law. *The Georgetown Journal of Gender and the Law*, 19, 43–60.

Abraham, M. (2002). Addressing domestic violence among South Asians in the United States. *Hofstra Horizons*, 12-16.

Abram, D. (1996). *The spell of the sensuous: perception and language in a more-than-human*. New York: Vintage.

Afifi, W. A., & Guerrero, L. K. (1998). Some things are better left unsaid II: Topic avoidance in friendships. *Communication Quarterly*, 46(3), 231-249.

Afifi, W. A., & Guerrero, L. K. (2000). Motivations underlying topic avoidance in close relationships. In S. Petronio (Eds.), *Balancing the secrets of private disclosures* (pp. 165–180). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.

Agyeman, G. S. (2008). White researcher-black subjects: Exploring the challenges of researching the marginalised and 'invisible'. *The Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 6(1), 77-84.

Ahmed, B., Reavey, P., & Majumdar, A. (2009). Constructions of Culture. In accounts of South Asian women survivors of sexual violence. *Feminism & Psychology*, 19(1), 7-28.

Ahmed, S. (2003). Feminist futures. A concise Companion to Feminist Theory, 236-254.

Ahmed, S. (2017). Living a Feminist Life. London: Duke University Press Books.

Ahmed-Ghosh, H. (2004). Chattels of society: Domestic violence in India. *Violence against women*, 10(1), 94-118.

Alcoff, L. (1988). Cultural feminism versus post-structuralism: The identity crisis in feminist theory. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, 13(3), 405-436.

Al-Ghanim, K. A. (2020). Consanguineous marriage in the Arab societies. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 11, 166-168.

Ali, D. (2015). 'British Muslims in Numbers' report by The Muslim Council of Britain.

Ali, P. A., O'Cathain, A., & Croot, E. (2021). Influences of extended family on intimate partner violence: Perceptions of Pakistanis in Pakistan and the United Kingdom. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *36*(9-10), 3965–3993.

Alkhateeb, S. (1999). Ending domestic violence in Muslim families. *Journal of Religion & Abuse*, *I*(4), 49-59.

Allen, J. (2011). Lost geographies of power. John Wiley & Sons.

Allendorf, K. (2012). Women's agency and the quality of family relationships in India. *Population Research and Policy Review*, 31(2), 187-206.

Allendorf, K. (2017). Like her own: Ideals and experiences of the mother-in-law/daughter-in-law relationship. *Journal of Family Issues*, 38(15), 2102-2127.

Aloud, N., & Rathur, A. (2009). Factors affecting attitudes toward seeking and using formal mental health and psychological services among Arab Muslim populations. *Journal of Muslim Mental Health*, 4(2), 79-103.

Al-Wazedi, U. (2020). Post-colonial Feminism. *Companion to Feminist Studies*, 155–173. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119314967.ch9

Ammar, N., Couture-Carron, A., Alvi, S., & Antonio, J. S. (2013). Experiences of Muslim and non-Muslim battered immigrant women with the police in the United States: A closer understanding of commonalities and differences. *Violence Against Women*, 19(12), 1449-1471.

Amir, M. (1971). Patterns in Forcible Rape. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

Amri, S., & Bemak, F. (2013). Mental health help-seeking behaviors of Muslim immigrants in the United States: Overcoming social stigma and cultural mistrust. *Journal of Muslim Mental Health*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.3998/jmmh.10381607.0007.104

Anand, A. S., & Cochrane, R. (2005). The mental health status of South Asian women in Britain: A review of the UK literature. *Psychology and Developing Societies*, 17(2), 195-214.

Anderson, W. A. (2016). "You're not part of the family": Understanding the turning points and family system consequences of high conflict mother-/daughter-in-law relationships [Doctoral dissertation, North Dakota State University].

Anitha, S., Chopra, P., Farouk, W., Haq, Q. J., Khan, S., & Mansoor, A. (2009). Domestic violence and mental health: experiences of South Asian women in Manchester. Project Report. Saheli Asian Women's Project Manchester, Manchester.

Apter, T. (2010). What do you want from me?: Learning to get along with in-laws. New York, W.W.Norton & Company.

Aujla, W. (2013). Voicing Challenges: South Asian Immigrant Women Speak Out about their Experiences of Domestic Violence and Access to Services. [Master Thesis, University of Alberta]. https://era.library.ualberta.ca/items/927dc9f1-2177-4460-815a-0386020ca556

Aujla, W., & Gill, A. K. (2014). Conceptualizing Honour Killings in Canada: An Extreme Form of Domestic Violence?. *International Journal of Criminal Justice Sciences*, 9(1).

Baehr, A. R. (2017). A capacious account of liberal feminism. Feminist Philosophy Quarterly, 3(1).

Bagozzi, R. P., Verbeke, W., & Gavino Jr, J. C. (2003). Culture moderates the self-regulation of shame and its effects on performance: The case of salespersons in the Netherlands and the Philippines. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(2), 219.

Baker, C. (2018). *Mental Health Statistics for England: prevalence, services and funding (Briefing Paper 6988)*. London, UK: House of Commons Library. https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN06988/SN06988.pdf

Baluja, K. F. (2003). Gender roles at home and abroad: The Adaptation of Bangladeshi Immigrants. New York: LFB Scholarly Publishing LLC.

Bamberg, M. (2011). Narrative practice and identity navigation. In J. A. Holstein & J. F. Gubrium (Eds.), *Varieties of Narrative Analysis* (pp. 99–122). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Bartels, S. A., Michael, S., Vahedi, L., Collier, A., Kelly, J., Davison, C., Scott, J., Parmar, P., & Geara, P. (2019). SenseMaker as a monitoring and evaluation tool to provide new insights on gender-based violence programs and services in Lebanon. *Evaluation and program planning*, 77, 101715.

Bartlett, F. C. (1932). Remembering: A Study in Experimental and Social Psychology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Baumgardner, J. (2011). F'em!: Goo Goo, Gaga, and Some Thoughts on Balls. Berkeley, CA: Seal Press.

Baxter, L. A., & Braithwaite, D. O. (2006). Introduction: Metatheory and theory in family communication research. In D. O Braithwaite & L.A. Baxter (Eds.), *Engaging theories in family communication: Multiple perspectives* (pp. 1-15). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Becker, H. S., & Richards, P. (1986). Writing for Social Scientists: How to Start and Finish Your Thesis, Book or Article. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Bell, K. M., & Naugle, A. E. (2008). Intimate partner violence theoretical considerations: Moving towards a contextual framework. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 28(7), 1096-1107.

Bellamy, G., & Gott, M. (2013). What are the priorities for developing culturally appropriate palliative and end-of-life care for older people? The views of healthcare staff working in New Zealand. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 21(1), 26-34.

Belzen, J. A. (2010). Psychology of religion: Perspectives from cultural psychology. *Mental Health, Religion & Culture*, 13(4), 329-347.

Ben-Ari, A., & Enosh, G. (2011). Processes of reflectivity: Knowledge construction in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work*, 10(2), 152-171.

Berger, P. L. & Luckmann, T. (1991). *The Social Construction of Reality. A Treatise in the Sociology of Knowledge*. London & New York: Penguin Books.

Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 15(2), 219-234.

Berkland, M., & Jain, S. C. (2018). The making of a hollow Bahu (Indian daughter-in-law). In J. C. Dunn & J. Manning (Eds.), *Transgressing feminist theory and discourse: Advancing conversations across disciplines*. Routledge.

Bernard, J., & Goodyear, R. (2009). Fundamentals of Clinical Supervision (4th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education, Inc.

Bertaux, D. (1995). A response to Thierry Kochuyt's 'Biographical and empiricist illusions: A reply to recent criticism'. Newsletter of Biography and Society. Research Committee 38, International Sociological Association. https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781446260883

Betancourt, J. R., Corbett, J., & Bondaryk, M. R. (2014). Addressing disparities and achieving equity: cultural competence, ethics, and health-care transformation. *Chest*, *145*(1), 143-148.

Bhabha, H. (1990). *The Third Space: Interview with Homi Bhabha. Identity: Community, Culture, Difference.* Ed. Jonathan Rutherford. London: Lawrence and Wishart, 207-221.

Bhabha, H. K. (1996). Culture's in-between. Questions of Cultural Identity. London: Sage.

Bhandari, S. (2020). Identification of abuse experiences of South Asian women in the US and women in Mumbai, India. *Health Care for Women International*, 41(6), 649-672.

Bhardwaj, A. (2001). Growing up young, Asian and female in Britain: A report on self-harm and suicide. *Feminist Review*, 68(1), 52-67.

Bhaskar, R. (1975). A Realist Theory of Science. London: Verso Books

Bhawuk, D.P.S. (2017). *lajjA* in Indian Psychology: Spiritual, Social, and Literary Perspectives. In: Vanderheiden, E., Mayer, CH. (eds) *The Value of Shame* (pp. 109-134). Springer, Cham.

Bhopal, K. (1998). South Asian women in East London: Motherhood and social support. In *Women's Studies International Forum*, 21(5), 485-492.

Bhopal, K. (2010). Gender, identity and experience: Researching marginalised groups. In *Women's Studies International Forum*, 33(3), 188-195.

Bhopal, R. S. (2007). *Ethnicity, Race, and Health in Multicultural Societies: Foundations for Better Epidemiology, Public Health, and Health Care.* Oxford University Press.

Bhugra, D., Desai, M., & Baldwin, D. S. (1999). Attempted suicide in west London, I. Rates across ethnic communities. *Psychological Medicine*, *29*(5), 1125-1130.

Bisby, N., Singam, S., Beattie, A., Ekiko, F., & Clilverd, A. (2003). *The mental health needs of the Bangladeshi community in Camden-an action research project*. Bengali Womens Health Project, Camden Primary Care Trust NHS, Camden and Islington Mental Health and Social Care Trust NHS. http://bwhp.co.uk/pdf/reports/mental health action research report.pdf

Bluck, S., & Alea, N. (2002). Exploring the functions of autobiographical memory: Why do I remember the autumn? In J. D. Webster & B. K. Haight (Eds.), *Critical Advances in Reminiscence Work* (pp. 61–75). New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company.

Bolognani, M., & Mellor, J. (2012). British Pakistani women's use of the 'religion versus culture' contrast: A critical analysis. *Culture and Religion*, *13*(2), 211-226.

Bonamy, D. (1973). *Immigrants from Bangladesh*. National Centre for Industrial Language Training.

Brah, A. (1996). Cartographies of Diaspora: Contesting Identities. New York: Routledge.

Brah, A., & Phoenix, A. (2004). Ain't I a woman? Revisiting intersectionality. *Journal of International Women's Studies*, 5(3), 75-86.

Braidotti, R. (2008). In spite of the times: The postsecular turn in feminism. *Theory, Culture & Society*, 25(6), 1-24.

Brandon J. & Hafez S. (2008). *Crimes of the Community: Honour-Based Violence in the* UK. London: Centre for Social Cohesion.

British Psychological Society. (2009). *Code of ethics and conduct*. British Psychological Society.

British Psychological Society (2018) Guidance for Psychologists on working with Community Organisations www.bps.org.uk/files/Policy/Policy%20-%20Files/Guidance%20for%20psychologists%20on%20working%20with%20community%20organisations%20(Sep%202018).PDF

Brooks, L. A., Manias, E., & Bloomer, M. J. (2019). Culturally sensitive communication in healthcare: A concept analysis. *Collegian*, 26(3), 383-391.

Brownmiller, S. (1993). Against our will: Men, women, and rape. New York: Ballantine Books.

Bruner, J. (1986). Two modes of thought. In J. Bruner (Ed.), *Actual Minds, Possible Worlds*. (pp. 11-43.). Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Bruner, J. (1990). Acts of Meaning. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Bruner, J. (1991). The narrative construction of reality. *Critical Inquiry*, 18(1), 1-21.

Bruner, J. (2003). Self-making narratives. In R. Fivush, & C. A. Haden (Eds.), Autobiographical Memory and the Construction of a Narrative Self. Developmental and Cultural Perspectives (pp. 225-242). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Bruton, J., Jones, K., Jenkins, R., Davies, B., Ward, H., & Toledano, M. (2020). Barriers and facilitators to the participation of people from Black and Minority Ethnic (BME). *Communities in health research: a case study from the SCAMP adolescent cohort study.* 4(2), 207-219.

Bryant, C. M., Conger, R. D., & Meehan, J. M. (2001). The influence of in-laws on change in marital success. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 63(3), 614-626.

Burkard, A. W., Johnson, A. J., Madson, M. B., Pruitt, N. T., Contreras-Tadych, D. A., Kozlowski, J. M., Hess, S. A., & Knox, S. (2006). Supervisor cultural responsiveness and unresponsiveness in cross-cultural supervision. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, 53(3), 288.

Burman, E., & Chantler, K. (2004). Domestic violence and minoritisation: Legal and policy barriers facing minoritized women leaving violent relationships. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 28(1), 59–74

Burr, J. (2002). Cultural stereotypes of women from South Asian communities: mental health care professionals' explanations for patterns of suicide and depression. *Social Science & Medicine*, 55(5), 835-845.

Burr, V. (2015). An Introduction to Social Constructionism. London: Routledge.

Butler, J. (1990). Gender trouble, feminist theory, and psychoanalytic discourse. In L. McDowell & J. Sharp (Eds.), *Space, Gender, Knowledge: Feminist Readings* (pp. 16). London: Routledge.

Callan, A. (2012). Patients and Agents: Mental Illness, Modernity and Islam in Sylhet, Bangladesh. New York: Berghahn Books.

Campbell, J., Jones, A. S., Dienemann, J., Kub, J., Schollenberger, J., O'Campo, P., Carlson, A. G., & Wynne, C. (2002). Intimate partner violence and physical health consequences. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *162*(10), 1157-1163.

Cao, H., Fine, M., Fang, X., & Zhou, N. (2019). Chinese adult children's perceived parents' satisfaction with adult children's marriage, in-law relationship quality, and adult children's marital satisfaction. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 36(4), 1098-1122.

Carbaugh, D. (1990). Toward a perspective on cultural communication and intercultural contact. *Semiotica*, 80(1-2), 15-36.

Caretta, M. A. (2016). Member checking: A feminist participatory analysis of the use of preliminary results pamphlets in cross-cultural, cross-language research. *Qualitative Research*, 16(3), 305-318.

Carter, S.M., & Little, M. (2007). Justifying Knowledge, Justifying Method, Taking Action: Epistemologies, Methodologies, and Methods in Qualitative Research. *Qualitative Health Research*. *17*(10), 1316-1328.

Castro, E. D., Nobles, M. R., & Zavala, E. (2017). Assessing intimate partner violence in a control balance theory framework. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 35(3-4), 600-622.

Caughlin, J., & Afifi, T. D. (2004). When is topic avoidance unsatisfying? A more complete investigation into the underlying links between avoidance and dissatisfaction in parent-child and dating relationships. *Human Communication Research*, 30(4), 479-513.

Cavanagh, K. (2003). Understanding women's responses to domestic violence. *Qualitative Social Work*, 2(3), 229–249.

Chan, K. L., Tiwari, A., Fong, D. Y., Leung, W. C., Brownridge, D. A., & Ho, P. C. (2009). Correlates of in-law conflict and intimate partner violence against Chinese pregnant women in Hong Kong. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 24(1), 97-110.

Chan, O. T. (2017). "Daughter (-in-law) of Turkey": an account of international marriages from South East Asian women in Istanbul [Doctoral dissertation, Sabanci University]. https://research.sabanciuniv.edu/id/eprint/34782/1/OiTingChan 10162938.pdf

Chandan, J. S., Thomas, T., Bradbury-Jones, C., Russell, R., Bandyopadhyay, S., Nirantharakumar, K., & Taylor, J. (2020). Female survivors of intimate partner violence and

risk of depression, anxiety and serious mental illness. The British Journal of Psychiatry, 217(4), 562-567.

Chaudhry, T. (2016). *The Stigma of Mental Illness in South Asian Cultures* [Unpublished thesis]. Wellesley College.

Chaudhuri, S., Morash, M., & Yingling, J. (2014). Marriage migration, patriarchal bargains, and wife abuse: A study of South Asian women. *Violence Against Women*, 20(2), 141-161.

Cheung, S. Y. (2014). Ethno-religious minorities and labour market integration: Generational advancement or decline? *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, *37*(1), 140–160.

Chew-Graham, C., Bashir, C., Chantler, K., Burman, E., & Batsleer, J. (2002). South Asian women, psychological distress and self-harm: lessons for primary care trusts. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 10(5), 339-347.

Chhina, R. (2017). An exploration of the experiences of challenging Izzat among six South Asian women [Unpublished doctoral thesis]. City University of London.

Childress, S. (2017). "Plates and dishes smash; married couples clash": Cultural and social barriers to help-seeking among women domestic violence survivors in Kyrgyzstan. *Violence Against Women*, 24(7), 775-797.

Choi, A. W. M., Chan, E. K. L., & Brownridge, D. A. (2010). Unraveling the In-law conflict and its association with intimate. *Women's Health and Urban Life*, 9(1), 72-92.

Choi, H., Nam, B., Kim, S., & Park, C. (2019). Contact with Parents and Parents-in-Law, Gender, and Marital Satisfaction in Korea. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 81(5), 1192-1205.

Chouhan, K., & Nazroo, J. (2020). Health inequalities. In *Ethnicity, Race and Inequality in the UK. State of the Nation* (pp. 73-92). Bristol, UK: Policy Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv14t47tm.10

Chowbey, P. (2017). Women's narratives of economic abuse and financial strategies in Britain and South Asia. *Psychology of Violence*, 7(3), 459.

Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (2004). *Narrative Inquiry: Experience and Story in Qualitative Research*. John Wiley & Sons.

Clark, C. J., Silverman, J. G., Shahrouri, M., Everson-Rose, S., & Groce, N. (2010). The role of the extended family in women's risk of intimate partner violence in Jordan. *Social Science & Medicine*, 70(1), 144-151.

Clarke, V., & Braun, V. (2019). Feminist qualitative methods and methodologies in psychology: A review and reflection. *Psychology of Women and Equalities Section Review*, 2(1), 13–28.

Cole, E. R. (2009). Intersectionality and research in psychology. *American Psychologist*, 64(3), 170.

Collier, J.F. (1974) "Women in Politics." In Rosaldo, M. Z., Lamphere, L., & Bamberger, J. (1974). Woman, Culture, and Society. Stanford University Press.

Cong, Z., & Silverstein, M. (2008). Intergenerational support and depression among elders in rural China: Do daughters-in-law matter?. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 70(3), 599-612.

Connell, R. W. (2005). Masculinities. Polity.

Connolly, K., & Reilly, R. C. (2007). Emergent issues when researching trauma: A confessional tale. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 13(4), 522-540.

Conway, M. A., & Pleydell-Pearce, C. W. (2000). The construction of autobiographical memories in the self-memory system. *Psychological Review*, 107(2), 261.

Cooper, M. (2009). Welcoming the Other: Actualising the humanistic ethic at the core of counselling psychology practice. *Counselling Psychology Review*, 24(3), 119-129.

Cotterill, P. (1994). Friendly Relations?: Mothers and Their Daughters-In-Law. London: Taylor & Francis.

Craib, I. (1998). Experiencing Identity. Sage.

Crawley, L. M., Marshall, P. A., Lo, B., & Koenig, B. A. (2002). Strategies for culturally effective end-of-life care. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *136*(9), 673-679.

Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: A black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory and antiracist politics. *University of Chicago Legal Forum*, 139-67.

Crossley, M. (2000). Introducing Narrative Psychology. UK: McGraw-Hill Education.

Cupach, W. R., & Spitzberg, B. H. (Eds.). (2010). The dark side of close relationships II. Routledge.

Dale, A. (2002). Social exclusion of Pakistani and Bangladeshi women. *Sociological Research Online*, 7(3), 69-81.

Daly, K. (1992) Parenthood as problematic: insider interviews with couples seeking to adopt. In: Gilgun, J. F., Daly, K., & Handel., G. (Eds.). *Qualitative Methods in Family Research* (pp.103–125). Newbury Park, CA: Sage

Das, V., & Di Fruscia, T. (2010). Listening to voices: an interview with Veena Das. *Altérités*, 7(1), 136-145.

Das Gupta, C. (1991). *The Painted Face: Studies in India's Popular Cinema*. New Delhi: Roli Books.

Dasgupta, S. D. (2000). Charting the course: An overview of domestic violence in the South Asian community in the United States. *Journal of Social Distress and the Homeless*, 9(3), 173-185.

Data Protection Act, 1998. Data Protection Act 1998 (legislation.gov.uk)

Davidson Knight, A., Lowe, T., Brossard, M., & Wilson, J. (2017). *A Whole New World: Funding and Commissioning in Complexity*. London: Collaborate for Social Change.

Dearing, R. L., & Tangney, J. P. E. (2011). *Shame in the therapy hour*. American Psychological Association.

de Beauvoir, S. (1953). The Second Sex. Aylesbury: Penguin.

de Hooge, I. E., Breugelmans, S. M., Wagemans, F. M. A., & Zeelenberg, M. (2018). The Social Side of Shame: Approach Versus Withdrawal. *Cognition and Emotion*, 32(8), 1671–1677.

de Hooge, I. E., Zeelenberg, M., & Breugelmans, S. M. (2010). Restore and protect motivations following shame. *Cognition and Emotion*, 24(1), 111–127.

de Hooge, I. E., Zeelenberg, M., & Breugelmans, S. M. (2011). A functionalist account of shame-induced behaviour. *Cognition and Emotion*, 25(5), 939–946.

Dein, S., Alexander, M., & Napier, A. D. (2008). Jinn, psychiatry and contested notions of misfortune among east London Bangladeshis. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 45(1), 31-55.

Department of Health & Social Care (2017). A Framework for Mental Health Research. Department of Health.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/665576/A framework for mental health research.pdf

Department of Health. (2005). Delivering race equality in mental health care: An action plan for reform inside and outside services and the Government's response to the Independent inquiry into the death of David Bennett. Department of Health.

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20130123204153/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH 4100773

Department of Health. (2011). No Health Without Mental Health: A Cross-Government Mental Health Outcomes Strategy for People of all Ages. Department of Health.

 $\frac{https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/138255/dh 123989.pdf$

Derdar, M. (2018). The mother-in-law/daughter-in-law relationship in Moroccan culture. *Research Innovator*, 5(2), 26-39.

Dickson-Swift, V., James, E. L., Kippen, S., & Liamputtong, P. (2009). Researching sensitive topics: Qualitative research as emotion work. *Qualitative Research*, 9(1), 61-79.

Dil, S. F. (1985). Women in Bangladesh: Changing roles and sociopolitica realities. *Women & Politics*, 5(1), 51-67.

Dillon, R. S. (1997). Self-respect: Moral, emotional, political. *Ethics*, 107(2), 226-249.

Di Napoli, I., Procentese, F., Carnevale, S., Esposito, C., & Arcidiacono, C. (2019). Ending intimate partner violence (IPV) and locating men at stake: An ecological approach. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 16(9), 1652.

Dobash, R. E., & Dobash, R. P. (1977). Wives: The appropriate victims of marital violence. *Victimology*. 2(3-4), 426–442.

Donaldson, M. (1993). What is hegemonic masculinity?. *Theory and Society*, 22(5), 643-657.

Donati, M. (2016). Becoming a reflective practitioner. In B. Douglas, R. Woolfe, S. Strawbridge, E. Kasket, & V. Galbraith (Eds.), *The Handbook of Counselling Psychology* (4th ed., pp. 55–73). London: Sage.

Doss, C. R., Meinzen-Dick, R., Pereira, A., & Pradhan, R. (2022). Women's empowerment, extended families and male migration in Nepal: Insights from mixed methods analysis. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 90, 13-25.

Doude, S. B., & Tapp, K. E. (2014). Radical feminism. In J. M. Miller (Ed.), *The Encyclopedia of Criminology* (pp. 697-700). Oxford, UK: John Wiley.

Douglass, B. G., & Moustakas, C. (1985). Heuristic inquiry: The internal search to know. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 25(3), 39-55.

Dueck, A., Ansloos, J., Johnson, A., & Fort, C. (2017). Western cultural psychology of religion: Alternatives to ideology. *Pastoral Psychology*, 66(3), 397-425.

Dunn, J. C., & Manning, J. (Eds.). (2018). *Transgressing Feminist Theory and Discourse: Advancing Conversations Across Disciplines*. Routledge.

Dutt, A. (2018). Locating patriarchy in violence against women in India: Social, legal and alternative responses. *International Journal of Social Sciences*, 4(2), 212-228.

Dutton, M. A., & Goodman, L. A. (2005). Coercion in intimate partner violence: Toward a new conceptualization. *Sex Roles*, 52, 743-756.

Duvall, E.M. (1954). In-laws: Pro and Con. New York: Association Press.

Dwyer, C. (1999). Contradictions of community: questions of identity for young British Muslim women. *Environment and Planning A*, 31(1), 53-68.

Dwyer, C. (2000). Negotiating diasporic identities: Young British South Asian Muslim women. *In Women's Studies International Forum*, 23(4), 475-486.

Equality Act, 2010. Equality Act 2010 (legislation.gov.uk)

Edge, D., & Lemetyinen, H. (2019). Psychology across cultures: Challenges and opportunities. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, 92(2), 261-276.

Edlund, L., & Rahman, A. (2005). Household structure and child outcomes: Nuclear vs. Extended Families - Evidence from Bangladesh. *UCL and Columbia University*. http://www.columbia.edu/%7Ele93/nuclear.pdf

Eide, P., & Allen, C. B. (2005). Recruiting transcultural qualitative research participants: A conceptual model. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 4(2), 44-56.

Eklund, K., Aros-O'Malley, M., & Murrieta, I. (2014). Multicultural supervision: What difference does difference make?. *Contemporary School Psychology*, 18(3), 195-204.

Eleftheriadou, Z. (2010a). Cross-cultural counselling psychology. In R. Woolfe, S. Strawbridge, B. Douglas, & W. Dryden (Eds.), *Handbook of Counselling Psychology* (3rd ed., pp. 195-212). London, United Kingdom: Sage.

Eleftheriadou, Z. (2010b). Psychotherapy and Culture: Weaving Inner and Outer Worlds. London: Karnac.

Ellickson, J. (1972). Islamic institutions: perception and practice in a village in Bangladesh. *Contributions to Indian Sociology*, 6(1), 53-65.

Elliot, J. (2005). Interpreting people's stories: Narrative approaches to the analysis of qualitative data. *Using narrative in social research: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches*, 36-59.

Enslin, P., & Tjiattas, M. (2004). Liberal feminism, cultural diversity and comparative education. *Comparative Education*, 40(4), 503-516.

Esmailzadeh, S., Faramarzi, M., & Mosavi, S. (2005). Prevalence and determinants of intimate partner violence in Babol City, Islamic Republic of Iran. *EMHJ-Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal*, 11(5-6), 870-879.

Evans, E., & Chamberlain, P. (2015). Critical waves: Exploring feminist identity, discourse and praxis in western feminism. *Social Movement Studies*, 14(4), 396-409.

Fagan J., Browne A. (1994). Violence between spouses and intimates: Physical aggression between men and women in intimate relationships. In Reiss A., Roth J. (Eds.), *Understanding and preventing violence: Social influences* (Vol. 3, pp. 115–292). National Academy.

Fahie, D. (2014). Doing sensitive research sensitively: Ethical and methodological issues in researching workplace bullying. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 13(1), 19-36.

Falender, C. A., Burnes, T. R., & Ellis, M. V. (2013). Multicultural clinical supervision and benchmarks: Empirical support informing practice and supervisor training. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 41(1), 8-27.

Fatima, B., & Leghari, I. U. (2020). Social determinants of cousin marriages (A case study of district Rawalpindi, Pakistan). FWU Journal of Social Sciences, 14(2), 155-163.

Feldman, S., & McCarthy, F. E. (1983). Purdah and changing patterns of social control among rural women in Bangladesh. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 45(4), 949-959.

Felson, R. B., & Messner, S. F. (2000). The control motive in intimate partner violence. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 63(1), 86-94.

Fernandez, M. (1997). Domestic violence by extended family members in India: Interplay of gender and generation. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 12(3), 433-455.

Finlay, L. (2002). "Outing" the researcher: The provenance, process, and practice of reflexivity. *Qualitative Health Research*, 12(4), 531-545.

Fischer, L. R. (1983). Mothers and mothers-in-law. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 45(1), 187-192.

Fischer, L. R. (1986). *Linked Lives: Adult Daughters and Their Mothers*. Harper & Row Publishers.

Fivush, R. (2004). Voice and silence: A feminist model of autobiographical memory. In J. M. Lucariello, J. A. Hudson, R. Fivush, & P. J. Bauer (Eds.), *The Development of the Mediated Mind* (pp. 79 – 100). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

Fivush, R. (2010). Speaking silence: The social construction of silence in autobiographical and cultural narratives. *Memory*, 18(2), 88-98.

Fivush, R. (2011). The development of autobiographical memory. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 62, 559-582.

Fivush, R., Habermas, T., Waters, T. E., & Zaman, W. (2011). The making of autobiographical memory: Intersections of culture, narratives and identity. *International Journal of Psychology*, 46(5), 321-345.

Flyvbjerg, B. (2001). *Making Social Science Matter: Why Social Inquiry Fails and How it can Succeed Again*. London: Cambridge University Press.

Fortune, M. M., & Enger, C. G. (2005). Violence against women and the role of religion. In *Applied Research Forum National Electronic Network on Violence Against Women USA: National Resource Centre on Domestic Violence* (pp. 1-7). www.vawnet.org

Forward, S. (2010). *Toxic in-laws: Loving strategies for protecting your marriage*. Harper Collins.

Foucault, M. (1980). *Power/Knowledge: Selected Interviews and other Writings, 1972-1977*. London: Harvester Press.

Freeman, M., & Brockmeier, J. (2001). Narrative integrity: Autobiographical identity and the meaning of the "good life." In J. Brockmeier & D.Carbaugh (Eds.), *Narrative and Identity: Studies in Autobiography, Self and Culture* (pp. 75-99). Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publishing Company.

Galam, R. (2017). Relational autonomy: Kinship and daughters-in-law negotiating affinity with their mothers-in-law. *Families, Relationships and Societies*, 6(3), 357–373.

Gamble, S. (Ed.). (2006). *The Routledge Companion to Feminism and Post-feminism*. London: Routledge.

Gangoli, G., & Rew, M. (2011). Mothers-in-law against daughters-in-law: Domestic violence and legal discourses around mother-in-law violence against daughters-in-law in India. *In Women's Studies International Forum* (pp. 420-429). Pergamon.

Garbin, D. (2005). Bangladeshi diaspora in the UK: some observations on socio-cultural dynamics, religious trends and transnational politics. Centre for Ethnic Minority Studies, SOAS and Bangladesh Conference Steering Committee.

Gardner, K. (2002). Age, Narrative and Migration: The Life Course and Life Histories of Bengali Elders in London. Berg Publishers.

- Gatmon, D., Jackson, D., Koshkarian, L., Martos-Perry, N., Molina, A., Patel, N., & Rodolfa, E. (2001). Exploring ethnic, gender, and sexual orientation variables in supervision: Do they really matter?. *Journal of Multicultural Counselling and Development*, 29(2), 102-113.
- Geertz, C. (Ed.). (1973). The Interpretation of Culture. New York: Basic Books.
- Ghaffar, F., & Stevenson, J. (2018). British Pakistani and Bangladeshi women, higher education and defensive othering. *Widening Participation and Lifelong Learning*, 20(3), 50-67.
- Gilbert, P. (1998). What is shame? Some core issues and controversies. In *Shame: Interpersonal behavior, psychopathology, and culture* (pp. 3–38). Oxford University Press.
- Gilbert, P. (2002). Understanding the biopsychosocial approach II: Individual and social interventions. *Clinical Psychology*, 15, 28–32.
- Gilbert, P. (2011). Shame in psychotherapy and the role of compassion focused therapy. In *Shame in the Therapy Hour* (pp. 325–354). American Psychological Association.
- Gilbert, P., Gilbert, J., & Sanghera, J. (2004). A focus group exploration of the impact of izzat, shame, subordination and entrapment on mental health and service use in South Asian women living in Derby. *Mental Health, Religion & Culture, 7*(2), 109-130.
- Gill, A. (2004). Voicing the silent fear: South Asian women's experiences of domestic violence. *The Howard Journal of Criminal Justice*, 43(5), 465-483.
- Gill, A. K., & Harvey, H. (2017). Examining the impact of gender on young people's views of forced marriage in Britain. *Feminist Criminology*, 12(1), 72-100.
- Gill, P. S., Plumridge, G., Khunti, K., & Greenfield, S. (2013). Under-representation of minority ethnic groups in cardiovascular research: a semi-structured interview study. *Family Practice*, 30(2), 233-241.
- Gill, S. (2019). Acknowledging the unseen: Muslim practitioners' understandings and processes of alleviating emotional distress with British Muslims [Doctoral dissertation, Lancaster University]. https://doi.org/10.17635/lancaster/thesis/556
- Goel, R. (2005). Sita's trousseau: Restorative justice, domestic violence, and South Asian culture. *Violence Against Women*, 11(5), 639-665.
- Goetting, A. (1990). Patterns of support among in-laws in the United States: A review of research. *Journal of Family Issues*, 11(1), 67-90.
- Goffman, E. (1959). The Presentation of Self in Everyday Life. NY: Penguin.
- Goffman, E. (1963). *Stigma: Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Goldstein, D. I. (2015). *Mediating the Influence of Interference on Marital Satisfaction: Boundaries with In-laws* [Doctoral dissertation, University of Georgia]. https://getd.libs.uga.edu/pdfs/goldstein_daniel_i_201508_phd.pdf
- Golish, T. D. (2000). Changes in closeness between adult children and their parents: A turning point analysis. *Communication Reports*, 13(2), 79-97.

Golish, T., & Caughlin, J. (2002). "I'd rather not talk about it": adolescents' and young adults' use of topic avoidance in stepfamilies. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 30(1), 78-106.

Goodwin, P. Y. (2003). African American and European American women's marital well-being. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 65(3), 550-560.

Gould, F., Clarke, J., Heim, C., Harvey, P. D., Majer, M., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2012). The effects of child abuse and neglect on cognitive functioning in adulthood. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 46(4), 500-506.

Gram, L., Skordis-Worrall, J., Mannell, J., Manandhar, D. S., Saville, N., & Morrison, J. (2018). Revisiting the patriarchal bargain: The intergenerational power dynamics of household money management in rural Nepal. *World Development*, 112, 193-204.

Griffith, P., & Malik, A. (2018). Reaching Out: Tackling Disengagement Among Pakistani and Bangladeshi women in Britain, IPPR. http://www.ippr.org/research/publications/reaching-out

Gruenewald, T. L., Kemeny, M. E., Aziz, N., & Fahey, J. L. (2004). Acute threat to the social self: Shame, social self-esteem, and cortisol activity. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 66(6), 915-924.

Gu, C. J. (2018). Gender morality and emotion work in Taiwanese immigrant in-law relations. *Gender, Place & Culture*, 25(2), 248-267.

Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of Qualitative Research* (pp. 105–117). Sage

Guerrero, L. K., & Afifi, W. A. (1995a). What parents don't know: Topic avoidance in parent-child relationships. *Parents, children, and communication: Frontiers of Theory and Research*, 219-245.

Guerrero, L. K., & Afifi, W. A. (1995b). Some things are better left unsaid: Topic avoidance in family relationships. *Communication Quarterly*, 43(3), 276-296.

Gunasinge, C. (2015). Understanding how Izzat impacts the lived experience of Young Muslim Pakistan Women in the UK: A Phenomenological Approach [Doctoral dissertation, University of East London]. https://doi.org/10.15123/PUB.4130

Gunasinghe, C. M., Hatch, S. L., & Lawrence, J. (2018). Young Muslim Pakistani Women's Lived Experiences of Izzat, Mental Health and Well-being. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(5), 747-757.

Gupta, S., Ksoll, C., & Maertens, A. (2019). Intra-household efficiency in extended family households: Evidence from rural India. *The Journal of Development Studies*, *57*(7), 1172–1197.

Haarr, R. N. (2007). Wife abuse in Tajikistan. Feminist Criminology, 2(3), 245-270.

Hamilton, S. K. (2018). *Izzat, intersectionality, and educational journeys: Hearing the voices of British Bangladeshi, Indian and Pakistani (BIP) heritage women* [Doctoral dissertation, University of Portsmouth].

Hanley, T. (2017). The scientist-practitioner and the reflective-practitioner. In *Counselling Psychology* (pp. 167-182). Routledge.

Haque, Z. (2000). The Ethnic Minority 'Underachieving' Group? Investigating the Claims of 'Underachievement' amongst Bangladeshi Pupils in British Secondary Schools. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 3(2), 145-168.

Hareven, T. K. (2000). Families, history, and social change. *Life Course and Cross-cultural Perspectives*. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.

Harper, D., & Thompson, A. R. (Eds.). (2011). *Qualitative Research Methods in Mental Health and Psychotherapy: A Guide for Students and Practitioners*. John Wiley & Sons.

Harré, R., & Langenhove, L. V. (1999). Positioning theory: Moral contexts of intentional action. Blackwell.

Hashim, I. (1999). Reconciling Islam and feminism. Gender & Development, 7(1), 7-14.

Hawthorne, S. (2014). Entangled subjects: Feminism, religion, and the obligation to alterity. In *The SAGE Handbook of Feminist Theory* (pp. 114-130). *London: Sage*.

Heath, A. F., & McMahon, D. (2005). Social mobility of ethnic minorities. In G. Loury, T. Modood & S. Teles (Eds.), *Ethnicity, Social Mobility and Public Policy: Comparing the US and UK* (pp. 393-413). Cambridge University Press.

Hijab, M. (2019). Fifth Wave Feminism. Kalimah Publishing.

Hilder, S., & Freeman, C. (2016). Working with perpetrators of domestic violence and abuse: The potential for change. *Domestic Violence: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Protection, Prevention and Intervention*, 273-296.

Hiles, D. (2001). Heuristic Inquiry and Transpersonal Research. CCPE, London.

Hiles, D. (2002). Narrative and Heuristic Approaches to Transpersonal Research and Practice. CCPE, London.

Hiles, D., & Cermák, I. (2008) Narrative psychology. In C. Willig and W. Stainton Rogers (eds) *The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research in Psychology*. London: Sage.

Hitchens, C. (2007). God is Not Great: How Religion Poisons Everything. New York: Twelve.

Homan, S. F. E. (2017). You can't be a feminist and be a daughter-in-law: negotiations of honour and womanhood in urban Nepal [Doctoral dissertation, University of Adelaide]. https://digital.library.adelaide.edu.au/dspace/bitstream/2440/105249/1/01front.pdf

hooks, B. (Eds.). (1989). *Talking Back: Thinking Feminist, Thinking Black*. New York: Routledge.

hooks, B., Vaid, U., Wolf, N., & Steinem, G. (1993). "Let's Get Real about Feminism: The Backlash, the Myths, the Movement". *Ms*, 4(2), 34-43.

Hossain, M. Z., & Khan, H. T. (2019). Dementia in the Bangladeshi diaspora in England: A qualitative study of the myths and stigmas about dementia. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 25(5), 769-778.

Hughes, J. & Sharrock, W. (1997) The Philosophy of Social Research. London: Routledge

Hunnicutt, G. (2009). Varieties of patriarchy and violence against women: Resurrecting "patriarchy" as a theoretical tool. *Violence Against Women*, 15(5), 553-573.

Husain, H. (2019). Why are South Asian immigrant women vulnerable to domestic violence?. *Inquiries Journal*, 11(12).

Husain, M. I., Waheed, W., & Husain, N. (2006). Self-harm in British South Asian women: psychosocial correlates and strategies for prevention. *Annals of General Psychiatry*, 5(1), 1-7.

Hussain, A. M. (2012). *Islam and Education: The Manipulation and Misrepresentation of a Religion*. Stoke on Trent: Trentham Books.

Hussain, F. A., & Cochrane, R. (2004). Depression in South Asian women living in the UK: A review of the literature with implications for service provision. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 41(2), 253-270.

Hutchinson, S. A., Wilson, M. E., & Wilson, H. S. (2000). Benefits of participating in research interviews. *Image: The Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 26(2), 161-164.

Hyman, I., & Mason, R. (2006). Perceptions of and response to woman abuse among Tamil Women in Toronto. *Canadian Woman Studies/les cahiers de la femme*.

Hyman, I., Mason, R., Guruge, S., Berman, H., Kanagaratnam, P., & Manuel, L. (2011). Perceptions of factors contributing to intimate partner violence among Sri Lankan Tamil immigrant women in Canada. *Health Care for Women International*, 32(9), 779-794.

Ikels, C. (1985). Parental perspectives on the significance of marriage. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 47(2), 253-264.

Inspirited Minds. (2017). <u>Reflections on our first Mental Health Training with Imams - Inspirited Minds.</u> Retrieved February, 2021, from https://inspiritedminds.org.uk/2017/08/31/reflections-on-our-first-mental-health-training-with-imams/

Ismailbekova, A. (2019). From Endogamous Marriage to Ethnicity: Uzbek Community Survival Strategy After the 2010 Conflict in Osh. *Anthropology & Archeology of Eurasia*, 58(3), 134-154.

Jackson, J., & Berg-Cross, L. (1988). Extending the extended family: The mother-in-law and daughter-in-law relationship of black women. *Family Relations*, 37(3), 293-297.

Jackson, S. L. (2012). Sports fandom: A study of Basking in Reflected Glory, Spiral of Silence, and language use via online social networks [Doctoral dissertation, Cleveland State University]. http://rave.ohiolink.edu/etdc/view?acc_num=csu1337026237

James, K. (2010). Domestic Violence Within Refugee Families: Intersecting Patriarchal Culture and the Refugee Experience. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy*, 31(3), 275–284.

Jeffery, P., Jeffery, R., & Lyon, A. (1989). Labour pains and labour power: women and childbearing in India Kabeer, N. (1999). Resources, agency, achievements: Reflections on the measurement of women's empowerment. *Development and Change*, 30(3), 435-464.

Jejeebhoy, S. J., & Sathar, Z. A. (2001). Women's autonomy in India and Pakistan: the influence of religion and region. *Population and Development Review*, 27(4), 687-712.

Jensen, C., & Lauritsen, P. (2005). Qualitative research as partial connection: bypassing the power-knowledge nexus. *Qualitative Research*, 5(1), 59-77.

Jewkes, R., Corboz, J., & Gibbs, A. (2019). Violence against Afghan women by husbands, mothers-in-law and siblings-in-law/siblings: Risk markers and health consequences in an analysis of the baseline of a randomised controlled trial. *PloS one*, 14(2), e0211361.

Jeyaseelan, V., Kumar, S., Jeyaseelan, L., Shankar, V., Yadav, B. K., & Bangdiwala, S. I. (2015). Dowry demand and harassment: Prevalence and risk factors in India. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, 47(6), 727-745.

Johnson, M. P. (1995). Patriarchal terrorism and common couple violence: Two forms of violence against women. *Journal of Marriage & Family*, 57(2), 283-294.

Joint Commission Panel for Mental Health (JCP-MH). (2014). Guidance for commissioners of mental health services for people from black and minority ethnic communities. https://wcen.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/JCP-BME-guide-May-20141.pdf

Jordan, A., & Bhandari, S. (2016). Lived experiences of South Asian women facing domestic violence in the United States. *Journal of Ethnic & Cultural Diversity in Social Work, 25*(3), 227-246.

Jorgenson, J. (1994). Situated address and the social construction of "in-law" relationships. *Southern Journal of Communication*, 59(3), 196-204.

Kabeer, N. (1988). Subordination and struggle: Women in Bangladesh. *New Left Review*, 168(1), 95-121.

Kabeer, N. (2001). "Reflections on the measurement of women's empowerment". In Discussing women's empowerment—theory and practice. Stockholm: Novum Grafiska AB.

Kandiyoti, D. (1988). Bargaining with patriarchy. Gender & Society, 2(3), 274-290.

Kasket, E. (2012). The counselling psychologist researcher. *Counselling Psychology Review*, 27(2), 64–73.

Kasket, E. (2016). Carrying out research. The Handbook of Counselling Psychology. Sage.

Kasket, E., & Gil-Rodriguez, E. (2011). The identity crisis in trainee counselling psychology research. *Counselling Psychology Review*. 26(4), 20–30.

Kaufman, G. (1985). Shame: The power of caring. Schenkman Books.

Keltner, D., & Buswell, B. N. (1996). Evidence for the Distinctness of Embarrassment, Shame, and Guilt: A Study of Recalled Antecedents and Facial Expressions of Emotion. *Cognition & Emotion*, 10(2), 155–171.

Keltner, D., & Harker, L. (1998). The forms and functions of the nonverbal signal of shame. In *Shame: Interpersonal Behavior, Psychopathology, and Culture* (pp. 78–98). Oxford University Press.

Kershen, A. (2005). Strangers, Aliens and Asians: Huguenots, Jews and Bangladeshis in Spitalfields 1666-2000. Routledge.

Khanum, S. M. (2001). The household patterns of a 'Bangladeshi village' in England. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 27(3), 489-504.

Kim, J. S. (2001). Daughters-in-law in Korean caregiving families. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 36(3), 399-408.

Kirmayer, L. J. (2012). Rethinking cultural competence. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 49(2), 149-164.

Koch, J. M., Procopio, S. J., Knutson, D., Loche III, R. W., Jayne, A., Jayne, C., & Loche, L. (2018). Counselling psychology students' perceptions of faculty multicultural competence. *Scholarship of Teaching and Learning in Psychology*, 4(3), 140.

Komarovsky, M. (1962). Blue-Collar Marriage. New York: Random House.

Konstantinou, G. (2014). The relationship of counselling psychology training with CBT: Implications for research and practice. *Counselling Psychology Review*. 29(3), 43–54.

Koss, M. P., Goodman, L. A., Browne, A., Fitzgerald, L. F., Keita, G. P., & Russo, N. F. (1994). *No safe haven: Male violence against women at home, at work, and in the community*. American Psychological Association.

Krippendorff, K. (2018). Content Analysis: An Introduction to its Methodology. Sage Publications.

Kung, H. M. (2019). Persistence and Change in the Comparative Status of Mothers-in-Law and Daughters-in-Law in Taiwanese Families: 1979 to 2016. *Journal of Family Issues*, 40(14), 1937-1962.

Kuyken, W., Padesky, C. A., & Dudley, R. (2009). *Collaborative Case Conceptualization: Working Effectively with Clients in Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy*. London: Guilford Press.

Landis, J. T. (1963). Social correlates of divorce or nondivorce among the unhappy married. *Marriage and Family Living*, 25(2), 178-180.

Langdridge, D. (2007). *Phenomenological Psychology: Theory, Research and Method*. London: Pearson Education.

Langellier, K. (2001). "'You're Marked': Breast Cancer, Tattoo and the Narrative Performance of Identity." In J. Brockmeier & D. Carbaugh (Eds.). Narrative and Identity: Studies in Autobiography, Self, and Culture. Amsterdam and Philadelphia: John Benjamins.

Lazreg, M. (1988). Feminism and difference: The perils of writing as a woman on women in Algeria. *Feminist Studies*, 14(1), 81-107.

Lee, A. (2018). Clinical supervision of international supervisees: Suggestions for multicultural supervision. *International Journal for the Advancement of Counselling*, 40(1), 60-71.

Lee, H. (2002). Experience of caregiving daughters-in-law in South Korea [Doctoral dissertation, University of Georgia].

https://getd.libs.uga.edu/pdfs/lee hyunji 200205 phd.pdf

Lee, R. M., & Renzetti, C. M. (1990). The problems of researching sensitive topics: An overview and introduction. *American Behavioural Scientist*, 33(5), 510-528.

Leung, A. K. Y., Qiu, L., & Chiu, C. Y. (2014). Psychological science of globalization. In V. Benet-Martínez & Y. Y. Hong (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Multicultural Identity* (pp. 181–201). Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Lewis, E. M., Lemmons, B. P., & Woolley, M. E. (2021). The ties that bind: An exploration of son-in-law and father-in-law relationships in Black families. *Psychology of Men & Masculinities*. 23(1), 99–108.

Lewis, M. (1993). Self-Conscious Emotions: Embarrassment, Pride, Shame, and Guilt. In *Handbook of Emotions* (pp. 742–756). The Guilford Press.

Lewis, M. (1995). Shame: The Exposed Self. New York: Free Press.

Li, Y. (2018). Unequal returns: higher education and access to the salariat by ethnic groups in the UK. In *Dismantling Race in Higher Education* (pp. 103-124). Palgrave Macmillan, Cham.

Lieblich, A., Tuval-Maschiach, R., & Zilber, T. (1998). *Narrative Research: Reading, Analysis and Interpretation*. London: Sage.

Limary, B. H. (2002). *The Mother-in-Law/Daughter-in-Law Dyad: Narratives of Relational Development Among In-Laws*. The University of New Mexico.

Lincoln, Y.S & Guba, E.G (2000) Paradigmatic controversies, contradictions, and emerging confluences. In N.K. Denzin & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.) *Handbook of Qualitative Research* (Eds.). (pp. 163-188). Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.

Lindquist, J. (2004). Veils and Ecstasy: Negotiating Shame in the Indonesian Borderlands. *Ethnos*, 69(4), 487–508.

Lloyd, M., Ramon, S., Vakalopoulou, A., Videmšek, P., Meffan, C., Roszczynska-Michta, J., & Rollè, L. (2017). Women's experiences of domestic violence and mental health: Findings from a European empowerment project. *Psychology of Violence*, 7(3), 478.

Lopata, H. Z. (1999). In-laws and the concept of family. *Marriage & Family Review*, 28(3-4), 161-172.

Loshak, R. (2003). Working with Bangladeshi young women. *Psychoanalytic Psychotherapy*, 17(1), 52-67.

Lu, J., Jamani, S., Benjamen, J., Agbata, E., Magwood, O., & Pottie, K. (2020). Global mental health and services for migrants in primary care settings in high-income countries:

scoping review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(22), 8627.

Luketic, R. (Director), & Bender, C. (Producer). (2005). *Monster-in-law* Film, New Line Studio.

Lune, H., & Berg, B. L. (2017). *Qualitative Research Methods for the Social Sciences*. UK: Pearson.

Mabel & Moxie. (2021, August 20). Crazy Mother-In-Law Stories to Put your Life in Perspective.

 $\underline{https://www.mabelandmoxie.com/Crazy+MotherInLaw+Stories+To+Put+Your+Life+In+Per}\\\underline{spective}$

Madhok, S. (2013). Action, Agency, Coercion: Reformatting Agency for Oppressive Contexts. In

Madhok, S., Phillips, A., Wilson, K. (eds) (2013). *Gender, Agency, and Coercion. Thinking Gender in Transnational Times.* Palgrave Macmillan, London.

Madhok, S., & Rai, S. M. (2012). Agency, injury, and transgressive politics in neoliberal times. Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society, 37(3), 645-669.

Mafura, C., & Charura, D. (202). 'I then had 50 stitches in my arms... such damage to my own body': An Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis of Izzat trauma and self-harm experiences among UK women of South Asian heritage. *Counselling and Psychotherapy Research*, 22(2), 458-470.

Mahmood, S. (2001). Feminist theory, embodiment, and the docile agent: Some reflections on the Egyptian Islamic revival. *Cultural Anthropology*, *16*(2), 202-236.

Mahmood, S. (2016). Religious difference in a secular age. In *Religious Difference in a Secular Age*. NJ: Princeton University Press.

Malhotra, A., & Schuler, S. R. (2005). Women's empowerment as a variable in international development. *Measuring Empowerment: Cross-Disciplinary Perspectives*, *I*(1), 71-88.

Malik, A. (2018). British Muslims in UK Higher Education: Socio-political, Religious and Policy Considerations. London: Bridge Institute.

Mandelbaum, D. (1970). Society in India. Berkeley: University of California Press.

Mandelbaum, D. G. (1988). Women's seclusion and men's honour: Sex roles in North India, Bangladesh, and Pakistan. University of Arizona Press.

Marotz-Baden, R., & Cowan, D. (1987). Mothers-in-law and daughters-in-law: The effects of proximity on conflict and stress. *Family Relations*, 385-390.

Marshall, H., & Yazdani, A. (1999). Locating culture in accounting for self-harm amongst Asian young women. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 9(6), 413-433.

Mason, R., Hyman, I., Berman, H., Guruge, S., Kanagaratnam, P., & Manuel, L. (2008). "Violence Is an International Language" Tamil Women's Perceptions of Intimate Partner Violence. *Violence Against Women*, *14*(12), 1397-1412.

McAdams, D. P. (2001). The psychology of life stories. *Review of General Psychology*, 5(2), 100-122.

McAreavey, R., & Das, C. (2013). A delicate balancing act: Negotiating with gatekeepers for ethical research when researching minority communities. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 12(1), 113-131.

McCall, L. (2005). The complexity of intersectionality. Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society, 30(3), 1771-1800.

McCauley, H. L., Tancredi, D. J., Silverman, J. G., Decker, M. R., Austin, S. B., McCormick, M. C., Virata, M.C., & Miller, E. (2013). Gender-equitable attitudes, bystander behavior, and recent abuse perpetration against heterosexual dating partners of male high school athletes. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103(10), 1882-1887.

McCleary-Sills, J., Namy, S., Nyoni, J., Rweyemamu, D., Salvatory, A., & Steven, E. (2016). Stigma, shame and women's limited agency in help-seeking for intimate partner violence. *Global public health*, 11(1-2), 224-235.

McClelland, A., Khanam, S., & Furnham, A. (2014). Cultural and age differences in beliefs about depression: British Bangladeshis vs. British Whites. *Mental health, Religion & Culture*, 17(3), 225-238.

McKinley, M. T. (2019). Supervising the sojourner: Multicultural supervision of international students. *Training and Education in Professional Psychology*, 13(3), 174-179.

McMillan, L. (2007). Feminists organising against gendered violence. Springer.

Meetoo, V. & Mirza, H. S. (2007). Lives at risk: Multiculturalism, young women and 'honour' killings. In Thom, B., Sales, R. and J. Pearce (eds.), *Growing Up With Risk* (pp. 149-164). Bristol: The Policy Press.

Meetoo, V., & Mirza, H. S. (2010). "There is nothing 'honourable' about honour killings": Gender, Violence and the Limits of Multiculturalism. In *Honour, Violence, Women and Islam*. Routledge-Cavendish.

Memon, A., Taylor, K., Mohebati, L. M., Sundin, J., Cooper, M., Scanlon, T., & De Visser, R. (2016). Perceived barriers to accessing mental health services among black and minority ethnic (BME) communities: a qualitative study in Southeast England. *BMJ Open*, *6*(11), e012337.

Menon, U., & Shweder, R. A. (1994). Kali's tongue: Cultural psychology and the power of shame in Orissa, India. In S. Kitayama & H. R. Markus (Eds.), *Emotion and culture: Empirical studies of mutual influence* (pp. 241–282). American Psychological Association.

Mental Health Review Act. <u>Modernising the Mental Health Act – final report from the independent review - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)</u>

Mercer, J. (2007). The challenges of insider research in educational institutions: Wielding a double-edged sword and resolving delicate dilemmas. *Oxford Review of Education*, 33(1), 1-17.

Mernissi, F. (1991). Women and Islam: An Historical and Theological Enquiry. Basil Blackwell.

Merriam-Webster. (n.d.). In *Merriam-Webster dictionary*. Retrieved July 14, 2020, from https://www.merriam-webster.com

Merrill, D. M. (2007). *Mothers-in-law and Daughters-in-law: Understanding the Relationship and what makes them friends or foe.* Greenwood Publishing Group.

Mertens, D. M. (2014). Research and evaluation in education and psychology: Integrating diversity with quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods. Sage Publications.

Mikucki-Enyart, S. L. (2011). Parent-in-law privacy management: An examination of the links among relational uncertainty, topic avoidance, in-group status, and in-law satisfaction. *Journal of Family Communication*, 11(4), 237-263.

Mikucki-Enyart, S. L., & Caughlin, J. P. (2018). Integrating the relational turbulence model and a multiple goals approach to understand topic avoidance during the transition to extended family. *Communication Research*, 45(3), 267-296.

Mikucki-Enyart, S. L., Caughlin, J. P., & Rittenour, C. E. (2015). Content and relational implications of children-in-law's relational uncertainty within the in-law dyad during the transition to extended family. *Communication Quarterly*, 63(3), 286-309.

Minuchin, S. (1974). Families & family therapy. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Minuchin, P. (1985). Families and individual development: Provocations from the field of family therapy. *Child development*, 289-302.

Mir-Hosseini, Z. (2011). Beyond 'Islam'vs 'feminism'. IDS Bulletin, 42(1), 67-77.

Mirza, H. S. (Ed.). (1997). Black British feminism: A Reader. Taylor & Francis.

Mirza, N. (2015). Family abuse in Scotland: contesting universalisations and reconceptualising agency. [PhD Thesis, University of Edinburgh]. https://era.ed.ac.uk/bitstream/handle/1842/15938/Mirza2015.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

Mirza, N. (2017). South Asian women's experience of abuse by female affinal kin: a critique of mainstream conceptualisations of 'domestic abuse'. *Families, Relationships and Societies*, 6(3), 393-409.

Mishler, E. G. (1999). Studying the lives and work of craft artists: Identity and narrative. *In Storylines: Craft artists' narratives of identity* (pp. 1-20). Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.

Misso, D., Schweitzer, R. D., & Dimaggio, G. (2019). Metacognition: A potential mechanism of change in the psychotherapy of perpetrators of domestic violence. *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration*, 29(3), 248-260.

Mitra, N. (1998). Power and planning. Social Scientist, 26(7/8), 32-40.

Moghaddam, F. M., Taylor, D. M., & Wright, S. C. (1993). *Social Psychology in Cross-Cultural Perspective*. New York: Freeman.

Mohanty, C. (1988). Under Western eyes: Feminist scholarship and colonial discourses. *Feminist Review*, 30(1), 61-88.

Mohanty, C. T., Russo, A., & Torres, L. (Eds.). (1991). *Third World Women and the Politics of Feminism*. Indiana University Press.

Morr Serewicz, M. C. (2002). *Private Disclosure in a Family Membership Transition: In-laws' Disclosures to Newlyweds*. Arizona State University.

Morr Serewicz, C. M. (2006). Getting along with the in-laws: Relationships with parents-in-law. *Widening the Family Circle: New Research on Family Communication*, 101–116.

Morr Serewicz, M. C. (2008). Toward a triangular theory of the communication and relationships of in-laws: Theoretical proposal and social relations analysis of relational satisfaction and private disclosure in in-law triads. *Journal of Family Communication*, 8(4), 264-292.

Morr Serewicz, M. C. (2013). The difficulties of in-law relationships. In *Relating Difficulty* (pp. 117-134). Routledge.

Morr Serewicz, M. C., & Canary, D. J. (2008). Assessments of disclosure from the in-laws: Links among disclosure topics, family privacy orientations, and relational quality. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 25(2), 333-357.

Morr Serewicz, C. M., Hosmer, R., Ballard, R. L., & Griffin, R. A. (2008). Disclosure from inlaws and the quality of in-law and marital relationships. *Communication Quarterly*, *56*(4), 427-444.

Morr Serewicz, M. C., & Hosmer, R. A. (2010). In-Laws or Outlaws: The Dark and the Bright in In-Law Relationships. In *The Dark Side of Close Relationships II* (pp. 237-262). Routledge.

Morrow, S. L. (2005). Quality and trustworthiness in qualitative research in counselling psychology. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, 52(2), 250.

Morrow, S. L. (2007). Qualitative research in counselling psychology: Conceptual foundations. *The Counselling Psychologist*, *35*(2), 209-235.

Moustakas, C. (1990). Heuristic research: Design, Methodology, and Applications. Sage Publications.

Murray, M. (1999). The storied nature of health and illness. In M. Murray & K. Chamberlain (Eds.) *Qualitative health psychology: Theory and methods* (pp. 47–63). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Murray, M. (2003). 'Narrative Psychology and Narrative Analysis'. In P. M. Camic, J. E. Rhodes & L. Yardley. (Eds.). *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, (pp. 95–112). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

Murray. C. (2017). Come Together: Lessons from Bedford on reaching out to Britain's most isolated minorities, IPPR. http://www.ippr.org/publications/come-together-lessonsfrom-bedford

Muslim Council of Britain. (2015). British Muslims in Numbers: A Demographic, Socio-economic and Health profile of Muslims in Britain drawing on the 2011 Census, London: Muslim Council of Britain.

Nagpal, A. (Writer), & Joshi, R. (Producer). (2005) Kyun Ki Saas Kabhi Kabhi Bahu Ti (Because a mother-in-law was once a daughter-in-law) [Television Broadcast Series]. (Series number).

Nash, J. C. (2008). Re-thinking intersectionality. Feminist Review, 89(1), 1-15.

National Health Service [NHS] England. (2020). Advancing Mental Health Equalities Strategy. *London*.

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/00159-advancing-mental-health-equalities-strategy.pdf

National Institute for Clinical Excellence. (2016). Domestic violence and abuse: how health services, social care and the organisations they work with can respond effectively. *Public Health Guidance* 50. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph50

Naved, R. T., & Persson, L. A. (2005). Factors associated with spousal physical violence against women in Bangladesh. *Studies in Family Planning*, 36(4), 289-300.

Nelson, K. (1993). The psychological and social origins of autobiographical memory. *Psychological Science*, 4(1), 7-14.

Nelson, K., & Fivush, R. (2004). The emergence of autobiographical memory: a social cultural developmental theory. *Psychological Review*, 111(2), 486.

Nganase, T. R., & Basson, W. (2017). Mother-and daughter-in-law relationship within a South African context: Influence of family systems. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, 27(6), 537-540.

Nilsson, J. E., & Duan, C. (2007). Experiences of prejudice, role difficulties, and counselling self-efficacy among us racial and ethnic minority supervisees working with White supervisors. *Journal of Multicultural Counselling and Development*, 35(4), 219-229.

Norwood, K., & Webb, L. M. (2006). How mothers influence their adult sons' marital satisfaction through communication with daughters-in-law. Survey findings from eight states. Dresden Germany; International Communication Association.

Nuner, J. E. (2004). A qualitative study of mother-in-law/daughter-in-law relationships. [Dissertation, Texas Woman's University].

https://www.proquest.com/openview/b2b166d34ae0e8c0619c2d5e86bb5069/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y

Office for National Statistics. (2015). Ethnicity and Religion of the non-UK born in England and Wales: 2011. London: Office for National Statistics.

 $\frac{\text{https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/ethnicity/articles/20}{11 census an alysis ethnicity and religion of the nonukborn population in england and wales/2015-06-18? msclkid=10ea109cc3d711ec9cadcbbec01b623f$

Office for National Statistics. (2016). *Population of the UK by Country of Birth and Nationality*: 2015. London: Office for National Statistics.

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/domesticabuseinenglandandwalesoverview/november2020

Office for National Statistics. (2020a). *Domestic Abuse in England and Wales Overview*. November 2020. London: Office for National Statistics.

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents/enacted

Office for National Statistics. (2020b). Domestic Abuse During the Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic, England and Wales: November 2020. London: Office for National Statistics. https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/137articles/domesticabuseduringthecoronaviruscovid19pandemicenglandan dwales/november2020

Olutola, F. O. (2012). Wife-mother-in-law relationship and violence among Yoruba women of South-Western Nigeria. *American Journal of Sociological Research*, 2(2), 11-18.

Pakes, K., & Roy-Chowdhury, S. (2007). Culturally sensitive therapy? Examining the practice of cross-cultural family therapy. *Journal of Family Therapy*, 29(3), 267-283.

Pande, R. (2015). 'I arranged my own marriage': arranged marriages and post-colonial feminism. *Gender, Place & Culture*, 22(2), 172-187.

Papadopoulos, I., & Lees, S. (2002). Developing culturally competent researchers. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *37*(3), 258-264.

Park, S. (2018). Vietnamese women's responses to domestic violence in South Korea. *Asian Journal of Social Science Studies*, 3(3), 45.

Parpart, J. L., & Parashar, S. (Eds.). (2019). *Rethinking Silence, Voice, and Agency in Contested Gendered Terrains*. London: Routledge.

Paternotte, E., Scheele, F., Seeleman, C. M., Bank, L., Scherpbier, A. J., & Van Dulmen, S. (2016). Intercultural doctor-patient communication in daily outpatient care: relevant communication skills. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 5(5), 268-275.

Pence, E., Paymar, M., & Ritmeester, T. (1993). *Education Groups for Men who Batter: The Duluth Model*. Springer Publishing Company.

Pennebaker, J. W. (1997). Opening up: The Healing Power of Expressing Emotions. Guilford Press.

Perales, F., & Bouma, G. (2019). Religion, religiosity and patriarchal gender beliefs: Understanding the Australian experience. *Journal of Sociology*, 55(2), 323-341.

Phillips, A. (2010). Gender and Culture. Cambridge, UK: Polity.

Pike, K. L. (1954). Language in Relation to a Unified Theory of the Structure of Human Behaviour. Summer Institute of Linguistics.

Pini, B. (2007). Always an Outlaw: Daughters-in-law on Australian family farms. In *Women's Studies International Forum*. (pp. 40-47). Pergamon.

Polanyi, M. (1966). The logic of tacit inference. *Philosophy*, 41(155), 1-18.

Polanyi, M. (1983), Tacit Dimension, London: Routledge.

Polkinghorne, D. E. (1988). *Narrative Knowing and the Human Sciences*. Albany: State University of New York Press.

Polkinghorne, D. E. (1999). Traditional research and psychotherapy practice. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 55(12), 1429-1440.

Polkinghorne, D. E. (2007). Validity issues in narrative research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 13(4), 471-486.

Pollen, R. (2002). *Bangladeshi family life in Bethnal Green* [Doctoral dissertation, London School of Economics and Political Science].

Ponterotto, J. G. (2005). Qualitative research in counseling psychology: A primer on research paradigms and philosophy of science. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, 52(2), 126.

Popper, K. (1959). The Logic of Scientific Discovery. London: Hutchinson.

Popper, K., (1968) Conjectures and Refutations. New York: Harper & Row.

Porter, M., & Judd, E. R. (1999). Feminists Doing Development: A Practical Critique (Eds.). Zed Books.

Prajapati, R., & Liebling, H. (2021). Accessing mental health services: A systematic review and meta-ethnography of the experiences of South Asian Service users in the UK. *Journal of racial and ethnic health disparities*, 1-22.

Pratt, R., Burman, E., & Chantler, K. (2004). Towards understanding domestic violence: Reflections on research and the 'domestic violence and minoritisation' project'. *Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology*, (14), 33–43.

Prentice, C. M. (2008). The assimilation of in-laws: The impact of newcomers on the communication routines of families. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 36(1), 74-97.

Prinjha, S., Miah, N., Ali, E., & Farmer, A. (2020). Including 'seldom heard' views in research: opportunities, challenges and recommendations from focus groups with British South Asian people with type 2 diabetes. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 20(1), 1-11.

Pun, K. D., Infanti, J. J., Koju, R., Schei, B., Darj, E., & ADVANCE Study Group. (2016). Community perceptions on domestic violence against pregnant women in Nepal: a qualitative study. *Global Health Action*, 9(1), 31964.

Purewal, T. (2020). Re-producing South Asian Women: Female feticide and the spectacle of culture. In *South Asian Women in the Diaspora* (pp. 137-156). Routledge.

Quayson, A. (2000). 'Post-colonialism and Postmodernism'. In H. Schwarz & S. Ray (Eds.), *A Companion to Post-colonial Studies* (pp. 87–111). Malden, MA and Oxford: Blackwell.

Rabho, L. A. (2015). 'My mother-in-law ruined my life': the jealous mother-in-law and the empowerment of Palestinian women. *Contemporary Islam*, 9(3), 455-470.

Ragavan, M. I., Fikre, T., Millner, U., & Bair-Merritt, M. (2018). The impact of domestic violence exposure on South Asian children in the United States: Perspectives of domestic violence agency staff. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 76, 250-260.

Ragavan, M., & Iyengar, K. (2017). Violence perpetrated by mothers-in-law in northern India: perceived frequency, acceptability, and options for survivors. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 35(17–18), 3308–3330.

Raj, A., & Silverman, J. (2002). Violence against immigrant women: The roles of culture, context, and legal immigrant status on intimate partner violence. *Violence Against Women*, 8(3), 367-398.

Raj, A., Livramento, K. N., Santana, M. C., Gupta, J., & Silverman, J. G. (2006). Victims of intimate partner violence more likely to report abuse from in-laws. *Violence Against Women*, 12(10), 936-949.

Rashid, S. R. (2013). Bangladeshi women's experiences of their men's migration: Rethinking power, agency, and subordination. *Asian Survey*, 53(5), 883-908.

Rathod, S., & Kingdon, D. (2014). Case for cultural adaptation of psychological interventions for mental healthcare in low and middle income countries. *BMJ*, 349.

Rathod, S., Gega, L., Degnan, A., Pikard, J., Khan, T., Husain, N., Munshi, T & Naeem, F. (2018). The current status of culturally adapted mental health interventions: a practice-focused review of meta-analyses. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 4(14). 165-178.

Reinharz, S., & Chase, S. E. (2003). Interviewing women. *Inside interviewing: New lenses, new concerns*, 73-90.

Rew, M., Gangoli, G., & Gill, A. K. (2013). Violence between female in-laws in India. *Journal of International Women's Studies*, 14(1), 147-160.

Reyes, H. L. M., Foshee, V. A., Niolon, P. H., Reidy, D. E., & Hall, J. E. (2016). Gender role attitudes and male adolescent dating violence perpetration: Normative beliefs as moderators. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 45, 350-360.

Rianon, N. J., & Shelton, A. J. (2003). Perception of spousal abuse expressed by married Bangladeshi immigrant women in Houston, Texas, USA. *Journal of Immigrant Health*, 5(1), 37-44.

Ricoeur, P. (1988). The human being as the subject matter of philosophy. *Philosophy & Social Criticism*, 14(2), 203-215.

Ricoeur. (1984). Time and Narrative. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Riessman, C. K. (1990). Strategic uses of narrative in the presentation of self and illness: A research note. *Social Science & Medicine*, *30*(11), 1195-1200.

Riessman, C. K. (1993). Narrative Analysis. Newbury Park, California: Sage.

Riessman, C. K. (2003). Analysis of personal narratives. *Inside Interviewing: New Lenses, New Concerns*, 331–346

Riessman, C. K. (2008). *Narrative methods for the Human Sciences*. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications.

Rittenour, C. (2012). Daughter-in-law standards for mother-in-law communication: Associations with daughter-in-law perceptions of relational satisfaction and shared family identity. *Journal of Family Communication*, 12(2), 93-110.

Rittenour, C. E., & Kellas, J. K. (2015). Making sense of hurtful mother-in-law messages: Applying attribution theory to the in-law triad. *Communication Quarterly*, 63(1), 62-80.

Rittenour, C., & Soliz, J. (2009). Communicative and relational dimensions of shared family identity and relational intentions in mother-in-law/daughter-in-law relationships: Developing a conceptual model for mother-in-law/daughter-in-law research. *Western Journal of Communication*, 73(1), 67-90.

Rivas, C., Kelly, M., & Feder, G. (2013). Drawing the line: how African, Caribbean and white British women live out psychologically abusive experiences. *Violence Against Women*, 19(9), 1104-1132.

Robinson, J. P., & Milkie, M. A. (1998). Back to the basics: Trends in and role determinants of women's attitudes toward housework. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 60(1), 205-218.

Rodrigues, C. (2015, December 4). Tied in knots: The problem with mothers-in-law in India. *Hindustan Times*.

Rodríguez, M., Valentine, J. M., Son, J. B., & Muhammad, M. (2009). Intimate partner violence and barriers to mental health care for ethnically diverse populations of women. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 10*(4), 358-374.

Roomani, F. Z., Tayyab, F., Kamal, N., & Siddique, K. (2016). Role of Women in Perpetuating Violence against Women: Case Studies of Domestic Violence Victims. *Pakistan Journal of Social Sciences (PJSS)*, 36(2), 1185-1195.

Rosaldo, M. Z. (1974). Woman, culture, and society: A theoretical overview. *Woman, Culture, and Society*, 21, 17–42.

Rose, G. (1995). The interstitial perspective: a review essay on Homi Bhabha's The Location of Culture. *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space, 13*(3), 365-373.

Rosenwald, G. C., & Ochberg, R. L. (1992). Storied lives: The Cultural Politics of Self-understanding. Yale University Press.

Rozario, S. (2012). Islamic marriage: A haven in an uncertain world. *Culture and Religion*, 13(2), 159-175.

Rugkåsa, J., & Canvin, K. (2011). Researching mental health in minority ethnic communities: reflections on recruitment. *Qualitative Health Research*, 21(1), 132-143.

Sabri, B., Simonet, M., & Campbell, J. C. (2018). Risk and protective factors of intimate partner violence among South Asian immigrant women and perceived need for services. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 24(3), 442.

Said, E. (1978). Orientalism: Western Concepts of the Orient. New York: Pantheon.

Salway, S., Allmark, P., Barley, R., Higginbottom, G., Gerrish, K., & Ellison, G. (2009). Researching ethnic inequalities. *Social Science Research Update*, (58).

Sandel, T. L. (2004). Narrated relationships: Mothers-in-law and daughters-in-law justifying conflicts in Taiwan's Chhan-chng. *Research on Language and Social Interaction*, *37*(3), 365-398.

Sangar, M., & Howe, J. (2021). How discourses of sharam (shame) and mental health influence the help-seeking behaviours of British born girls of South Asian heritage. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, 37(4), 343-361.

Sanson, A., Duck, J., Cupit, G., Ungerer, J., Scuderi, C., & Sutton, J. (2000). Media representations and responsibilities: Psychological perspectives. *Australian Psychological Society Position Paper*, 1-68.

Santos, J. D., & Levitt, M. J. (2007). Intergenerational relations with in-laws in the context of the social convoy: Theoretical and practical implications. *Journal of Social Issues*, 63(4), 827-843.

Sarbin, T. (Ed.). (1986). Narrative Psychology: The Storied Nature of Human Conduct. New York: Praeger.

Sarfraz, M. A., & Castle, D. (2002). A Muslim suicide. Australasian Psychiatry, 10(1), 48-50.

Schramm, D. G., Marshall, J. P., Harris, V. W., & Lee, T. R. (2005). After "I do": The newlywed transition. *Marriage & Family Review*, 38(1), 45-67.

Schwartz, M. D. (1997). Researching Sexual Violence Against Women. Sage.

Schmidt, T. D. (2008). *Power associations between interparental, parent-child and child-peer relationships* (Doctoral dissertation, Washington State University).

Settles, I. H., Warner, L. R., Buchanan, N. T., & Jones, M. K. (2020). Understanding psychology's resistance to intersectionality theory using a framework of epistemic exclusion and invisibility. *Journal of Social Issues*, 76(4), 796-813.

Shariff, A. (2009). Ethnic identity and parenting stress in South Asian families: Implications for culturally sensitive counselling. *Canadian Journal of Counselling*, 43(1), 35-46.

Sharlach, L. B. (2009). First Wave Feminism. *The International Encyclopaedia of Revolution and Protest*, 1-3.

Shaw, I. (2008). Ethics and the practice of qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work*, 7(4), 400-414.

Sheikh, A., Halani, L., Bhopal, R., Netuveli, G., Partridge, M. R., Car, J., Griffiths, C., & Levy, M. (2009). Facilitating the recruitment of minority ethnic people into research: qualitative case study of South Asians and asthma. *PLoS Medicine*, *6*(10), e1000148.

Shelton, E. C. (2019). The Role of Communication Accommodation in Mother-in-Law/Daughter-in-Law Relationships. [Doctoral Dissertation, West Virginia University]. https://www.proquest.com/openview/6a918777531bdf7daceb3593dc842d2a/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y

Shen, A. C. T., Chiu, M. Y. L., & Gao, J. (2012). Predictors of dating violence among Chinese adolescents: The role of gender-role beliefs and justification of violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 27(6), 1066-1089.

Shih, K. Y., & Pyke, K. (2010). Power, resistance, and emotional economies in women's relationships with mothers-in-law in Chinese immigrant families. *Journal of Family Issues*, 31(3), 333-357.

Shih, K. Y., & Pyke, K. (2015). Seeing mothers-in-law through the lens of the mothering ideology: An interview analysis of Taiwanese, Taiwanese American, and Mexican American daughters-in-law. *Journal of Family Issues*, *37*(14), 1968-1993.

Shiva, N., & Nosrat Kharazmi, Z. (2019). The fourth wave of feminism and the lack of social realism in cyberspace. *Journal of Cyberspace Studies*, 3(2), 129-146.

Shpancer, N. (2014). Feminine foes: New science explores female competition. *Psychology Today*. Retrieved January 26, 2022, from https://www.psychologytoday.com/blog/insight-therapy/201401/feminine-foes-new-science-explores-female-competition

Silverstein, J. L. (1990). The problem with in-laws. *Journal of Family Therapy*, 14(4), 399-412.

Singer, J. A., & Blagov, P. (2004). The Integrative Function of Narrative Processing: Autobiographical Memory, Self-Defining Memories, and the Life Story of Identity. In D. R. Beike, J. M. Lampinen, & D. A. Behrend (Eds.), *The Self and Memory* (pp. 117–138). Psychology Press.

Singh, J. (2015). Religious agency and the limits of intersectionality. *Hypatia*, 30(4), 657-674.

Singh, S., & Bhandari, M. (2012). Money management and control in the Indian joint family across generations. *The Sociological Review*, 60(1), 46-67.

Singh, A. A., & Hays, D. G. (2008). Feminist group counseling with South Asian women who have survived intimate partner violence. *The Journal for Specialists in Group Work*, 33(1), 84-102.

Singh, S.L. (2021). The Ideal Indian Woman: Defined by Hindu Nationalism and Culture. *International Journal of Social Science and Human Research*.

Skinner, T., Hester, M., & Malos, E. (2013). Researching Gender Violence. Routledge.

Slocum, N., & Van Langenhove, L. (2003). "Integration speak: introducing positioning theory in regional integration studies,". In R. Harré, & F. Moghaddam (Eds.). *The Self and Others: Positioning Individuals and Groups in Personal, Political, and Cultural Contexts* (pp. 219–234). London: Praeger/Greenwood Publishers.

Smart, A., & Harrison, E. (2017). The under-representation of minority ethnic groups in UK medical research. *Ethnicity & Health*, 22(1), 65-82.

Smith, B., & Sparkes, A. C. (2006). Narrative inquiry in psychology: Exploring the tensions within. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(3), 169–192.

Snyder, R. C. (2008). What is third-wave feminism? A new directions essay. *Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, 34(1), 175-196.

Social Mobility Commission. (2017). *The Social Mobility Challenges Faced by Young Muslims*. http://shura.shu.ac.uk/22029/1/Young Muslims SMC.pdf

Spivak, G. C. (1988). Can the subaltern speak? In C. Nelson & L. Grossberg (Eds.), *Marxism and the Interpretation of Culture* (pp. 66–111). Basingstoke: Macmillan Education.

Springer, K. (2002). Third wave black feminism?. *Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, 27(4), 1059-1082.

Stefano, C. D. (2014). Marxist feminism. In *The Encyclopaedia of Political Thought* (pp. 2305-2310). John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, New Jersey.

Steier, F. (1991). Research and Reflexivity. London: Sage.

Storkey, E. (2018). Scars Across Humanity: Understanding and Overcoming Violence Against Women. InterVarsity Press

Straka, S. M., & Montminy, L. (2006). Responding to the needs of older women experiencing domestic violence. *Violence Against Women*, 12(3), 251-267.

Strawbridge, S. (2006). Thoughts on becoming, being and developing as a Counselling Psychologist. *Counselling Psychology Review-British Psychological Society*, 21(1), 27.

Stringer, K. (2010). Time to change. Mental Health and Social Inclusion, 14(1), 24–34.

Stuart, G. L., Temple, J. R., & Moore, T. M. (2007). Improving batterer intervention programs through theory-based research. *Jama*, 298(5), 560-562.

Sue, S., Zane, N., Nagayama Hall, G. C., & Berger, L. K. (2009). The Case for Cultural Competency in Psychotherapeutic Interventions. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 60(1), 525–548.

Sullivan, C. (2010). Theory and method in qualitative research. In M. Forrester (Ed.), *Doing Qualitative Research in Psychology* (pp. 15–38). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.

Sultan, N. (2015). Heuristic Inquiry: Researching Human Experience Holistically. Sage Publications.

Sun, L. C., & Lin, Y. F. (2015). Homogenous mothers-in-law, different daughters-in-law: In-law relationship comparison between Vietnamese and Taiwanese daughters-in-law. *Asian Social Science*, 11(4), 252.

Sunder, D., & Uddin, L. (2007). A comparative analysis of Bangladeshi and Pakistani educational attainment in London secondary schools. *InterActions: UCLA Journal of Education and Information Studies*, 3(2).

Squire, C. (2008, February). *Approaches to narrative research*. Centre for Narrative Research, University of East London.

Tangney, J. P. (1999). The self-conscious emotions: Shame, guilt, embarrassment and pride. In T. Dalgleish & M. J. Power (Eds.), *Handbook of Cognition and Emotion* (pp. 541–568). John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

Tangey, J. P., & Fischer, K. W. (1995). Shame and guilt in interpersonal relationship. *Self-concious Emotions. The Psychology of Shame, Guilt, Embarrassment and Pride*, *1*.

Tangney, J. P., & Dearing, R. L. (Eds.). (2011). Working with shame in the therapy hour: Summary and integration. In R. L. Dearing & J. P. Tangney (Eds.), *Shame in the Therapy Hour* (pp. 375–404). American Psychological Association.

Teyber, E., McClure, F. H., & Weathers, R. (2011). Shame in Families: Transmission Across Generations. In *Shame in the Therapy Hour* (pp. 137–166). American Psychological Association.

Thaggard, S., & Montayre, J. (2019). "There was no-one I could turn to because I was ashamed": Shame in the narratives of women affected by IPV. In *Women's Studies International Forum* (Vol. 74, pp. 218-223). Pergamon.

Takhar, O. K. (2016). Sikh identity: An exploration of groups among Sikhs. Routledge.

Thomas, L., & Brah, A. (2011). Religion and Spirituality. Feminist Review, 97(1), 1-4.

Thompson, A. R., & Chambers, E. (2012). Ethical issues in qualitative mental health research. *Qualitative Research Methods in Mental Health and Psychotherapy*, 23–37.

Thukral, R. K. (2013). Exploring the Role of Multiple Mothering on Object Representations of Asian Indian Women. California Institute of Integral Studies.

Tonsing, J. C. (2014). Conceptualizing partner abuse among South Asian women in Hong Kong. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 25(3), 281-289.

Tonsing, J. C., & Tonsing, K. N. (2019). Understanding the role of patriarchal ideology in intimate partner violence among South Asian women in Hong Kong. *International Social Work*, 62(1), 161-171.

Tonsing, J., & Barn, R. (2017). Intimate partner violence in South Asian communities: Exploring the notion of 'shame' to promote understandings of migrant women's experiences. *International Social Work*, 60(3), 628-639.

Towns, A., & Adams, P. (2000). "If I really loved him enough, he would be okay" women's accounts of male partner violence. *Violence Against Women*, 6(6), 558-585.

Triandis, H. C. (1989). The self and social behaviour in differing cultural contexts. *Psychological Review*, 96(3), 506.

Troisi, G. (2018). Measuring intimate partner violence and traumatic affect: Development of VITA, an Italian scale. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*, 1282.

Tucker, J. E. (2008). Women, Family, and Gender in Islamic Law. Cambridge: Cambridge.

Tuhiwai-Smith, L. (1999). *Decolonizing Methodologies: Research and Indigenous Peoples*. UK: Bloomsbury Publishing.

Turner, M.J, Young, C. R., & Black, K. I. (2006). Daughters-in-law and mothers-in-law seeking their place within the family: A qualitative study of differing viewpoints. *Family Relations*, 55(5), 588-600.

Uddin, S. (2017). Exploring Perceptual Changes and Stigma Relating to Mental Health and Wellbeing within the South Asian Community. [Unpublished thesis]. Manchester Metropolitan University.

UK Parliament. (2021). Domestic Abuse Act 2021.

Umberson, D., Anderson, K., Glick, J., & Shapiro, A. (1998). Domestic violence, personal control, and gender. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 60(2), 442-452.

Van Langenhove, L., & Harré, R. (1999). Introducing positioning theory. In R. Harré & L. Van Langenhove (Eds.), *Positioning theory: Moral Contexts of Intentional Action* (pp. 14–31). Oxford, UK: Blackwell.

van As, N. M., & Janssens, J. M. (2002). Relationships between child behavior problems and family functioning: A literature review. *International Journal of Child & Family Welfare*, 5(1-2), 40-51.

Vera-Sanso, P. (2005). They don't need it, and I can't give it': Filial support in South India. Aging without children: European and Asian Perspectives on Elderly Access to Support Networks, 77-105.

Vernon, A. (1997). Reflexivity: The dilemmas of researching from the inside. In C. Barnes & G. Mercer (Eds.), *Doing Disability Research* (pp. 158-176). Leeds, UK: Disability Press.

Vlahoutsikou, C. (1997). Mothers-in-law and Daughters-in-law: Politicizing Confrontations. *Journal of Modern Greek Studies*, 15(2), 283-302.

Wakil, S. P., Siddique, C. M., & Wakil, F. A. (1981). Between two cultures: A study in socialization of children of immigrants. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 43(4), 929-940.

Walby, S. (1989). Theorising patriarchy. Sociology, 23(2), 213-234.

Walker, A. J. (2000). Refracted knowledge: Viewing families through the prism of social science. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 62(3), 595-608.

Ward, F., & Linn, R. (2020). The Mother-in-Law Mystique: A Tale of Conflict, Criticism and Resistance. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy*, 41(4), 381-392.

Wasim, F. (2014). South Asian American Daughter-in-law/mother-in-law Relationships. *Cultural Values Conflict, and Help-seeking for Domestic Violence*. [Doctoral thesis, Oklahoma State University].

https://www.proquest.com/openview/cf5a2259b2edd4a4a61961781ae396a1/1?pqorigsite=gsc holar&cbl=18750

Wells, K. (2011). Narrative Inquiry. Oxford University Press, USA.

Wendler, D., Kington, R., Madans, J., Wye, G. V., Christ-Schmidt, H., Pratt, L. A., Brawley, O. W., Gross, C. P., & Emanuel, E. (2006). Are racial and ethnic minorities less willing to participate in health research? *PLoS Medicine*, *3*(2), e19.

White, P. A. (1992). Teacher empowerment under "ideal" school-site autonomy. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 14(1), 69-82.

Widmer, A. A. (2013). Relational communication about religious differences among in-laws: A case study about the quality and health of in-law relationships in orthodox Christian families. [Doctoral thesis, Bowling Green State University].

Williams, H. L., Conway, M. A., & Cohen, G. (2008). Autobiographical memory. In G. Cohen & M. A. Conway (Eds.), *Memory in the Real World* (3rd ed.). Hove, England: Psychology Press.

Williamson, M., & Harrison, L. (2010). Providing culturally appropriate care: A literature review. *International journal of Nursing Studies*, 47(6), 761-769.

Willig, C. (2008). *Introducing Qualitative Research in Psychology*. UK: McGraw-hill Education.

Willig, C. (2019). What can qualitative psychology contribute to psychological knowledge? *Psychological Methods*, 24(6), 796.

Willson, A. E., Shuey, K. M., & Elder Jr, G. H. (2003). Ambivalence in the relationship of adult children to aging parents and in-laws. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 65(4), 1055-1072.

Wilson, A. (2006). Dreams, Questions, Struggles: South Asian Women in Britain. Pluto Press

Wilson, A., & Ross, M. (2003). The identity function of autobiographical memory: Time is on our side. *Memory*, 11(2), 137-149.

Wolff, K. (2007). Liberal feminism. *The Blackwell Journal of Sociology*, 23(2), 18 – 34.

Wong, Y. J., Wang, S. Y., & Klann, E. M. (2018). The emperor with no clothes: A critique of collectivism and individualism. *Archives of Scientific Psychology*, 6(1), 251.

Wong, Y., & Tsai, J. (2007). Cultural models of shame and guilt. In J. L. Tracy, R. W. Robins, & J. P. Tangney (Eds.), *The Self-conscious Emotions: Theory and Research* (pp. 209–223). Guilford Press.

Woodhead, L. (2017). The rise of "no religion": Towards an explanation. *Sociology of Religion*, 78(3), 247-262.

Woolfe, R. (2012). Risorgimento: A history of counselling psychology in Britain. *Counselling Psychology Review*, 27(4), 72–78.

Woolfe, R., Dryden, W., & Strawbridge, S. (2003). *Handbook of Counselling Psychology* (2nd ed.). London: Sage Publications.

Woolley, M. E., & Greif, G. L. (2018). Mother-in-Law Reports of Closeness to Daughter-in-Law: The Determinant Triangle with the Son and Husband. *Social Work*, 64(1), 73-82.

Wrye, H. K. (2009). The fourth wave of feminism: Psychoanalytic perspectives introductory remarks. *Studies in Gender and Sexuality*, 10(4), 185-189.

Yakali-Çamoğlu, D. (2007). Turkish family narratives: The relationships between mothers-and daughters-in-law. *Journal of Family History*, *32*(2), 161-178.

Yardley, L. (2000). Dilemmas in qualitative health research. *Psychology and Health*, 15(2), 215-228.

Yasmin-Qureshi, S. & Ledwith, S. (2020), "Beyond the barriers: South Asian women's experience of accessing and receiving psychological therapy in primary care". *Journal of Public Mental Health*, 20(1), 3-14.

Young, M., & Wilmott, P. (2013). Family and Kinship in East London. Routledge.

Young, V. J., & DeGroot, J. M. (2021). Topic Avoidance as a Boundary Management Strategy in Communication With a Mother-in-Law. *Family Relations*, 70(2), 408-421.

Younis, T. (2021). The psychologisation of counter-extremism: Unpacking PREVENT. *Race & Class*, 62(3), 37–60.

Zempi, I. (2016). 'It's a part of me, I feel naked without it': choice, agency and identity for Muslim women who wear the niqab. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 39(10), 1738-1754.

Zhang, Y. (2016). Take my mother-in-law... Please!. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 36(4), 633-645.

Zhussipbek, G., & Nagayeva, Z. (2020). Human rights of daughters-in-law (kelins) in Central Asia: harmful traditional practices and structural oppression. *Central Asian Survey*, 40(2), 222-241.

Zwissler, L. (2012). Feminism and religion: Intersections between Western activism, theology and theory. *Religion Compass*, 6(7), 354-368

APPENDIX 1 – Phases of Heuristic Inquiry

Hiles (2001) summarised the research phases within a heuristic inquiry. I have utilised this table to outline how I have used the heuristic approach to inform how the research has been shaped retrospectively and how it hopes to evolve. I have provided my response in italics in the table to illustrate how I have adopted each phase.

Table 1: Summary of Moustakas' phases of heuristic inquiry (p. 27-37)

Initial engagement - The task of the first phase is to discover an intense interest, a passionate concern that calls out to the researcher, one that holds important social meanings and personal, compelling implications. The research question that emerges lingers with the researcher, awaiting the disciplined commitment that will reveal its underlying meanings.

A prerequisite of the heuristic inquiry is that, "research the investigator must have had a direct, personal encounter with the phenomenon being investigated. There must have been actual autobiographical connections (Moustakas, 1990). Hiles (2001) explains that in effect "it is not you who chooses the research question, but the research question chooses you, and invariably the research question is deeply personal in origin." This rings similar to Frank's (2012) criterion for carrying out Dramaturgical Narrative Analysis; "...narrative research can enter into dialogue with people' stories only if the researcher has sufficient proximate experience of the context of the stories." Furthermore, he explains that, "a standpoint begins with someone's personal troubles." Like heuristic inquiry, part of the narrative analysis process requires that the researcher declares their "animating interest."

The structure of Bangladeshi families and in-law relations has been something I have been preoccupied with for some years now. I felt a "pull" towards the research topic and it felt naturally fitting to pursue this research venture. I detail this later in the chapter highlighting both my personal and professional interest in this topic.

Immersion

The research question is lived in waking, sleeping and even dream states. This requires alertness, concentration and self-searching. Virtually anything connected with the question becomes raw material for immersion.

Ever since I have embarked on the research journey and have spoken to others about it, I have been inundated with new stories, YouTube clips, messages related to in-law relations from others. It has seemed to spark interest with those around me which has kept me immersed in the topic too.

Incubation

This involves a retreat from the intense, concentrated focus, allowing the expansion of knowledge to take place at a more subtle level, enabling the inner tacit dimension and intuition to clarify and extend understanding.

As I took a break from the research journey and revisited it, there have been many opportunities to think about my research from various stances and questioning my own positioning, beliefs and ideas about the topic, giving rise to alternative perspectives. I highlight some of these in the reflexivity section of the thesis.

Illumination

This involves a breakthrough, a process of awakening that occurs naturally when the researcher is open and receptive to tacit knowledge and intuition. It involves opening a door to new awareness, a modification of an old understanding, a synthesis of fragmented knowledge, or new discovery.

I have found the process of analysing the data to be particularly illuminating in understanding and being able to articulate some of these experiences by organising these into meaningful themes. I have also found my own self-awareness and my personal journey in the research to be transforming particularly with the way I can talk about the topic.

Explication

This involves a full examination of what has been awakened in consciousness. What is required is organization and a comprehensive depiction of the core themes.

The thesis has partially allowed some catharsis to explicate the findings of the research and my interpretations of it, giving me the opportunity to express to some extent poignant and compelling findings. It has also allowed me to deconstruct a topic area that is often taken for granted.

Creative synthesis

Thoroughly familiar with the data, and following a preparatory phase of solitude and meditation, the researcher puts the components and core themes usually into the form of creative synthesis expressed as a narrative account, a report, a thesis, a poem, story, drawing, painting, etc.

The thesis is an amalgamation of my personal memories, clinical encounters, discussions with friends, family members, relatives, colleagues, knowledge from movies, soaps, songs, poems all of which has allowed me to be creative in the presentation of my research journey. Over the years I have become inspired by non-Bangladeshi academic researchers who have impressively embarked on writing about the Bangladeshi community and allowed me time to discuss their research experiences. I feel also that my thinking would have not evolved in multiple ways, had it not been for the previous teachers in my educational history, who have sparked intrigue and shaped my interests and taught me to nurture my personal interests in education and using it as a guide to for further exploration. The current thesis, implicitly is a product of all these experiences.

Validation of the heuristic inquiry

The question of validity is one of meaning. Does the synthesis present comprehensively, vividly, and accurately the meanings and essences of the experience? Returning again and again to the data to check whether they embrace the necessary and sufficient meanings. Finally, feedback is obtained through participant validation, and receiving responses from others.

I have adopted this phase by listening to the recordings of the interview and reading through the transcriptions repeatedly whilst involving the participants to check their transcripts for verification and validation. I hope to present the research to the wider community and invite the participants who were interviewed to keep them part of the ongoing discussion.

UNIVERSITY OF EAST LONDON

School of Psychology

APPLICATION FOR RESEARCH ETHICS APPROVAL

FOR RESEARCH INVOLVING HUMAN PARTICIPANTS

BSc LEVEL 6 PROJECTS

MSc/MA DISSERTATIONS

PROFESSIONAL DOCTORATE RESEARCH IN CLINICAL, COUNSELLING & EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGY*

*Students doing a <u>Professional Doctorate in Occupational & Organisational Psychology and PhD candidates</u> should apply for research ethics approval through the University Research Ethics Committee (UREC) and not use this form. Go to:

http://www.uel.ac.uk/gradschool/ethics/

Before completing this application students should familiarise themselves with the latest *Code of Ethics and Conduct* published by the British Psychological Society (BPS) in 2009. This can be found in the Ethics folder in the Psychology Noticeboard (Moodle) and also on the BPS website

http://www.bps.org.uk/what-we-do/ethics-standards/ethics-standards

For BPS guidelines on Internet mediated research see

http://www.bps.org.uk/system/files/Public%20files/inf206-guidelines-for-internet-mediated-research.pdf

UEL's code of practice in research is a useful brief outline of good ethics conduct - see http://www.uel.ac.uk/gradschool/ethics/

Note that researchers conducting research that solely involves animal observation or analysis of existing data (secondary analysis) should complete separate forms. These can also be found in the Ethics folder in the Psychology Noticeboard on Moodle.

HOW TO COMPLETE & SUBMIT THIS APPLICATION

- 1. Complete this application form electronically, fully and accurately.
- 2. Type your name in the 'student's signature' section (5.1).
- 3. Include copies of all necessary attachments in the **ONE DOCUMENT** SAVED AS .doc (See page 2)
- 4. Email your supervisor the completed application and all attachments as **ONE DOCUMENT**. INDICATE 'ETHICS SUBMISSION' IN THE SUBJECT FIELD OF THIS EMAIL so your supervisor can readily identity its content. Your supervisor will then look over your application.
- 5. When your application demonstrates good ethical protocol your supervisor will type in his/her name in the 'supervisor's signature' section (5.2) and submit your application for review. You should be copied into this email so that you know your application has been

- submitted. It is the responsibility of students to check this.
- 6. Your supervisor will let you know the outcome of your application. Recruitment and data collection are **NOT** to commence until your ethics application has been approved, along with other research ethics approvals that may be necessary (See 4.1)

MANDATORY ATTACHMENTS

- 1. A copy of the invitation letter that you intend giving to potential participants.
- 2. A copy of the consent form that you intend giving to participants.

OTHER ATTACHMENTS (AS APPROPRIATE)

- A copy of original tests and questionnaire(s) and test(s) that you intend to use. Please note that copies of copyrighted (or pre-validated) questionnaires and tests do NOT need to be attached to this application. Only provide copies of questionnaires, tests and other stimuli that are original (i.e. ones you have written or made yourself). If you are using pre-validated questionnaires and tests and other copyrighted stimuli (e.g. visual material) make sure that these are suitable for the age group of your intended participants.
- Example of the kinds of interview questions you intend to ask participants.
- A copy of ethical clearance from an external organisation if you need one, and have one (e.g.
 the NHS, schools etc). Note that your UEL ethics application <u>can</u> be submitted and approved
 before ethical approval is obtained from another organisation (see 4.1). If you need it, but
 don't yet have ethical clearance from an external organisation, please let your supervisor
 know when you have received it.

Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) certificates:

FOR BSc/MSc/MA STUDENTS WHOSE RESEARCH INVOLVES VULNERABLE PARTICIPANTS: A
scanned copy of a current Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) certificate. <u>A current</u>
certificate is one that is not older than 6 months. This is necessary if your research involves

young people (anyone under 18 years of age) or vulnerable adults (see section 4.2 for a broad definition of this). A DBS certificate that you have obtained through an organisation you work for is acceptable, as long as it is current. If you do not have a current DBS certificate, but need one for your research, you can apply for one through the School of Psychology and the School will pay the cost.

If you need to submit a DBS certificate with your ethics application but would like to keep it confidential, please email a scanned copy of the certificate directly to Dr Mark Finn (Chair of the School Research Ethics Committee) at m.finn@uel.ac.uk

• FOR PROFESSIONAL DOCTORATE STUDENTS WHOSE RESEARCH INVOLVES VULNERABLE

PARTICIPANTS: DBS clearance is necessary if your research involves young people (anyone under 18 years of age) or vulnerable adults (see 4.2 for a broad definition of this). The DBS check that was done, or verified, when you registered for your programme is enough (even if older than 6 months) and you will not have to apply for another in order to conduct research with vulnerable populations.

1. Your details

1.1. Title of your course:

Professional Doctorate in Counselling Psychology

1.2. Title of your proposed research:

Bangladeshi Women's Experience of life with in-laws: A Narrative Analysis	
1.3. Submission date:	
May 2017	
1.4. Please tick if your application includes a copy of a DBS certificate	
1.5. Please tick if you need to submit a DBS certificate with this application but have emailed a copy to Dr Mark Finn (Chair of the School Research Ethics Committee) (m.finn@uel.ac.uk) for confidentiality reasons	
1.6. Please tick to confirm that you have read and understood the British Psycholog Society's Code of Ethics and Conduct (2009). See link on page 1	ical ✓

2. About the research

2.1. Research question(s):

The aim of the current research is to explore the narrative of Bengali women and their subjective experience of life with in-laws.

2.2. Likely duration of the data collection from intended starting to finishing date:

It is hoped that the data collection will start around May/June 2015 (or as soon as ethics has been cleared) and the intended finishing time for collecting data is April 2016.

Methods

2.3. Design of the research:

The research is essentially qualitative in nature and a narrative method will be used to gather data. In line with the research aim, the plan is to elicit narratives through the use of semi-structured interview questions. It is expected that each interview will last from 60 - 90 minutes.

2.4. Data Sources or Participants:

Sampling criteria and strategy

The research aims to interview around 10 people which is reflective of typical narrative research.

Recruiting from the Bangladeshi community per se may not be entirely difficult as the researcher has worked in two boroughs in London with the highest population of Bangladeshis.

The researchers discussion about the research topic has sparked some interested participants who are willing to share their stories. An opportunistic sampling strategy will be adopted to interview those Bangladeshi women willing to speak about their experiences of living with inlaws and by "snowballing" it is hoped that those participating will help to identify interested others.

A range of methods will be utilised to recruit participants such as word of mouth, advertising on Facebook or other social media where potential participants can contact the researcher directly.

Inclusion criteria for research

Participants will need to be of Bangladeshi origin, aged 18 or over who have had at least two years of living with in-laws. The researcher is able to speak in English and Bengali and will therefore be able to conduct the study in the language the participant feels most comfortable with.

Single/married/separated/divorced/widowed participants may have had some experiences of physically living with in-laws. For this reason the participants do not need to be married at the time of interview as long as they have had some experience of having had lived with in-laws for two years.

2.5. Measures, Materials or Equipment:

For the purpose of the interviews a digital audio recorder will be used to record the interviews.

A semi-structured interview schedule will be used to elicit narratives. Please refer to Appendix A for the interview schedule. Once ethics is cleared, it is hoped that a pilot test of the interview schedule as well as quidance from research supervisors will help to refine the questions for the

actual study.

A Family Systems Test (FAST) assessment tool will be used to trigger stories of living with inlaw families. The FAST test is a board that was developed to analyse relational structures. The figure placement technique was designed to evaluate cohesion and hierarchy in families across different situations according to distance between figures and the elevation of figure with different levels of block. The use of this tool is a good way of representing families across the three situations; the way typical structure of the family, the ideal situation and in conflict situations. These triggers may elicit a rich construction of the way the family is perceived and help to verbalise the narratives with more ease than for example asking directly about power dynamics in the family.

Please refer to the following link for a visual image of the family systems test board. http://www.fast-test.com/

2.6. If you are using copyrighted/pre-validated questionnaires, tests or other stimuli that you have not written or made yourself, are these questionnaires and tests suitable for the age group of your participants?

The FAST test will be suitable for the age group of participants

2.7. Outline of procedure, giving sufficient detail about what is involved in the research:

Below is an outline of the procedure the researcher will intend to use for each participant.

a) Once a potential participant shows interest in the study, give participant "Information Sheet" (See Appendix B) outlining aims of study, details of what the research entails, and their rights as a participant. Encourage participant to ask any questions they may have about the

			1.
roc	മറ	ırc	n
res	cu	1	11.

- b) If participant is happy to participate, arrange a time, date and location* carry out interview.
- * Location of the interview will based on a place which is convenient for both researcher and participant. The researcher will try and hire a private room at UEL. If the interview is to take place in the participant's homes, for safety reasons, the researcher will inform someone that they will be carrying out the interview (with details of general location so that participant's details remain anonymous) and the intended duration. Researcher will call once the interview is finished. Researcher will request that they are contacted if no calls are made after 30 mins of the intended finishing time.
- c) Provide participant with a "Consent Form" (See Appendix C) to sign before the interview.
- d) Interview to last approximately 60-90 minutes. Audio record interviews.
- e) Debrief clients. Ask client if they would like to read the analyses of the data and inform them that they will be contacted once the data is transcribed and analysed.
- f) Transcribe interviews and analyse data. Researcher to write down any reflections from the interview.
- g) For those participants who requested to read their analysed data, contact them and arrange a time to meet with. Audio record the meeting for any further reflections from the participant.

3. Ethical considerations

Please describe how each of the ethical considerations below will be addressed.

See the BPS guidelines for reference, particularly pages 10 & 18, and other support material in the Ethics folder in the Psychology Noticeboard on Moodle.

3.1. Obtaining fully informed consent:

If participants are interested in being interviewed for the research, a consent form will be given for them to sign before the interview. Please refer to Appendix B for details of the form which also includes the participants right to withdraw from the study at any time.

3.2. Engaging in deception, if relevant:

No deception is involved in the proposed research.

3.3. Right of withdrawal:

Participants will be advised of their right to withdraw from the research study at any time without disadvantage to them and without being obliged to give any reason. This will be made clear to participants on the information sheet sent to them. If they withdraw, all the information they have supplied will be erased and will not be included in the research. This means that all audio, paper and electronic files and any other documentation related to the participant will be destroyed.

3.4. Anonymity & confidentiality: (Please answer the following questions)

3.4.1. Will the data be gathered anonymously (i.e. this is where you will not know the names and contact details of your participants?

No. Given that the research method is qualitative, the data gathered will not be anonymous.

3.4.2. If NO what steps will be taken to ensure confidentiality and protect the identity of participants?

The "Information sheet" (Appendix A) includes measures taken to ensure confidentiality and protections of participants. Personal contact details of participants will be kept in a locked draw which only the researcher has access to and will not be shared with anyone else. Data will be treated confidentially and personal details which could potentially reveal the identity of the participant will be replaced with pseudonyms. Participants will be informed that supervisors and examiners will have access to the transcribed data where their identity has been anonymised.

Personal details of the clients will be destroyed after the data collection. Unless there is a possibility of publication of the research, all data will be destroyed. All data will be saved in a password protected laptop that only the researcher has access to. Any paper files will be kept safe in a locked draw that only the researcher has access to. Data will be kept for up to three years post data collection for the reason of possible publication.

3.5. Protection of participants:

Although a participant information sheet will be provided to all participants so that they are aware of the nature of the research before providing informed consent, it is difficult to predict what the exact outcome of participating in the research will be and what they might

experience during the interviews and their reaction to the analyses. For example, sharing narratives may trigger difficult experiences for the participant. Furthermore, analyses of results may also elicit unexpected reactions that they didn't anticipate before participating.

In the event that the participants appear feeling distressed, they will be given a reminder to withdraw their participation at anytime through processual or on-going consent.

Previous narrative research by Lieblich, (1996; cited in Elliot, 2005) documented how her research of collecting life stories in the kibbutz was similar to opening up a Pandora's box, leaving them with the pain. Holloway and Jefferson (cited in Elliot, 2005) asserts that participants experiencing distress may not be necessarily harmful but may in fact be therapeutic and reassuring to have a space to talk about an experience.

The researcher has experience in counselling skills in therapy settings and this will help to facilitate sensitive situations with empathy and active listening. Debrief at the end of the interview will also be provided. The participants will be reminded that the research is not a therapy space and will sign post information of local therapy services if the participants wished to explore their experiences further (for example local counselling and IAPT services)

The participants will be informed that their data will be shared with the supervisors that are overseeing the project. Although not anticipated, if there are serious concerns about the safety of a participant, or others, during the course of the research, the researcher will contact the research supervisor for guidance before breaching confidentiality.

3.6. Protection of the researcher:

There are no grave anticipated healthy and safety risks for the researcher. However the following two points will be considered:

- If the interview is to take place in the participant's homes, for safety reasons, the researcher will inform someone that they will be carrying out the interview (with details of general location so that participant's details remain anonymous) and the intended duration. Researcher will call once the interview is finished. Researcher will request that they are contacted if no calls are made after 30mins of the intended finishing time.
- The proposed research stems from the researchers personal experience and interest in the topic under study. There is the potential to feel personally affected by the narratives of the participant. The researcher has regular personal therapy which can be utilised if the researcher is distressed by any aspects of the research. The researcher will also inform research supervisors about any distress or difficulty experienced in the research process.

3.7. Debriefing:

Participants will be provided with a "Debrief Sheet." This sheet will include details of what will happen to the data they provided and if they are still happy for me to use the material. Sign-posting information will also be included on the sheet for the relevant services participants can contact if they feel they feel distressed or feel they want to further explore things they talked about at the interview. Participants will also be provided with the opportunity to ask any questions they may have about the research.

3.8. Will participants be paid?

NO

3.9. Other:			
(Is there anything else the reviewer of this application needs to know to make a properly assessment?)	informed		
The researcher will make regular use of research supervision to ensure that the	research is		
ethical and participant and the researcher's wellbeing is monitored.			
4. Other permissions and clearances			
4.1. Is ethical clearance required from any other ethics committee? (E.g. NHS REC*, Charities, Schools)	NO		
If YES please give the name and address of the organisation:			
Has such ethical clearance been obtained yet? N/A	\		
If NO why not?			

If YES, please attach a scanned copy of the ethical approval letter. A copy of an email from the organisation is acceptable if this is what you have received.

*If you need to apply to another Research Ethics Committee (e.g. NRES, HRA through IRIS) please see details on www.uel.ac.uk/gradschool/ethics/external-committees. Among other things, this site will tell you about UEL sponsorship

PLEASE NOTE: Ethical approval from the School of Psychology can be gained before approval from another research ethics committee is obtained. However, recruitment and data collection are NOT to commence until your research has been approved by the School and other ethics committees as may be necessary. Also note that you do not need NHS ethics approval if collecting data from NHS staff except where the confidentiality of NHS patients could be compromised. Speak to your supervisor if in doubt.

4.2. Will your research involve working with children or vulnerable adults?* NO

If YES have you obtained and attached a DBS certificate?

N/A

If your research involves young people between the ages of 16 and 18 will parental/guardian consent be obtained.

N/A

If NO please give reasons. (<u>Note that parental consent is always required for participants</u> who are 16 years of age and younger)

* You are required to have DBS clearance if your participant group involves children and young people who are younger than 18 years of age. You should speak to your supervisor about seeking consent from parents/guardians if your participants are between the ages of 16 and 18. 'Vulnerable' adult groups includes people aged 18 and over with psychiatric illnesses, people who receive domestic care, elderly people (particularly those in nursing homes), people in palliative care, and people living in institutions and sheltered accommodation, for example. Vulnerable people are understood to be persons who are not necessarily able to freely consent to participating in your research, or who may find it difficult to withhold consent. If in doubt about the extent of the vulnerability of your intended participant group, speak to your supervisor. Methods that maximise the understanding and ability of vulnerable

people to give consent should be used whenever possible. For more information about ethical research involving children see www.uel.ac.uk/gradschool/ethics/involving-children/

SEE PAGE 3 FOR FURTHER INSTRUCTIONS ABOUT ATTACHING A DBS CERTIFICATE IF YOUR RESEARCH INVOLVES VULNERABLE PARTICIPANTS AS OUTLINED ABOVE.

4.3. Will you be collecting data overseas?

NO

This includes collecting data/conducting fieldwork while you are away from the UK on holiday or visiting your home country.

* If YES in what country or countries will you be collecting data?

Please note that ALL students wanting to collect data while overseas (even when going home or away on holiday) MUST have their travel approved by the Pro-Vice Chancellor International (not the School of Psychology) BEFORE travelling overseas.

Please refer to the following link for the Approval to Travel form and the Fieldwork Risk Assessment form that should accompany an application.

http://www.uel.ac.uk/gradschool/ethics/fieldwork/

Basically, you must:

- 1. Complete the <u>Approval to Travel</u> form AND the <u>Fieldwork Risk Assessment</u> form (both found through the above link).
- 2. When completed, pass the forms to your project supervisor who will give your application to the Deputy Dean of the School of Psychology for signing.
- 3. The School will then forward your application to the Pro-Vice Chancellor International on your behalf. Applications must be received by the Pro-Vice Chancellor International at least two weeks prior to travel. Details about where to send an application can also be found through the above link.

5. Signatures

TYPED NAMES ARE ACCEPTED AS SIGNATURES

5.1. Declaration by student:

I confirm that I have discussed the ethics and feasibility of this research proposal with my supervisor.

Student's name: NORJAHAN BEGUM KARIM

Student's number: 1141390 Date: 8th September 2015

5.2. Declaration by supervisor:

I confirm that, in my opinion, the proposed study constitutes a suitable test of the research question and is both feasible and ethical.

Supervisor's name: Jane Lawrence Date: 8th September

2015



APPENDIX A - Interview Schedule

UNIVERSITY OF EAST LONDON

The following questions will be used as a guide with the general addition of prompts (for example, could you tell me more about that? How did you feel about that? What did that mean for you? What was that like? etc).

- I was wondering if you could tell me about yourself before you got married?
- What beliefs did you grow up with about married life and living with in-laws? What were these beliefs influenced by?
- What stories did you hear about living with in-laws as you were growing up?
- Did these beliefs change over time?
- Could you tell me about how the marriage was arranged?
- What hopes/expectations did you have about getting married?
- How did you feel at the time about the prospect of living with in-laws?
- Could you tell me a little bit about your current living situation?
- What was/is life like living with in-laws?
- How was married life different from your pre-married life?
- What positive experiences did you have, if any, living with in-laws?
- What negative experiences did you have, if any, living with in-laws?
- Did you feel living with in-laws changed you in any way? How do you see yourself now?
- If you could change your story in any way, what would you change?
- What would your advice be to other women who will marry and live with-in laws?
- What do you think the future looks like for other Bangladeshi women and the topic of in laws?

Questions relating to FAST (Family Systems Test) (extracted from http://www.fast-test.com/

The exploration of the *typical* representation includes the following four questions:

- Does this representation show a specific situation? If so, which one?
- How long have the relations been the way that you have shown them here? How are the relations here different from the way they used to be?
- What is the reason that the relations have become the way you show them here?

The exploration of the *ideal* representation includes the following five questions:

- Does this representation show a situation that has occurred at some point? If yes, what was the situation? (If the answer is no, omit the next two questions)
- How often does this situation occur and how long does it last when it does occur?
- When did this situation first occur and when was the last time it happened?
- What would have to happen (outside event, change in behaviour, etc.) to make typical relations correspond to how you wish they were ideally?
- How important would this be for you and the other family members?

The exploration of the *conflict* representation includes the following six questions:

Who is involved in this conflict?

What is this conflict about?

How often does this conflict occur and how long does it last each time it does occur?

When did this situation first occur and when was the last time it happened? How important is this conflict for you and the other family members? What roles do the different family members have in solving this conflict?



APPENDIX B – Information Sheet

UNIVERSITY OF EAST LONDON

School of Psychology
Stratford Campus
Water Lane
London E15 4LZ

The Principal Investigator

Norjahan Karim

Email: u1141390@uel.ac.uk

Consent to Participate in a Research Study

The purpose of this letter is to provide you with the information that you need to consider in deciding whether to participate a research study. The study is being conducted as part of my Professional Doctorate of Counselling Psychology degree at the University of East London.

Project Title

Bangladeshi Women's Experience of Life with in-laws: A Narrative Analysis

Project Description

In-law relationships have been relatively under-researched compared to other relationships. For many Bangladeshi women, moving into the husband's home and living with in-law families can be a major life change. The purpose of the current research is to explore how individuals make sense of these experiences.

The study will include Bangladeshi women aged 18 or over. To participate in the interview, you do not necessarily have to be currently living with in-laws as long as you have had at least two years experience of living with in-laws.

As part of the research, you will be asked to participate in an interview which will last approximately 1 to 1 and half hours although the length of time will vary depending on how much information you feel comfortable to share. The questions will generally focus on you overall experience of living with in-laws, including your belief and expectations about marriage and living with in-laws before your marriage and during the course of your marriage. It will also look at how your experiences have changed over time and how you have coped with different situations. The interviews will be audio-recorded,

Some people feel that talking about their experiences openly can be quite therapeutic although personal information can sometimes bring up difficult feelings. As a participant, it is within your right to not answer questions that make you feel uncomfortable or distressing. You can rest assured that you can withdraw from the study at any time. You will also be provided with a list of contact information if you feel you need further support.

Once the transcribed data has been analysed, you will have the opportunity to read the data and make any further comments you wish to add.

Confidentiality of the Data

Everything you share will remain confidential. All your personal details will only be accessible to the researcher. The recorded interview will be transcribed and your personal details will be anonymised in the transcript. All audio recordings will be erased once the research is complete. Transcribed information will be kept up to 3 years and will be stored securely.

Location

If you agree to take part in the research, an interview date, time, and location will be arranged that is suitable for you. The interview is likely to take place in a private room at the University where the researcher studies, your own home or anywhere that is convenient for you.

Disclaimer

You are not obliged to take part in this study and should not feel coerced. You are free to withdraw at any time. Should you choose to withdraw from the study you may so without disadvantage to yourself and without any obligation to give a reason. If you do withdraw from the research, all your personal details and interview material will be erased and will not be used for the research write-up.

Please feel free to ask me any questions. If you are happy to continue you will be asked to sign a consent form prior to your participation. Please retain this invitation letter for reference.

If you have any questions or concerns about how the study has been conducted, please contact the study's supervisors:

Dr Jane Lawrence (j.lawrence@uel .ac.uk) or Dr Nicholas Wood (n.wood@uel.ac.uk)

School of Psychology, University of East London, Water Lane, London E15 4LZ.

<u>OR</u>

Chair of the School of Psychology Research Ethics Sub-committee:

Dr. Mark Finn, School of Psychology, University of East London, Water Lane, London E15 4LZ.

(Tel: 020 8223 4493. Email: m.finn@uel.ac.uk)

Thank you in anticipation.

Yours sincerely,

Norjahan Karim



UNIVERSITY OF EAST LONDON

Consent to participate in a research study

Bangladeshi Women's Experience of Life with In-Laws: A Narrative Analysis

I have the read the information sheet relating to the above research study and have been given a copy to keep. The nature and purposes of the research have been explained to me, and I have had the opportunity to discuss the details and ask questions about this information. I understand what is being proposed and the procedures in which I will be involved have been explained to me.

I understand that the interview will be audio recorded and the data will be anonymised. I understand that my involvement in this study, and particular data from this research, will remain strictly confidential. Only the researcher involved in the study will have access to identifying data. It has been explained to me what will happen once the research study has been completed.

I hereby freely and fully consent to participate in the study which has been fully explained to me. Having given this consent I understand that I have the right to withdraw from the study at any time without disadvantage to myself and without being obliged to give any reason.

Participant's Name (BLOCK CAPITALS)	
Participant's Signature	

Researcher's Name (BLOCK CAPITALS)
Researcher's Signature



Date:APPENDIX D – DEBRIEF SHEET

UNIVERSITY OF EAST LONDON

DEBRIEFING INFORMATION

Thank you very much for taking the time to participate in the current study.

Marriage is considered a major life event in many cultures. In the Bangladeshi culture, it is customary for the woman to move in to the husband's home and live with his family. The aim of the current research was to explore the stories of Bangladeshi and their experiences of living with in-laws.

In-law relationships have been relatively an understudied area of research in comparison to other close relationships which calls for more research to be conducted.

Research has demonstrated how culture can play role in shaping in-law relations and

it was hoped that this exploratory research would help to generate insight into your

experiences, and contribute to the existing research for further discussion around the

topic of in-law relations. It is also hoped that your experiences would provide a

foundation for and illuminate discussion around current psychological theory and

practice in the planning and delivery of psychological interventions.

What will happen to the information I have provided?

Everything you share will remain confidential. All your personal details will only be

accessible to the researcher. The recorded interview will be transcribed and your

personal details will be anonymised in the transcript. All audio recordings will be

erased once the research is complete. Once the transcribed data has been analysed,

you will have the opportunity to read the data and make any further comments you

wish to add and check if you are happy for me to still use the material.

Who do I contact if I have any further questions about the research?

Should you have any questions or issues you would like to discuss in relation to the

research, please contact myself or my supervisor using the details below. We will be

available for contact for a period of 6 months after your interview has occurred.

Rima Karim, Trainee Counselling Psychologist

University of East London

Email: u1141390@uel.ac.uk

Dr Jane Lawrence, Research Supervisor

University of East London

Email: j.lawrence@uel.ac.uk

284

FURTHER SUPPORT:

Talking about your experiences can be both therapeutic and difficult. If you feel that after your interview you have been feeling low or you feel that you wish to explore some things further:

- 1. your GP can refer you to receive further support from psychology or counselling organisation if you feel this may be of benefit.
- 2. The Samaritans also provide emotional support and can be contacted on 08457 90 90 90. For further support please visit www.samaritans.org

APPENDIX 3

INTERVIEW SCHEDULE (Before pilot interview)

- I was wondering if you could tell me about yourself before you got married?
- What ideas did you have about married life and living with in-laws before your own arranged marriage? Prompt: Who or what influenced your ideas / hopes/ expectations?
- Tell me about your own arranged marriage?
- How did you feel at the time about it?
- What do you think now about what you expected/hoped for? Prompt: how is life different?
- What was/is life like living with in-laws? Prompt: What was good about it/not so good?
- How do you see your role in the family now?
- If you could change your story in any way, what would you change?
- What would your advice be to other women who will marry and live with-in laws?
- What do you think the future looks like for other Bangladeshi women and the topic of in laws?

APPENDIX 4

INTERVIEW SCHEDULE (After pilot interview)

- Could you tell me a little bit about how your marriage was organised or arranged?
- What ideas did you have about married life and living with in-laws before your own arranged marriage? Prompt: Who or what influenced your ideas / hopes/ expectations?
- Tell me about your own arranged marriage?
- How did you feel at the time about it?
- What do you think now about what you expected/hoped for? Prompt: how is life different?
- What was/is life like living with in-laws? Prompt: What was good about it/not so good?
- How do you see your role in the family now?
- If you could change your story in any way, what would you change?
- What would your advice be to other women who will marry and live with-in laws?
- What do you think the future looks like for other Bangladeshi women and the topic of in laws?

APPENDIX 5



University of East London Psychology

REQUEST FOR TITLE CHANGE TO AN ETHICS APPLICATION

FOR BSc, MSc/MA & TAUGHT PROFESSIONAL DOCTORATE STUDENTS

Please complete this form if you are requesting approval for proposed title change to an ethics application that has been approved by the School of Psychology.

By applying for a change of title request you confirm that in doing so the process by which you have collected your data/conducted your research has not changed or deviated from your original ethics approval. If either of these have changed then you are required to complete an Ethics Amendments Form.

HOW TO COMPLETE & SUBMIT THE REQUEST

- 7. Complete the request form electronically and accurately.
- 8. Type your name in the 'student's signature' section (page 2).
- 9. Using your UEL email address, email the completed request form along with associated documents to: Psychology.Ethics@uel.ac.uk
- 10. Your request form will be returned to you via your UEL email address with reviewer's response box

completed. This will normally be within five days. Keep a copy of the approval to submit with your project/dissertation/thesis.

REQUIRED DOCUMENTS

3. A copy of the approval of your initial ethics application.

Name of applicant: Norjahan Begum Karim

Programme of study: Professional Doctorate in Counselling Psychology

Name of supervisor: Dr Claire Marshall

Briefly outline the nature of your proposed title change in the boxes below

Proposed amendment	Rationale
Old Title: Bangladeshi Women's Experience of Life with In-Laws: A Narrative analysis	Change of title was suggested by the examiners in their post-viva report to better reflect the nature and findings of the study.
New Title: British Bangladeshi Muslim Women's In-Law Relationships: A Narrative Analysis	

Please tick	YES	NO
Is your supervisor aware of your proposed amendment(s) and agree to them?	I	
Does your change of title impact the process of how you collected your data/conducted your research?		Ø

Student's signature (please type your name): Norjahan Begum Karim

Date: 9th March 2021

TO BE COMPLETED BY REVIEWER		
Title changes approved	YES	
	Comments	

Reviewer: Glen Rooney

Date: 22/03/2021

Appendix 6

AUDIT TRAIL

The diagram below outlines the process of holistic content analysis and how the themes arose. Using excerpts of one of the participant's narratives, an audit trail is provided to clarify how the themes were generated. The multiple stages and layers of analysis helped capture the complexity, richness and nuanced features of the narratives.

a. I actively listened and read the data several times until a pattern emerged



b. I put my initial and global impression of each participant into writing. This included noting exceptions to the general impression as well as unusual features of the story such as contradictions or unfinished descriptions



c. Using different colours, I highlighted the various themes in the narrative, reading separately and repeatedly for each one.



d. I noted the context in which a theme appears and their relative salience in the text.



 $\ensuremath{\text{e.}}$ I combined similar themes across all stories and formed categories.

Participant: Nasima

a. Actively listening to and reading the data several times until a pattern emerged

This stage involved reading and immersing myself in the narrative. As well as listening to the interview and reading the transcripts simultaneously, I made notes of patterns that I noticed and my personal reflections. This included paying attention to the tone of what was being said as this is not captured in the written transcript. I focused on both the content and the performative elements of the narratives, concentrating on what felt important to be heard, how the narrative was told and focusing on any repetitive storylines or phrases. Additionally, I noted my reflections after the interview in a reflexive diary. Excerpts of this are included below:

Personal reflections: Throughout the course of listening to her narrative, I felt saddened, frustrated and at times anger as she shared her experiences of her in-law relationships. I met her at a time where her story appeared to be moving forward as she was no longer living with her in-laws whom she shared having difficult experiences with. However, although she was trying to live life in her own terms and her story appears progressive, I also hear the long term impact the struggle and burden of wanting to be the "perfect" and "good" daughter-in-law has had on her life. I felt saddened that Nasima had compromised significantly on her wellbeing and acquiesce to meeting expectations of her husband and in-laws so that she can prove that daughter-in-laws should not be blamed for breakdown of relationships. I feel surprised that although she wanted to share her story to console others who may have gone through difficult experiences, she still seemed to advocate for women to live with in-laws and to give "100%" like she did.

Nasima reminded me of both relatives and previous clients who had shared similar experiences. Post the interview, I found myself reflecting a lot on her experiences, especially around women tolerating distress as a marker of not spoiling the image of the "good" daughter-in-law and going to extreme lengths to protect this image. I feel these reflections will be important to bear in mind through the analysis so as not to confuse or impose my previous experience onto Nasima's account.

• What were some of the common patterns/themes/storylines?

Loss of her identity and who she was before marriage compared to after marriage; many experiences of being controlled and abused, not supported; isolated; not being able to share her difficult experiences and tolerating distress even at cost of own wellbeing.

• Why was the tale told that way?

There had a been a significant amount of time that had lapsed since she decided to leave her ex-husband and in-laws and it appeared she has had some time process some of her experiences. It appears that Nasima felt that daughter-in-laws are often blamed for not wanting to adjust and adapt to living with in-laws after marriage and she wanted to share her story as a way to disprove this belief (that she felt was commonly held by the Bangladeshi community). She also thought that sharing her story may help others.

Nasima shares a variety of experiences of going to all lengths to make sure she fully "embraced" doing what is expected of her by her in-laws. These experiences often included conducting herself in a way that fit the ideal image of the perfect daughter-in-law; this included wearing saree, to be at a constant servitude to her in-laws, cooking, tidying and cleaning, and eating after everyone had eaten and being told what to eat. She wanted to share that she did everything she could to please her in-laws demand and do what is expected.

Nasima would avoid eye contact and laugh when sharing emotional aspects of her stories or maybe she felt uncomfortable talking about painful experiences. I wondered whether she was experiencing shame in recounting some of her experiences and wanted to downplay the intensity of some of her experiences. I also wondered being a Bangladeshi woman myself she may have felt I may judge her like the way she feels the rest of the Bangladeshi community would judge women; she perhaps wanted to prove to me that she is not to blame for the breakdown of the relationship with her in-laws and did everything that she could please them.

• *In what kinds of stories did the narrator place themselves?*

I felt that Nasima placed herself in stories of struggling to be seen and heard within her in-laws. She seemed to occupy a subordinate position in the family with little power to challenge and manoeuvre around her difficult experiences. It seemed she was determined to tolerate any distress, no matter how difficult, to prove that she was a "good" daughter-in-law.

How does the participant locate themselves in relation to the audience, and vice versa?
 It appeared that in telling of her story, I represented the audience she wanted to give the message to; the wider Bangladeshi community or communities in which the norm is women marry to live in extended family settings with in-laws. It appears that her narrative is a way of getting

herself heard and seen in the way that she perhaps was not when she got married. She locates herself in the story as someone who has had experiences of living with in-laws and is able to talk about her experiences to prove and dispel beliefs that the onus on maintaining relationships with in-laws lies on the daughters-in-law. She seems to want to highlight to the audience that she is someone, who was committed to building a relationship with her in-laws and provides the lengths she went to maintain the relationship, despite very challenging experiences. She seems to want to send a clear message that women should not be blamed. As she explains at one point in her narrative, the relationship is two ways, don't just blame the daughter in-laws.

- How does the participant strategically make identity claims through their narrative performance? What other identities are performed or suggested?
 Nasima provides a variety of experiences where she places herself as the role of victim. Her
 - Nasıma provides a variety of experiences where she places herself as the role of victim. Her sharing of cooking and serving guests after giving birth to a baby, not being supported and feeling like no one understood highlights that she felt powerless to challenge some of the difficult experiences. Her lack of support from her husband and experience of being bullied places Nasima as the victim and her husband and in-laws as villains in the story. It is not until Nasima finds out about her ex-husbands extra marital affair and experiencing physical abuse in her marital relationship that she decides to leave. It is interesting that difficult experiences with her in-laws did not influence her decision to leave; this may be because she did not want to be judged for ending the relationship and being blamed for this. By sharing her decision to leave her marital relationship after psychical abuse from her ex-husband, she is able to position her ex-husband as the villain and herself as the victim/survivor of her experiences.
- What was the response of the audience and how did they influence the development of their narrative, and interpretation of it?
 - I really felt Nasima was proving to me that she did everything she could to be the "good" daughter-in-law and despite her efforts, the relationship broke down. I continuously wondered how maybe my presence as a Bangladeshi woman made her feel that she needed to convince me that she is not to blame for the ending of the relationship and perhaps as a researcher I was in a position to get her story heard in the community and change their perception about perceived judgements made about daughter-in-laws.

b. Noting initial and global impression of each participant into writing. This included noting exceptions to the general impression as well as unusual features of the story such as contradictions or unfinished descriptions

This stage involved summarising the initial impressions and interpretations of the narratives after the transcripts were read several times. These summaries formed the "global impressions (Lieblich et al. 1998) which include descriptions of the salient features of the narrative and how the stories were told. The excerpt below is an interpretation that I noted of the initial impressions of Nasima's narrative.

Global Impression

Nasima's narrative account is reminiscent of the role of "Cinderella" who didn't really have a happily ever after. Nasima presents herself in a "passive" way, unquestioning the new traditions and rules of her in-law's household around dresswear and duties. She likened her experiences at her in-laws as regressive as though "they're living in Bangladesh in the village" expecting a daughter- in-law to respond to their every whim and desire with little flexibility. Nasima appeared to work tirelessly to meet these expectations at the expense of her own self-care. Putting others first was paramount including eating when told to, usually after everyone else had finished eating, and eating what was given to her.

Nasima seemed to be happy to present her story with the hope that it may help others and demystify the idea that daughter-in-laws are not open enough to adapt to living with in-laws. In the telling of her story, it was clear that Nasima did not want to be blamed by society or her husband for not doing enough for her in-laws. Informed by Indian movies, Nasima was in agreement with the idea that it is "morally correct" to respect the heads of the households and she wanted to fit into the mould of the daughter-in-law as presented in the soaps and movies. Whilst Nasima seemed passionate about advocating for ensuring daughter-in-law are not mistreated, her narrative was expressed in an ambiguous way; flat tone, reducing eye contact when recounting difficulties and simultaneously upholding a hesitant but painful smile. There appears to be sadness and deep-seated anger with the "bullying" she experienced and her identity in the story seems to be disparate to the "passionate", "strong-minded" person she described herself to be. Despite her negative experiences, Nasima still felt as a daughter-in-law one must preserve the cultural values and persevere to make the relationships work.

c. Highlighting the various themes in the narrative using different colours, reading separately and repeatedly for each one. I organised the quotes for each theme in a table.

Themes were identified based on the either the space devoted to a particular storyline, the strength of a particular theme based on the details the participant provided about it. Additionally, themes were also identified based on the perceived importance of a particular theme or a position adopted by the participant in the narratives. These themes and meanings were discussed with the supervisor. Below are selected quotes that were organised into tables for each theme. Notes were made on the transcript and reflexive diary.

Theme: Shock

A few of the quotes selected for this theme:

Nasima	(laugh) "It was the biggest shock of my life. It wasn't a shockIt was the biggest change." (81-82)
Nasima	"I was in a big shock. I couldn't sleep, I hadn't even brushed my hair for like days and I ended having these knots, because I had to rush downstairs first thing in the morning because I know I'm going to be into trouble if I'm not down because I could hear the room door opening that's 5:30-6 AM." (115-118)
Nasima	" I think on the second week I just burst into tears. It all hit me. I was like, "Oh my God what's happened to my life?" I just I was like crying as I'm cooking and his siblings were just talking and giggling and I think his brother saw and I kind of wiped my tears and eventually he said, "Oh what's the matter has anyone said anything?" I'd say no, no. I couldn't explain. I said, "No, I can't explain what it is" Yes, it was just shock." (23)

Theme: Control

Nasima	"his family is very strict and I knew his dad wasn't going to take me and my dad was very old-fashioned they wouldn't have said, "Oh my daughter is still going to work." My parents wouldn't even allow me. They wouldn't expect a daughter-in-law to do that. It wasn't the norm then" (47-50)
Nasima	"my sister was married five years before I was married she had in-laws yet and I knew that it's expectedshe had to wear sari, she has to cook, she has to ask for permission before she comes (visits natal family). I knew all that and I thought, "Yes, that's normal." But my experience was slightly different. She still had flexibility that she can eat whenever she wants. She didn't have to wear sari anymore certain things that I wasn't ready for. Like you can't eat until you've been told to eat and you have to eat what's given in your plate(146-156)

Nasima	"to be told what you eat, when you can eat it. Everybody's ate, the guests have
	ate, you have cooked for 15 hours but you are not going to eat because your
	father-in-law he hasn't come from the mosque until he is and your mother-in-
	law hasn't come down and sat down you can't sit down. For me that is something
	that nobody goes through." 231-237)

Theme: Lack of Support (from husband)

A few of the quotes that selected for this theme:

Nasima	"But then there was something that he said that after I get married, I can work, he would facilitate for that. And like kameez and that he will speak to his dad but he never brought it up he never asked his family if I can wear kameez. It's just something that was left (275-289)
Nasima	"He was difficult as well. I guess he did expect me to give him his breakfast at six o'clock although like I've had like God knows how many stitches I have just come from the hospital and the baby has to eat. Waking up every two hours he still expected me to give him his breakfast give him his curry, cook for his sister" (336-339)
Nasima	"He wanted more even more just wanted me to make his family happy and if they say things to me whatever, I shouldn't be coming in telling him or anybody. (390-393)

Theme: Abuse

A few of the quotes selected for this theme:

Nasima	"say I was so busy trying to finish the six curries by the time my father-in-law comes from the mosque and I was busy and I forgot to ask her whether she wanted tea. She'd come in and putting the kettle on and she'll be like, "Khaitai ni amma saa?" (mum would you like tea?) just to her mum "aar khew khaita ni?" (Does anyone else want tea?) (358-361) The fact that she came and I didn't give her tea upstairs. She has to make her own tea. And now she feels obliged she has to ask to make one for me but see the thing is not her role (368-370)
Nasima	"I just felt that his family bullied me, he bullied me. I saw everything was unfair." (433-434)

d. Noting the context in which a theme appears and their relative salience in the text.

I followed each theme throughout the narrative and noted my conclusions, keeping note of where the themes appeared, the transitions between themes and the context for each one. I paid particular attention to episodes that seem to contradict the theme in terms of content, and mood

of how the participant evaluated the story. Additional notes were made on the transcript and reflexive diary.

e. Combining similar themes across all stories and forming categories.

After completing the above analytic steps for all 10 participant's accounts, the narratives were considered collectively. Reading across the narratives, shared plots were identified resulting in four main overarching themes. Quotes for each theme were merged into a table. Subthemes for this were also identified, highlighting the similarities and differences across participants in positions adopted, content or performance. The themes highlighted presentation of the varying positions and experiences within the participant narratives. This meant that whilst each participant is represented in a theme, they do not necessarily appear in all the subthemes; this reflects the heterogeneity of their experiences which highlights the subjective and nuanced features of the narratives.

Initial process of highlighting and making notes (Interview Transcript: Nasima)

Interviewer: First of all thank you so much for agreeing to take part in the research. My first question would be is if you could just talk me through how your marriage was arranged or organized when it did happen.

Interviewee: I got married it wasn't an arranged marriage. It wasn't an arranged way but my parents and his parents, they organized it, set the dates and the whole venue and that. I knew him from the age of 15 and then by the time I was 18 and a half, his family sent marriage proposal to my parents and then my parents agreed. We had a nice like our marriage plans probably eight weeks or about six weeks. Then we took and we-

Nasima got married quite young (common to get married young at that particular time in the 90s?) Finds it difficult to say she was dating before marriage and instead says it "wasn't an arranged marriage" (perhaps of fear of being judged, (culturally and religiously frowned upon to be in relationships outside of marriage). Marriage required family approval. Despite cultural and religious rulings around dating demonstrates going against traditions...

Interviewer: It happened very quickly?

Interviewee: Yes. It happened really quickly, both family really got on. It was one of those.

When you look back now it was one of the most big plush weddings.

Interviewer: You knew your partner?

Interviewee: Yes.

Interviewer: And your parents, both parents agreed?

Interviewee: My parents knew that I know him. That's one of the reasons why they just kind of agreed because they wanted me to be happy. They wanted to get me married to who I wanted to get married to, make things simple. But his dad didn't know. His mum and sisters knew because his dad's very strict and very old-fashioned.

Makes a distinction between her natal family and in-laws. Suggests her parents wanted her to be happy and "agreed" to choice of partner (family approval still important) Contrasts this and labels father-in-law as "strict" and "old fashioned" suggesting that marrying a partner of choice would not have been accepted. Presents and implies her family is more supportive and "liberal/modern/progressive."

Interviewer: How long ago was this?

Interviewee: 1997. That was 19 years ago.

Interviewer: 19 years ago. Okay. You got married and... what was life like at that time for

you so you were quite young?

Interviewee: I dropped school at 16 years I wanted to study and by that time it was a bit of a taboo and stigma. My parents weren't very sort of academic encouraging parents. Although they knew that I was quite enthusiastic in studies and I was quite an able child, quite a talent but they didn't really-- it was a whole like society thing, they had to get me married. Then I worked... so I stayed at home by a few months so my mum went to Bangladesh after I left school with my brothers my younger siblings and then that was like mid... Then I didn't put the my name there because my dad said he didn't want me to study because it was a mixed school that I had been going to.

He didn't want me to go to sixth form there, so that I could still go and enrolled in a girl's school. Even then, he wasn't very happy because I wanted to do business admin. That was like March-February time, so I still had a few months to play around until September. I went in and got myself a part-time job after my mum came back in April, in a supermarket. Again I had to find a local because I wasn't going to be allowed to travel far and my mum came to pick me up. Then I worked there as a cashier because I've had work experience from the age of 14. I used to work in a local corner shop. I just worked there and then I didn't go back into studying because my parents didn't want me to go back to school.

Studying – was a bit of a taboo (women not expected to pursue options outside domestic sphere? – exercised agency within her situations (working in a shop from age 14. Went to work whilst compromising on not going far and being picked up by her mum. Did not go to study because of gender expectations. Extracts illustrates some contradiction with her previous comparison between her family and in-laws. Selective rulings about what is acceptable (father accepted Nasima to marry partner of choice but did not approve of going to mixed school; did family rush marriage to avoid shame for people finding out about Nasima's relationship? Protecting honour?)

Interviewer: It wasn't encouraged?

Interviewee: No. I just stayed there about a year and a half and from there I got married. A week before I got married I left two weeks before.

Interviewer: At the time that you got married you gave up work?

Interviewee: Yes.

Interviewer: Is there a reason for why you gave up work?

Interviewee: It was just because of my ex...he did say that after I get married he'll help me find a better job or something else. But his family is very strict and I knew his dad wasn't going to take me and my dad was very old-fashioned they wouldn't have said, "Oh my daughter is still going to work." My parents wouldn't even allow me. They wouldn't expect a daughter-in-law to do that. It wasn't the norm then.

Gave up job 2 works before getting married. Her ex-husband said he will help find a better job. Parents and in-laws were "strict". Wasn't the norm for DILs to work then. Message: there is an expectation of what a daughter is able and not able to do. She mentions it wasn't a norm then suggesting that certain expectations can be understood within the context of a particular time. Nasima also seems to be accepting of this as daughters-in-law not working was not something that applied to her only but to other women in that time period. Nasima labels father-in-law as strict but doesn't label her family this way even though she acknowledges her family wouldn't have approved her to be in employment. Shows how natal and in-law family are complicit in controlling women.

Interviewer: Back in 97? You gave up your job and your ex-partner thought you might be able to get a better job after marriage but you kind of in your mind knew that it might not happen.

Interviewee: I was happy with it.

Nasima replies that she was happy with this choice. Choosing to agree with others also a choice? Perhaps a desire to be a good DIL and wife overshadowed her desire to work. An acceptance of cultural norms over her personal wishes.

Interviewer: You were okay with that at the time?

Interviewee: Yes.

Interviewer: Tell me a little bit about what happened after you got married. Who did you live

with?

Interviewee: After that my dad lived with his family. He's got very big family, but when I moved in he only had a brother who was 17 and sister was 13, although he's got five sisters and a brother.

Interviewer: Big family?

Interviewee: Two brother actually, yes. One of them from my step-mum and there was...when I got married, three step brothers and sisters were still in Bangladesh. When I moved here I moved into a temporary accommodation that was decant. They'd lived there for years but people were being moved.

Interviewer: Decant?

Interviewee: Decant as in they were going to bring them down.

Interviewer: Okay

Interviewee: We were the last people at the whole block to stay. When I got married, the second or third day later, they got the key for the new house, but they knew they were going to get it. They just wanted the wedding to happen here and then they were going to move. But that was a temporary accommodation. The house they were going to rebuilt there. The plan was that they were going to come back to the same place in a new building. On the ninth day I moved, but yes it was the father-in-law, mother-in-law, myself and my kids' father and his brother and sister. He has two sisters and brothers all local, like the married ones. They used to come around every day or less with their kids and them. I was just a housewife really.

Lived with husband PIL and siblings in law. She had other siblings in law, who were married and who all lived locally. Described herself as housewife. Talked in a low tone. Agreed to give up and said she was happy before but sounded like she wasn't entirely happy with being "just a housewife." Narrative indicates that having all the married of in-laws coming around regularly, positioned her to be at home as housewife.

Interviewer: Okay, all right. You moved in with them. How was life different or was it different after you got married compared to before?

Interviewee: (laugh) It was the biggest shock of my life. It was the biggest change. As a person I've always been very strong-minded but I've always been very resilient. I knew his family was very opposite to my family, very orthodox were very strict in their own fashion.

Describes her experience as a shock after she got married and then change and laughs about this. Perhaps the change was shocking? Describes herself as strong and resilient perhaps setting the context for the following sentence where she describes her in-laws as orthodox and strict in their own way. Described her family as strict before and now sees another version of "strict" "in their own fashion." Each family has their own rules about what is acceptable...

Interviewer: In what way?

Interviewee: Like the daughters were not allowed to wear anything other than shalwar kameez. They had to wear the headscarf and salaam their dad first thing in the morning, they were not allowed to wear lipstick. The mum would get the brother to beat them up if she found them curling their hair, can't listen to music, can't watch TV. Opposite of my family, total opposite. I had my hair, I use to wear t-shirt in front of my dad, hold his hand. Whereas with them it's a very formal relationship. Ji, Ji-oy-ji-na khoilai na khene? This, that. "Why is your chest showing? Why is the scarf here?" It was just totally different, although I knew it I didn't know the full extent.

Restrictions on clothing, expectations on conduct and how to address parents, rules around what the can and cannot do. Had to be more formal. Implies a very distant relationships This is very different to her parent's home — may explain the "shock". Consequences for breaking rules so mother-in-law would get son to physically abuse the daughters. Witnessed how women in the family are controlled and abused, may have influenced her to not "break the rules" Illustrates the power that family have over women,

and how women may also be complicit in abuse, maintains patriarchy.... power help by elders over youngsters... rules appear to be for girls only?

I always got married thinking that for me I'm one of those people whatever I do has to be excellence. So I thought if I'm going to get married, I'm going to be the best bow the best wife, so I went in there with that mind that I'm going to combat whatever. When I got there, "Yes okay if you want me to wear sari 24/7, I'll wear the sari.

Nasima conformed to the dress code (sari) expectations as she wanted to fulfill her role as a wife and daughter-in-law to the best of her ability. Demonstrates a strong desire to be a good daughter-in-law and not challenge rules/culture/tradition of what is expected of a daughter-in-law. Clear rules that other girls in the family can wear salwar kameez but daughter-in-law has to wear sari.

I have never worn kameez other that on Eid days. Even then I was like, **[unintelligible 00:07:10]** as I grew up thinking that I always wanted to be different to the Bengali girls. I was always different but in a very modest and a dignified way. I never wanted to just follow the norm. I always wanted to be different. I never wore kameez. My dad had never made us to wear headscarf,...

She talks about not wearing traditional Bengali clothes and wanted to be different but still conforms to rules around modesty and dignity. Was not expected to wear headscarf at home Heterogeneity on what is considered modest within Bengali community. Nasima's narrative illustrates some conflict with following some norms but also "wanting to be different." She let's the audience into her personality pre-marriage in the beginning of the interview. It appears that after marriage there is little room to be "different" or to be "herself" as there are lots of rules to follow and abide by after marriage in her new role and identity after marriage.

...we were never told to really pray unless once in a blue moon. Whereas his family you can't eat unless you've prayed. When I got there, yes, I tried to fit within their expectations.

At home wasn't really required to fulfil religious obligations. Control around fulfilling religious duties at in-laws in order to eat. Her narrative reveals a lot of themes around learning about expectations and control over 'how to be.' Perhaps this explain her experiences of shock and labelling her in-laws as strict which she feels is different from life before marriage.

Interviewer: What were their expectations?

Interviewee: Their expectation were... I don't know. Even till now I still search and I think the expectation was that they wanted somebody...they wanted a daughter-in-law who they see in the Indian movies back in the black and white times and whatever they've heard of back home. But their mind was sort of like...they're living in Bangladesh in the village but they're in a real..they're not in that world though. You're in the modern times now, if you know what I mean? They wanted a **bow** (daughter-in-law) who wakes up first thing in the morning wearing sari salaams the father-in-law, touches their feet, breakfast is ready before

they even come down, cooks a meal, cooks...I can't explain. I don't know they just wanted...but I tried my best. I always tried.

Interviewer: Did you do all of that?

Implies the expectations were unspoken. Sounds like she was trying to work out their expectations as she was living with them. "Learning on the job." She makes assumptions on what she thinks her in-laws wanted. She portrays her in-laws as "backwards" and implies that their expectations indicate that are stuck in their life in the village in Bangladesh which isn't fitting with modern day living. She draws on old movies as a way of illustrating on what she assumes may have influenced and shaped what her in-laws wanted from a DIL. Says she really tried her best. It sounds like the desire to be the "best" daughter-in-law also has costs to it; in trying to be the best does not match how she thinks things should be...

Interviewee: Yes. At the beginning and then I was in a big shock. I couldn't sleep, I hadn't even brushed my hair for like days and I needed having these knots, because to rush downstairs first thing in the morning because I know I'm going to be into trouble if I'm not done because I could hear the room door opening that's 5:36 AM. Eventually when I went to my mum. That was three weeks after. That was the longest three weeks of my life [laughs] and all I did was to sleep and my auntie thought I was pregnant.

Whilst trying to adapt she talks about the impact this had on her. She reverts back to using the word "shock again." She speak of how trying to keep up with expectations impacted on perhaps her self-care and physical and emotional wellbeing such as her sleep. Pressure from herself and in-laws to be perfect and also avoid consequences of getting into trouble. As a daughter-in-law, she implied she had to conform to complete servitude. The pressure to live to these expectations came from herself too as she wanted to be the best daughter-in-law. She probably found it hard to balance the expected demands on her. She also notes the natal home being a place of rest and respite where perhaps she can be "herself."

Interviewer: Because you were tired.

Interviewee: Then the day before going...first I was going back to his brother when he said, "Well, but you're so excited you're going to your mum's now." I said, "Yes. I'm just going to go and all I'm going to do is sleep." And then he went, "Oh my God don't say that and your family is going to think we don't let you sleep." I was like, "That's what I want to do." Ami boya o gumai zitam, I used to sit in one place and I used to fall asleep...

In-laws do not want to portray themselves in a negative light to others. Daughter-in-law is also responsible of how she presents her in-laws? Is able to express her feelings but in a jovial tone and not able to express it fully in how she truly feels. Perhaps not able to talk about her struggles. Handles situations as way of preserving relationship without offending?

Interviewer: Doze off?

Interviewee: Yes, one time. I think on the second week I just burst into tears. It all hit me. I was like, "Oh my God what's happened to my life?" I just...

Interviewer: Second week of your marriage?

Interviewee: Yes. I was like crying as I'm cooking and his siblings were just talking and giggling and I think his brother saw and I kind of wiped my tears and eventually I was asked if I had seen anything, I'd say no. I couldn't explain. I said, "No, I can't explain what it is."

Elaborates on the shock of experience. Feelings caught up with her. Adjustment appears to be difficult. Sibling-in-law asks how she's feeling but she wasn't able to understand the experience herself at the time in order to explain it to others. BIL shows some concern. Also demonstrates that sometimes the host family may not be aware of adjustment that a new person makes and their experiences. Hard to articulate experiences as its happening. Takes time to process and make sense of? Perhaps the shock and being a novel situation also makes it hard to make sense and articulate experiences.

Interviewer: Do you know what that feeling was at that time?

Interviewee: Yes, which is just shock.

Interviewer: Because of the change?

Interviewee: everything...It wasn't a nice experience, that's why when I hear marriage I just think, "What have you gotten yourself into?" Because it was...I can never explain that feeling.

She is able to make sense of that memory over time. Perhaps the pressure of meeting expectations of others meant she may have neglected her feelings and needs, didn't consider it as important as being a "good DIL." The pressure of being the perfect DIL may also affect the way information is processed which may lead to difficulties in understanding and articulating experiences hence not being able to "explain that feeling."

Interviewer: All right. You touched on it a little bit as we were talking before, you were saying that your parents-in-laws probably expected a daughter-in-law from the Indian movies or something from black and white or something you were talking about. I wanted to know, did you have any expectations or ideas about what life would be like living with in-laws? Did you have any idea?

Interviewee: Yes. I thought it would be similar because my sister was married five years before I was married seven years, she had in-laws yet and I knew that is expected. She had to wear sari, she has to cook, she has to ask for permission before she comes. I knew all that and I thought, "Yes, that's normal." But my experience was slightly different. She still had flexibility that she can eat whenever she wants. She didn't have to wear sari anymore and her husband was so more-- he had more authority in the family so his parents would listen more to him.

When discussing her expectations of married life, she conveys that she learnt from her sister and this seems to match her assumptions about what she thinks her in-laws wanted from a DIL (DIL from Indian movies/black and white days). Although she is aware and familiar of the implicit expectations of DIL this doesn't make the actual experience easier and the familiar may still feel new as they "live" and adapt through the experience. But she describes her sisters experience of being different from hers. Implies that her sister, over time didn't have to conform to dress codes in the family, was able to eat in her own time

and felt her sister's husband had more authority over his parents. She implies a husband's role is important in mediating experiences and paving a way for more comfortable living for wives. This segment also illustrates that even coming from the same ethnicity, experiences can be different like it is with her and her sister.

Because mine was different, because my ex is not in control of his mum, sisters and dad. He's still submissive, if you know what I mean. He has to follow their rules as well and certain things that I wasn't ready for. Like you can't eat until you've been told to eat and you have to eat what's given in your plate.

Interviewer: Food was given on a plate?

Interviewee: Yes.

Interviewer: By who?

Interviewee: Mother-in-law

Interviewer: You didn't serve yourself?

Interviewee: No. And it was always like until you've been told.

Implies that her ex-husband was under the authority of his family (could be that he was also young, 18 when he got married). Implies that her husband was powerless. Despite being male, Nasima implies women in the family like his mother and sisters had more authority over him and describes him as submissive. Although unclear, his position may also have been affected by the idea that his mum and siblings allowed him to get married to a partner of his choice which game them leverage to control him and Nasima in exchange for their support for marriage?

Talks about being unprepared about control over food – mother-in-law had authority over this.

Their food was even different. The way they cook their rice was different. I never showed that I didn't know so different, so alien. I just watched and just took it on thinking, "Oh, I know this," kind of attitude, I never saw easy cook, I never knew what una rice was, I was only 18, and my dad and as we grew up we were like, sheltered, we never went to other people's houses," we're not like those kind of families that enor goro henoro gya boi roi I had a very less life experience. I didn't know that

Interviewer: Other ways of living.

Interviewee: I did show, "Okay, I know."

Talks about difficulties of adapting to food and how it was cooked. She didn't want to show that lack of knowledge and familiarity with different cooking and eating patterns. Perhaps as a part of preserving the image of the perfect DIL? Looks back and acknowledges she was only 18 and didn't have much life experiences. She talks about not having much exposure to others as she describes living a very sheltered life before marriage and not visiting other people's houses (hence lack of exposure to the different ways that people live)

Interviewer: It sounds like you wanted to adapt.

Interviewee: I was also ready to adapt. That's why I managed very long. Someone could say, "Oh my God, like my sister in laws when they came, that got married..." What I was doing and how they treated me they were like, "What the hell." Some would have left a week...They would tell me, "Oh you need to leave, this is disgusting."

She implies that she survived the length of time that she did at her in-laws because of her intention to want to adapt. It appears that Nasima tried consistently hard not to tarnish the image of the subservient and dutiful daughter-in-law. Some indirect support from sister-in-law (husband's brothers' wives) evaluated her experience negatively:

But because I always had it, "No, I'm going to make it work" because one of the reasons why I do want to actually share my stories because I know some people think, "But if daughter-in-laws are not open or they don't sacrifice or they don't adapt or they don't welcome and embrace their in-laws, how is it going to work?" It's always the daughter-in-laws...

Here Nasima presents her intention of why she stayed even under difficult circumstances. She implies that "people" (relatives/family/community?) assume that DILs are judged and blamed for not embracing living with in-laws and adapting to them. She really tried to challenge this assumption that portrays DILs as non-conforming of the cultural norms. She also presents here that the role of a daughter-in-law requires that they make active steps to "sacrifice" "adapt" and "embrace in-laws"

Interviewee: but actually I feel very passionate that that's not because I can tell you 100% my experience. I went in there, ready adapted, I embraced it. There were certain things that were so painful but I never shared it with anybody. I just kept going. My point is it's not a one-way-- it's not a one-sided coin. It's two-sided and it always has to be known by that. I don't want people to think-- and when people say it when I sit there I think, "Am I doing justice to the whole thing by saying, 'no, hold on a minute, I'm a living proof. Actually I've been there and that." Because if I felt there was a bit I went in there with this expectation and I wasn't ready and I was judgmental or wasn't ready. I didn't give 100%. Nobody gave-- I can say people know, who've been part of my life in that journey will say that, "Yes, she gave her part." Don't say it's just the daughter-in-laws doing that.

Nasima very firmly talks about being proof that daughters-in-law cannot be blamed. She implies that the relationship is two-way and it's not just the daughter-in-law who should be blamed. She stumbles. She talks about not sharing her "painful" experiences and her perseverance to keep going. It appears that much of the way she conducted herself was to ward off any potential blame that could be directed at her for not conforming to her role as a DIL. It maybe that it was too painful to share her experiences? Perhaps not talking about difficulties, tolerating distress and to keep "going" is part of the sacrifice she perceived a daughter-in-law needs to make?

She needs to understand how they eat. We cook our rice differently. My mum says I was taught to cook rice in a way that we never chucked the water...we never drained the water.

But when I got there I saw that's how they did it and never ever told them that, "We don't cook rice like that." I had to be told how to...I was shown by his sister how he eats his bread, the day after I got married. I could have said I don't wana know how I make I never did that. I still sometimes don't get it right. After 17 years 19 years I've tried to make for my kids but... I was only 18, I still accepted that but that's their way.

She refers to not just big adaptations that DILS have to make but particulars of everyday living that may be different from pre-married life and gives an example of cooking rice. In keeping with the pressure to be the perfect DIL it appears that, showing any resistance or rebelling against the family norm/rules would taint that image and so she expresses that although she knew she had the choice to rebel or not conform, she chose not to do that. Perhaps this preserved her image of the subservient DIL, who accepted a different lifestyle, who does as she is told without complaining.

Interviewer: It just sounds tough actually and it sounds like you kind of suddenly got on with it because you wanted to adapt, so some--

Interviewee: Yes, for me I never wore sari and I wore sari 24/7 like if I went to bed, took my sari off and put my pajama on, oh Nasima nise aaw tumar howr re dakhra. Again I had to put the whole garment back on and go down. When someone says, "Oh but you know since..."

Interviewer: Why was that important, the sari?

Interviewee: Because my father-in-law and mother-in-law that's the image of a bow and I got married to please them.

She talks about having to wear a sari in the presence of her in-laws as this was consistent with the image of a good "bow" (wife/daughter-in-law) and being a DIL meant pleasing her PIL.

Again my husband is happy if his mum and dad are happy. It was like a triangle thing

Nasima also implies that pleasing her parents-in-law was a way of ensuring her husband was happy. She uses the metaphor of the triangle to suggest that her behaviour impact on the her husband and in-laws.

Interviewee: but psychologically, sometimes that's affected me in life because I think sometimes I've had my reactions in some way and people find it a bit abrupt. It's because it was always about pleasing other people. Sometimes I think of people as being unfair and expecting them. Again I feel some of that I react in aggressive ways because they don't understand where that's stemming from. I'm quite fed up, I just I'm fed up of trying to make everybody happy now because they don't understand where I've come from.

My family do in a way but they are not learning in that psychological way that actually, I'm affected by my past. They're just a bit different now but hey, and sometimes it's reflecting...

She reflects on the long-term impact this had on her life. She talks about her reactions and how some people find her abrupt. She alludes to the pressure of pleasing others that may have led to this. She explains that this is because people don't know about her past. She said her family may understand some parts of her experiences but suggest they may not fully understand how her past affects her current behaviour as they're perhaps not psychologically minded. It appears that whilst she chose to remain quiet about her story she also has a yearning to be understood.

Interviewer: But you've made sense?

Interviewee: I make sense of it, why I react like that and all that. I might just be short

tempered at this...

Interviewer: That's why...

Interviewee: That's why because I've always had that, oh my goodness, from childhood. I was 18. I never got to be who I wanted to be. I was meaning to be somebody and then I tried to please everybody but I never made anybody happy. I just made myself more miserable.

She suggests that although others can't understand they way she is, she has been able to make sense of why she is the way she is now she also implies that pleasing others may have been a trait that she has had from childhood. Perhaps this may have been an expectation at home and from women in particular? She reflects that in the process of pleasing others she has made herself more miserable. She perhaps assumed that she would be happy as person if others were happy with her but in pleasing others she may have neglected herself which has made her unhappy.

Interviewer: Yes, it does sound like actually you were really trying hard to please everyone and I want to stay with what you were saying before I just want to understand kind of way your ideas about being a daughter-in-law, moving in with in-laws and where that came from. You had some experience with your sister getting married but you noticed that there was more flexibility with her. She still had to ask and come to your mum's.

Interviewee: All that wasn't a big shock. For me that was general and I had like sister-in-laws like mamur goror bhair bow. You know that when you're married you have a husband you have to make sure you have that authority and all that, but I think there were other sort of things that I think sometimes I still can't...I haven't shared with my own sister. I never shared that. I felt that was quite like... to be told what you eat, when you can eat it. Everybody's ate, the guests have ate, you have cooked for 15 hours but you are not going to eat because your father-in-law is still [unintelligible 00:18:12] he hasn't come from the mosque from Esha and it's 12:00, 11:45 and you are dying to get to bed but he's still going to sit here and food is gone cold again so you're going to have to reheat it and put it back in the khotta for him, and until he is and your mother-in-law hasn't come there and sat down you can't sit down.

For me that is something that nobody goes through. My two year-old is crying on the floor because he needs to be in bed-- in fact I can't go home because I've not eaten and I can't eat without my mother and father-in-law because [crosstalk]

Nasima reiterates again that expectations of DIL in general wasn't a shock to her but she feels some of her experiences were very unique in comparison to others. There

is some suggestions that there must have been some shame around her experiences which is why she couldn't share this with others, for example she talks about not being able to tell her own sister. It could also be that not sharing negative experiences was about protecting her in-laws image as a family or assuming that talking about negative experience is not in keeping with the idea of a perfect DIL.

because I had my own house here but I still. Basically, two years after I moved to the temporary place while they were rebuilding the house the council found out that me and my kids father we got married they said, wait, so they are not going to rehearse us back into a four-bedroom house, they're going to rehouse us into a three-bedroom because I am an extended family apparently, me and my ex.

My father-in-law he tried to, he got a (inaudible word) with the housing but they said, "Well, that's the law but what they can do..." because he filed a complaint, legal case against them. So then kind of said, "Fine you can have a house nearby." They gave us this house and my inlaws lived on the end of this road here. But they said that, well my in-laws said that, obviously they're not going to move in here. That wasn't a discussion with me that was a discussion with his sister. She was saying, "What are we going to do?" Why are they getting their own their own house, "Are they going to leave you?" their mum was like, "Nah theyre not gonna move." I was pregnant with my eldest

It appears in Nasima's story that she had a place of her own which she used to go to at night and sleep. Because they lived on the same road as each other she was expected to be present at her in-laws everyday. In her story it is suggested that her and her husband were not allowed to move in. Her sister-in-law seemed to have also contributed to this and also played a role in controlling Nasima's life.

I'd stay in one of his sister's bedroom when she stepped on the living room although my house wasn't ready. My house wasn't ready for...Once it was ready anyway six weeks later, I wasn't allowed to move in. I just moved my stuff in and then his sister, one of his sisters moved in. He exchanged the house. She lived in one of the bedrooms rent-free. A few months and then Ramadan came my baby was about nine months still sleeping on the baby basket. So they realized actually they have to let me come and sleep here now. At night I used to come and sleep here.

Interviewer: But during the day...

Interviewee: When I used to wake up straight away I used to go there cook, clean whatever and then after dinner I used to come back. Obvious I can't come to bed, come home here because I have to feed them, mop, clean put everything back then come and go to bed.

It appears considerable effort was made for Nasima not to move out even in overcrowded conditions (perhaps because they expect a DIL to live and benefit from the servitude, independence not encourage for DILs, a way of maintaining power over DIL?). When her son was 9 months had and needed more space to sleep, Nasima said only then she was able to go and sleep in her home.

Interviewee: ... Obviously like certain things like that and then not having your own bedroom because it was only three bedroom. Mother-in-law has her own bedroom and then **dewor and nonond**. I always had to pray in the hallway and it's such a busy house. Son-in-laws, everybody stepping over you, the kids are running after you. You pray get up and go back in, what your character is. They were very young into their food, family. There kind of things were the struggles that I wasn't prepared for. You know what I mean?

Pressure to serve constantly. Not expecting everyday struggles that made experiences difficult

Interviewer: Yes, of course. It doesn't sound like you knew what life would be like after marriage.

Interviewee: I mean I understood all that.

Interviewer: What did you understand? What was the usual?

Interviewee: I understood that I would probably have to wear the sari, I would have to ask his mum permission **if I want to go to my mum's**. But then there was something that he said that after I get married I can work, he would facilitate for that. And **like kameez and that** he will speak to his dad. But when I got there his sister was like, "Oh let me see all your clothes, what you got from your mum's" I had luggage full of kameez but quite a new one, because I never used to really wear trousers and stuff at my mum. Then she's like, "Where do you get kameez? You know my dad doesn't allow that." I said, "Yes." I got a bit upset with her comment. I said, "Oh, never mind" **[unintelligible 00:22:13]**

Because my point is that that's the discussion between me and my husband and she was like, there was an outfit she was actually mine before I got married and then she borrowed it. She is like, "Why don't you just give me the outfit that kameez of yours because you are not going to be allowed to wear it?" And I know she liked it because she borrowed it from me once. And I said yeah I'll see but it's the first time I was quite assertive actually. Anyone I would have given to, because I got upset by her comment. I was like, "Yes, maybe." I just shut my luggage. I was like, "That's between me and him" but he never brought... he never asked his family if I can wear kameez. It's just something that was left. I just continue wearing that.

Nasima implies that as an ideology, she understood what would be expected of her as a DIL but probably didn't anticipate the intensity of her experiences and how it would impact on her. What she feels disappointed with is some flexibility around certain rules around clothing and work and she looked to her husband to facilitate for these for her. Her narrative illustrates the absence of direct communication between in-laws.

I mean there were things that I thought that might be but it wasn't bad. I never really made a big deal out of it because I knew so it wasn't going to go anywhere. If we do with this we can't-- His dad was a very strict man. Just cause problems. My expectations of his dad was you have to cook and stuff.

Nasima implies that she knew there were certain expectations, like cooking but didn't think that was a "bad" thing for that to be expected. Nasima implies that she didn't make a big deal out of her requests as it may have been futile to bring it up due to perhaps the high likelihood that these requests may not be fulfilled. and may cause more problems especially as her FIL was a very strict

man. Her FIL assuming the position of power places Nasima as subordinate and powerless in the relationship.

Interviewer: You had to cook maybe seek permission if you want to go to your mum's, if you-- and wearing saris these things you were familiar with?

Interviewee: Yes.

Interviewer: Okay, so where did this knowledge come from? How did you know that this is to be expected? Where does that come from?

Interviewee: Because I saw it everywhere and then when I was a daughter-in-law

Interviewer: Okay, you mentioned...so your sisters and do you mean your friends as well or family and relatives-?

Interviewee: No my relatives weren't in it. Although there was one that they just continued being normal wearing whatever they wear. I think also I knew I was culturally expected and I was quite a cultural girl as well quiet it's still believing following the culture where I was...

Interviewer: And you talked about before from the Indian movies, did you mean--?

Interviewee: Yes, I used to watch Indian movies then.

Interviewer: Okay. When you were talking about your in-laws, they also got influenced by...

Interviewee: They're the biggest followers of Indian movies.

Interviewer: What did you learn from the Indian movies?

Interviewee: The daughter-in-laws. They have to respect mother-in-law, mother-in-law is like a head of the house, the father-in-law is the head. You have husband and sisters who you can have to look after and away. That kind of thing.

In the conversation we clarified that Nasima expected that she would cook and would need permissions to go to her mums and wearing saris as this what she saw other DILs do and implies she conformed to it because she was a "cultural girl" and believed in "following culture." Her identity as a DIL was also shaped by Indian movies and her desire to fit into that. It appears that she also was also influenced by movies like her parents-in-law were (even they she implied that they were perhaps old fashioned in their thinking)

Interviewer: How did that influence your thinking?

Interviewee: It was just something that I thought morally it was good. You respect your elders, you know there is always somebody who is the head in the house. I didn't think that was wrong. I was a passionate teenager I always knew what was wrong. If it was a violation of a human right or that was barbaric, I would stand up to that. Certain things I wouldn't follow. Like when you give the leftovers to a daughter-in-law. No, I don't believe in that. I was strong minded in that sense

Interviewer: In terms of seeing other people getting married and the movies, it doesn't sound like it was a negative influence on the thinking.

Interviewee: I didn't feel there was anything. I actually quite felt, "Yes, I want to fit into

that."

Interviewer: Yes?

Interviewee: Yes. I didn't mind.

Interviewer: What was attractive about that or fitting into that?

Interviewee: I think it's just morals. That's what's morally correct ...

In Nasima's story there seems to be some contradiction... she described herself as a passionate teenage and values of standing up to wrongdoing, however in her narrative she is unable to do this. This could be because some situations power structures are more oppressive than others and it maybe difficult to negotiate power under certain conditions; in Nasima's being the subordinate position of the DIL, her FIL being in a position of authority and her husband unable to support or mediate for due to his own subordinate position in his family. It appears that in doing what was "morally correct" and be a good daughter-in-law meant she had to be "strong" enough to deal with mistreatment.

Interviewee: ...and I did have ambitions and I did want to stay as a daughter-in-law. I did want to have like my own time. That be able to do something like work, come home, cook for the family. Try and sort of fit everything in.

Nasima was experiencing some internal conflict with her identity; she like the idea of a moral and dutiful daughter-in-law and although in her position as a teenager she could stand up to wrong, asserting her rights as a DIL may mean going against the ideal image of a dutiful DIL. It seemed like Nasima wanted to occupy many roles but within her own situation it was difficult to accommodate all her desired ambitions as they may have contradicted the image of the ideal DIL in the eyes of her in-laws.

Interviewer: Okay. All right so you had some expectations about what life would be like. Did you hope for anything before marriage?

Interviewee: I think yes. I think as a 18 year old I just though yea...I will be a person that I want to be with.

Interviewer: What do you think happened to your hopes and expectations after marriage?

Interviewee: I think at first, first years I knew that his family were different, they had their own expectations, they have their way. And I try to fit into that and I still had that part, that my own private side which was like ok this is me and my partner. But then afterward after I had my son and moved to this new place and everything I just felt that no. I can't explain it. He was very distant.

Interviewer: Your husband...

Interviewee: Yes I kept telling him that and he's like oh

Interviewer: So you spoke to him about your difficulties?

Interviewee: Not more about his family. He was difficult as well. I guess he did expect me to give him his breakfast at six o'clock all day. I've had like God knows how many stitches I have just come from the hospital and the baby has to eat. Waking up every two hours he still expected me to give him his breakfast give him his curry, cook for his sister, his mum is in Bangladesh

Interviewer: His sister is who

Interviewee: Still live local.

Interviewer: Oh they used to come over?

Interviewee: Yes. Their mum was in Bangladesh and the baby was six weeks old I had to cook for that 30-40 of their guests. After I was running the house still, because she's just packing and people are visiting her and he would never understand.

Nasima explains that as well as his family, she also found her husband to be "difficult." She describes him in a manner that perpetuates his fathers' expectations. He may have been socialised into normative gender roles in the family and maintain that status quo Also it may have been expected of him as son to carry on these norms. Nasima's story implies that her husband didn't challenge these norms and he didn't occupy much power in the family. With the "strict" FIL being the main head he was also perhaps expected to maintain a subordinate position. Nasima describes not having a supportive husband

Interviewer: The pressure. So his sisters used to live locally. Did they come regularly or was it..?

Interviewee: Yes all day with their kids.

Interviewer: Did they expect you to be doing--

Interviewee: Yes and they just seemed to be very conniving, bitching, bullying.

Interviewer: How was your relationship with the manner or it doesn't sound great but what would they--?

Interviewee: It was funny. They'd show you they're nice I stood and asked sometimes a thing I pretend I don't know I have never heard them say that a thing about me or just ignoring their behaviors.

Nasima described having very difficult relationships with her SILs who used to come over regularly with their kids. She said they'd show they are nice but weren't nice people, one way she coped with this was by ignoring their behaviours. She felt she was always expected to serve her SILs and didn't feel like anything was enough for them

Interviewer: What would they do or say about-- how would they treat you I mean?

Interviewee: I would probably come in and if say I was so busy trying to finish the six curries by the time I father comes to a mosque and I was busy and I forgot to ask her whether she wanted tea. She'd come in and catch her lawn and she'll be like, [Bengali] just to her mum.[Bengali] Or she come in or she's like, "The doorbell rings go and open the door" If she

saw that it was just me in the kitchen, she just go upstairs stay in her sister's room. One day she came and had mum came down from the bath and they had their little meeting and the sister couple hours later she came down. I don't know who came. That's when she had like a bit of tantrum trying to finish drop it down. There was... never good enough for them.

Interviewer: Tantrum about?

Interviewee: The fact that she came and I didn't have her tea upstairs. She has to make her own tea. Now that she was obliged she has to ask to make one for me because is obviously. If you're going to make tea yourself I say would you it doesn't only but see the thing is not her role as a sister to make tea for her sister-in-law.

Example of passive aggression/Emotional abuse from SIL?

Interviewer: Okay, so in a way, it seems like it wasn't just your mother and father in law like everyone expected.

Interviewee: She's actually, sometimes even if her mum would let certain things go she would make a negative comment. She'd instill that in her. Should would be like, tumi ekhon kita, tumi ekhon khene abaar gelai gi kitcheno? Tumi khatya dewa lage ni igu? ... They'll be like ohhh, tumar lakhan khew faiba ni horin, aso khali bowaintore araam dewaat"and all that.

Nasima felt even if her MIL overlooked an "error" on Nasima's part, the SIL would influence her MIL negatively. She relay a situation where she implies to her mum why is she in the kitchen when theres a DIL in the house and why is their mother making things easy for Nasima – example of exploitation and suggesting domestic chores are for daughter-in-laws.

Interviewer: Okay and those comments didn't help?

Interviewee: No I'm like, "Why didn't you ask your mum?" You understand? [Bengali] all that. Somebody has to be, for sure I don't understand you. I didn't hear it better because obviously, you're human. You probably didn't know. I have never had, I was never allowed to say anything back. So this kind of things I was... I had to—

Reaction/coping strategy: Nasimas way of coping was that she pretended she would hear the comments and she didn't feel like she was allowed to say anything back

Interviewer: Who told you that you're not allowed to say anything back? Where did that come from?

Interviewee: Because my ex- wouldn't want to hear it. Would just say, he is just a bitch. (unintelligible) my sister.

Interviewer: Did he expect you to be doing this as well? He expected what his family were expecting as well.

Interviewee: He wanted more even more.

Interviewer: What did he want from you?

Interviewee: I don't know. He just wanted me to make his family happy and if they say things to me whatever I shouldn't coming in telling him or anybody. Then I go, "Okay, I won't tell anybody but then obviously I'm human so if I'm always quiet because there's no one to talk to because nobody talks to me.

Interviewer: No one talked to you?

Interviewee: Who's going to talk to me? He works 12-hour shifts and comes home and wants his food and his friends to two, three o'clock in the morning. And he has got his mum and his dad, sister and brother college or whatever.

Lack of support from husband/ verbal abuse: Nasima was unable to share these difficulties with her husband and said he had more expectations from Nasima than her in-laws. She seemed to be quite isolate in her in-laws with no one to speak to

Interviewer: You are at home most of the time with your sister-in-laws and your mother and father in law?

Interviewee: Just mother and father-in-law. Until he came home and you give them their food

Interviewer: Then the sister-in-laws would come here and there.

Interviewee: Yes over there and stuff.

Interviewer: Okay. All right. It seems like there was a lot of expectations. How long did you

live with them?

Interviewee: Twelve years.

Interviewer: Twelve years.

Interviewee: The five years... No, I can't remember that. The five years I think five-six years I did... Two years I lived with them and then five years I used to come and sleep at night and go in the morning. About eight years I was in their house as a daughter-in-law eating everything and then after eight years, I stayed in my own house here. I used to visit but they didn't want to know me then because their point was you left now technically...

Interviewer: Could you talk me through kind of what changed? When did you decide to? Or how did that happen that you moved?

Interviewee: I mean after first I found out that my ex was really into other girls. That's why I was able to sense the change, he was always on the phone. He used to treat me very differently. He never wanted to do anything with me anymore. He wouldn't discuss anything, his doing his plans or want to go out or he wouldn't even take me to his cousin's house and expect that I'm not supposed to go. He just take his sister and I can tell I was able to suss things out that and then I think, there was a time when he had an affair with the girl. My husband came and complained there was a big hoo haa and I was gonna leave.

TURNING POINT: when husband started seeing other girls. She stay after find out about one of the affairs and after repeased incidents of infidelity, she no longer wanted to serve him by going to her in-laws house. She made the decision to leave

Interviewer: You was going to leave.

Interviewee: Yes, I stayed. Then he said he was going to change and then good feeling. Remember I didn't know changed. To find girls here and there. Their phone numbers and that. Then I got bit fed up and then I go to his mum's house. I didn't want to know him. And then he said how he has been sorry. Because I was fed up of that life. I said, "Well, I'm not going to tell you to leave your mum and dad, never have. But I want this life anymore, I don't want you walking around with me and I don't think I want to continue going there" and you know.

Because his brother got marriage, she had a boy, he and a wife. She was allowed to wear trousers and go to work, she's allowed to wear kameez in the house but double standards. I just felt that his family bullied me, he bullied me. I saw everything was unfair. I had two children by now. That's to turn off to school. Come and then come in with my baby and I'm being put into cooking on and she's going to work. That's lunch buy her own house, she built her own house. She's told to come back after work and eat what I cooked.

Nasima's decision to leave was also prompted after her BIL got married and saw how differently the other DIL was treated. She found it unfair and hard to accept the double standards. The rules appeared to be different for the DIL

Interviewer: So she was a...

Interviewee: Tai khamo zaito and I used to cook.

Interviewer: Okay so the rules they had for you was different to hers. Why was that?

Interviewee: Because she didn't want to stick to their rules. She left, three years later, she came back. So they already, because she filed divorced. She came from a more modern family and she was-- His brother hid all that about his family. But my ex he never hid. He told me his family is like this, they are strict that, whereas his brother, never and she was in a bigger shock. She's a girl, her sister-in-laws unable to wear trousers in front of-- She was a very modern girl and she was told to wear the full time the knee cap and she was like-- she couldn't deal with it.

Nasima continues the story to suggest this was due to the new DIL not conforming to the in-laws' expectations. She presents a contrast of the new DIL who was very "modern" and came from a "modern family." Nasima suggests that the new DIL didn't want to be controlled

She left within six months. But then I think he wanted to maintain his relationship with her. So a mediation I think but they kept all that quiet from me. For the months, to I was just the lady who cooks. I was never told that. I didn't know I knew when she came back. She told me all that, the mediation she discussed all the things that she found hard to live with. Having to cook all between 12 to 15 hours.

Nasima explains that her BIL wanted to repair the relationship with his wife. A mediation took place but Nasima was not part of these conversations. It appears that despite doing things for the family and trying to be part of the family she was included from parts of it and in someways treated as an outsider. Perhaps because she's a woman, or maybe they don't Nasima to be influenced by the new DIL which may alter Nasima's behaviour? It seems the new DIL after leaving and hving the mediation was able to articulate her expediencies. The new DIL also

expressed that she didn't want to be like Nasima and didn't share the same ideals of being the "good DIL" in accordance to what the in-laws expected

Interviewer: The six months that she stayed with you, you didn't talk about your experiences.

Interviewee: Yes she often said, "I don't know how you live like this, shouldn't be living like that."

Interviewer: Well so she did say it to you?

Interviewee: Yes just to say, I know the times when she used to stand there and cry in the hallway because she's starving as well but we can't eat and I was just normal. And she's like, "you will get used to it." She's like, "No I'm not going to be like you. I'm not going to get used to it."

Interviewer: So she was wasn't having the answer and so she left? So then she came back?

Interviewee: But she came back in with the agreement that she's going be allowed to do what she wants to do. She doesn't have to live like under their rules.

Interviewer: But she had her own house so--

Interviewee: She had her own house but he left. They used to stay there [Bengali]. Sometimes afterward they used to come back, have a shower, stay and at least go to their house and sleep. Some weekend she'd stay. Although they had their own bedroom, igu roise tarar. No one's allowed to go in there or anything.

Interviewer: Okay, how was that for you knowing that you are both daughter-in-laws but you're both treated differently?

Interviewee: I was upset but I wasn't able to express that. Not to my husband. He's the last person I was going to talk about it. That's because he doesn't want to know. He doesn't want to know me as a person let alone. He saw it. Everybody saw it everybody knows but this is elephant in the room.

Nasima said she was upset by the differences in treatment and she couldn't approach her husband either. She felt maybe the topic of the DILs being treated differently was an elephant in the room. The NEW DIL spoke which shifted the family to adjust to DIL...if Nasima spoke the family risk losing a dutiful DIL. Nasima's compliance hadn't helped her change her situation whereas the other DIL's resistant behaviur helped her.

Interviewer: Did your family know your parents?

Interviewee: No, my family first, didn't want to support me first few years because they thought I was just being again I want to do all I want to do in life. So I want to get my playground. Just again I'm not persevering more I make I'm just being too selfish. They were not supporting me. And they just thought in-laws are just until later yes my parents they saw what husband was doing because they used to see him out with the girl. They used to try to make me understand to leave him, and then they saw how I was being treated.

Nasima said initially she didn't get much support from her natal family. Although Nasima said her family were supportive of her to marry a partner of choice, it seemed like her choosing her partner also framed her in a particularly way where she was viewed doing whatever they wanted in their like regardless of others' feelings. She also gives the impression that her family viewed her in-laws behaviour as something that is normal and its just something to tolerate perhaps. It wasn't until her family witnessed her ex-husband with another girl that they encouraged her to leave. It seems like from this perspective that even if Nasima wanted to leave her in-laws earlier, she probably would lose the support of her family, in-laws and perhaps community. Until the place of blame could conveniently be placed on her ex husband, this appeared to be a legitimate reason to gain support. This highlights how natal families can be complicit in the mistreatment of their daughters by normalising certain cultural norms and practices.

Interviewer: They did find out. How did they find out?

Interviewee: My brother used to see him from the bus. My sister-in-law saw him in our place once. So other things came and my cousins used to see him as well. Then there some guests who used to come and visit me and they used to see me wearing sari being told ekhon aw ono mataw aya tumar bhai aysoin, zawgi ekhon, khani ani law, they used to think what is that. We wouldn't do with our own sister-in-laws. And they knew that wasn't me. I'm the biggest chatterbox the lively person, centre of you know, part of everything... just stand stand. Now you can go, go

After her family saw her ex-husband, they were able to see how she was being treated at her inlaws, being dictated when to sit with her family, dictated when to leave the room and when t serve food. Her family didn't recognise Nasima in her identity as a DIL which was in contrast to the more extraverted version of Nasima they knew of. She relates a story where her cousin stopped visiting Nasima because they find it "painful" and feel Nasima is not being herself:

Interviewer: It sounds quite robotic.

Interviewee: [laughs] I remember my second cousin told me is that why I don't come to see you afa because it's really painful, because that's not you. We don't come with (inaudible) like you.

Interviewer: That's not how they knew you. The person you were before was very different than before marriage. Could you talk me through how you were? How would you describe yourself?

Interviewee: Lively and confident. Very... I don't know. But I was loving, I was very giving but I wasn't allowed to talk. I wasn't allowed to be where I am very artistic, Very you know hard working.

Interviewer: Before marriage. So, there's some restrictions even before you were generally quite lively and-

Interviewee: Yes, I was restricted as I wasn't allowed to go out. We come from a strict family in that sense. But we have those liberty days where you can wear what you want in a decent way allowed out, straight home. We had our limitations. So, I left and then elsewhere, I think my son was five. So I'm going to leave and not live like that anymore. Then he decided "Oh,

no I'm going to stop going there anymore" But we live here, we visit his mum and dad here and there. But that's his choice, it wasn't mine.

I go on to ask Nasima to describe herself before marriage to gauge the identity shift.

Interestingly her earlier version of the narrative where she described her family as the "total opposite" of her strict and orthodox in-laws. Nasima's description of her family highlights different notions of "liberty" and "strictness" that can co-exist in the Bangladeshi community. She relates that she couldn't be herself before marriage as well

Interviewer: To want to live here and then visit?

Interviewee: Yes, I wasn't going to say "Oh, I'm not going to be with you unless you leave your mum and dad's house." That's not for me to say. He wants to be one of those sons who gets all the shopping for his mum, he's done for his mum. Why am I going to say, you have go live with mum. You might as well be with somebody who's happy to do that with you, your mum, but I'm not happy to do that.

In expressing that she couldn't be herself at her in-laws either. She decided to leave and didn't want to continue being the DIL. She didn't imply that her husband had to leave to (perhaps because of his religious and cultural obligations towards his parents?) Nasima makes her life choice without imposing this on her ex-husband

Interviewer: That's when your first son was five?

Interviewee: Yes.

Interviewer: That's when you decide to be--

Interviewee: Nine months, yes, but that's his choice. But they were not happy, my in-laws.

Interviewer: That you moved?

Interviewee: Yes, I can tell like she used to go, she used to make sarcastic comments of-

Interviewer: What would she say?

Interviewee: Like if I salaamed her and she pretended she didn't hear me and she'd go to my sons Okhon aiso ni?. Like she's trying to dodge greeting me. Then she used to -- and then they started treating me like I was a guest.

Interviewer: What does that mean?

Interviewee: Khaitai ni go saa, saa ditam ni beti, and if is naa...

Interviewer: Like in a sarcastic way?

Interviewee: No, like if you had a guest in your house, "Sit, sit, please sit". It's like suddenly I'm like a guest who needs to be treated.... I'd be like and I get up anything "Oh, are you going to cook, do you need anything for cooking and she'd be like nah there's nothing to cook." And then I'd open the cupboard to put something away, some stuff from the sink. I see that there were meat or something put out but she wasn;t getting it out because she didn't want me to cook.

When she decided to leave, this changed the way her in-laws related to her, by ignoring her or treating her like a what Nasima describes as a "guest." Nasima was ousted by in-laws. Nasima says that she didn't want to stop being part of the family or helping them out but wanted to perhaps negotiate the relationship which wasn't so one-sided

Interviewer: What do you think that was about?

Interviewee: It's all about the fact that tumi ekhon aya dekhai tai ni manchore, tumi ze bala bow, tumi gesso gi... but I wanted to. I left because it's not convenient, it's time I moved on. But I still want to be -- I want to be part of your lives. I want to do what I can do for you guys. I'm happy, I often [inaudible Bengali]. She did because it was all about.. for then to the point if you're not gonna live under my control. No, it's not about the curry, is it? It's not about the fact that we want. It wasn't about that.

Nasima explained that preventing her from cooking was that would be showing the world that she's a good DIL when in their eyes she lost the status when she left. Nasima explains though she phsycially left she still wanted to be part of their lives and still be a dutiful DIL in some ways but this was not accepted as she explains, Nasima's decision to leave mean she violated rules about who was in control.

Interviewer: What it was about, do you think?

Interviewee: It's about the fact that... the point is you left, you can't come and cook.

Interviewer: Okay, Who is it to show.

Interviewee: Who is it to show, you know why.

Interviewer: How do you see, obviously at the time... you mentioned before you're seen as the cook. How did you see your role change over time in the family? If it didn't change?

Interviewee: It didn't change.

Interviewer: How do you see your role when you moved out?

Interviewee: I don't know, I just wanted to be...again it was just the whole, I suppose you know, the whole concept of self-actualizing. I just wanted to be who I want to be. It's natural, you can never be moulded into something and stay like that and be happy. Because I was unhappy, that's why I was always moody, also shocked and hurt, I was always upset.

Nasima realised over time she just wanted to be herself. She talks about self actualising (did she use this comfortably because of her knowledge that I was a psychology student?) It also appears her hurt and upset motivated her to want to leave and have her own space. Not needing to justify why she wants her own space also signifies some of power she gained from asserting her needs:

Interviewer: And understandably, yes.

Interviewee: So yes, I just wanted to do what's good for me, I'm not going to justify it. Nothing wrong with me, having my own space.

Interviewer: So, now you have no connection with them?

Interviewee: No.

Interviewer: Okay, when did... you mentioned EX, when did your relationship end?

Interviewee: Five years after I moved away from staying with him. That's been seven years

now.

Interviewer: Seven years now, and what made you end the relationship?

Interviewee: I think I like to say overall. The period of twelve years, things escalated so he

just...it wasn't safe. There's domestic violence, so violently, so fast.

Interviewer: From him?

Interviewee: Yes, the temporary place, and I came back to the house, with the help of the

law.

Interviewer: Okay, must have been a really hard time for you actually.

Interviewee: I left work, it was work actually who were nice. I went on a career break six

months to...

Interviewer: So you did work?

Interviewee: Yes, after I left his mum's house.

Interviewer: Oh, you did go back?

Interviewee: I tried to bring back what I really wanted to do so I started working part-time. I studied a little bit and then I do this job that I do now. I did part-time and I also took driving lessons and passed in driving. But sadly, I had to end my marriage which I didn't want to, so that was hard. Because I didn't want to end it, but I had to.

Nasima later also speaks of leaving her husband when over time the relationship became phsycially abusive. It appears that she sought help from the law to return to her home. She also found her workplace to be supportive. It appears that Nasima was able to exercise much of her agency when she left her MILs place. Her desire to have it was not successful (in-laws, work, other personal aspirations and relationship with husband) and suggest that she had to leave her in-laws and subsequently her marriage in order to meet her personal ambitions. Though it is clear that this was not her preferred choice but a choice she felt forced to make. Nasima explained that even though she left her husband some years back she didn't understand why he became physically abusive. It is intesting that Nasima was able to recognise abuse when it was physical but didn't articulate other experiences as abusive

Interviewer: Yes, it does sound really, really tough. I know this is going to sound painful, but what eventually led to him being abusive towards you? What were his... what do think happened?

Interviewee: I don't know, I'm still trying to figure that out myself [laughs]. But then I got all these assumptions. Some things don't make sense. Only he knows what he was doing.

Interviewer: Okay, where there...I know this probably sounds like a really silly question, but were there any positives in moving life after marriage?

Interviewee: I learned how to be a good cook from them [laughs]. Yes, that's part of it. I think it made me resilient and learned to cook. That still lives on. So yes, just self-discipline really.

Interviewer: Self-discipline, what do you mean by that?

Interviewee: I think living with in-laws makes you more disciplined, in a way that -- if you get I'm really young, I was quite young. I was a bit immature. It just sort of keeps you grounded.

Interviewer: Okay, and you think that's a good thing?

Interviewee: Yes, I think now it is what's lacking people. When I see youngsters get married now, I dissolve in my head I don't tell them what I see on the other side of that coin.

Interviewer: What do you mean that? I don't understand.

Interviewee: I think everybody's so relaxed now. They get married today, it's not a big change from their mum's house.

Interviewer: Okay, so you think that people are just living life in their own terms and that's what you-

Interviewee: Yes, and I think that might some -- I don't think that's a really good thing all the time. But then what I see that some mother-in-law's, let the old expectations are gone from the mother-in-law's. But now, I think the too laid back, where they're not helping the newlyweds to understand this change, the adaptation is it. But I think-

Interviewer: Could you give me examples of that so I understand a bit more.

Interviewee: I feel that naturally when you get married, there's good and bad changes. But I think I've got family members I've seen that certain family members got married and they've got their wife come--

Interviewer: To your family, to your parents?

Interviewee: That the newer generation, they don't really understand that you've adopted a new role and that comes with understanding cult values--

Interviewer: Cultural values?

Interviewee: Yes, some of the cultural values and the fact that there's somebody who is in the house that is to be respected. I think sometimes, yes this will get married women value, say freedom of choice a lot.

Nasima's story takes an interesting turn. Despite the negative experiences she has had at her inlaws, she feels that marriage has changed drastically where everybody is too relaxed – she implies the loss of "old" expectations from in-laws does not help newly weds to understand change and adaptation. She looks towards her own natal family to give examples. She feels that women in the "newer" generation do not understand their role as a DIL and the cultural values that dictate the shaping of this role and implies loss of respect for household members. I

wondered if Nasima "experience" toughened her up and she expected other women to also go through the same process, that she too also expect women to mould themselves to the life of their in-laws so that they stay grounded and maintain cultural values. Despite her negative experiences that may have been shaped by cultural norms, she still seems to support this. It is possible she is sing the lens of her own experiences to evaluate her brothers getting married and the impact the new generation of DILs are having on her own family. Perhaps it is more personal now.

Interviewer: Okay, I will come back to that. That is really interesting and might be related to the next question that I have for you. If you had to change your story in any way, what would you change?

Interviewee: Any? I will change my story, I want it to be in a place where I wanted it to be. Because I was also adamant that I wanted to show [Bengali] can live in harmony with inlaws. And be able to live with them, up until now I was able to but, to be able to maintain a marriage where a husband understood his wife and his family, mature enough to meet both needs and be just.

It seems like Nasima's unrelenting need to prove that daughters-in-laws can live with harmony with in-laws impact on the way she sees all marital relations and implies much of the effort is dependent upon the daughter-in-law to make the relationship work. She too places herself in the position with the rest of the Bengali community she criticised earlier on in the story where she argues that "people" blame daughters in law for not wanting to embrace embracing life with inlaws. This illustrates how ones own experiences can become a cycle of perpetuating women subordinate and vulnerable position of being blamed when the joint family breaks down. Nasima talks about her ideal of living harmoniously with her in-laws. She goes onto explain that she wasn't asking for her husband to disown his family but to ne mature and fair to meet the needs of his wife and family

Interviewer: Yes, so it sounds like you really really wanted to make it work in your ideal world you would still be with them.

Interviewee: Yes, I wanted to pick up whoever could in my remit because I always wanted to show that. There's nothing wrong with being a daughter-in-law who cooks and who's nice. There's no such thing as our daughter-in-law and sister-in-law is naturally hate sister-in-laws. I wanted to really make – no, I really, really wanted -- I really wanted to show that actually it's not like that.

Nasima provides a view of challenging assumptions that comes with in-law relationships such as the DILs expected to cook and hatred between SILS and DILs:

Interviewer: You wanted to make it work?

Interviewee: Yes, to show that there's good to it and it does work. Again, I went through I know that many times there were saris that I'd never worn people have given me and sisterin-law told me like that, "No, you take it. Now you can wear it." I haven't worn it yet. There

were times when I didn't buy myself eid clothes but brought his sister and stuff his mum I didn't buy it because I knew you can't afford it. I'd made sure that I give his brother spending money. I've made sure that his younger brother, his sister's son they were going to Bangladesh and they have no – my ex would never think of stuff like that... I'll be like Oh make sure you give them money, he'll be like yeah yeah

Interviewer: You took a lot of responsibility.

Interviewee: Yeah there were loads of responsibility I had to become like this mature lady but I was on it and I was alright with it. There was a time his time when his brother, his mum told me that she thinks that her brother doesn't...her son doesn't go to college. And she wants me to phone the college and find out. And I was like, because obviously, he's going to kill me. She said...I said, "Okay." She goes, "Yes, would you do it for me?" I said, "Yes, okay whatever, yes." Then she goes, "Get the phone ask your school, ask this college does it go." I pretended that I was calling them [laughs].

Interviewer: To keep the peace.

Interviewee: Yes, then when he came I said, "Your mum thinks you're not going college she made me call. Obviously, I had to pretend, so you better sort yourself out." He said, "Thank gosh."

Interviewer: You were a savior?

Interviewee: Yes, and his sister, eugh, I had to be her mum at school once [laughs]. Yes, yes. I don't always talk about this. I don't like boasting, I don't want to talk. Yes, I just always I know in my heart that I tried. I wasn't...it's not that if you give as a daughter-in-law you will get. I don't like that statement because it's not always true.

Nasima provides many examples where assumed the role of kinkeeper and facilitated relationships within her in-laws family. She also speak of two stories where she helped her brother and sister in law out for getting into trouble in school and college so in turn they don't get into trouble within their family home.

Interviewer: You've learned that you don't always get back what you give?

Interviewee: No. I'm not going to say it's wrong. I'm going to say that that was my destiny. That made me who I am. Sometimes I sit here and I think, "No, at that point me having my own story. Maybe sometimes I can use it to motivate people or to console people."

Interviewer: Okay. What would your advice be even if you knew that other women were getting married and they were going to live with in-laws? What would you advise be to them?

Interviewee: I would only say give 101%. It doesn't matter if you feel that they don't respect -- giving it back. You keep going until you think one day you can't. That same advice I would tell everybody.

Interviewer: When you say give your 100%, like do what?

Interviewee: Yes, continue to be the, you know a better person. Whatever you can do because it's -- when the going gets tough and you think, "I've had... this is it. I can't do it." You know in your heart that you left no stone unturned. That gives you resolve and strength.

Interviewer: Has that given you resolve and strength?

Interviewee: Yes, yes. That's why I go to sleep just like that, because I don't have these ifs and buts in my head. There's maybe one or two but—

Nasima makes sense of her experiences that it was "destiny" for her life to to be the way it as and accepts that this was part of her fae. She also contests the transactional view of relationship that what you give as a DIL you will get back because "it's not true" Nasima feels that he story can be used to "motivate" or "console" people. Nasima seems to conclude that her experiences with her in-laws is strengthening and advices that other women too should always give "101%"

Interviewer: You feel like you've done everything you could to be part of the family. Your advice to other daughter-in-laws would be to still--

Interviewee: Still give it, yes. I wouldn't say I know of my experience. I'll say don't give to whose, think about yourself and all.

Interviewer: Why? I found that really interesting.

Interviewee: It may be a lot of it is my personality, is I just think that two wrongs don't make a right. That's what I always say to my boys.

Interviewer: For any girls getting married you would say be part the family.

Interviewee: Yes.

Interviewer: Do what it needs to, to take to--

Interviewee: Maybe if I had got married to a different family and not that family. Don't forget, whatever however they treated me or how they responded to me or however they must have misunderstood me was because of their personality, their upbringing, their values and who they were. People in society knew my in-laws were very difficult people.

Interviewer: Okay, okay.

Interviewee: Yes, there's just like a really unique type. Maybe had I, my two different family, maybe I would have been able to you know they would have embraced or understood me better and maybe we would have got along better.

Over-time Nasima is able to make sense of her experiences in a was that suggests that the difficulties in the relationship was largely to do with the attributes of the family she married into and it may have been very different to another family. This suggests that as well as making an effort to be a good DIL, further reflections also minimises the likelihood that she is to be blamed for her relationships not working out

Interviewer: Okay.

Interviewee: That's why I'm saying it's not fair.

Interviewer: If another girl was to move into a family like the family you moved into, what would your advice be?

Interviewee: I would probably say don't get married into that family, will try and stop them. If you already have, I would say well I will still give you 101, work around them understand them, know the dynamics.

Interviewer: Okay, all right.

Interviewee: Try and persevere with it.

When asked if a woman was to move into a family like the in-laws she experienced, Nasima is quick to say she would try and stop them but would advise them to persevere if they were already married. It appeared that Nasima is of the view that women have the responsibility to persevere to maintain ties with in-laws

Interviewer: Okay, okay, and what do you think -- obviously you've you know you've already touched on this in your story. Where you talked about how things were very different for your own sister-in-law. When your husband's brother got married and there was different rules for you and the different for her. What do you think the future looks like for this whole in-law family system?

Interviewee: I think I see change. I think in-laws are not so controlling and they want it all.

Interviewer: Do you think that's going to be the case in the future?

Interviewee: Yes, yes, yes. I've been seeing it evolve.

Interviewer: Okay. Well have you seen--

Interviewee: From colleagues, from my own experiences that her my mum was when my best sister-in-law got married. She got married a year and a half after me.

Interviewer: Okay. How was that?

Interviewee: [unintelligible 00:56:37] She still had the similar expectation to wear a sari. Oh you know meman aisoin, bizaw, rando, I will be there [unintelligible 00:56:41]. That's was how we all knew, it was the norm. [unintelligible 00:56:47]. My second brother who got married ten years later, I think it was different. She was allowed to go to lakeside the day after the wedding. Do you get it? Yes, and she's allowed to...she goes out and eats. Then Ramadan came four weeks later she's out eating with her friends, with him. My mum wouldn't say anything. Although I know that she's not happy with it. Then this one got married seven years later and he's different. She goes to work, [unintelligible 00:57:16].

Interviewer: Your sister-in-law you're talking about?

Interviewee: Yes. My brother's wife.

Interviewer: Your brother's wife.

Interviewee: Yes. My mum, she accepts that she's happy with it.

Interviewer: Happy with what?

Interviewee: My sister-in-law going to work.

Interviewer: Okay. Whereas with the other two--

Interviewee: First one -- even if she'd gone out and she's bored, if she was and I mean my mum didn't approve of it even though she's wearing a scarf whatever. **[unintelligible 00:57:37]** I know the dynamics have changed I see it everywhere now, you know in-laws. There's more positive experiences of—

When asked about how her thoughts of in-law family systems in the future, she mentions that relationships are likely to be far more "liberal" and "not so controlling." She relates these ideas according to her own experiences and how her mum's relationships with her daughters-in-law over time. She talks about how expectations from her mum has evolved where her relationships from many years ago had a different set of expectations to now. 7 years back her SIL was expected to wear saree and cook and host guests, when her 2nd brother got married her SIL was able to go out and eat although her mum was not happy with this and the another brother who got married most recently, they are happy with her working. She alludes the idea of culture not

being fixed and changing.

Interviewer: Of in-laws?

Interviewee: I like that. Like I said before sometimes I think they're not really helping being some.where I think in some cases. I think, I don't know. Maybe it's the mum's and whoever he's mum's or mother-in-laws, they're not instilling these, keeping hold of the certain values that they still should be holding onto.

Interviewer: What values do you think is important to hold on to?

Interviewee: Respect for elders.

Interviewer: How is that shown?

Interviewee: I think that's shown by in what you wear, how you behave, how -- it's like they just -- I know everybody wants their own autonomy. I think there needs to be and -- I know this might be petty, but I'm still traditional. I mean that, if you got married and there's your dad side wants to invite you. You get them to ask your mother-in-law and it's a whole family invitation. It's not your invitation with your husband. Nowadays I see girls think, "That was -- my sister's invited me, I'm going. Why do they not want me to tell my mother-in-law." There's certain values I think that it's morally disrespectful. I think it's because the in-laws I've got showing that, "It's okay, you've got married to my son you know your wife."

Interviewer: Yes, aside they're probably not happy.

Interviewee: Yes. Not happy I know and I hear it as well. I think yes that's kind of morally wrong. Because if he lived in a like if she had a flat and he was a flatmate, you shouldn't tell you flatmate you're going away for two days. It's like the same morals I think still should be instilled.

Nasima still maintains however that certain values need holding onto especially when it comes to respect for elders. She implies that a marriage between a couple is not just about the couple but about 2 families. She calls herself "traditional" in that sense. When I asked her how is respect shown to elders.

Interviewer: Okay, so like informing. What other cultural values do you think needs to be held?

Interviewee: As well. I think the fact that there's the role. I think roles, doesn't matter how much we hate the fact that everybody has evolved, role, gender role. Roles are important in life. I might be modern some ways. Even with my son's I always say that, "You have a role to play when I'm old. You would have to come and visit your mum. You would have -- you have a duty." Not because I'm a Bangladeshi but that's a moral just part of society that you look out for your parent.

She also still believes in traditional gender roles

These things, I think if you as a parent don't have that, if you don't vocalize it, you don't teach, because parents nowadays are very distant from talking about these things and--

Interviewer: It seems that some of the values that you're talking about is coming from your own brothers getting married and how your family might be experiencing new daughter-in-laws, as in your case, your new sister-in-laws.

Interviewee: Yes or just what I see at work, or what I hear.

Interviewer: What do you hear at work?

Interviewee: Or what I see. There's a girl who got married a few years ago and she still kept coming to work wearing these tights and she's quite big. She got married and she's still wearing the same clothes. I kept on thinking, if that was my son, that was my daughter in law, I would, as a mother-in-law, I would prefer that she didn't go out the house wearing clothes like that. I'm not saying she needs to wear the face veil or anything, which I do. Just modesty. You're a daughter. It's just that she's the daughter-in-law.

Interviewer: So, a dress?

Interviewee: Modestly. In a way that respects the mother and father, because I know, I'm sure that mother in law is not happy, in reality, to watch her children walk out the house wearing leggings where—

Nasima relates a story of her colleague who got married few years ago and shows her disapproval for wearing tight clothes as this does not seem to fit with the cultural expectations and image expected of DILs

Interviewer: You think certain cultural expectations about dress sense. Asking for-

Interviewee: Not even asking, but just keeping them part of it.

Interviewer: Is important to keep by.

Interviewee: Yes. I'm not saying that all day you need to say yes you can go and you need to ask permission everything. It's just about saying, "Oh I sort of plan to do--" I think certain things are just courtesy.

Interviewer: Thank you. You've given a lot of information. Thanks for sharing that. Is there anything else that you wanted to add, just in relation to this topic that you felt is important to say?

Interviewee: I think I would say that even though I've had whatever experience I've had with negative, I still think that you should respect husband's side. You do, they do. You still need to respect them.

Interviewer: That is important because?

Interviewee: I think it's respect same way you'd respect your brother and your mum. It's whoever goes, "Mum." I bump into my kid's father's dad. He lives across the road. It was very nasty break up, but yes. I see him, I salam him. I get my kids to **salaam** him, but ideally, I don't really want to bump into him, but that you got to respect. It's there. It's just innate I think. It's just one of those things that you can't explain. Respect is there but some people might say it has to be both ways. Sometimes it's bit higher. I would still advise people that yes, you still respect. I actually listened more to my mother in law and my father in law, than I did to my parents.

Interviewer: It's interesting, isn't it? That idea of trying to please others. Trying to keep the peace. Listening to them and meeting the expectation was very important to you.

Interviewee: Yes it was. I think it wasn't just because I wanted to make my husband happy. It was just something I want to do it because I felt that that's right. Maybe I wanted to challenge myself.

Interviewer: You wanted to, I suppose -- I heard you say something for you wanted to show that it can work.

Interviewee: Yes. Nothing wrong in that. I still won't say is anything wrong in that. I will still advocate for it. I would still advocate that yes, you should still live with in laws. There's a social element to it. You're never lonely, in a way, but sometimes you want your own space but yes. My advice is that you shouldn't really always by default think that in-laws are bad. Should always give them a go, but you need to start off on the right foot.

Interviewer: What would be the right foot for you then?

Interviewee: To embrace the differences and the similarities, because there will always be differences and similarities.

Interviewer: You embraced?

Interviewee: Yes, but it just didn't work out, because of who they were as well probably, isn't it?

Interviewer: It works two, as he said, it works two ways.

Interviewee: Yes. You should give them the benefit of the doubt. Perseverance is important. It would probably work out better if dad's been more stronger, or his focus wasn't on something else. Or he didn't understand the value of marriage. He didn't understand, because again, he got married because he was forced to get married so he thought, "Oh I'll get

married," but he wasn't ready to get married. After I got married I realised he was not ready to get married. That's his focus wasn't there. He wasn't mature enough. Loads of things.

In working toward clsing the interview Nasimas shares her final thoughts which reaffirm the need to respect husband's family. She later alludes to the importance of the role of husband and implies that the relationship would have worked out better if her husband was "stonger" – she shares that she later found out that he was forced to marry and hence didn't value the marriage. She acknowledges that he wasn't mature enough

Interviewer: Sure. All right. Well thank you. That's really helpful. Do you mind if we stop now? Is that okay?